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Highlights of 2018

Delivering growth

N speciality chemicals

Commercial highlights

+ Fourth consecutive year of growth and
record profitability:

- Investment in organic and inorganic growth
combined with geographic diversity and product
differentiation underpinned solid progress in 2018

- Underlying profit before tax up 3.9% at £135.1m
{2017: £130.0m)

- {FRS3 profit before tax up 39.2% at £120.3m
{2017. £86.4m}

+ Europe and North America (ENA) resilient

in challenging market conditions:

— Market leading position in aqueous polymers in
Europe

- Volume growth driven by acauisition of BASF
Pischelsdorf {Austria)

— Unit margins stable, recognising transactional
impact of weak USD and significant raw material
price volatility

— Underlying operating profit £5.9m lower at £111.2m
{2017: £117.1m)

— IFRS operating profit up 18.5% at £91.8m
(2017: £77.5m)

+ Agia and Rest of the World (ARW) results driven
by strong growth in Nitrile latex demand:

— Nitrile latex market growth in excess of 10% during 2018

- Nitrile latex unit margins strengthened due to
improved supply/demand balance

— Successful commissioning of 90ktes Nitrile latex
expansion at Pasir Gudang in Q4 2018, safely on
time and on budget

- Underlying operating profit £10.8m higher
at £45.7m (2017, £35.1m)

— IFRS operating profit up 76.0% at £64.9m
(2077 £31.2m)

Financial highlights

+ Continued focus and investment in organic
and inorganic growth:

— £75.7m investment in capital expenditure, the
mast significant investment in Group history,
securing future growth

- £171m investment in research and development
continuing to drive innovation and new
product formulations

- Successful agquisition and integration of the BASF
Pischelsdorf S8R business, enhancing European
SBR business and increasing market share in
paper and packaging market

+ Record return on R&D investment:

— 21% cof sales volumes from new products launched
in past 5 years

— Board approval for £5m investment in state-of-the-
art Asian 'nnovation Centre based in Malaysia
commissioning 2020

+ Strong eamings per share performance:

- B.8% rise in underlying earnings per share to 32.8p
(2017: 30.7p)

- Reduced effective tax rate to 17.0% (2017: 19.0%),
consistent with geographical profit mix and prior
year items

- 34.9% rise in IFRS earnings per share to 28.4p
2017 21.8p)

+ Improved dividend per share in line with
dividend policy:

— Dividend per share up 7.4% at 13.1p (2017: 12.2p}
representing circa 40% of earnings per share

Underlying IFRS

2018 2017 2018 2017
Volume {ktes) 1,517.6 1,443.8 1,517.6 1,443.8
Revenue (£m) 1,618.9 1,480.2 1,618.9 1,480.2
EBITDA (£m) 181.0 176.2 - -
Qperating profit (£m} 142.1 139.0 128.7 95.4
Profit before tax (£m) 1354 130.0 120.3 86.4
Earnings per share {p) 32.8 30.7 29.4 218
Dividends per share {p) 134 12.2 134 12.2
Net borrowings (£m) 214.0 180.5 2140 180.5

The Group's management uses Undertying perfcrmance to plan for, control and assess the performance of the Group. Underlying
performance differs from the statutory IFRS performance as it excludes the eftect of Special ltems, which are detailed in nota 3. Tha
Board's view is that Underlying performance provides additional clarty for the Group's investors and stakehclders and so it is the primary
focus of the Group's narrative reporting. Where appropriate IFRS performance inclusive of Special ltems is also described. References to
‘unit margin’ and 'margin’ are used In the commentary on Underlying performance. Unit margin {or marginj i1s calcutated on selling price
less variabie raw material and fogistics costs. Further explanations can be found in notes 4, 5 and 6.




Synthomer is a speciality
chemicals company and one

of the world’s leading suppliers

of agueous polymers. With
strong geographic diversity
and product differentiation,
Synthomer holds leadership
positions in a wide range of
markets including coatings,
construction, textiles, paper
and healthcare.

We continue to make positive progress
towards our strategic objectives, delivering
strong growth through capital investment
and strategic acquisitions, coupled with an
increasingly global approach to serving our
customers and end markets.
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Our business at a glance

Synthomer today

"“We understand customers'
needs and provide innovative
formulations 1o a range of
industries throughout the world.”

Calum MacLean
Chief Executive Officer

As announced during November 2018, the Group
structure has been reorganised with effect from

1 January 2019, Three new business groups have been
created to better service our customers and markets
by leveraging our global product portfolio expanding
the reach of our RAD capabiiies and by bringing
greater operational focus 10 our global markets,

Synthomer tomorrow

From 2019 our new structure
will allow us to better leverage:

+ Commercial relatonships

+ Operational excellence

+ Technology

Ihe new structure combings sales. marketing.
research and production by business group into

dedicated global teams whitst retaining very strong
regional strength and local focus.

For more information on our new global business structure,
see pages 20-27.

Revenue split

2
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Highlights

Volume by market

Europe and North America (ENA)

1 Construction & Coating 20.7%
Yelares 2 Functional Polymers 16,4%
3 Health & Protection 1.8%
1,115.2ktes
' 5 Carpet & Foam 13.4%
AeenJs il L oonerat s g oot [ Specialties 11.4%
7 Oth 8.2%
£1,228.4m £111.2m s :
2017 £1,134.8m 2017 £117.1m
BT A IFPS zrr-ntg g
£135.8m £91.8m
2017: £140.8m 2017: £77.5m
Asia and Rest of the World {(ARW)
Vaures 1 Construction & Coating 23.7%
2  Functional Polymers 2.5%
402-4ktes 3 Health & Protection T1.7%
2017: 376 1ktes 4 Papar 0.0%
Reven.ae Jrderly s onoraling prote 5§ Carpet & Foam G.8%
6 Specialities 1.3%
£390.5m £45.7m 7 Other 0.0%
2017: £345.3m 2017: £35.1m
EB.TDA L R R RS
£59.7m £54.9m
2017 £48.2m 2017 £31.2m
Performance Elastomers
Wl 1rmes Reven.e 1 Paper 36.4%
2 Health & Protection 35.9%
859.5 kteS £704.5m 3 Carpet 10.3%
FTT0A Lrgetl arg Cler o ng gt g SDmDOuﬂdS ";_'2:/;
oam A%
£107.9m £87.2m
Functional Solutions
volurmes Hewenug: _]__““(?oat:ngs . ;’:‘g::.
2 Textiles s
526.0ktes £680.1m 3 Construction 21.6%:
o ) 4 Adhesives 13.9%
THTDA Lrga b g ore - = Bthar 1.3%
£64.1m £53.0m
Industrial Specialities
Vol i, Fe enu 1 Coatings 29.2%
2 Polymer Additives 21.9%
132.1ktes £234.3m 3 Other 48.9%
ERIT o L N L

£235m

£16.7
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What makes us different

Adding capacity with safety as our priority

SHE Principles

Synthomer recognises that to be

a successful global business we
must seek to continually improve

and prioritise our SHE performance.
We have our SHE Principles and 10
Golden Rules embedded across all of
our global operations

Read more about our safety principles on
pages 52-53

Synthomer plc Annual Bepaort 2018




2018 has seen the largest organic
investment programme in the Group's
history, focused on securing future
growth by introducing additional low
cost capacity across our network
and to support long-term profitable
business development,

The 'Synthomer Way' is to maximise
the utilisation of our assets, identity
value enhancing debottlenecks and
add further capacity to improve our
economies of scale, and grow in
our chosen markets and leverage
our leadership positions. Combining
this with operational and functional
excellence allows us to deliver

our strategy.

We continually seek to identify best
practice in all areas of our business
and ensure that relevant learnings are
embedded throughout the business.
Above all we place Safety, Health and
Environmental (SHE} activities as our
priority in everything that we do.

£/5./m

Investment in capex 2018

90ktes

Investment in new Pasir Gudang
(Malaysia) NBR capacity to support
market growth in the Nitrile gloves
market — safely commissioned on
time and on budget Q4 2018

A8ktes

Investment in new 48ktes combined
speciality dispersion capacity in
Worms {Germany) and Roebuck
{USA} to suppoert growth in the
coatings, adhesive and construction
markets, Due to be commissioned
Q2 2019,

Three year roling recordable injury case
rate has reduced by more than 60%
compared to the prior three year period.

All injury rate {AIR) and Reccrdable
case rate (RCR) 2010-2018

:

uodal sibeieng
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What makes us different continued

Global approach 1o customers and markets

The way we do business has become
increasingly global as we follow our
customers’ reguirements, extend our
global operating network and leverage
our continued focus on research and
developrment and innovation. Our new
global structure will improve both

our market alignment and close
customer relationships.

Read more about our new global
business structure on pages 20-27

Read more about our approach to SHE
on pages 44-57

Key

Sales office

Operational head
office

Manufacturing site

Manufacturing site
and R&D centre

6
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The new structure will enable
Synthomer to better service its
customers and markets through
ieveraging its global product portfolio,
expanding the reach of its R&D
capabilities, bringing greater operational
focus to our global markets.

The objective of our organisational
change is tc sharpen ocur commercial
focus, accelerate sales growth and
drive further operaticnal efficiencies.
Qur sales, marketing, innovation

and preduction will be combined by
business group into dedicated global
teams whilst retaining very strong
regional strength and local focus.

QOur long established blue chip
customer relationships and the high
barriers to entry in our chosen speciality
chemicals markets, combined with

our market leading positions and

broad exposure to a diverse set of

end markets underpins our strategy

of delivering sustainable growth.

20

global plant network

4000+

Customers

15 years+

Average length of
customer relationships

/A

Technical centres globally

10

Product range launches
in 2018

24

Percentage of sales volume in 2018
generated from products launched in
the last five years
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What makes us different continued

Strategy driving sustainable growth

Three bolt-on acquisitions completed
in past three years:

BASF Pischelsdorf
January 2018

Speciality Additives
March 2017

PAC (Dispersions)
June 2016

Read more about our strategic priorities
on pages 18-18
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Synthomer delivered a fourth
consecutive year of growth in
profitability in 2018, This performance
is underpinned by our strong balanced
strategy which focuses on organic and
norganic acquisition led growth.

Inorganic growth through acquisitions
in the speciality chemical sector
remains a key part of our growth
strategy. We focus on two types of
transaction; beit-on acquisitions in
similar chemistry or transformational
step change transactions not limited
by geography or chemistry. In the past
three years we have completed three
bolt-on acquisitions allowing us to
secure our market leadership position in
our core European aqueous polymers
segment, optimise and consolidate our
network and add new technology and
geographiss to our business.

Our experienced management team
diligently assess the strategic fit of
potential opportunities for the Group
and apply strict criteria on the type,
quality and valuation of targets.

20

Manufacturing sites

18

Countries

3

Newly acquired sites in the
last three years

2010

First manufacturing site acquired in
North America

T
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Chairman’s statement

Strengthening governance and performance

Neil Johnson
Chairman

Governance highlights

+ Board re-balanced with
increased diversity

+ Revised code of conduct and
whistleblowing hotline launched
to support values and culture

+ Non-executive director designated
for workforce engagement

+ Policies and practices developed to
implement 2018 Governance Code

Results

lam pleased to report a year of good
progress, highlighted by a fourth
consecutive year of growth in Underlying
profitatality Our progress has been
underpinned by capital investrment in
higher growth markets, a continued focus
on mnovation, and our disciplined ME&A
strategy, overcoming a challengimg
market environment.

We saw strong organic growth from our
Asia and Rest of the World {ARW) segment
which helped to offset adverse curnrency
and raw materal headwinds in turope and
Naoith Ametica (ENA). One of the Group's
strengths 1 our geographic diversity and
product ditfferentiation and this was once
again clearly demonstrated n 2018,

Undetlying profil betore tax incieased frar
£130.0m to £135.1m. an Increass of 3.9%
and IF RS prolt betore lax ncreased by
39.2% trom £86.4m in 2017 to £120.3m in
2018. Ag well as taking into account the
improvement in Underlying performance,
the increase in RS profits s manly the
resUlt of the gains un disposal of land

N Malaysia (£16.4m) and a reduction in
amortisation of intangibie assets (£14 6m).

Focus on investment for
future growth

Crganic grawth remams a key part o our
srategy and wa Lontinae 1o see sigrficant
opportunities to drive improvement from
our existing businessas with the suppaort of
our conservatvely leveraged balance sheet
In 2018 we made a record nvestment

N capial expenditure to shengthen our
platform for future growth. This imvestment
programme introduced new capacity in
gach of our busmess segments with further
capacity due to be commissionad in 2019,
Our fargest investment. the 90ktes plant
expansion at ow Pasir Gudang (Malaysial
Nitrile latex plant, was completed safely,
onwme and on budget in Q4 2018 and 15
now procucing state of the-art products
to support this fugh growth market. In

ENA our capitat commitments to expand
our capabilibes in OQulu (kinland) and
SantAlzano aly) are complete and came
onhine in Q3 and Q4 2018 increasiny
capacity by 12ktes and Sktes respectvely.
Ihere will be urtner new capacity installed
i 204800 Functional Solutions as ow two
major plant expansions. the 36ktes Worms
(Germany; and 12ktes Roebuck (Narth

Amencal. are due to he comerussioned n
Q2 2019, These investments have further
optmised cur dispersion polymer network,
provichng large scale, low cost plants with
ncrementat capacity to support growth ot
our fugher margin speciality products

Inorganic growth

remains core

Inorganic growth also remains a cote
aspect of our strategy and the Group has
now completed three bolt on acquismons
in the past three years: BAST Pigchelsdort
n-January 2018, adding to the acquisitions
of Speciality Additives and PAC which were
completed in 2017 and 2016 respectively.
I'he Pischelsdorf site expands our SBR
assets and customer base. supports our
strategy to strengthen our paper packagma
coatings business and vall provide further
aptions for our network optrmisaton it the
SBR market. 1he site was successfully
ntegrated into the busness in the first balf
of 2018. With this acquisition complete
Synthomer has secured its market
leadership pasition in its core Curopean
agueous polymers segment, another
milestone for our business. We

continue to actively evaluate appropnate
acquisition opportunities.

Governance and Board

We wers in full complance with the
2016 UK Corporate Governance Gode
throughout 2018 other than in respect
of Board balance which was adaressed
n September 2018 by the appointment
ot Holly A, Van Deursen, replacing Jinya
Chen who retrred from the Board on |
31 December 2017, |

Holly was appomted to the Board

as an independent non execlitive
director and brings a wealth of chemicai
nidustry. global bos ness and signific ant
boardroom expernence,

The Board was pleased to endorse the
oromotion of the Company's values and
culture threugh the launch, towards the
end of the year, of a revised and updated
code of conduct. As the main vehicle

for explaining and communicating cur
standards for carrying on business,
people polices and corporate citzenshup
responsitnhties. T was issued to every
gmnployee. We also put in ptace an
externally hosted whistlke Blowing hotline
accessible by telephone and online,

10
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We have policies and prachices well in

Our people

:

hand to implement the 2018 Governance Our people agenda has made further :'"3
Code and as part of this work Alex Catto progress n 2018, Wath mentoring. graduate )
has been designated by the Board as the recruitment. leadership and iearning '%
lead non executive director to undertake development programmes established. 3
worklorce engagement. Alex, with his and a strengthening employee brand. we §
longstanding connection with and deep Rave made good progress in all pilars
knowledge of the Group, was considered of our framewaork to create an open and
the weal non-executive director to lead positive work envirenment. Cur organic
g process. and iorganic growth strategy means that
our employee numbers now stand at 2.900
European Commission across our 30 manufacturing sites and 5
investigation othces s pleasing to sco the adostion g
Ag announced on & June 2018, the of our values and culture which continues 3
European Commussion {the Commission) to unily the way Synthomar does husiness
initiated an investigation into practices and underping the sucoess of the Group. ——
relating to the purchase of styrane @
monomer by companies, ncludmg The Group's employees continue to é
Synthomer, operating in the European debeern mprovements i profitability and §
Econome Area. The Company takes manage change in a dynamic orgamsation 2
campetition laws very serously commmted to long term sustainable
and will cantinue to fully cooperate growth. The success of the Group
with the Commrssion durng ts relies much on the commitment and
ongoing investigation. professionalism of all cur employees and
I'would like to thank all of them for their
Sustainability SUppROrt i 2018,
Synthormer manufactures speciality
chemicals using large scale and Dividend s
complex manufacturng processes that The Beard has recon merded a fingl 8
consume hazardous raw materials. Our ordinary dvidend of 9.1p (2017 8.5p) per —
standards relating to safety. health and share, a 7.1% increase. Taken with the 2018 r—
the environment are fugh and mairtaming interm ordinary dividend of 4.0p (2017 @
these s fundamental 1o the way we 3.7p) per share, the total ordinary dividend E
operate cur business, We have clear is 13.1p 12017: 12.2p), representing an Ed
policies and procedures that underpin all increase of 7.4% in total dividend in 2018. §
of our processes and we remain resolute This iz in line with the Group's dividend =
to our commitment to learn lessons from policy with the dividend representing 40% &
our actvities, share best practices and of the Underlying earnings per share. S
continually improwve. The final dradend por share s subyect ,5,
to shareholder approval at the Annual ¢
Synthorer recognises e s gnific 2nce General Maating on 25 April 2019 and
and importance of being a responsible will be payable on 5 July 2019 to those ®
company. We take responsibility for the shareholders registerad at the close of :_Z
complete life cycle of cur preducts and business on 7 June 2019 b
the impact our operations have on people —
and the environment, We are commitied Outlook
to approaching our business in an ethical Looking forward. the Group's leading Q
and environmeantally sound manner and market pogitions. ngremental low cost E
have been committed 1o the international production capacity. geographic diversity g
Councit of Chemucal Assocatons (ICCA) and product differentiation. ensure we are =
Responsible Care project since the well placed to navigate the current globa! E
carly 1990, political and economic uncertanties. @
Given this, we are conhident of making :.'7"'
Gur commitment to quantifying. improving  further progress in 2019 and the Board's g
and communicating the sustanabilty of all expectations remain unchanged. ﬁ
our activities will be further strengthenec ¢
in 2019 as a result of the infroduction of 2
Global Reporting Intiative (GR1) Standards. o
Witk increased interest in sustamability. ow Neil Johnson &
programme idenhes key wsues aftecting Chairman hre—
our stakeholders and communicates the 4 March 2019 ——
activities being undertaken and sets key Q
pertormance targets for the Group. LJD_
3
The Group's nsk managerment processes g
inclucte consideration of the potental 96".
impact of corporate respansioility 2
1s5UBS 0N Synthomer's pertormance.
The Group's Investment decisions take
nte accourt appropriate evaluations of
patential consequences for its employees.
customers, supphers and the environment, o
We are not complacent and remain 3
focused in cur campalgn for continuons 3
and sustainable improvement. he—
Synthomer pte Annual Beport 2018 11



Chief Executive Officer's review

Delivering growth in speciality chemicals

Calum MacLean
Chief Executive Officer

Strategic highlights

+ Fourth consecutive year of growth and
record Underlying profitability

+ Continued organic and inorganic
investrment to strengthen platform
for future growth

+ Significant raw material price volatility
successfully managed

+ Record return on R&D investment -
219% of sales volumes from new
products launched in the past five years

+ New global business structure launched
on 1 January 2019 to further enhance
customer and product focus

+ Well capitalised and conservatively
financed balance sheet to fund future
organic and incrganic growth (Net debt/
EBITDA: 1.2x)

Performance

Despite some challenging market
conditions in 2018 Synthomer has delvered
solio growth in Urdetlying profizability.
achieving our fourth consecutive year

of growth and another year of record
Underlyirgg profls. ARW delvered
especially strong growth in Underlying
profts helping to offset theimpact of
currency and raw material volatiity in

ENA Our strategy of driving organic

and inorganic growth, complemented

hy the Group's geographic diversity and
product chfferentiahon, contnues to deliver
sustanatle growth,

Underbang profit before tax incroased

by 3.9% from £130.0m to £1351m

This reflected a 30.2°- ncreass in

ARW Underlying operating profits s
from S35 T o L4500 s significant
nrease elloeots shong orgare growth
with improving volumes and umit marging
as Nitnle latex growth remained strong
and market utlisation increased. LNA
Underlying operating profits were lower,
going from £117.1m to £111.2m. This was
principally duc to the USD invaicing from
Furope which led to an unfavourable
transaction currency impact of £5.3m. ENA
was also mpacted by sharply faling raw
matenal prices n Q4 2018 which affected
customer buying behaviour and led to

a sotter trading enviranment in the inal
guarter of the year

RS profit before tax ncreasad by 39,2
from £86.4m in 2017 10 £120.3m mn 2018,
Alongside the improvement in Undearlying
performance, the increase was manly
the result of the gains on disposal of land
Ir Malaysia (£16.4m) and a reducton

i amortisation of Intangible assets
1214.6m), as intangibles acguired witn

the PolymerLatex acquisthon became
fully amortised

Theroperanng cdsh o ovws of the dnanp

0 T124.9m 2017 P162.6m) were again
strong and absorhed the investment In
working capita: of £3b.2m winch was
tirven by the volatility in raw material prces
and the knock on impact on customer
buying behavionr. | he cash performance
of the business over the year meant that
the Group's leverage at the year ena was
1.2 times ret debt FBH DA, welh within

our preferred range of 1 2 times. Capital
spend moredsed to a record E75.7m, a httie

Rugher than guidance, ang consistent with
our stated strategy 10 invest in cur principal
large scale, low cost sites. We also invested
In our norganic growth strategy with the
acquisition of the BASE Pischelsdort SBR
business, the third bolt on acauistian
under the current managernent team.

far £25.8m.

Safety, health and
environment

Synthomer sets high standards in
relation to safety, health and enwvirenment
ISHE) activities which are supported

by appropriate levels of nvestment,
impravement initiatives and by rigorous
assurance under the supervision of the
Group SHE team. Quw pertormance against
those standards 1 reported at each
executive team and Board meeting.

Iri 2018, our recordable wmjury rate
ncreased modestly as a result of the higher
levels of contractor activity related ta our
capacity expansion programme. but our
underlying trend continues to improve.
Our recordable injury rate has improved

N excess of B0% for the three year period
2016 2018 compared 0 2013-2015. This
15 underpinned by our SHE Principles and
10 Golden Rules and our relentless focus
on our Permit to Work and Management
ot Change procedures Toimprove
reporing. cross company learning and
the induction of newly acquired sites 10
Synthomer standards. & new Global portal
was Introduced so that stes, regions and
busingsses can report perfermance on &
consistent and timely bagis. The portal has
alsomproved communeations and the
abinty 1o accelerate the implementation of
schons to improve the safe operation of
aur sites,

Synthomer has ntroduced a programme
that focuses on higher risk activities and
hits dentited gaps whreh an - e action inour
site SHE linprovement Plans. Al sites have
now completed this process. Our Group
Process Safety key performance indicators
show continued improvement,

Innovation

Innavation cont nues 10 be a core pillar

of buginess growth allowing Synthomer
o secure improved market postions ana
provide selutons to generate addea value
tor our customers. In 2018, the Group had
fitteen new product plaranm e bes
across a broad base of ten apphcation

12
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:

areas Our key perfarmance mdicator products which dnves our plans for better elevated valvation multiples. We evaluated
tor innovation 15 sales volumes of new capacity uhhsation, plant debottienecking a number of cpportunities but continued .._“E
prociacts ianched oot past five vears and new capacity exgansions. to exercise ngorous disciping on the type. %
which increased to 215, shead of our quality and valuation of targets. %
stated target of 207, bulding on our strong  Qur 90ktes Nitrile latex capacity =
performance n this area in 2017 and 2016, expansion at Pasir Gudang (Malaysia) was We completed cne bolt on acguision in 2
We continue to focus on protecting our successfully complated in G4 2018 safety. 2018 being BASF Pischelsdarf (Austnar Tris B
proprietary Infellectual property through on ime and on budget, The capacity has been successfully integrated into our
natents with ewght itngs n 2018, will altows us to support the ongoing 5BR netwark and positions us as the market

expansion in this high growth market and leader N European aguecus polymers.
the Group has four innovation centres provide capacity for our SyMovus™ and
across its global network, We have made other market leading preducts. A further The integration of PAC (Dispersions! 5
strong progress to further leverage and Investment to introduce an additional 1= 5 bstantally complete with the final o
extend our mnovation capabiities. helping 60ktes at Pasir Gudang will be made two major aclions, the sale of the Leuna %
to accelerate the delivery of our business which we expect to come online in 2020, iGermany) site completed in the year and
strateqies. In order ta enhance our In addiion to our Nitrile latex investment, the restructunng of Ribécourt (France) site —
innovation actvities, we have committed our 2018 capital programme expanded underway. We have successiully delivered o
to nvest in a state-of-the-art Inncvation capacity at our Speciality Polyester Powder  run rate synergies of $12m by the end of ]
Centre in Malaysia which will open in Caating facility in Sant'Albano, (ltaly) AiNE anu confirmed that addiional run rate E
2020. Over the past four years we have and our SBR faciity in Outu {Finland) to synergies of $2m will be delivered in 2019, a
progressrvely reduced the tme to market tor - allow the Group to support the growing
new nnovations. The recently introduced packaging and specialty paper markets. Synthomer continues 10 assess acquisition
SyMNovus' product, which includes patented opporturities, but we will be ciscipiined in
proprietary technology. was developed In 2019, vur organic capacity investment nur appreach. The Group is well positioned
from inception to commercialisation n 18 programme will see additional new to make both bolt on and transformational
months. The shortened innovation process. capacity commissionsd in: acquisitions with a conservatively leveraged
representing a reduction of almost 50%: balance sheet and the Board's support
on previous new product developments, + Digpersions: 36ktes capacity of ta drive further shareholder value through g
15 4 testarment to the dedication, skill and made to order speciality acrylic lines in ingrganic growth. B
expertise of our in-house R&D team and will Worms {Germany) in mid 2018 —
be further enhanced via the iInvestrment In New global organisational r—
mproved facilities. + Digpersions: 12ktes increase in acrylc structure o

capacity in Roebuck USA) scheduled to € announced during November 2018, g

Cur operational excellence teams have be complete in mid-2019. in order to better serve our customers, =
also supported our INNovation SUCCEess. provide a global praduct offering and §
Through the transfer of preducts and new + SBR latex: Enhancement to our Marl tive operatonal effiuiencies the Group [
technolagies across cur network, we can IGermany) site tomprove cutput levels to structure has been recrganised with g-
more effectively Introduce new products. take advantage of opportunities in the effect from 1 January 2018, Three new g
utilise our capacity more ethiciently, ana foam market. business groups have been created: g
deliver synergies from newly acqurred Pertormance Elastomers {Styrene @
assets. Each of our plants has developed Discipling in capital allocation remains a Butadiene Rubber and Nitrde Butadene
a ‘value gap' tedentfy the monetary value key focus for the Group, with hurdie rates Latex) Functional Salutions (Chspersions) ©
associated with best in class and best in for capital expenditure growth projects and Industnal Specialhtes. X
Group standards which prowides the remaining unchanged at a payback of less N
action plan for aperational excellence than five yedrs of a 125 IR Secogrsing The new structure will enable Synthomer —
and mancial mproverment, the very signitficant investment mada n to leverage its global product portiolio,

organic grawth capex in 2017 and 2018, axpanding the reach of 1s R&D capabilities o
Strategy delivering the Long Term Incentve Plan (LTIP) and bhing greater operational focus to our é
sustainable growth pertormance critetia inciuded Return global markets. Similarly the new structure ]
Our conservatively leveraged batance on vested Capral (ROIC) for the fiest combmes sales, marketing, research and g«
sheet provides a strong foundation from time in 2018, alignng management and producton into dedicated global business 5
which to deliver our strategy of sustanable sharehalder delivery expectations. The tearns, whilst retaining very strong regional o
growth in the specialty chemical sector. ovelall LTIP ROIC target has been set at strength and local focus. 2
Synthomer has a lroad blue chip circa 20%, broadly aligned with the RCIC g
customer base with long term estabhshed delivered by the Group in 2018, Outlook g
relationships, producing speciafity chemicals Looking forward. the Grogp's l@ading v
characterised by high barners to entry. In order to consider and mtigate market positions. incremental low cost =
Qur market leading positions, passon for the potential impact of a hard Brexit, production capacity. geographic diversity A
nnovation and global asset network provide  Synthomer established a cross functional and product differentiation. ensure we are &
the basis for our orgaric growth strategy. group to focus on supply chain. regutation. well placed to navngate the current global

fracde compliance and human resources. political and sconomic uncertanties. [r—
2018 has seen the largest organic growth We contmue 1o believe that ou ability to do Gren this we are conndes tof naking Q
nvestment programime in the Group's brosness wall ot be aign fzantly affeotend further progress 1 2019 and the Board's g
history. This programme cormimeanced but have plans in place to manage. as expectations rerman unchanged. EX
N 2017 and we spemt L75.7m of capex far as poszibie. cur ability 1o service §
In 2018 across the Group. Our Project our custamers and take any mitigating Calum MacLean 8
Cxcellence approach has been mtroduced actions necessury Chief Executive Officer ]
Group-wide and ams to ensure that all A March 2018
projects are completed sately. or ime and Delivering M&A growth
within budget. With globat mega trends Inorgaric growth through acquisitions
cf urbanisation, ageing demaographics. an remains a key priority for the Group and
evolving rmiadle class, mereasng mobility a core facet of our growth strategy. The 2
and ever mare stringent environmental speciahty chemicats M&A market remained D
legislation. there is increasing demand tuoyant in 2018 with a number of bolt on 3
trom the market for our speciality chemical and transformational deals. many at b
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Segmental review

Europe and North
America (ENA)

Highlights

+ Market leading position in agueous
polymers in Europe

+ Volume growth driven by the acquisition of
BASF Pischelsdorf {Austria)

+ Unit margins stable recognising
transactional impact of weak USD and
significant raw material price volatility

+ BASF Pischelsdorf successfully integrated

+ Commissioning complete of expansions in
Sant’Albano (Italy) and Qulu (Finland)

+ Delivery of annualised $12m synergies
from PAC Acquisition

Revenue % of Group

Underlying operating profit % of Group
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Underlying performance

Volumes tktes)
Revenue (T}

EBTDA ()

:

Operating prof — Undetlying nerform ance i£m)

Cperaling profit 1T RS Sy

!r]:frease/(decrg.?se)
2018 2017 % reported % constant curru;ﬁ;;'
11152 10677 Coas
B o 1,228.4 T tamig 8.2 71
1358 140.9 [ o us
o m2 7 (5.0 (5.5)
918 775 w.s

Uorart cdrer Lu e er e
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impact of acnques

Robust results in challenging
market conditions

Lurope and North Amenca {ENA) detwered
A robust performance in a market
characterised by volatle raw material
nrices and a weaker USH, which adwversely
impacted European unit margins on
products sold to customers in USD.

Ihe acquistion of the BASE Pischelsdort
SBR business completed on 31 January
2018 ang was fully integrated intc our
Furonean SBR busincss in the firs: hall
of the year. The acgusition underping
Synthomer's market leading postion in
European agueous polymers and alsa
provides greater exposure to the growing
packaging paper market.

Ihe acquistion of the BASE Pischelsdort
site contnbuted to the strong overall volume
growth during the year with volumes rising
4.4% to 1.1158.2ktes. Lxcluding the impact
of the acuwstion, the business detvered
volume growth across most markets in e
first half of the yoar repsorlirgg an eeroasc

of 2.6%. However, the marked reduction

in petracharmcal raw materia) prices in tha
Tzl cpaat Gl e e mt exdcorbdtod nornsl
year end customer de stocking activities
resulting i a fall in volumes of 1.3% over
the full vear.

Weakness in the USD relative to the prior
yeal. paricularly ewmdent in H1 2018,
resultect In lower unit marains on products
sold from Eurcpe in UsD. causing a net
reduction in margn relative to the prar
year of £5 3m. Excluding the impact of
the weaker USD and the impact of the
BAST Fischelsdar! acquisition, overall un
margms were broadby in ine wath the pror
year. Once again we demonstrated our

LiretlyEs tes s for s g Eur ren: anslali o el TS

ability to manage changing raw matenal
prces and the benefirs of ou geographic
diversity and product differentiation.

QOur ENA business spends approximately
PEOOM an procunng primary raw matanals
for the sites and accordingly an effective.
efficient and reliable supply is cotical m
driving the finanacial performanee of the
business. In 2018 we secured additional
storage tanks to further optimise our supply
chain. providing greater ophonalty in raw
materials supply and mitigating supply
interrupticn risk such as the low Rhine nver
tevel sean In Q4 2018,

The | NA Eri-mess continued to bonett
from the delivery of PAC retated synergies.
helping to mitigate the costs ot incremental
slorage: tanks and unaelying mhationany
pressures. The synergies in 2018 largely
related to the sale of the Leuna site
{Germany; and commencement of the
restructunng and simohlication of the
Ribécourt site (France). The programme at
Ribécourt will contmde N 2019 and result in
the additional $2m of synergies announced
earlier i the year. bringing the totat PAC
synergies to $14m.

Nateathstanding the challengmy marke:
conditions ENA reported robust resufts,
val Underlying operating proft 500

tower at £111.2m {2017 £17.0m), and

IS aperating prod 18,502 highier q
£91.8m (2017 £77.5m). The mcreasa n

IF RS aperating prohl aeenly seflecter]
areductions in ntangible amortisaton
1214.7m} and restructunng charges (£5.3m;.

Iy addition to morgarue growth generated
by ncremental earnings from BASF
Pischelsdorf and the furtner PAC synergies.
ENA continued 1o invest n organic growth
capital expenditure dunng 2018.

ML jEar = 2 B 0!

ZE Tt P L0 e

The capital expenditure included:

+ 12ktes styrene acrylic expansion at Oulu
(Minland). expanding the site’s canability
10 supply the growing packaging and
specialty paper markets. The éxpansion
was commissionad durmg Q3 2018,

+ Skies powder coating expansion at
Sant'Albano (Raly) ncreasing sie
capacity by more than 20%. The
expansion was commissioned during
Q4 2018,

+ 3Bkies acrylic dispersions expansion at
Worms (Germany). ncreasing the site’s
capacity in excess of 307, and
signticantly encancing its ¢ apability to
produce made-to-order speciality
acrylics. Cemmissianing due Q2 2019,

+

12ktes acryic dispersions expansion at
Roebuck (USA) increasing the site
capacity by in excess of 20% through the
instatiation of a new acrylic reactor train,
Commussioning due Q2 2019

The wignificart neeshnents madae i ENA
are focused n those markets wheare we are
capacity constrained and where we expect
to see strong market growth.
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Segmental review continued

Asia and Rest of
the World (ARW)

Highlights

+ Nitrile latex market growth in excess of
10% during 2018

+ Nitrile latex unit margins strengthened due
to improved supply/demand balance

+ Successful commissioning of 90ktes
Nitrile latex expansion at Pasir Gudang
Q4 2018, safely on time and on budget

+ Board approval of £5m investment
in state-of-the-art innovation centre
in Malaysia

Revenue % of Group

Underlying operating profit % of Group
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Underlying performance

F

Increasei(decrease) B B
2018 2017 % reported % constant currency

Volumes ktes) T a02a4 srea 70
Revenue (Sm) B 3905 345.3 13.1 - 9s
EBTDAEM, - se7 422 283 195
Qperating proft — LJnderng?védor?énféﬁﬁ o - 457_ T a1 30.2 256
Operating prolit 11 B8 i) ' R 54.9 a2 760 B
LI At LUTET L TRl L 20 ek g refnrt g et wa 2T 100 Ea 2T T ot N taaled Gl T £ JBaT - s EraleEnthargs et - Dt e

ampAaLt of augus

Good results driven by
continued strong growth
in Nitrile latex demand

Asia and Rest of the World (ARW) reported
a significant nse in Undetlying operating
prolrs diven by conbinued strong growth 1
Nitrile latex demand.

ARW volumes ncreased by 7.0 to

402 Aktes prmarnly as a result of record
Nitle latex volumes. partly reflecting the
benett from the newly commissioned Pasry
Gudang (Mataysia) capacity brought on ling
in Q4 20Ta and partly reflecting the weaker
H1 2017 cormparative, which was adversely
impacted by 1aw matenal pnee volatility,

The 30ktes capacity expansion of our Pasir
Gudang asset brnings our total Nitrile latex
capacity to approximately 350ktes and
underping our position s a market leading
producer and innovator of Nitrile iatex. We
are committed to cur customers and then
ncreasing Nitrie latex demanas in a market
that continues to repont sgnificant arowth
and we have taken a range of actons

to strengthen our long term contractual
relationships with our customers

This capacity expansion. the largest aingle
capital nvestiment undertaken by the
Group at ©45m. was completed on tirme
anc o budget. From a safety perspective,
s project represented 1.4 million safe
hetns worked, The new faciily was ot ally
opened by The Bntigh Fhgh Camimissioner.
Mrs Vick Tredell, CMG MYO with the
Group Board and aver 100 key industry
leaders in attendance N September 2018.
WVWe hice contirmed trat weowall mtrooo e

a further 60ktes as the next stage of the
Pasir Gudang expansion. Work has begun
on this expansion, buiding on pre prepared

infrastructure and civil engimeering and is
expected to complete in 2020,

ARW unit margins atso improved year

on year, ellecting the strong market
demand for Nitrile latex and tightening

of the supply/dermand balance. This
improvement was also due o sales of the
newly launched higher margin Nitrile latex
SyNovus™ product. As with ENA. ARW
was successful in managing the impact
on marging fram the volatile raw material
prices, which were largely absorbed

tiy the market. Similarly. ARW was also
adversely impacted compared to prior
year by the weaker USD relative to the
Malaysian Ringant, with Nitrile latex pricing
denominated in USD. The weaker LISD
resulted In a reduchon in margin of £4.8m.

Operating costs have ncreased inthe year
reflect kg the expansio in capacity which
resulted in tigher production costs and
depreciation charges combyned with higher
bonus ¢ osts N a successtul rancial year,

With strong overall volume and unit margm
growith ARW reported strong results.
Underlymy oparating pront was 5z
higher at £45.7m 2017: £35.1m). and

IF RS aperatng proit veas (6.0 higher ot
£54 9m 2017 £31.2m) with the marked nse
N FSRS ooerating proft sanly refles 1eg the
G, ernetitin Lledetlving opgrasng prott
{106 dnd the probt o - ale of the ingl
franche of Malaysian land {216 .4rm).

Our commitrment to research and
dgevelopment has teen urderpinned by
Board approval for the constructon of

a new 125m state of the art innovation
centre in Malaysia which will be completed
2020, Th e flagstup iy wall provade
leadership in research and development

and will ensure we stay at the torefront

of product development. [t will create the
right enviranment to allow us to attract and
retain the best talent and allow creatve and
technical skills to be developed.

SyMNovug, our ground breakng patented
new product. launched in September
2017, was well receved by our customers.
Our custormers have been working with:
us to integrate this product into ther
processes and several customers are
neanng full commercialisation. SyMNovug”
iz Synthamer's responsa to the demands
of end users and glove manutacturers

for & product wrh sigrfic antly redoced
maturation time, superior tensile strength
properties. higher levels of durabality and
improved chemical resistance. SyNovag”
delivers a supenor end product for our
custorners while: nrprovingg the etiiciciey of
ther operatians.

As we expand capacity In Nitnle latex., we
have taken the opportunity to assess the
viabiity of several non-core product Ines.

In Cetober 2018 we announced that we
were ceasing production of natural rubner
and potyester resing on our site in Kluang.
Malaysia. Some of the assets of these
businesses were sold and our intertion s

10 redepioy the workers to other production
lines on the Kluang site. In 2019 we will
transtorm the Kluang site with the rernoval of
the discontmuad produchon Ines to provide
space for future expanson projects,
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Strategy at a glance

Delivering against our strategic targets

Strategic priority

1. Research and
development and
technical expertise to
exploit new markets

We anticipate market trends and customer
requirements to deliver improved products with
improved margin and product differentiation.

2. Driving efficiency
and excellence
through operations

We operate continuous improvement across
our operations to improve production efficiency,
sales effectiveness and functional excellence.
We seek to identify good practice in all areas of
our business and ensure that relevant learnings
are disseminated throughout the business.

3. Capacity utilisation

Our aim is to drive profitability through
maximum utilisation of our assets. This involves
identifying the root causes of production
bottlenecks and finding innovative solutions.

4. Investment
in capacity

We seek to add capacity in growth markets
where investment opportunities meet our
stringent capital management policies.

5. Business growth
through acquisitions

We actively seek opportunistic bolt-

on acquisitions in similar chemistries or
transformational step change transactions
not limited by geography or chemistry.

2018 achievements

+ Sales volumes of new products launched in the past five
years was at 21.0% - a record performance for Synthomer.

+ Introduction of fifteen new product platforms across
ten application areas.

+ Market approval and commercialisation of patented
SyNovus™ next generatiorn Nitrile latex product.

+ Board approval to invest in new state-of-the-art
innovation centre in Asia.

+ Utilised value gap analysis to embed operational
excellence tools and drive improved performance and
site restructuring opportunities.

+ Portal introduced to standardise global SHE reporting
and accelerate learning and action delivery.

+ Completed the roll out of our global customer
relationship management system across the business
to trace new product leads, capitalise on customers’
needs and enhance cross selling opportunities.

+ Strong progress of strategic procurement inttiatives,
securing additional tankage to enhance our supply
chain resilience, mitigate risk and further leverage
procurernent of raw materials.

+ Completed debottlenecking of our site in Marl
{Germany) to increase production of foam latex.

+ Completed disposal of Leuna (Germany) site and
commenced restructuring of Ribécourt (France), Kluang
{Malaysia) and Sokolov (Czech Republic) sites as part of
the development of the manufacturing network.

+ 90ktes Nitrile latex capacity at Pasir Gudang (Malaysia)
safely on time and on budget in Q4 2018.

+ Completed capacity and capability expansions at SBR
plants in Mar! (Germany) and Qulu (Finiand), and powder
coatings in Sant’Albano {Italy).

+ We completed the acquisition of BASF Pischelsdorf
{Austria) on 31 January 2018 with one strategically
positioned plant, and improved penetration of the
growing packaging paper market.

+ Delivered PAC (Dispersions) synergies run rate savings
of $12m by end of 2018 with commitment to further
$2m of run rate savings by end of 2019.

18
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Key performance indicators Risk 2019 priorities

24] O/O + Protection of 19 + Commence investment in

ol | t . + Competition and ‘ailure state-oi-'-the-art Asian ,3

ales volumes from new R innovation centre for @
products lavnched in the 2020 completion.

past e vears + Volatilty In chermicals

and polymers market + Further market penetration [re—
of SyNovus and new Q
product launches. 3
3
+ Accelerate product transfer 3
activities to support new hd
global business structure
growth strategies.
EII 8J| O 8 52 + Volatihty in chemicals + Continued use of our
! | I ' and polymers market Manufacturing Excellence

Underlying EEITDA Energy consumption +SHE process to drive 3
{Gd/tonne] improved performance. (]

+ Loss or falure of & . —

£1 85'] r ]‘ | Syrthomer site + Roll out new tools in .

Underlying PRT O. 28 c commercial, supply chain, o
Recordatle acoident + Efnes HR and Procurement_io ]
frequency rate + Financial risks further improve efficiency ©

and effectiveness. El
+ Brext 2
+ Under new business &5
structure drive sharing of &
best practice globally. g
@
&
E»] 81 O Ez] 85 1 + Compettion and failure + Use value gap methodology to §
UM M to innovate identify and unlock ‘hidden ®
. g

Underlymng EBITDA Undeslying PBT + Volatilty n chemicals capacity’ in our assets. e

and polymers market + Progress slte restructure

82.BD 1 ,51 7- 6 + Loss or tailure of a plans _a"_d new opportunities g

Underlying EPS Volume (Wet ktas) Synthomer site to optimise manufacturing B
network and extract value. 2

+ Brexit 4

g

=3

B

9

81 81 O E»] 85 »] + Manufactunng capacity + Complete capacity expansion &

UM A expansion prajects of Functional Solutions 36ktes 3

nder i i i 2

Underlying EBITDA Underlying PBT + Volatinty i chemicats and :pelfilall:tyva‘crylic 28'}0!’3“’“3 v

polymers market acllity in Worms { any). e

82 8p 1 61 7 6 + Brexit + Complete capacity expansion ;
. f . 3 -

Underlying [PS Volurne (Wet kias) of Functional Solutions @
12ktes speciality acrylic —
dispersions facllity in
Roebuck (USA). Q

3
=i"
E)
Etl 81 O E»] 85 4| + Avaiiability of suitable + We remain highly active in 3
' I ' | ' l opportunities identifying, targeting and §’
Underl EBITDA Underlying PBT revi portu
nuerng neerbing + Failure of acquisition M"’ op nities,
to deliver benefits both in relation to bolt-on
82 8 acquisitions and
. p + Valuation and financial transformational step
Undertying £PS market volatility change transactions in
+ Brexit adjacent chemistries. o
} . . =
Read more on pages 30-31 Read more on pages 32-37 + Drive synergies. °
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Our new global business structure

Maximising
opportunities
for growth

From 1 January 2019, Synthomer has
changed its structure from two regional
businesses (ENA - turope and North
Ametrica and ARW - Asia and Rest of
the World) to three global businesses

- Performance Elastomers., Functicnal
Solitions and Industnal Specialties,

Performance Elastomers is focused on
healthcare, carpet and paper markets
through our Nitrile butadiene rubber latex
(NBR) and Styrene butadiene rubber latex
(SBR) products. Functional Solutions

is focused on coatings, construction,
adhesives and technical textiles markets
through our acryhc and winylic based
dispersions, Industnal Specialties is
focused an our speciality chemical
additives and non agueous based
chemistry for a broad range of
apphcations from polymer additives

to emerging materials and technologies

Our former regranal structure served

us well but with our customer base
increasmngly global and the devaelopmeant
of technology accelerating market
apportunitics, our new structurs wil
provide closer proximity to our customers
and therr global requirerments, accelerate
ourn sales growth, sharpen our commercial
focus and drive operational efliciencics.
The new structure wall enable Synthomer
1o better leverage its globat product
portiolio and customer relationships,
better exploit its RAD capability within
chiemistiiss, and bning greater operational
focus 10 production sites.

Sales. marketing. research and
development and production vall be
tocused by business group into dedicated
global teams whilst retaining very strong
regional strength and local focus.

Read more about our Business Model and
Strategy on page 28

1

Performance Elastomers

Market position
No 2 producer globally in MNitrle
butachene rubber Jatex.

Ng 1 producer in European
Styrene butadiene rubter latex
No 1 producer globally of high
solds styrene butadiene rubber.

Principal markets
served

Medical gloves, medical devices

and healthcare markets

Coated board. speciality
and graphic papers and
packaging. mattresses.
pillows and foatwear,

Compounds for residential,
industrial, automotive, carpets
and artificial turk.

Profile

Twelve manutfactunng plants
located n Malaysia, Italy,
Germany. Finland, Austna,

the Netherlands and Cgypt
producing in excess of BhOkies
per annum.

Performance Elastomers is
focused on markets wherg
scale 1s important and
mantacturmg operations
differentiated by the ability
to hanale high hazard raw
miaterals and complex
processes. Assets utihse
advanced propretary
tactinology and

innovation chemistry.

Revenues {2018)

704.5m

Customers

The world's leading medical
glove and healthcare
producers. Global and
regional paper. packaging

and board companies. and
leading bedding and footwear
produees Carpet and artiticial
turt producers.

OQutlook

High growth in end user
demand for Nitnle fatex gloves,
supported by investmeant in
capacity expansion and next
aeneration patented new
product development. Foarmn,
carpets and compounds
growing. graphic paper
declining. partly offset by
specialty paper and packaging

Priorities for 2019
Drive organisational synergies
thraugh efficioncy and
eftectiveness in the new global
business organsation,

Finalse planning for the next
phase of Nitrile latex expansion
following the successful
campletion of the 90ktes
expansion in Pasir Gudang

i 20018,

Market penetration of
SyNovus and delivenng plans
for Asian innovaton centre.

Increase the focus on the
development of now BUQINGGL
opportunities for cur chemistry
and MEA opportunities.

Progress transformation
programme at Kluang
(Malaysia).
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2 Functional Solutions

Industrial Specialities

]

@
g
[ 3
a
Market position Customers Market position Customers ;
Tep foe global acues s The world's leachnrg coating. Leading posihong in selected Leading g'obal PVC ard ¥
polymer producer, with construction. adhesives. niche specialty chemical pclyester polymer producers B
leadership posiions in ter nnucal textiles and ol cldd markets glubally, Manufacturers of specialist
disparsions in Europe. Middle companies. Spacialst sealant and adhesives
East and Asia. produce s of Cerment mode e Principal markets producers. Sgecialist powder
pnmers, floonng adhiesives, served coahng manufacturers. Gas
Principal markets specahst tapes flexible Specialist markets including prOCessing companies. _
served roof coatings. emulsion and PVC manutacture. construction, 3
Constructon, coatings specialist paints and coatings catalyst, automotive and Outlock q
adhesives. technical textiles andd ailfield « mermieals polymer manutacture. Positive outlock due to broad
aned calthelid, pase of specialst applications. pu—
Outlook Profile &
Profile Markets are seeng good Six manufactuning plants Priorities for 2019 2
Fourteen manufactunng plants growth as ervironmental located in UK, Italy. Czech Drve el cieney and reliability |
located m Germany. UK. Span. regulaticns mowve 1o water Republic and Belgium across the operational network. §
ltaly. France, Czech Repubhc. based products. producing in excess of 130ktes.
. Utilise :nnovation prpeline to
Saudi Arabia, Malaysia, strengthen differentiation of
Vietnam, Thaland. and the USA  Priorities for 2019 Industnal Specalities has 9 ]
o . product range.
producing in excess of 000ktes  Urive efficiency and arange of manufacturing
per annur. effectiveness in new operations focused mainly on Market penetration following
B i alist niche manufacturn cit ansion of ltahan
Functicnal Solutions 1s global organisation and spacialist miche manufacturng capacity exp‘ on of ltaha
) operational netwaork, 111 non-water-based speciality FPawder Coatings and PVOH
tocused on speciality markets )

. ) chemical manufacture, assets in Z018. 2
with mid-scale complex Utilise mnovation pipeline 1o &
manufacturing operations to strengthen differentiation of Frogiess transformation ~

6 op g Revenues {2018) ores
supply differentiated water praduct rangs. programme at Sokolov —
based dispersicns to local £284 8m [zer Repathic), -
'SP ocalised Use European market . [ f ‘ o
markets, Manufacturing assets . 0
i leadership position to drive ]
utlise advanced propretary 5
. ] globat and reglonal growth o
technology and innovative 5
) through accelerated transfer of ]
chemistry. Research and roducts and apphcations 8
development, technical P and spphes ‘ y
service and deep application Successtul complation of &
knowledge are key to growth, capital nvestment programme %
N Worms (Germany) and %
Revenues (2018} Roebuck (LSA).
2680 1 m Progress transformation
1 . w
programmes at Ribecourt w
France) and Sokolov =
ICrech Republic),
O
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Our new global business structure
continued

Performance
Flastomers

Overview

+ The Performance Elastomers division
represents 44% of Synthomer's
2018 revenue,

+ Focuses con healthcare, paper, carpet and
foam markets.

+ The givision has as its core Nitrile Butadiene
Rubber latex 'NBR™ and Styrene Butadiene
Rubber latex 'SBR’ including high
solid variants.

+ The division produces over 850ktes from its
twelve plants operating in Europe, Middle
East and South East Asia.

Derick Whyte
President,
Performance
Elastomers

Performance Elastomers division combines
Synthomer's market leadership position in NBR,
where we are the second largest producer
alobally, SBR where we are the market leader

I Burope and high solids SBR where we

are the global leader. The division operates
globally utlising some of Synthomer's largest
production facibhes.

FPerformance Llastomears serves a diverse
market and customer base. NBR 1s focused on
the healthcare market, which 1s charactensed
by mcreasing levels of demand for Nitrile latex
gloves supported by capacity expansion and
significant iINnnovation. These markets are driven
by the global mega trends ol increasing hyaiene
standards and emerging market popuiation
growth. SBR. which serves the paper coating,
carpet backing and foam markets. taces a
long-terrn shitt away from the use of graphic
coated paper to digital media This s balanced
by growth in packaging consumgtion driven

hy on ine purchasing, The carpet and foam
markets cover a range of ditferentiated
applcatons m flooting. bedding and footwear,
Product mnavation remains core. parficularly in
NBR, where new products have continued to
support glove market demand for lower glove
welghts and accelerator free materials.,

Strategic priority 1:
With a new global organisation comprising
12 plants and 1,000 people to optimise and
drive efficlencies in the organisational and
operational model.

Strategic priority 2:

To commercialise the 90ktes Nitrile latex
investment in Pasir Gudang {Malaysia),
finalise plans for the next phase of
capacity expansion scheduled for 2020
and progress the commercialisation

of SyNovus®.

Strateglc priority 3:

To optimise the innovation process
across the division to deliver efficiency
and effectiveness and complete the Asia
innovation centre investment scheduled
for earty 2020.

22
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Why innovation matters

Innovation 1: Speed to

market is key to driving
competitive advantage

Owver the past four years the Asian inncwation
team has reduced the time 10 market for
nev product Introduchion with our latest
generation patented N8R technology
beng introduced In halt the time corpared
o previous generations. The new Asian
irmovation centre {o be opened in 2020

will deliver state of the art facilities to duve
further efficiency ard elfectiveness in oo
R&D activities,

Innovation 2: Efficiency and
excellence through operations

In our Mari (Germany) high sclid SGR facility.
a cross functional team of Synthomer experts
focused on the value gap’ iventified to
delver ariritial 15% capacrty debottlensck
and expansion of specialty high solds

SBR products to meet growing customer
demand. The delvery of additonal capacity
of differentiated products to serve the high
growth bedding and footwear markets
globally was the frst step in a phased
debottleneck and expansion of our facities.

innovation 3: Patented new
product development

Innovation has been at the core of the NBR
expanson strategy in recent years with
successtul launches of our third and fourth
generation glove dipping latex. SyNovus’,
is the latest product launch frony the NBR
tearm and s & patented product otfering
lhe heseht of an accelerator free provuct,
which reduces the nsk of allergic reactions
lor glove nsers, and the additione] encit
of lower operating costs through mproved
elliciencies and greaster sustama ity

for the glove producer. The product has
undergaone successful plant tnals and
approvals with further commercialization
growth antcipated in 2019,

F
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Our new global business structure
continued

Functional
Solutions

Overview

+ The Functional Sclution division represents
42% of Synthomer’s revenue.

+ Focuses on the Coatings, Construction,
Adhesives, Textile and Oilield markets,

+ The division has at its core agueous acrylic
and vinylic polymer dispersions which are
used as speciality binders in the formulation
of environrentally compliant materials.

+ The division produces over 500ktes from its
fourteen plants operating in Eurcpe, Middle
East, Asia and USA.

Rob lupker
President.
Functional
Soelutions

Functional Solutions 15 Synthomer's top five
global aqueous polymer busmess with
leadership postions IN dispearsions in Europe.
Micldle [ ast and Asia, The division s ideally
placed to grow across all geographies both
organically and inorganically to meet the
expanding regulatory driven market for solvent
free differentiatedd apphcations. Using
proprietary technology and innovative
chemistry, Functionat Solutions s focused on
spedcialist markets with assets strategically
positioned to serve localsed markets

As a global business, Functional Solutions s
deally positioned to better leverage ite global
product portfolios and customer relationships,
explor 45 R&L capabdties and dive aperational
efficiences furthel developing s globa netwaork,
With Funchional Solubons markets contmuing 1o
arow i excess of GOP and new capacity being
introciuced in 2019, the dwision looks forward to
further sustainable growth

Strategic priority 1:

Drive growth globally and regionally by utllising
its market leadership positions in Europe, Middle
East and Asia through more focused sharing

of technology, applications and products.

Strategic priority 2:

Focus on specialisation and delivery of the
innovation pipeline. To focus on accelerated
development of differentiated product platforms
of key segments via global product strategies.

Strategic priority 3:

Optimise the network and cosi competitiveness.

To complete the strategic capacity investment
programme in Worms {Germany) and Roebuck (USA)
and restructuring programme in Ribécourt {(France)
and drive further operational efficiencies.

Synthomer plc Annual Beport 2018




Why innovation matters

Innovation 1: Patented new
product development

Synthomer aquecus polymer dispersions
are widely used in the adhesives markets
globally. In the USA our patented High
Shear Adhesion Failure Temperature (SAFT)
technolagy has been deveioped to allow
solvent based technology to be replaced
by more environmentally sustainable
water-based products in speciality

tape and label applications. Regionally
developed technology with accessto a
global manuiacturing network, application
testing and technical sales force allows
accelerated product development and
commercialisation and enabling customer,
envirenmental and consumer benefits to be
delivered quickly.

Innovation 2: Collaborative
business development

The battery market is being driven by

the growth of electric vehicles with an
underlying growth rate of 15% per annum.
leading to forecasts of 25% of all vehicles
being electric by 2040, Synthomer has
developed a technology platform and is
working with an industry wide consortium
to accelerate the development of its current
and next generation binders for high
performance ancde and cathode materials.,

Innovation 3: Market focused

new product development
Synthomer is expanding its product range
in technical textiles to introduce state-
of-the-art binders for glass fibre mesh
coatings to improve the performance of
products in the construction industry.
This expanded product range meets

the market need for significantly faster
curing combined with excellent alkali
resistance and a formaldehyde free
cross-linking system. The product future
proofs cur customer reguirements through
compliance with the latest international
regulations and increasingly challenging
environmental demands in the industry.

:

wodau oifiajeis

£5-2d1
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Our new global business structure
continued

INndustrial
Specialities

Overview

+ The Industrial Spegialities division
represents 14% of Synthomer's revenue and
halds leading positions in selected speciality
chemical markets globalty.

+ The division focuses on specialist market
positions in non-aqueous polymer chemistry
to serve the PVC, construction, automotive,
catalyst and polymear manufacturing sectors
producing a range of performance additives
and acrylic ester monomers for supply into
polymer manufacturers.

+ The division produces over 130kies from its
six European manufacturing plants which
serve markets globally.

Nell ¥whitley
President,
Industnal
Specalities

Industnal Specialities 15 Synthomer's plattarm
for hugh valug speaialist performance additives
and acrylate monomers, which hold same
leading pesitons in selected niche markets
glebally, Cur European assets suppaort our
aqueocus polymer segmental focus allowing
Synthomer 1o offer a more comprehnensive
range of products to our coatings,
construction. automotive and polymer additive
segments and allow us to expand our foot
printinto wider speciahty chermcal markets,
The division serves leading global PG and
polymer producers, speciakst sealant and
adhesive manufacturers, powder coatng and
gas processing producers  The drsion offers
a platform for bothinorganc and organice
g-owth in speciabty chemicals for Synthomer
with imrovation core toits strategy.

Strategic priority 1:

Drive efficiency and excellence through
operations. To utilise operational excellence
and our business focused ‘value gap’ analysis
to debottieneck capacity, drive reliability,
complete site transformation programmes

to deliver growth in profitabllity.

Strategic priority 2:

To optimise our innovation processes

to accelerate new product development
and further strengthen the differentiation
of our product range.

Strategic priority 3:

Focus on growth opportunities in speciality
chemicals markets to extend the footprint
of the Industrial Specialities division.
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Why innovation matters

Innovation 1: Market focused new
product development

Synthomer's Lithene liguid polybutadiene
products cffer excellent compatibility with
rubber substrates, allowing modifications
to be made to polymers to meet the
increasingly demanding performance
properties of advanced materials. In bath
peroxide and sulphur cure systems, new
Lithene grades demonstrate significant
tensile, heat age and mixing time
improvements to allow customers’ needs
to be met in the automotive and specialist
industrial markets.

Innovation 2: Accessing high
growth markets

Synthomer continues to invest in the
development of advanced materials to
access their high growth potential. In
absorbents, Synthomer has launched its
Duraguard range of high capacity granular
finished absorbants offering unrivalled
durability to natural gas processing
operators. In other advanced materials,
graphene is an exciting and innovative new
material which has the potential to open
new markets and even replace existing
technologies. Synthomer has developed
exceptionally high-quality graphene
products available under the Gographene
range, which can be accessed via a newly
introduced innavative marketing channel to
service both the development and industrial
scale custamer. With applications under
development from superior performance
tyres to footwear, our high purity products
ofter excellent opportunities for growth.

Innovation 3: Global network drives
faster innovation

Synthomer innovation is delivered through

a global network with our four innovation
centres in Asia, Europe and North America.
QOur R&D teams are embedded within

the businesses to allow close access 1o
customers and to ensure that we provide
solutions that deliver value where it matters.
In our Speciality Additive business, which

we acquired from Perstorp in 2017, we have
anew focused team in place to utilise the
strength of the Synthomer network. This
allows us to develop coating and polyester
additives and associated applications
required to deliver ditferentiated materials and
access to higher rates of growth globally.

:

Jodes 21691818

15-241
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Business model

Creating and sustaining value

through innovative solutions

OQur strategy

Our strategy 18 to create shareholder value
by creating a global speciality chemical
business focused on providing customers
with innovative and high pertormance
solutions that chnable them to efficiently
produce ther own high quality products.

Our strategy = corrposed of five
key elemeants:

1. Research and development
and technical expertise to
exploit new markets

We anticipate market trends and
customer requitements to deliver
improved products with improved
margin and product aifferentation

2. Driving efficiency and
excellence through operations

We Gperate Continuous Improvernant
across out operations to improve
prod.chon otficicney. sales effectivenoss
and functional excellence. We seek to
identity good practice n all areas of our
business and ensure that relevant learnings
are disserminated throughout the busingsgs.

3. Capacity utilisation

Our anrs o drve profitatalivy through
maximum utthsation of our assets,

This mvolves identiying the roat causes
ol producian bottlenecks and tinding
nnovative solutions to eiminate them.

4. investment in capacity

We seek to add capacity in growth markets
where investment opportunities meet Gur
capital management pelicies.

5. Business growth

through acquisition

We actively seek oppartunistic bolt on
acguisitions in similar chemistries or
transformational step change transactions
not limited by geography or chemistry.

Synthomer 1z a specialty chemical
company which uses its technical service
expertise and R&1D capability to understand
ana anticipate customer needs to drive
compebtive advantage.

We praduce chemical farmulations

tor thousands of customers in a range

of industries, from construction and
coatings to healthcare and automaofive.
Our strategic procurement specialists
acquire the upstream raw materials used
in our complex production processes
which involves controling the pressure,
temperature and duration of mixing
reachions In order 10 Create speciiic
tormulations. Qur highly skilled and
experienced operations teams. supported
by H&LD. celiver cost etfective and flexible
operational capabilities to maximise output
and quality.

OQur production sites are local to our
customers to better understand therr needs
and reduce the cost of logistics and our
ervironmental impact. We have leading
market positions in Eurcpe and South East
Agia, which continue 1o be underpinned by sur
drive for environmentally fendly technology
and exposdre to globat mega-trends.

Lttective nsk management is the key
method we deploy to ensure our strategy 18
detiverad and sustanable value created.

28
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Qur sustainable value chain 5
o
1. Research and 2. Consumers 3. Technical 4. Formulations §
development We monitor mega- services Our formulations
Under central trends and market Cur technical are designea for
leadership, our developments service teams work use in customer
four research to ensure our with our customers  specific products.
ana development formulations meet to ensure we
‘centres of the requirements provide the right 5
excellence’ work not only of our formutation for their 2
to both develop customers but also needs. =
products that meet the end users of
our customers' their products. Our Vafue Chain e
needs and to . . 1%
improve the beneficiaries H
efficiency of their g
manufacture. Customers 3
Our customers expect us to provide
them with Innavative. fugh guality,
compettive products. We seek to
work in partnerstips with customers,
using our skilled RED and technical
services teams. to develop products
that support ther goals. .
e
Employees 8
Cur employees are a critica part of —
our success Employees contribute to
all aspects of our value chain and all [
erployesys Lo fronn the success g
of cur business. We are comimitted Es
1o providing a safe and rewarding %
environment in which to work. [
o
fol
Communities g
We look to be a valued part ot 5
commumities inwhich we operate. @
providing highly skilled employment
opparturities, beny aware of ©
how our plans may impact on a “
community and demonstrating S
that we respect the community e
and its emvironment,
o
Suppliers é
Qur suppliers are an mportant part 8
of our business and we lock to work E«
closety with them using the skiils g
of our strategic sourcing teams to &
enste we oot the nghl spec ication g
of products for our needs at g
competitive prices. '_5”
w
Shareholders 2
COur shareholders, as the owners a
of our busingss. should see the &
benohts of our foes o lomg-term
sustainable growth, regulatory [r—
compliance and strang governance. o
5. Sourcing 6. Production 7. Quality 8. Logistics g
raw materials Experienced control Our speclalist Governments EY
Woe work closely operations teams Cur quality control logistics teams We see local safety and environment %
with our suppliersto  continue to optimise  procedures and work on ensuring legislatve complance as the 2
obtain competitive the production laboratories safe and timely minmuom level at which we shouicd s
prices, correct process to be most  ensure that we deliveries of ooerate and strive for higher
specification and efficient by using manufacture and excellent products standards, We look to ensure that
to improve supply compiex production  store finished in more than we follow the letter and spirt of
chain resilience. techniques products in a 140 countries. tax regllations within each of the
and removing manner that pnstictions imwhich we operate and &
bottienacks. assures quality. contribute fairly to public policy goals. N
E]
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Key performance indicators
Measuring our progress
Strategic
Key performance indicator focus KPI definition
Volume Volurne of our products sold in thousands
{Wet ktes) 3 4 5 of tonnes (ktes). The velume is based on
wel volumes — i.e. the volumes including
water content
Underlying Underlying operating profit before
EBITDA 1 2 3 depreciation, amortisation and
{Em} 4 5 Special Items
Underlying Underlying profit before tax comprising
profit 1 2 3 IFRS profit before tax excluding
before tax Special fems
(Em} 4 5
Underlying Basic Underlying earnings per share
earnings 3 4 5 before Special ltems
per share
(pence}
Sales volume Percentage of sales volume in the year
from new 1 that can be attributed to new products
products launched in the past five years
(%)
Recordable Recordable injury rate for aceidents
accident 2 involving more than first aid treatment,
frequency expressed as accidents per 100.600
rate hours worked by employees and
all contractors
Energy Energy (GJ) {including gas, electricity,
consumption 2 stearn and fuel oil) used at each of our
per tonne plants divided by the number of tonnes
(GJ/Tonne) of product made. The energy excludes
transport of goods 10 and from site and
the movement of the asscciated vehicles
on site, but internal transport on site
is included
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Comment Link to strategy
+ Underlying growth supported by the acquisition of BASF Pischelsdorf RAD and technical 5
(Awstria) and capacity expansion in Pasir Gudang (Malaysia), Oulu 1 expertise to :
(Finland) and Sant’Albano (Haly). exploit new markets ~
5 Driving efficiency o
. - — and excellence @
+ Record year for Underlying EBITDA benefitting from the acquisitions, through operations £
performance improvements and foreign currency translation gains. i
2
+ Innovation, capacity expansion and cest control critical 1o 3 Capacity utilisation &
continuing improvement,
+ Sustainable growth underpinned by organic and inorganic growth more
than compensating for the transactional impact of the weaker USD and 4 Investment in capacity
weaker 4 due to falling raw rmaterial prices and buying behaviour.
. . . Business growth
+ Record year for Underlying profit before tax benefitting from the 5 through acquisition o
acquisitions, performance improvements and foreign currency g
translation gains, e ~
Read more on pages 18-19
+ Innovation, capacity expansion and cost control critical to —
continuing improvement. o
+ Sustainable growth underpinned by organic and inorganic growth more {Dé
than compensating for the transactional impact of the weaker USD, =
and weaker Q4 due to falling raw material prices and buying behaviour. §
&
n
+ 6.8% growth in Underlying EPS in the year benefiting from improvement g
in Underlying profit before tax. 3
3
+ Reduction in effective tax rate reflecting geographical profits mix and @
prior year items.
w
¢
B
+ Continued success in our strategy to innovate and create products to pr—
meet market and customer needs. @
+ Investment in R&D continuing to drive strong innovation pipeline. %
2
§:
3
o
+ Increase in the 2018 recordable accident rate related to increased g
contractor activities associated with major capex investment across the -
Group. On three year rolling basis 60%+ improvement recorded. g
5
+ Best ICCA Process Safety Event rate at 0.14 per 100,000 hours. .
o
n
g
+ Specific Energy Consumption decreased by 0.5% but overall primary o
energy consumption increased by 3.8% due to BASF Pischelsdorf 3
(Awustria) acquisition and production mix in Malaysia. =
+ Projects identified and in the pipeline which will deliver energy and §
emissions improvement. %
3
2
N
E
h—
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Risk management

Managing risk

Synthomer plc Board

The Board s responsible for creating
the framework for the Group's nsk
rmanagement to operate eftectively,
The Board continues to strengthen its
debriions and measurement of:

+ the nsk appetite, which is the target
range of risk the Board believes
Synthamer should take to achieve its
corporate objectives;

+ the nsk tolerance, which s the degree
of vanance from the targeted risk
appetite that the Board s willing
10 tolerate.

Identification and
assessment of rigsk

We bave a structured nsk management
framewvork operated at bhuginess unit,
functional and Group level. The Business

R 2k Assessimend Methoutlogy defines o
standard sel of risk categones with gerenc
risk descnptions o assist management in
idertitying areas of nsk There s also a simple
sconng methodolegy 1o quantify nsk. We
rank rigks, taking nto account the mitgating
controls N place. by combining thelr
economic. operational of reputational mpact
and the Ikelihood that they may ocour,

We use a barner based "how tie’ meathod
ter helyrimanagement de’ he andd assess

Bow tie methodology

How Synthomer manages risk:

Risk
oversight

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee 15 responsible

for overseeing the managemaent of the
principal risks, controls and the assurance
processes. To help further embed
suceessul risk management within
Synthomer. the Audit Commuttee in 2018
conducted ‘deep dives' into a number of
business unit and functional nsk registers.
These deep dives allow management to
explain directly to the Audit Committes
the risks and assooated mitigating
achons In place and in development.

The nsk management system. Audit
Committee 'deep dives’ and assooiated
assurance work are designed 1o ensure that
nsk g managed to within the nsk tolerance
rather than to eliminate nsk completely, and
reviews provicde reasonatie assurance in
Iine with good practice.

the most critical nsk cvents. The method
bongs siractire to e identheation ot
hazards or tisk events, potential causes
of those hazards and the conseyuences
of the harard occurrng. The bow tie
methced also wlentiies barners or contols
r place or needing to e developed

to mitigate the kelihood of the threats
sceurring or impact of the effects of the
rsk event We encourage aur managemasnt
to be cognisant of good practce on

sk management ncluding from out
professwonal advisers and the World
Lconormic Forum Global Risks repaort.

Synthomer achieves its strategic objectives by gono nsk management practices which enable good decision making and the pursuit

of opportunities whilst protecting our sites, systemns, staff and other stakeholders. Successiul risk management enables Synthomer to
ackieve its cororate oblectives teston and more efficiently ard recognises that we only achieve reward fyy taking an appropriate level of
risk through setting the nsk appetite and risk tolerance.

Executive management

Executive management 1s résponsible i
for the management of our strategic.

operational, complianca and finandal

risks uaing the risk management

framework. This inclides ensuring there

are 1o the extent possible mitigating

actions and controls in place.

Risk output

Business units individoally conduct a
bottom up assessment of the principal 1isks
and record them in a nsk register using the
Business Risk Assesament Methodology.
Group Tunctions and the Executive Board
conguct a top down review of strateqic
rigks taking into account the nput from the
business umts and prepare a Group risk
register using the same methodology.

The Board reviews and approves the
Group nsk remster,

A barrier-based bow tie methodology is used to clearly show the relationship between the potenhal causes (threats). conseqguences
and controls (barners) associated with undesired hazardous events.

Hazard
Threat 1 Proactive barrier Proactive barrier Recovery barrier  Recovery barrier  Conseauence
Top event
Threat 2 Proactive barner Proactive barrier Recovery barrier Recovery batrier  Consequence
Escalation Escalation Escalation Escalation
factor factor barrier factor barrier factor
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Assessment of

]

@
principal risks g
a
Our key nsks and assessment of therr g
likelihood and potential impact are sustrated 3
inthe probability © impact matrix opposie: 3
Strategic
1 Valatiity iIn chenucals and polymers market
Z Competition and failure to npavate
3 Intellectual property =
4 Manwuiacturing capacity expansion projects o
o Strateqic projects mcluding ME&A 3
Operational re—
& Satety. health and environment (SHE} o
7 Loss or falure of a Synthomer site g
8 Securty, complexity and reliability g
of systems 3
9 Disorderly Brex:t
Compliance
10 Ethics
Financial
11 Financial nsks .
New risk  Risk that has moved frum 2017 o
=]
o
L%
Cach region undertakes a tormat nsk Qur key risks + Comphance rnsks where a breach of o
assessment and prepares a register using Risks aftect us it many ways. Across our requiations of laws could lead 1o incs é
the Business Risk Assessment Methodology.  business, we identify the tikelihood and from regulators and reputational risk 5
potential impact of risks through our formal that may be disproportionate to the 3
Risk management twice vearly nsk assessment submissions size of the event leading to a breach. 3
review and assurance encompassing the business units and + Financial risks relating to the tunding &
. " Group functions and also more regularly and fiscal secunty of the Group. 3
Group risk function through empowenng management to g
i i ! ¢ ; . o . El
Theg%_roup risk thmC'UO:- ar: m‘regrra/ ”Da” (: consider and react to nisks. THESe IVIEWS,  The tabie on pages 34 to 37 shows more @
IOPUT #IOLD 3F)eril \rms L‘JTDCW:(?:;(T 1alenges together with Gur three ines of de)‘erjce detalof e key nsks identified at the end of
HGEE] ors, Hsks dentf o, at : X
WE‘ ﬁnt‘ ':W} I o r”c, ‘ frl DS model, enable us to establish effective _ 2018, Owr Board and management consider -
D;,O.r lsation a deJJO 58 aClonsg controls to mitigate (to the extent possible) that these pose the greatest threats to our 2
place or propasec. ther effects. business and they score highest on our risk £
M table. They fall into categories that relate h—
gstshurance lt)I"O\l.':hderf f We categorise our HSKS. tagmg Into account closely 16 our buainess model. Not all risks
1\/;1 C‘WI‘IE‘F o;j)e‘ra:qes a N ree' \rjlﬁs 8] 1 the eﬂect,venesa of mitigating actions and facing Synthomer are isted and the risks are o
aelence model Anumoer ol diierén controls. in the folowing areas: rot histect in any order of priority, 3
internal assurance providers [for example, B
aroup SHL 180 ¢ § i al 3 y - 5 . 2
Group t&;HL .f:’SOt:ﬁudn% ar:futr!me”.j[fi flt\udnl) + Strategic 1isks at COL_“(J prevern us The nature ot nsk changes over time with g—
rere\’\ & eflecliveneass of the mitigating from achieving our straleyic obectives. new risks emerging and the rpact of B
actions and controls, Cxternal assurance 1s o b oihiers changing. Our risk management and o
provided by our Statutory Auditors and also Qperaﬂond\ nisks which. it not - assur\ﬁnc; préqrémmehan on\y‘pro\'lde Y
by an exlernal specialist in 1SO standards. successiully managed. would threaten : ) S g
our viability. These relate to our ability to reasonable. not absolute, assurance that key g
operate a sustanabie and sate business nsks are managed to an acceptable level. £
[:]
a
o
@
o
The three lines of defence Board/Audit Committee
i External Q
Senior management i =
auditor @
EX
=
+ 1stline of defence + 2ndline of defence +  3rd line of defence %
+ Policies + Risk management +  Internal audit 4
+ Procedures + Group finance Regulators =
T I
+ M0 o t rol + G pSHE (E.g. HSE, EA, ICO,
anagement controls roup : CMA, FCA)
+ 150 audits
+ Regulatory affairs
+ Legal department -
+ Quality Investors and 4
rating agencies a
Fungtions that own Functions that oversee risks Functions that provide
and manage nuks ndependent assuranrce ———
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Principal risks and uncertainties

the Group's strategic objectives can anly be actieved if certain risks are taken and manayed effectively.

We have listed below the key risks that atfect our business, although there are other lower levet risks that ocour and impact the Group's
performance which are also actively managed through our nisk management framework.

Strategic risks

Risk

Response

Voiatility in chemicals and polymers market

The markets 1 wh.ch we operate a-e
Tmergntly volat e, mcuding aw nate a
nput pnees. atfect ng vo ames and marging
and may adversely atect the resdlls o

tae Groap.

1 4 A

Competition and failure to innhovate

We opeate in ugh y competit va markets
and tne Grour coud lose market snare to
other producers of speciaty chemicals if
we fail to rerman comoetitive, or 1o athe
procucts tnat can be sunstituted for the
O odacts O tne Group Fowe fail toadentify
threats and nnovate to mibgate them

1 3 v

Intellectual property

The value of the Group s dependent an
our ability to identify and protect our own
intellectual property and ensure we o
niot breach third party ntellectual proper ty
[IP) nohts which could lead to reputational
damages and additional costs.

Tag Group cont nues 1o mantan & ba anced
portolo of prod.cts sery ng a wide range

of end mransets around the gobe. Segrent
peformance at busingss unt evelis clasery
rontored and corective act ons are laken
as necessary

The Group contirdes o Invest in entianc g
ex sting products and develooing “ew
products trough aar H&D programme and
our acauisthon strategy neudes lechnologies
thal are aew to the Group

Qu technical services teams wor< wiin
custormers 1o undersland and antcipate ther
nure needs atid to help e dnve gihivienoes
e r own manufactunng processes

Al sites ooegrate gually managemaeant systernrs
acluding assurance processes fo ens.re the
qualty of oroducts mests ag-eed standards

We continue to review our cost base and
sales efectiveness to ensure we can nrce our
vroducts coroettvely.

The Group irmproved its 1P managsiment
with new hires 1In 2018 and will continue its
active patent programme and mon toring
for mfringemernts.

Manufacturing capacity expansion projects

Frinancetignts [0 Gu patits [ riciedse
manufactis g capac 1y to tace advantage
of growtn markets are dependent o1 good
projeLt management Poor exec hor of od-
vEROUS Do ecls coultd erpact o0 our ak iy
to delver the canacly enancemrarts

4 v

Tuar sk« percaved (o UE NUTEGSIIa A5 we

spenich e on capex and have to
orofessiorial praject management ang
cant-actor resaurces to desigiiand nu o
CADAL Ty BXPANS 1

We nave archust capital duoas
pace to assess b oposed wroects 10
they delver varas wh ch nciudes reg.i
repo g o the Board Proect BExcellence
el oy s n ek for all sigrahennt
cavex projeels The outcomé o° contpisted
proecsts wite costs noaxcess of P

ae rev Awad by Miternal Audit and the
Aadt Comimitiee

2019 plans

Our acquisiton stategy continues 10 target
expansinn 1 new geoyraphic regons and also
adjacent specia ty cnemicals bus nesses to
help us diversfy the nak ‘artner,

New oroduct development w - contnue
to dwversity the Group's nsk n 2019,

We have reorganised the business along
chemistry Imas 1 order to orng our
businesses closer 10 17 custon ers and

we expect this, together with our Customer
Reatonsnip Management (CRM) systenr
enabl g our sales teams to better ideniiy
and secure opoortumilies, to dave growth 1
2019 and beyond.

QOur mtegrided business planing process
wall @llow us o aperate mote cificien iy,

Where appropriate, and where we are
legally able to. we will patent or otherwise
protect maore 1P 10 products, processes
and techinotogies

We will continue to improve IT securty m
our networks, EBPs. recipe change contral
system and wdustrial controls systems. to
protect P from thett and unauthonsed use.

o will el er vl SIg e it Cagad ify
gahanceTants n garly 2016 and have
annodnced a e ther capac ty expans omm
0w NRR plast i Ma aysia

Qur Proect Excelleace melliods ogy wi be
reviewad 10 ansare any lessone enrred ae
addressed and farther bz n g qiven

as reqiired

Retar o Invested Cawtal (ROIC; o

GQUE taggrihe ] Ciuitel pregee s e
mtroduced 10 the Long Te-n Imeentive Pan
(L TIFY pe-ormance Teasu es 1 2019 o
gnsEe L ophale managenent fonas
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Link to strategy

1  Fesearcchand deve oot ek ter onr.a

[=2tal= R o L

3 s

v b SaTon

4 mearent

Change in risk

Mo e his

S dLEITy MIreate
2 -v‘,ci :;}ha:r-pe" versls 5 RBusnees growin thragn ecnas von [
Read more on pages 18-19 Vo Senmi Lty e i ',
Risk Response 2019 plans

Strategic projects including M&A

Tne Group's sirategic 0 an incrudes
sanificat MEA achi ity o grs
0J5 Ness. Trhese s a nsk that we fanto
dentty and secure any targets o dentry
the wrong targets. paying too nigh a

proe fan o ntegrate acgured assets and
drve planaed syne-g es. o we encoudnter
pecformance fanikeo and ceshfow ssnos
or other poteatary unxacw: habil tes,

el

5

Operational risks

Fxecutive management nas extens ve
experience of successia MEA tfransactions
A ad ng ntegrahion of tne acquired bus ness.

Extersal advice s used to ne o idently targets
prepare bds and conduct due o gence.

Detaled rtey-ation olans are prepared as
part ofthe d.ue d igence exe cise.

MBA activ ty v cont ug 1o be cinsey
scrutin sed and chalenged py the Boa-d.

e vl raroase the etie S of S existing
processes and contmae to nvest in our ERP
systems to enable sroother ntegrat on of
acqJired DasINesses

Ongoing rev ew of acgu 510N DrOCess
and mplementation of lessons earned
o futu-e transact ons,

:

uodes oifeeng

£5-041

Risk

Safety, health and environment

The cnemca industry .5 nnerenty dangerous
mvoving the safe fransport, storage and
mandJfacture of hazardous chem ca's.

Failure 1o manage tne impact on our staff,
rmanufactur ng sites and the envronment of
these nshe could lead ti ragqubatony, fines
reputational damage and lost product on.

2

Loss or failure of a Synthomer site

A manufactunng ste o araw matenal
starage site might ne unac'e 1o operate.
whetner tentpo-anly or longer term. due

0 a sk eventoing'ud ng natusal o saster,
safety inc dent, fa lure of a ey supplier o'
the sup'y chain, sauclage or cybe attack,
W wodld have an adverse mopact on
operat ong and bos ress unit profitatabity

2 3 v

Response

Synitnamer operates a central safely audt
function dedicated to SHE 1ssues and t
pronaddes advice to - and rmon tors, our sites
to enanle conlinuous ImMorovement across al
major SHE areas Increasingly, the focus s
on process safety 1sk to e tigate the « sk of
maor ncdants.

Maintenance progrannmes are undéertaken o
mitigate the nsks.

Crisis manageent procedures are in 0 ace
for al stes torespond 1o ns< events waich are
revigwer] and tested reguala-ly.

Souro g sihrateqes are npace Groao

wide o access Tult-nle sources for ey raw
matera's and the Grodp works c'ose y wath
key suop &3 to ensare ava ability. S gle
sooreced mater als wredenttiod and ety
retainad. wnere appropnate, 10 miigate ns< of
sunp v cham ‘a-ure

2019 plans

Qur Group SHF audits will cont nue o
focus on h gher nisk areas nclud ng

o ocess saety We will maxe furlher
orogress on our long ter ambition
toimplerment a p-gact ve apo-oach 1o
Ta Ntenance as a preventaos & neasue

We will tocus specitically on
corroletmg the actons from ouar
P'ocess Hazard Assessmenls

We will contings 'oamoove preventative
measdres to reduce tne nsks and deve on
0.t husiness cotnaity olans molud ng crsis
managemeant regponse, disaste recovery o
key systerrs and data as welb as -onger term
recovery of ooerat ons

Synthomer plc Annual Report 2018
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Principal risks and uncertainties continued

Operational risks continued

Risk

Response

Security, complexity and reliability of systems

We are relant 01 vanous egacy systems

to run our bus ness and the complex ty

of our syslems contnues to mcrease win
acqusilons, complance regu rements and
aulormration of processes We also expect
the nhierent - sk from cyper secunty aftac<s
to contnde to grow, and aithough mit-gated
by our ncreasingly soonist cated defences,
al of our systams. including our Indusina
contiol systerms. FRPs and communicat.ons
coud be compromised We coudld lose
ntellectual ooperty and custorner data
wruch n» gl unde-ming our competit ve
positon o a cyber-attac- couid isave

one of our piants out of acton or sub,ect

10 plackma

1 2 3

Disorderly Brexit

We reassessed the Brex 1+ sks tiroughout
Qur bug 1ess N 2018 as & o deal’ outcome
was verceved o e moie ke y There s
ans< that a no dea’ scenano w - ead to
fitanCial Cotis Shen as tanlls, and affoot the
UK and EU nanJfactunng o ants” ab 1ty 1o
Moot Ay mratetia s and export proddels
onatmely basis. and alsg moact REACH
egJlation compliance costs,

2 3 4 5 A4

Compliance risks

Wa have increased resaurces inour [T
syslems and secunty teams o improve o.r
systems, processes and secarty

Cyuer delences cont nue 1o ve enhanced and
appropnate employees complete IT Secusity
Awaranass traning

A Brexl task force has been estabi shed to
consider and it gate, as fac as possib e,
the potantial ruact of a disorderly Brext,

monor ng rrpact on suw y chain, ~egurat on.

tade canpliance. anarat ons and human
FBEOUICES

2019 plans

Furtner secunty process mmoroverments are
plarvied N 2019 ctad ng penetiat o lest g
and review o* good secJr ty praclices

We wall lest T resilience through ow
program e of disaster recovery testing

We will cont nue to Mmoo e imoact of a
N0 ded scenano or any delays 10 setthing
fatare trad ag A -angeneats We w eview
our trading arrangements, nrocesses and
systerrs (o ensie Inat we la<e as far as
possible, any mibgat 1y achions necessiy

Risk
Ethics

Thee Groan ol suffer sabistanta penalties,
damnage lorigputation and other sanctons
for any falare 1o contiol, ‘07 examn &

ant combatt ve behvavoar bribey and
cortupton, o breacnes of t ade sanct o,
The Gonera Data Protect o1 Regalat ois
Aowfaw ad has genter polenta penales
that coad moact tne Groun

2 V

Response

The Code of Conduct nas neen updaled

o address the new reg.aiations The new
Code o Conduct inc udes real examples and
scenanos to aid erroloyee understand ng and
e tranng s avalab e Ma o actce -epo-tng
ard vroteckon for reporters are sivlasy
covered 1 ihe new Coone o° Conduct and
ancexternal, connderilial report e g hielplhne
has peen Made avalan e, Grouo lega and
locat managerent orovde regular traning

tor targeted gro.ps of enp oyees on ant
compel fve penaviod. othery and corruntion,

We have termmatad & business actutes 0
celan sanclhened countl 3 to avond the 1 sk
af preach ng trade sanct ong natl contnae
tymonta all oar customars s ng trade
comphance tools,

2019 plans

We wi ensure tnat seniol nhanagement and
OCa DLSINess o ts Gontnug 1o emphasse
the o'ovis ons In the Code of Conduct anrd
that Group lega and aother relevant “‘unchons
cantinue fo nrovide trainag and adv e on
it aupacabity

We will contnue to review au” apiFoac

o legal comn’ aqce ine ading the ew
GOPR law.

36
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Link to strategy

o desespment and techoe
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Financial risks

3 Carmory unearon

Read more on pages 18-19

Change in risk

Mo change

s marke nasce

VooSoner ey e

Risk
Financial risks

Accigr fie ant propornon of the Croop e
tarnove” and assets ag in currences ot
tha UK sterhngg and suct.anons n curency
oxs hartge rates may sigooficantly impact ~he
results and net assets of the Groun

Tne Group nas funding ~sxs re ating to
dedined Lenest onmion sehere: obiligahane,
the va Je o' whicn are highy dependent on
vislalle: Inanc il meaikets

2 5 v

Viability statement

Response

Tre Group nas a policy o hedgg a-

sionif eant o gneexe b o tansact onal
exposdre (prncpally rece vables and pavabies
denominated n a currency other tnan the
entity’s reporting currency) at operat ng
company eve'. The Group regdlary rev-ews s
net assets and borowing CUrency exposures,
bor-owing 1 overseas currenc es o hedge the
net assets held 1 those currencies

as anpropnate

The UK deined benedir pension scheme was
closed to future accrua 2009, Additiona!
contribut ans and carefu: asset management

shguld reduace the doficil over the langer term,

Crrerseas detinen peneflit pension schemes
are reviewed annua y by actuaries to ensure
appropnate contnaanons are made and

lla 'ies are -ecognised appropniately

2019 plans

We wll cont ue to nedge transact ona

CUTENCY NSKE

Tre K sehemes pansion delorn s expectsd
1o reduce gver the longer term as e

Group pays the addilional contr bations ta
the UK scheme agreed with the Trastees

m 2018 Trhe tmescae wil e a“ected oy
micvemants ntbe inancial maket- anoche
dscount rate

A Grodp wide review o' pension and

otner long term empigyee abities wil oe
underta<en 12014

:

uodal aibayeng

L5-0d1

In accordance with the provision of section C.2.2 of the 2014
revision of the UK Corporate Governance Code, the directors
asseessed the viabity of he Groups ower @ hve-year penu
to December 2023, being the penod covered by the Group's
approved strategie plan. This plan is updated annually, m a
process led by the executive management team with input from
the respective businesses and tunctions. It includes analysis

of product and seymental oerformance. cash fow, ineestment

Frae,

programmes and returns to shareholders. The plan s presented

10 the Board each year as a part of its annual strategic review.

e directors consider flve years o be an cppropnate tme
harizer for the strategic plan. being the perniod over which the
Group actively focuses on its long-term product development
ard Captlal expend tore investments, A ponac aboee iioe
vears is considered by the directors to be too long, given the
uncertanties that exist beyond this tme frame.

Furthermore. a sensitivity analysis has been underiaken.
focusing on the impact of the principal risks (detalled abuve on
pages 34 to 31 over the fve yeer penod, The nsks have been
assessed for therr potential impact on the Group’s business
model future tracing and funding structure. 1he sensitvty
analysis has considered a number of severe but plausible
scenanas Inked to the rnisks. In all cases. the impact was
considered on both hguidity and borrowing covenants.

the scananos included trading volatilty, ncreased competition,

distuption as a result of 4 disorderly Brexd, delays in project

delvery, falure of new products and the temporary loss of a
manufactuning site. They also included the nsk of potential
sigrificant « hanges in lorennn exchange rates, which is
deemed to be outside the control of the Group, A combined
sensitivity was also performed. aggregating al! of the scenanos
consderad. 1he results also took Into account the availability

and likely degree of effectiveness of mitiyating actions avalable

In making their assessment, the directors have considered the

ciiverse activities and product otfening of the Group in terms of
geographies. chemistry and end markets. fhe directers have
also consiaered e Croup™s carent shong hnancial position,

mnelucing the exisung committed unsecured bank faciliies,

which g so beon as~uned 1o be refinaneod at matunry and thie
el intesest rate hedges eorared into 2018

Whilg this sensitivity anatysis did not consider alb of the risks that
the Group may face. the directors consider that it s reasonable
in the cireumstances of the inherent uncertanty invoived,

Based on the results of this analysis. the drectors have a reasaonabie

expactation that the Group will be able to continue n operation and
et its ahilitics as they f2ll due over e e e vear penod,

Synthomer ple Annual Report 2078
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Chief Financial Officer’s review

Continued earnings growth underpinned by
geographic diversity, product differentiation

and sound balance sheet financing

Stephen Bennett
Chief Financial Officer

Strategic highlights

+ Fourth consecutive year of Underlying
earnings growtn

+ Robust performance underpinned
by geographic diversity and
product differentiation

+ A further year of record investment in
growth capex

+ Group refinancing and interest rate fix
completed

+ Balance sheet remains
conservatively leveraged

Overview

The Groun has reported a turther soid
mnprervement In Ledenbang prof: helore
tax, up 3.9% af ©135.1m, benehtting

from geographic dversity and product
differgntiation and overcorming challenging
forgign currency and raw material

price movernents.

The: key drivers behind the improvement in
agvarall pertonmance ware:

+ A strong year for ARW with Underlying
profit growl doven by imcreased Nitnle
latex volumes and unit margins 1N a Nitnle
latex market that continues to report
signihcant dorrand growth,

+

Robust results in ENA. adversely
impacted by both the weaker USD
reducing margins on products sold from
Curope in USD and falling raw matenal
prices in Q4. adversely impacting
custonier buying behaviour,

+

The bolt an acquistion of BASE
Pischetsdorf {Austiia) cormpleted on

31 January 2018 and whick was
successfulty iIntegrated into the Group.

+

Ihe contimuing weakness of sterling
which resulted in a positive translational
impact on the Group's reported results,

Alternative performance
measures

The Group has consistently used two
significant Atternalive Pertormance
Measures {APMS'} since its adoption of
International Financial Reporting Standards
I'FRE’) In 2005:

+ Underlying performance. which excludes
Special ltems from RS profit meusores:
and

+ EBITDA. which excludes Special ltems.,
amortisation and depreciation from IF RS
opetating proht.

The Board's view 15 that Underlying
performance provides adaiional clardy
forthe Group’s investors and st s the
primary focus of the Group's narrative
reportng. Further intormation and the
reconciliation to the IFRS measuras are
included in notes 2. 5 and 6.

38

Synthomer plc Annual Report 2018




Income statement
Operating profit

The table below briages tho 2017 and 2218 1FRS cperating profd <howang.

+ the changes in proiitablity 1n existing bosinesses,

+ the impact of the 2018 acaustion of BAST Pischelsdorf:

+ the imnpact of the weakness of stering on translaton: and

+ the eftect of the Special fems.

:

odes ojfaens

2G8-241

Europe & Unallocated
North Asia & Rest corpotate
Amerca of World expenses Total
£m £m £m £m
2017 - IFRS 775 31.2 (13.3) 95.4
Adg: 2017 Specil Items 38.6 39 [t 43.6
2017 - Underlying performance 17 351 (13.2) 138.0
2018 -- Underlying business changes 9.4y 18.01% 9.0 25.6% 11.6) [RIERTE 12.0) 11.4)4c
2018 - Underlying existing busmass
al 2017 exchange rates 1077 441 114.8) 137.0
2018 - Acquisition of BAST Pischelsdarf 2.6 - 2.6
2018 - Impact of 2018 exchange rates 0.8 1.6 - 2.5
2018 - Underlying performance
at 2018 exchange rates 11.2 15.0}% 457 30.2% 114.8) 1121 1421 2.2%
[Leduct)/add: 2018 — Special tems {19.4) 9.2 3.2 {13.4)
2018 - IFRS 91.8 18.5% 54.9 76.0% {(18.0) 135.3)% 1287 34.9%

I he tollowing should be noted:

+ | he reduction in FNA existing business operating prott of £9.4im peirrar ly -eflects the adverse impact of both the weaker LSD red.cing
marging on products sold from Curope n USD {£5.3m) and falling raw material prices in Q4. resulting in weaker volumes as custormers
delayed Q4 orders in a faling price environment.

+ The marked rnprovement 13 AFRW axisting business operating profit of €8 tn mainly reflects stranyg growth in Nitnle lslex volomes
and unit marging, more than offsething the adverse impact of the weaker USD reducing margins on products priced in Malaysia
in LSDE4.8my.

+ Linderly ng unallocated corporate expenses increased by 1160 edflecting the annualisation of costs related 1o the strengthening of the
roaragernend leamn the | oncon Head Office in 2017,

+ The continuing weakness of sterling duning the year resulted i an increase i the Groupy's repotted profit insterhing, For the Furopean
businesses. the rate used for ranslating profit moved from T1010130 0 2017 1o PHE1L1287 ur 2018, with a resulting uphftin the 2018
I NA opatating pooht of 70.9m. For e Malaysian busnesses the Malaysian Ringgt moved from £1.MYRES0E0 In 201/ 1o
COMYIRNDB00T with a resultirg uplift 1 the ARW uperatirg profil of £1.6m

Special items

2018 2017

£m £m

Restructuning and site closures (12.2) (11.G]
Sale of business 3.8

Sale of land 16.4 1.3

Acquisition costs (0.5) 2.3

Amortisation of acguired intangibles (16.4) (3100
Aborted bond costs {1.7)
UK Guaranteed Minimum Pension equahsation {2.8)

(13.4) {43.6)
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Chief Financial Officer’s review continued

The folliwing items of income and expense have been reported as Special tems:

+ Restructunng and site closure relates to the natural rubber and polyester resing production ines N Kluang (Malaysia). which clesed in
Q4 2018, and anincrease in the onerous lease and related provisions for the Ossett site due to a change 10 crcumstance relating to the
subletting of the site. In 2017, 1t pnmarnly related ta the rationalisation of the Ribecourt {France) site and the initial onerous lease provision
for the Ossett site.

+ Sale of business relates to the disposal of the Leuna (Germany) ste and the disposal of 519 of our sales entities i Dubai.

+ Salerof land in 2018 relates to the Group's profit on disposal of the final tranc he: of Malaysian land at Kliang, The prolit onsale of landn
2017 related to & disposal of land in Hapton (UK).

+ Amoshisation of sciured ntangibles decteased significantly ounng 2018 due to the full amortigation dunng the year of the Polymerl alex
customer relationships acquired during 2011, The amortisation includes £1.4m inrespect of mtangibles relating to the acquisihion of
BASFE Pischelsdort {Austria) in 2018,

+ Ahwead of the Sroup refinanc ng durnng the year a process was undertaken to ssue fixed rate unscoured senior notes. Despite a strong
response from investors the Group decided not to complete the transaction due to unfavourable market conditions. The costs of thig

process are noletechive of dnderlyieg poetlonmance,

+ Follewing a UK High Caourt ruling during the year in relation to the equalsation of male and female Guaranteed Minimum Pensions
IGMP) a pension plan amendment 15 deemed to have ooourred. The actuariai estirnate of this rregular cost was £2.8m.

Finance costs & profit before taxation

2018 2017
Underlying Special Underlying Special

performance Rems IFRS performance ltems IFRS

£m £m £im £m £m £m

Operating profit (neluding share of | JV's) 1421 (13.4) 128.7 139.0 13.6 95.4

Finance Costs {7.0) (1.4) (8.4) 9.0 - 12.0)

Profidloss) before taxation 1351 (14.8) 120.3 130.0 43.6) 86.4
increaseddecreasct in profitdoss hefore tax 4. 3.9% 39.2%

Fnance costs were lower than 201 ¢ reflecting & nomber of factors:s the Groups borowing predomimantly o Faro in the year compared with
muwaltiple currencies In 20 ower varable b urg inleros! rates on the first balf of the year, and a lower ponaions nterest charge as a result of
the reduced discount rate in ralation to the UK and Overseas defined benelit pension schemes Ths was partly olfser by the higher cost
fixed Euro mterest rate swap in the second half ol the year

A part Of the rebnancy g i Joly 2018 the Caouy entered inle swap airargements 1o ixoeterest rales on the: L value of the €445m
committed unsecured revoling credit facility. 1he fair value of the unhedged denvatves relates to the mark to market of the swap
arrangements at 31 December 2018 10 excess of the current borrowings of the Group. This has been taken throagh Special fems as its
not reflectize of the . naorlying porformance,

Taxation
2018 2017
Undertying Special Urcerlying Special
performance Items IFRS performance Hems IFRS
Taxahion (charge)‘credit ©m (23.0) 6.0 {17.0) (247 131 111.6)
Etfective tax rate %o 17.0 40.5 14.1 19.0 30.0 134

he IFHS effective fax rate 1smpacted by the tax credit an the Special items, [f s therefore helptul to consider the Undarlying and Soeoial
terns attecting 1ax tates separately’

+ [he ebect e tax rate on Undorhying peediormane e redo ed mhe vear anares b ol coanges rethe geograr e max of protits pro year
iterms and decreases in tax rates i certam junsdictions.

+ [1e effective tax rate for Specia tems 1z pnnopally driven by the deferred tax credit on the amortisation of acgured mangibles and the
Zetv carporate tax rate on e prow on saig of Malays an land,
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Non-controlling interests

2018 2017
Underlying Special Underlying Special
performance Hems IFRS performance Itemns IFRS
£m £m £m £m £m £m
Non-controlling interests 0.5 3.0 3.5 0.8 - .8

The Group continues to have a 70% holding in Revertex iMalaysia) Sdn Bhd and its subs thanes. This company and its subsidiaries are
nowe g relatioly ninor part of te Gronp and hence 1he non-controlling imterests impact on the Undertlying performance s not signdisant.

The Specal e s in 2C18 reflects the non conttoll ng interests shete (300 i tre Malaysiar land cale and restruct.ing coste associated
with the Kluang site. referred to 1n the Special ltems section above. The land was owned by Kind Action Sdn Bhd. a 100% subsidary of
Revertex (Malaysta) Sdn Bhd.

Earnings per share

:

wodai g16ajeng

24G8-241

2018 207
Underlying Special Underlying Special
performance Items IFRS performance tems IFRS
Carnings per share (pence) 32.8 (3.4) 29.4 30.7 8.9 21.8
Growth % 6.8 - 34.9

Ag set out In note 13, the average number of shares in issue remains similar to last year at 340 million. The changes in Underlying and
MRS carnings 201 share showe i the table are therefore driven predomimantly by the same factors that influerce the change mn profit
before taxation and taxation descnbed above.

Cash performance
The Group's pnimary focus is on managing net borrowings rather than on cash. The following summarnses the movernent in net
borrowings and is in the format used by management:

2018 2017
£m £m
Lnderlying operating profil (excluding oint ventures) 141.7 1380
Maovement in working capital {35.2) 9.5
Depreciation and amaortisation (Underlying) 38.9 37.2
FPurchase of property. plant and equipment (75.7) 160.3)
Business cash flow 69.7 124.4
Interest pad (net) {4.5) (1.8}
Tax paid (23.0) 261
IAS 19 Interest charge {3.2) 43
Fension funding in excess of IAS 19 mterest charge {13.8) (12.5)
Share based payments varniance to IFRS2 charge {3.9) 10.3)
Non-controling mterest and joint venture dwvidends {0.4) 1.5
Underlying operating cash flow 20.9 778G
Cash impact of restructuring and site closuie (3.3) 165.0)
Cash impact of aborted bond costs {1.2)
Sale of property. plant and equipiment 17.5 2.2
Furchase of business and acguisition costs [26.3) 166.2)
Sale of busimess 3.7 7.6
Dividends paid 42.5) 139.1)
Foreign exchange and cother movements 2.3} 6.5
Movement in net borrowings {33.5) 130.2)

Net debt increased by Y32.5m (2017: £50.2m) 0 the year, nsing from £180.5m at 31 December 2017 to £214.0m at 31 December 2018,

BOUBLIBADE)

UOIIBILLIOJ| JSIO || gG1-Spl  SusWwae)s |eouBuly Auedwos) | TRL-C6 SJUBLUB)E)S [BIDUBW, dNoID || 26-95

09)-461

Synthomer plc Annual Report 2078

H



Chiet Financial Officer’s review continued

The nse mnet debl reflects:

+ Anincreased icvestiment in wor<ing ¢ apntal partly iefled tieg igher raw macensl prices in the inal guarte: of 2018 relative 16 the
comparative period and higher inventones as a result of reduced sales activity in the same period, Working capital remairs at circa 10%
of sales on a twelve month rolling basis.

+ Ihe capral expenditure in 2018 retlects the cash spend o the previously annoutecd Ninbe latex capacy expatsion i Hasir Gudang
(Malaysia). the made to order specialty acrylic ines in Worms (Germanyi. the nerease in acryhe capacity in Roebuck (USA)L
debottlenecking of Marl (Germany} tor foam production and capacity expansion of SantAlbano (ltaly), Our spend on sustenance capital
expenditure 15 £24m compared with £20m in 2017,

+ The fax pad amount of £23 Om represents 10 0% of Underlying profit betore rax and is broadly niine with the eflect e lax rate (2014
20.1=:). The reduction in tax paid i consistent with the ¢hange in gecgraphic mix of profits. witr proporhionalely mose protts yenerated
in Malaysia in 2018 relative to 2017,

+ The amount shawn as pe-sion funding in excess of the IAS18 charge mainly teflects the UK defined benent deticit recovery funding of
1L (PO 1 ok The nse indhe defioitrecovery paymient in 2018 reflects the schedube of contributions aygreed wath the Trustees
in 2016 as a part of the 2015 tnennial pension scheme valuation which was based on the forecast increase in the pension payroll,
allowing for retirng employees.

+ Sale of property, plant and equpment primarily relates to the Group's Malaysian land sale proceeds in 2018, and the Hapton land sale
in 2017,

+ The outflow for purchase of business poncipally rolates 10 the porchase of BASH Pichelsdonf iaustoag for £25.89 completed on
31 Janvary 2018, The poot year outflow of ©86.2m miainly relates 10 the acauistion of Specialily Additives {B3elgump,

+ The sale of husiness proceeds of U3 7m manly relates ta the proceeds from the dispasal of 51% of the Dubas sales entities. The prior
year proceeds of U7.6m s the amount recaived from the disposal of Synthomer Leuna (Germany)

+ Substantial amounts of the Group’s borrowings have been mantained in Luros as a natural hedge against the net asset base nthis
currency. With the devaluahon of sterling referred to above. the translation at the year-end rales has resulted in an exchange loss
recognised N reserves and therefore a higher borrowings amount (offset by an increase in the Eure net asset base).

Financing and liquidity

The Group refmanced n July 2018 securing lowen nterest marging and entenng into a new cotmnitted unsecured four year multicunency
revolving credit facility of €440m expiring July 2022 {RCH )y with an opticn to request an extension to July 2023, Al the same time we
secured an additional committed unsecured short terrm bank loan facility of €565m expinng in July 2019, The Group also entered into
agreemoents 16 ix the Funbaor interest rate on €140m of borowings for a period ¢ seven years expinng 2025, ey the cost of bonowing
at an hstoncally low rate and insulating the Group from future mcreases in the Cunber interest rate.

2018 2017

£m £m

Committed facities 444.4 418.9
Drawn at 31 December 292.0 246.7
Facility headroom 152.4 1722

In addmion to the facility headroom. the Group had cash and cash equivalents at 31 December 2018 ot £96.9m {2017 £89.6m! net of
overdrafts of C20.7m (2017 £24.2m)

2018 2017

£m £m

Cash and cash equivalents 96.9 89.8

Current borowings (ncluding overdrafts) {70.1) 173

Nan current barrowings {240.3) 187.0)

Net borrowings (214.0) (180.5)
The fieaccaal covenant for the neve BeE e that not borrow kg most be less than 53200 e TRITDA,

2018 2017

£m £m

Net borrowings 214.0 180.5

LBITDA 181.0 176.2

Net borrowings/EBITDA 1.2 1.0

he signican te bty anc coenant head-oem dencnstrate the coentinoed fianoet striongth of te Grous s s well poctioned 1o fand
future organic growth and bolt on acouistions,
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Pensions
[he Labile below sets out theotal rension charge neluded in e ncone sietoment ano the fotal detined nene' tobligal ans echadea
the balance sheet. _
-n
Charge to Post retirement ¢
Income statement benefit obligations 9
2018 2017 2018 2017
£m £m £m £m ——
UK 74 51 53.2 783 o
o
Overseas 7.1 7.2 79.3 78.9 3
2
14.5 12.3 132.5 157.2 2
8
Ihe UK pension costs includes an irregular cost pncluded in Special ltems) for the equalisation to Guaranteed Mirarium Pension {GMP)
of £2.8m.
Ihe redustion in UK defined benefit pensicn hab ies of C2510m prmanily relates to an ncrease nthe discount rate from 2.5 to 2.8%
(£16.9m) combined with updated membership data (C11.1m reduction) and offset by the GMP equalisation increase of €2 8m.
Acquisition and disposal accounting @
For the acquisition, the assets and liabilities have besn included at far value with the balance of cunsideration shown as goodwill. KPMG @
LLP were engaged to advise on the fair value of the property. plant and equipment (PPE). Overall their conclusion was that the total
fair value of the PPE should be increased by £0.6m. KPMG LLP also performed a valuation of the intangibles, which mainly comprised p—
of customer relatonships. Accordingly on acquisition, the Group recognised goodwill and acquired intangibles of ©1.2m and £17.6m o
respecively and the valuations now final, These intangihles are being amortised over penods ol b 1o 1h years, 2
=
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B
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Sustainability

Moving forward on

Sustainability

Tim Hughes
President - Corporate Development

Sustainability highlights

+ Group Sustainability
Committee established

+ Launch of new global Code of Conduct

+ Second best year tor recordable injury
rate on record - 60%+ improvement on
three year rolling basis

+ Best ever Process Safety Event rate
+ Strengthening of our employer brand

+ Launch of ‘We Care’ initiative - linking
our employees to our communities

+ Move to align reporting to GRI
Standards and completion of
stakeholder assessment

Foreword

Synthomer is a specialist chemical
campany and one of the world’s leading
suppliers of agueous polymers. We
produce innovative formulations to support
customers in a range of industries from
construction and coatings to healthcare.

Synthomer is built on its reputation and
the trust and confidence of each of its
stakeholders - not only our shareholders
and employees, but also our suppliers,
customers and the widar commumity
and environment in which we operate.
At Synthomer we hold the highest
standards and work together 1o protect
our values and buld an ethical and
sustainable bhuginess.

Synthomer recognises the significarce
and importance of being a responsible
company. As a leading speciality chemcal
company. we focus on continuous
improvement to enhance the sustainatslity
of everything we do  from developing less
energy ntensive water-based products to
helping customers meet more stringent
regulations. to attracting and retalning

the best talent in the market through our
employee brand.

We focus on sustanabxty through our
Group Sustamnabitty Committee using

six pillars — our strategy. governance and
comphiance. people. sustainable value
chain, health and safety and environment.
In 2018 we focused our sustainability
activiies on broadenimg our sustanabiity
reach more widely across the Group using
Global Reporting Inittative (GRI) Standards.
This has mvolved assessing stakeholder
expectations. building key performance
indicators against which we can be udged,
engaging our employees through our 'We
Care’ initative and then communicating
our pregress through our annual
Sustamability Heport.

We strongly believe our sustainabiity
activities build shareholder value and will
drive a positive contribution to our business
pertormance and values.

Tim Hughes
President Corporate Development
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Non-financial
information statement

The Company has complied with the Non-Financial Reporting Directive
contained in sections 414CA and 414CB of the Companies Act 2006.

Pillar

Strategy

Governance
and compliance

People

Sustainable
value chain

Health and Safety
{Occupational and
Process safety)

Environment

Highlights and achievements

+ Sustainability Committee established to coordinate global
sustainability activities, reporting directly to the executive team

+ Completed programme of work to identify initial set of GRI

Standards matched to the six key pillars identified by the materiality assessment

+ Stakeholder engagement project completed to validate initial
materiality assessment

+ New interactive global Code of Conduct launched across the
Group, available in thirteen languages

+ New independent whistleblowing helpline established

+ New global ‘SmartHR’ system roll-out completed
across the Group

+ Successful launch of Synthomer Talent Development Programme

+ Asia HR training and development programme recognised with
three Malaysian awards

+ Strengthened sustainability assessment within procurement
processes, implemented revised supplier audit methodology

+ Litex QuickShield technology awarded ‘Best Innovation in Textile
Chemistry’ at Future Textile Awards 2018 — new formula
eliminates need for formaldehyde and ammonia

+ Wellness programmes established across several countries

+ SHE Engagement — global site management and SHE
management conferences

+ Completion of main phase of Process Hazard Revalidation exercise
+ Process safety event rate reduced

+ Development of new internal process safety training programme

+ No environmental reportable incidents — best year on record

+ 1.8% reduction in GHG (greenhouse gases) emissions per tonne
of praduction

:
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Sustainability continued

Progress against 2018
targets and objectives

Strategy

Complete materiality assessment review

Farrmalise data gathering and monitoring of relevant GRI disclosures
Align sustainability reporting against GRI ‘Core’ Standards

Achieve and sustain 'Goid’ rating from EcoVadis

Governance and compliance
Launch updated Code of Conduet
Introduce externally hosted ethical whistleblowing helpling {phone/web)

People - employment conditions /
diversity and development

Implement global HR information system

Deploy global, market aligned, role and compensation framework
Design and launch new executive leadership globat people report
Develop the Synthomer diversity and inclusion plans

Launch an enhanced Synthomer leadership development programme

Sustainable Value Chain

Revise supplier audit process to include sustainability requirements

Define sustainabiity criteria for product and technology development projects
Undertake initial assessment of active R&D projects against sustainability criteria
Complete five key supplier audits for each procurement function {at least one per region)
Complete desktop sustainability assessment of top ten key suppliers (in each region)

Health and safety
0.25 Recordable Case Rate (incidents per 100,000 working hours)
0.20 Process Safety Event Rate (incidents per 100,000 working hours)

Environment

Phe fust 1o et s holow aro basod o revised 2017 Fasaline

>30% site emissions calculated using market-based emissions factors
6% reduction in specific energy consumption {GJ/t production)

9% reduction in greenhouse gas emissions {t CO e / production}

6% reduction in water consumption (mJ / 1 production)

7.5% reduction in waste to land {metric ton / metric ton production)

Target Year

2018

2018

2019 onward
by 2020

2018
2018

2018
2018
2018
2018
2018

2018
2018
2019
2021
2022

2018
2018

2018

end 2021
end 2021
end 2021
end 2021

Progress

000
0eo
000
0eo
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@00

_dele)
000
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@00
00
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000
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Sustainability activities

Strategy

Syrrhorer recognises tre synific ance
and importance of being a responsible
company, taking inte consideration the
complete life cycle of cur products and the
impact our operatons have on people and
the environment,

Synthomer considers issues that are
matenal to its business and sesks to

respond to therm in a manner appropriate to

the interssts of ab its stakeholders. We are
committed to approaching our business
in an ethical and environmentally sound
manner,

Our work 1n this area has been highlighted
through the Group's inclusion in the
FISE4Geod Index since 2004, The
FTSE4Good Index 1s operated by FTSE
Russell and highhights the pertormance
of stock market listed companies against
a range of environmental. social and
governance criterna. lo be elgible for
nclusion in the index, companies must
demonstiate a high level of commitment
n areas such as climate change,
environmental management and

hiuman rights

The Group's nsk management processes
descrnbed earler m the Strategic report
include consideration of the potential
rripact of corporate responsibilty 1ssues
on Synthomer's performance. The
Group's imvestment decisions take into
acecount appropriate evaluations of the
potential consequences for Hs employees,
customers, suppliers and the environment.

The Group afso recognises the impact

that M&A activiies can have on its overal
stslatmbiily profle and petlonmance. b
2018, Synthomer ntroduced changes to
its assessmenrt approach to strengthen our
processes (or evaluatng these potental
impacts, risk and opportunites

2018 saw the acguisibon of an 38R

latex production faciity in Pischelsdort,
(Austng) rorm BASE and ds impact on our
environmental performance. alongsids,
full year impact of the Specialty Adahves
1Belgium) plant purchased from Perstorp
n March 2017, 1s discussed lafer n

this section.

Materiality assessment
review and Global
Reporting Initiative

{GRI) alignment

A key commitment made in early 2018

wasg t0 begin alignment of our corporate
reporting 1o the international GRI Standacds.

During 2018, a detalled review of the GRI
reporting requirements was made, gaps
were (dentiicd and a plan to address
themn was prepared and accamplhshed,
Alongside this a project was undeitaken to
nevelop further the materiality assessment
work descrbed it the 2017 CSR Report
that derrfiecd conrst pags st o7 wey
sustainabuity aspects for Synthomer and
relevant stakeholder groups.

The inmal materiality assessment was
reviewed to better identify the key
sustamabilty aspects for Synthomer and
relevant stakeholder groups and to align
with Lher pricciples dedned by GHL

In crder to collect the relevant stakeholder
groups feedback In a more systematic
way, a survey tool was designed. Using
the survey, the seven main stakeholder
groups prey ously dentihed were
queshoned to determine the importance
of the 22 sustainabibity topics sithng

in the six sustainability piliars selected
kv the Company. Approximately 400
stakeholders were surveyed worldwide
representing al bhusiness areas.

The survey resulted in eighteen topics
rated as very important and four topics
as impaortant, All the tagpics within the
environment, safety, and governance
and compliance areas were rated as
very important,

More details will be provided in the
Sustainability Report at www.synthomer.com

:
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Sustainability continued

pilot culture survey.

the identified key material risk areas.

To ensure the safe management and use
of its products, Synthomer 1s committed
to sharing relevant health and satety
information throughout the value chain.

To achieve this. we work closely with

our supphers and customets to fuily
understand the environmental impact of
our raw materals. processes and products
on the overall product fife cycle. We 1dentty
potential improvement areas and focus
efforts an delivering those improvements.
Growing sustainably is a challenge, but it 1s
one that we are committed to taking on.

The Group’s inernatonal operations fulfi
their responsibility to record. mornitor and
make publicly avalable the potential impact
of its activities. In pursuing its corporate
atrategy, Eynthomoer's aim i to adopt
business practices that are economically,
socially and environmentally sustanable,
and to promote these to its stakeholders

in orcler to strengthen relationships, share
knowledtye and encourage best prachice.

In 2017, a review of sustanality
management and reporting mechanizms
was undertaken. with a view 1o identifying
how 1o move the Comipany forward n
meeting both its own and s stakeholders’
expectations in this area. s led n

early 2018 to the estabishment of a new
Sustainabity Committee which meets at
least three himes a vear. This s led by the
President  Caorporate Development who
sits on. and reports back to, the executive
committee, with mambearship made up of
funchonal department heads representing
areas such as HH, R&D. procurement and
corporate gavernance. as welt as semor
membears of the corparate SHL network.
There s atso active engagement with the
wider business across the Group

Plan for 2019 and beyond

During 2018, the Group wifl use the stakehoider engagement findings
to identify where further engagement or action is required. Internally
thig will include more engagement with employees in the form of a

In addition, we will continue to look at opportunities for improving
the systems used for reporting and data gathering / analysis 1o give
greater confidence and provide more transparency and clarity around

A key commnment made last year was to
seek to afign our sustamability reporting
to the internationally recognised Giobal
Reporting Initative (GRI) Standards, Qur
2018 Sustamnability Report (previously
CSR Heport] will be published early in (52
2019 and will be ahgned to meet the GRY
‘Core’ reporting level. An overview of the
work uodottaken across he six dentified
pillars is presented here, with more
comprehensive data provided in the 2018
Sustainabilty Report.

The Group also remains committed to both
the global chemical Industries’ Responsible

Care” {RC) initiative and ta the principles
of sustanable development (S0) as set out
nthe UK Chernical Industries Association
1218) ST auichneg principles, 1o which we
have heen a signatory since 2005,

This commtment was re asserted in 2017
when the Chief Lxooutive Ofticer erdorsed
the updated UK CIA Responsible Care’
Guiding Principles.

Governance
and compliance

Lnsuring and demonstrating a high
standard of eftective and campliani
corporate governance is a key priority

of the Group and expectation of our
stakeholders. Qur governance structures
are covered N mare detall on pages 62
o 66.

Code of Conduct

2018 saw s gnihcant actraty in s arca
as Synthomer published its new Code
of Conduct. drawing together all its

key policies in one easy to-read and
interactive document.

Our code

Qur code reflects both how we work
together and with third parties and
exemplifies our beliefs and values. All
employees have been issued with the
code, and it is publicly available on our
website at: www.synthomer.com/code-
of-conduct/

The policies are in place to ensure

our dally business 1s conducted in a
sustamnable and responsible manner
These policies play a key role in
rmaintaining our reputation with our
internal and external stakenolders, They
alsu set out the standards to which we
hold ourselves. our employess and our
blusness partners.

Our values are visible inall corporate
comntunications and are prominently
displaved at all Synthomer sites, Around
the globe we have multiple ways -1
which we communicate our valuies in an
engaging way and bring our values to ife
Inchudng induchion processes, traimning
interventions, communications and
awards and recogniion Campaigns,
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All the Group's employees are PeOEIe Glven our global focus on delivenng and
encouraged to measure ther activities sustaining world class fevels of Safety.
against our long term goals and to work Health and Environment {SHL) all employees
towards achieving them. Managers in have some elements of their bonus based
particular are expected 1o use these goals Diversity and human rights on safety perfarmance measures which pay g
when setting targets for themselves, for Diverstty 1s one of Synthamer's core cut, If targets are miet, imespective of Group :‘ﬂ
their teams and for the staff who report values, and we rernain focused on fimancial performance.
to them. ncreasing diversity within the Group. We pr—
continue to attract and retain employees To support a more global approach to ™
Corruption and from a wide vanety of national and culturar 1R 2018 saw the launch of our SmartHR g
anti-competitive behaviour backgrounds, and n 1ne UK, where we system. empowenng employees and 3
Synthomer 1s committed to complying fave around 500 employees. we have managers to work together mare effectively. 3
with the laws and regulations of all the neople from over 20 different countries °
countries in which it operates (ncluding represented within cur workforee. The
those covening corruption and anti rate at which we are attracting female
competitve behaviour). This applies talent continues to increase. New recruts
whether Synthomer 1s acting directly in a to our Curopean Graduate Scheme and Leadership Development
country through employees, or indirectly participants in our Synthomer Talent In 2018 we relaunched and expanded
through agents. distnbutors or other Development Programme comprised our European graduate scheme with
intermediaries. Alongside the Code of aporoximately an equal proportion female thirteen new recruits joining our 2018 @
Conduct roll-cut. new guidance was and male employees. cohort onentation event in October. )
published on Bribery, Corruption and Tax Scheme participants have joined us in
Evasion and Competition Law, All relevant As parl of natonal ‘Grrls and Boys Day' several functions including manufacturing.
employees are required to complete during 2048, children of amployess in cngigenng, Tmance R&b). procure~ent o
oniine fraining modules. Germany came 1o our Marl office and and commercial. g
Chemical Park to expernignce a workplace =y
Whistleblowing helpline in the chemical industry. We are proud This year 4lso saw the launch of our new g
At Synthomer we always encourage to support this inhative aimed at school Synthomer talent development programme: 3
people to speak up about any concerns children aged betwasn 10 and 15. a twelve month structured development o
they may have about unlawful or The event included time spent in our programme aimed at providing existing &
unethical behawviour. laboratories and manufacturing facilities. emiployees at an early stage of their g
management career with an accelerated &
2018 saw the launch of a third party Attraction, retention and development experignce that includes
hosted helpline {avalable both online employee development workshops, virtugl learming events. 360
and via telephone} for employees and We were pleased to appomnt Holly A. degree feedback and an cpportunity to §
other stakeholders to report unlawiul or van Deursen 1o our Board of Directors in work with a mentor drawn from our senior £
unettical behaviour or concerns and to 2018, as a non executve director. Holly leadership team.
raise queries regarding the apphcation of brings & wealth of chemical industry —
the Code of Conduct. experience having worked for BP and Jennifer Peake, as one of our talent a
boardroom experience from various development programme members, won g
Human rights executive and non-executive roles. the Prestigious National Chemicat Industry B
The Group 1s committed to opearating Assacation's [CIA] Young Ambassador %
a culture that values mentocracy. Synthomer's Asian HR function s of the Year Awarchin June and will lead g
openness, farness and transparency farmally recognised by a number of the CIA's Future Forum for 12 months 2
and encourages a safe and trusting external agencies for the kay inftiatives from September 2018, playing a vital role @
work environment, supporting continuous cormmitinent to in representing the wdeas, concerns and 5
the development of its human talant. aspirations of young people in the chemical ‘3
The new Code of Conduct reasserts our Ihroughout the year. there were  range inclustry. o
commitment to diversity, human rights. of HR key initatives delivered and it was o
equal opportunities ant respect in the good opportunity to externally benchimark Maie Femae ot &
workplace, and includeas links to our most these against other industries in the Board 7 2 9 2
recent Modern Slavery Act statement. country. This year. the HR Tean has Senior
avallable here: NMp&www.synthomer, participated In three external HR awards management 43 4 47 p—
c;om.-'com;ljaﬂy.-jcorporate responsibilitys which were organised by the Ministry Emptoyees 2.301 606G 2.907 Q
group policies: of Human Resource, ICheml and g
MIHBEM respectively. i
b}
n 2018, we continued to offer a bonus ng_
scheme that extends to all levels in our g
organisation, not just to senior leaders.
g
3
Synthomer plc Annual Report 208 49



Sustainability continued

People continued

We Care about
our communities

Amongst the activities supporting our
communities in 2018 were:

+ Qur Head Office charity auction
raised £20,000 for the Make a
Wish Foundation

Collections for several charities and
day care centres, incluging
hundreds of items collected in a
‘reverse Advent Calendar’ appeal in
Harlow and a ‘Wish Tree' campaign
across our German sites supporting
local hospitals

+

+ Kuala Lumpur Cffice members
engaged in several fund-raising
activities to support the ‘Lend a
Hand' programme in Malaysia,
supporting shelters for abandoned
or neglected children

‘We Care’

Synthomer engages with ts employees

and communities 1IN vanous ways on sites
around the world. In arder to heighten
awarenegss, visibilly and promation of these
actviies, the Group launched its "We Care’
mitiative, CSRsustanability ambassadors
rolled out the campaign on several sites.
amed at creating engagement, inspiring
opportunities and empowering Synthomer
employees who are passionate about
making a difference to those around them to
reach cut and champion waork in this arga.

In 2019, “We Care’ will be expanded

as a key part of our sustainability

identity externally as well as internally,
fighlighting promeotion not just of our
community engagement but our focus
on maore sustainable and environmentally
inendly products

Our commitment to science and
education

We conhinue to be active supporiers of the
SCI {Society of Chemical Industry) with
Robin Harrison, Global Innovation Director,
on the Board of Trustees and several of our
senior leaders active committee members,

In 2019, we will agamn be a tead sponsor of
the Bright SCldea Challengs, having been

a sponsor of the launch of this initiative in
2018, Ihis competition is amed at unversity
students developing entrepraneunal

skils. The competition asks participants

0 develon innovative seientde eas

and present therm as part of a business
presentation to a panel of industry experts.

We arg active In supporting the SCImid
careers waorkstream’. a group of industry
leaders looking at ways 1o develop the
careers of scientists mid way through
then caregers,

Our CEG. Calum MaclLean. is 4 member

ui the SCI's Chemistry Council. a group
comprising some of the most senior
leaders in the UK Chenmical sector with a
focus on understanding and advancing the
strategic needs of the industry i the UK.

In 2018 we continued to support academic
study in the form of sponsorship of PhD and
Masters students in the UK and Malaysia.

Our besiness in Malaysia hosted 38
undergraduate industrial placements

in 2018 and our B&D staff warked with
several Malaysian universities fo contribute
to the development of therr syllabus and

in delivering lectures. We supported
universities. colleges and secondary
schots across Malaysia by supplying latex
gloves for use by staff and students,

As the polymer industry technical
representative, we were appoinied by
Malaysia Institute of Chemistry o join

the JTC IKM Working Committee under
instraction of the Malaysia Qualfication
Agency, IMQA) to draft Malaysia chemistry
degrees program standards, which

will serve as a primary reference for all
universities 1N Malaysia when they form thesr
sylfabus for chemistry degree programmes
The standard will be used as a mandatury
referance tor the accreditabion of chemistry
degres programmes by the MQA

Synthormer once agan participated in the
Chermistry at Work showcase m the UK
This has now become an annuat event in
the Essex focal section of the Royal Society
af Chemistry Outreach programme, wath
members of R&D presenting on Synthomer
products and processes, and actively
promoting science, technalogy, engineering
and mathematics (STEM) careers.
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Sustainable
value chain

t ollowing our materiality assessment,
product safety has now been included
within the value chan pllan, reflecting its
fit within the &1 and regulatary al'ars
organsational structure in Synthomer,

Supply chain engagement
Synthomer requires any individual ar
entity acting on its behall, whether as

a consultant. representative, agent or
distributor to know, understand and albde
Dy the laws and regulations apphcable in
the country or countries in which they act
for Synthomer. The requirements are set
out in detal within the Business Policies in
our Gade of Cenduct described earlier.

Before a wvendor i1s on boarded and
approved for purchase and use, Synthomer
employs multiple assessment processes,
A periodic review of key supplers is carried
out to assess performance of the suppler
against criteria covering technical support,
commercial performance. reputation
including BEACH. and tocal regulatory
comphance. We also carry out pencdic
supply chain risk reviews and continually
buld and improve the raw matenals and
vendor on-boarding processes

and procedures,

Following a review of our practices and
erntbealion uf areas fur povement in
ralation to out CSR rating from kcoVadis, in
2018 we undertook an exercise tomprove
how we assessed the performance of
suppliers with regard to sustamabiity, This
included changes toc audit processes and
guestionnaires. and the mimial roll out of a
supplier audit schedule as per the targets
and objectives described in cur 2017 GSR
Repaort The 2013 Sustainabxity Report
will provide mare details on the status of
this work,

R&D and new product development
Synthomer prides tself or 4s mnovative
product development, and in 2018
successfully launched new formaldehwyde
free SBR inders for textile iLitex AlkaShield
1543 and Litex QuickShield 1545), with

the new products being awarded 'Best
Innovation i Textile Chemustry™ at the
Future Textile Awards 2018,

In addiion in 2018, a comprehensive

e cycie analysis was undertaken on

our SyNovus ' glove product. which
doermonstrated sl vee dedien siamme snitly
lower environmental impact than previous
products. driven by lowet energy Lse on
the glove dipping ine.

Product safety

The majotity of Group products are water
based emulsions that are not deemed to be
hazardous chemicals.

Howewver, for those that are hazardous.
Synthomer s committed to providing its
customers with comprehensive and legally
compliant safety data sheets in all the
markets we serve

Qur central regulatory affars departmernt
also manages our ongoing REACH
compliance activities through our supply
chain and has been active In preparing for
the potential impact of Brexit on chemicals
registered within and transported to the UK.

:

Modal Baens
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Sustainability continued

Health and safety,
and environment

Management of Safety, Health and the
Environment is the most mature aspect
of the Group’s sustainabilty actities and
remains a critical material aspect for both
internal and external stakeholders,

In line with our SHE Policy, the Board, Chief
Executive Officer and executive commitico
are fully committed to improving SHE
performance and engaging and involving
employees at all lsvels in all locations

n our SHE programmes. Effective SHE
leadership to deliver SHE performance

Key SHE programmes

Group’s Safety, Health and
Environment Management

System (SHEMS) standards
and policies

Group SHE audits

The Group Accident
and Incident Management
System {AIMS)

SHE training,
communication
and support

Process Hazard
Assessment [PHA)

Is a primary duty and expectation of
management at all levels in the Group.
aligned to our three long term goals:

1. To have no accidents or incidents,

2, To have no adverse impact on the
heaith of those who work 1n. or live near
our operations. nor on the health of
those who use our products; and

3. 1o minimise any envirenmental burten
created by our activities.,

Key practices and programmes
The table below highlights some of the
SHE management practices and activities
undertaken in 2018 and planned for 2019,

Key measures, SHE performance indicators
and SHL audit results are reported to the
Board. the executive committeg and to

the regicnal management meegtings on a
monthly basis.

2018 SHE key actions

Cormpletion of revised Lock-Cut Tag-Out
guidance; development of self-assessment
questionnaires to assist internal

audit process.

New cycle of auditing with continued
process safety focus; move to risk based
frequency of auditing.

Effective use of lessons learnt and site
review of high potential incidents to help
prioritise where to focus resource to
Improve performance.

Development of modutar in-house process
safety training tailored to our technologies
and processes,

Increased level of support vs. audit

to achieve targeted improvements in
performance based on findings from last
audit cycle.

Working with sites to develop a programme
of standardised SHE routines to back-up all
other major SHE inftiatives.

Continuation of PHA revalidation process
across lower risk profile sites,

KPI tracking of significant actions

from 2017 PHAs as high priority SHE
impravement plan items - >50% alt high
priority actions completed.

Erwironmental work programmes are
focused on ensuring both legal compliance
and driving continual improvemnent as

part of our commitment to our matrx SO
14001 certification (all ope-ating sites now
ce tfied) ard 150 30001 cerubeation i the
UK, Germany and Czech Republic.

Embedding of SHE routines
tallowing the 2017 implementation of our
Permit to Work (PTW) and Management of
Change (MOC) improvement programme
N 2017, 2018 saw ncreagedt tocus on
tracking and learning from 'Fundamental
Issues dentificd duning monitonng, and
the establishment of standardised monthly
and guarterly routines to formally monitor
progress at site level.

2019 SHE key focus

Supporting sites in meeting our
standards through generation of
‘Statements of Essential Requirements’
— setting out in more detail what good
compliance looks like,

Continuing Se!f Assessment
Questicnnaires audit activity and
increased networking / cross-site
auditing to share best practice.

Continuous improvement including
reviews and audit input.

Fuli roll-out of internal process safety
training, linked to bowtie and barrier
analysis of sites’ own identified
significant hazards.

Completion of high pricrity PHA actions.
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Alongsicle further evolution of our vwed As part of our SHE Principles "Look
based KPI dashboard. more structured Atter Yourself” and Lock After Cach
and reguiar reviews are allowing sites and Other this year we promoted the 'Be
the Group to quickly identify performance Supported” campaign, which ams to
treqds and potental areas of weakness, as support employees and ther famiies g
well as showing positive ImMprovements as fae ing difficulties by provid ng a corfiuent.al -'"'4
the effects of some of our actions - such as helplne. and useful Informaticn via a
Fundarnental Issues’ lessons learned. and website, In partnership with AXA PPP
mproced trsining or speefic nsh hazands - Healthcare we aim to give every UK o
are realised. employee access to information. support 2
and counseling to help with any aspects of 3
Health and weliness daily work and home life that have become g
As part of our health management challenging. The service includes guidance °
programme n Germany. we offered twelve-  when experiencing a medical issue as
week running coaching for beginners and well as practical impartial information
advanced runnears. A total of 33 employess and support on everyday matters such
signed up to take advantage of the as dealing with debt. buying a house and
opportunity to start running orimprove ther  consumer rnights.
running training under the guidance of an
expert running coach. We also continued to run health and g
wellness sessions in Germany for our S
shitt hased manufacturing staff on topics
selected by the employees beforshand, :
including nutrition and meal desian o
during shift work, siesping and relaxation. g
Sessions included input from external °
experts and practical learning. g
%
@
3
3
3
(7]
8
£
g
3
Black Book s
%‘.
g
Synthomer has always been committed to  These events will continue to be revisited %
ensuring that we learn lessons from both on an annual or bi-annual basis to ensure ar
external and internal incidents. we embed the learning and strengthen g
corporate memory. g.
In 2018 we introduced our 'Black Book’,
a collection of lessons learned from across é
the Group highlighting 20 incidents and -
significant near misses from the past @
two decades, using the bowtie format to
highlight which barriers, that should have _
been in place, were either missing g
or failed. 2
ES
All operating site managers were issued §
with copies and on the anniversary 2
of these incidents have been tasked =
with revisiting the events and, where
applicable, the response that they made to
any original lessons learnt to validate that
the actions taken have been embedded.
7
g
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Sustainability continued

Sustainability performance

The following performance data predominantly covers the health, safety
and environmental areas - progress against scme of the new KPls for the
other pllars. aligned with the GRI Standards, will be covered in the

Sustainability Report.

Health and safety

Occupational safety

+ Recordable injury case rate (RCR)
ot 0.23 per 100,000 hours worked

+ =3 day lost tirme njury rate of .14
per 100.000 hours worked

The Group's mam lagging nawator of SHE
imury perfarmance is the recordable Injury
ree for acoidents rwohanag more than fist
aid treatment. 2018 regrettably saw an
ncrease n the number of recordable injures
up to sixteen, fiam the record low of ning in
2017. The assoaated frequency rate of 0.23
per 100,000 hours worked was the second
best rate 11 the Company's stary.

Qur objective 1s to have no accidents or
Injuries on our sites. and analysis of the
mjumnes reported four a sigadicant numbe:
related o ITne of fre’ ingidents involving
contractors. In 2019, we will be looking

to improve our contractor managemeént,
induction and permit systems. focussing
on pernat acceptor trainmg. including our
e of fire” and high hazard waork guidance,
et exnandeact toinchice videos on hot
wotk and conhred suace cnbry work

Ihere were no reported cases of disease
attributed to occupational factors during
the year.

Process safety

+ Best ICCA Process Salety Event rate
since tracking startec of 0.14 per
100,000 hours

+ No Incidents resulting in senous njury
or damage

I nsuring the satety of our operations s

ot paramounrt Impostance o the Group.
Since 2015 we have recorded, rated and
tracked process safety events (PSE) using
a4 hier scoring systermn where er 1 and 2
ncidents (her 1 being more severe) meet
e destoanon or a0 Bopor tabde PSE o
the International Council of Chemical
Association’s (KOAL

Ihere was a 23% nnprovement in the

BSEC rate. with ten incwdents reported
compared to thirteen in 2017. Ongong
focus on IMmproving engineerning standards
and addressing human factors issues will
help us continue to drive this rate lower,
More intormation will be provided n our
Sustanabllity Report.

Environment

2018 was a challenging year with regarc 1o
meeting our environmental performance
targcts, The hgores reparted below

reflecl the new acouistion i Austna (o
February 2018) and the full year impact
{compared to ten months in 2007) of the
Specialities site in Belgium.

Achieving the 2021 targets set last year
remans our objective, with continued focus
anthe "Ter 17 sites contributing most to the
overall igures

As noted eartier, the Group has better
awareness and recognition of the impact
that M&A activities can have onits overall
sustanabilty prosle and performance,

In 2018, tinthoduced changos toits
assessment approach to strengthen our
processes for evaluating these potential
impacts. nsk and opportunities.

Several adjustments to the 20417 baseline
data have been made following internal
teevy sho venficaton - noarticula all
ntensity figures have beon revised follow g
areview of haw the Czech plant's production
sales volumes had been accounted for in the
calcularons, This has led (0 an mcreass n the
intensty factor numibers for 2016 and 2017
Other changes are noted in the following
sections where relevant.

Energy
+ Overall prmary éngrdy Consumpotion
nereased 3.9% to 5.5680467 Gu

+ Speecihie eaergy Cansunplan
decreased 0.5% to 3.524 GJ
per tonne sales production

The Increase N absolute consumption is
related to increased production volumes
on larger sites. high production of iow
monamer conversion grades in Malaysia,
as well as the BASE Pischelsdorf
{Austna) acquisition.

Several projects that have both energy
and emisgions im:rovement benetits

are In the pipeline that will improve
performance. targeted on the six sites
with the targest energy and carbon
footprnint. but achieverment in 2018 was
slightly behind target. Mare information on
current and planned activibes will be in the
Sustainabiity Report.

Water withdrawal
+ Water withdrawal increased 7.4%
to 68.1589.6864 m-

+ Specihic water withdrawal rose @ 894
to 3.904 m per tonne

In previous years Synthomer has reported
‘water usage’ as metered water totals
excluding river water used for once through
cooling on several sites. and ‘water
consumption’ as all metered vwater.

To align properly with GRI Standards
debdions moving forward meties o
“water withdrawal” will cover all metered
usage fas per the previcus "water
consumian” figurel ani we will 2luo look
to report water usage + consumiption i our
sustainability report,

The absolute increase in 2018 15 related to
both production increases on some larger
sites in Asig, commissiomng activities and
N particular ncreased reguirement for
couling water fonce through on ong of
our German stes owing to high nver water
temperatures, Trere were also sigrimeant
reductions 'n water withdrawal on other
sites as a result of process oplimisation
and reduced demands for cleaning

Vanance 1s expected year to year since the
majorty of our products are water based
dispersions with some changes down o
product mix and volumres. As with energy.
Gp oI hEe 1o o e e c effioeney
will be burhin to sites’ manutactunng
strategies and environmental targets on a
priormeed basis in oraer o bring us back
on track with the lonyger tarm targets.
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Waste

+ lotal waste generated mcreased 217
te; 24180 lonnes and waste te landtl]
ncreased 49% 1o 8,018 tonnes

+ Specibe waste ge aration iose 165 1o
0.022 tonnes per tonne sales production
ancd spefic waste to lasdtll 455 1o
0.005 tonnes per tonne

An expectaton of noreased one off waste
levels was highlighted in last year's CSR
Heport weith significant one-off viaste
guartities assoclated wih maor capital

projects in Mataysia and Germany, remova

of old waste materials and asbestos

Part of the ncrease 1s associated with
production. where some sites have

had qualty issues that resulted in non
hazardous coagulum waste levels
increasing. Process improvement projects
and quality control work s focusad on
reducirgg these figures, and we continue 1o
seck opportunities to dwert waste streams
away fron fandfll,

Greenhouse gas emissions

The Group reports environmental KPls

in the format recommended by the
Department of Environment, Food and
RHural Atfairs (BEFRA), with Annual Reports
containing data for each year since 2005
on a three yvear rolling basis.

Reporting parameters

The 2018 financial yedr reporting ncludes
all iarufactunng operations, all offi e
locaticns co located with manutacturing
and those isted as contact locations in
the Annual Report or on the Company's
website. It does not include some very
sl locations such as home o oes,
These locations will have no matenal effect
on the Group's overall GHG emissions,
heing estimated at considerabiy less than
0.1% of the Group total.

Figure 1 Recordable Injury Case Rates
nnjunes per 100,000 haurs

Figure 4 Total Waste D1sposed To Land
Ploannes waste po production tonne:

All known ermissians from manufactunng
procceses buee been o ludecd Spectaally
this covers drect eneray usage and the
increct energy costs of heating. conling
and other site services where these are
provided by a third party, They include
estimates for the effects of the release

ot volatile organic compounds (VOCS,

and refrigerant gases. The only known
emissions which have not been includead
are direct emissions of CO from on site
waste treatment faciliies that have not
curently been quantificd bt wh o are rot
heleved to have signif cart malenabropact
o the ceerall figures repronted,

The Group has no known uses or

releascs of perflucion atbons or s.lphe
hexafluonde. Alleleases ot N are
associated with energy production and
Are hol separately, guantibed, Yhe Geoup
continues to report Scope 1 & 2 emissions.
No estimate has been made of Scope

3 emssions owing 1o tre complexity of
the company supply chan. The Group
continues o use emissions per production
tonne as its infensity ratio.

Calculation methods

Data sources for emissions factors (CO e}
arg DEFRA {dataset with published in
June 2018) and the IEA {international
Energy Authority.

All direct energy proguction from fossil fuels
has been agaregated on a Group wide
basis and converted to CO & by using the
appropriate DEFRA emissions factors. No
allowance has been made for possible
countty to courety varnation i calonic vale
or CO emissien factors for primary fuels.

Figure 2 Total Net Primary Energy Usage
iGraa Joules per production tonne;

Figure 5 Global Warming Burden
iTornes GO equwalent releascr por
production tonne: iincludes CO - from
energy aeneration use’

Llactricity has been converted to CO e

on a country Dy country basis. Emissions
factors from DEFRA were used for UK grid
electricity and for overseas grid electncry
from the relevant \EA "World CO_Emissions
fiom Fuel Combiustion” databiases. in
sooorgance with UK government guidance.
factors used for 2018 reporting are based
on 2016 valdated data.

Several sites wathun the Group purcnase
cetthed green elac bty Flectnemy forn
these locations has beengiven a CO e
enissions factor of zero in calculating
energy retated emissions totals. These
ncludde the sites in the Netherlands, Marl
1Germany) and all sites 1in the UK. For thig
year's reportng, we have also sought to
obtaim market-based emissions factors
for electricry from supphers of standard
arid fuel mix tariffs, This data 1s stilt under
review so was not avalable in time for
pubhcation of this report — however, we
remain confident that we can obitain this
data for all our Eurcpean operations as

2 MINImLm.

Synthomer’s site in Stalingborough (UK)
takes most of its alectricity from an exclusive
contract with an adjacent waste incinerator
operated by Newlincs, This electneity 1s
cortihied as ‘green’ by the UK governimerdt
As a mixture of waste is deemed both
renewable and non renewable, 1t does not
have a Fero emission factor. For 2018, the
appled emission factor for electnoity from
Newlincs 1s based around that determined
tor the sire’s Climate Change Agreement
{CCA) reporting of around 0,50 ky CO & per
kWh. The site 1z also provided wath indirect
heating in the form of hot water

from Newlnes,

Figure 3 Total Water Withdrawal
i per production Wnne:

Figure 6 Recordable Process Safety
Event Rate
Incidents per 00000 hours)

:

uodai aifeens

15-0d1

Synthomer plc Annual Beport 2018

68

BOUBUWIBACE

| 9gl-GplL  Sluswaels [eueyy) Auedwon I | tri-E6 SIUBLWSIEIS [BlOUBUY dnougy I Z2B-85

UOJJBLLIOJI JBYIO

091-251




Sustainability continued

VOCs have been aggregated on a Group
basis and converted to CO e using a factor
ol eleven. This figure has been uscd by UK
CIA member companigs since 2004 and

1s at the upper end of the range for VOCs.
Information on the release ot refrigerant
gases has been collected for the past six
years. Releases of each indmwdual gas have
heen agyregated each year to give a Group
release total and then converted to CO.&
using the eguivalence factors given by
DEFRA for each gas. The emissions factors
applicable tc refrigerant release in 2018

are as per those In 2016 and 2017 as no
changes ware reported by DEFRA. Global
Warming Potential (GWP) factors from the
IPCG 4th agsessment report.

Performance in 2018
+ Total COeguivalent emissions ncreased
2.4% 1o 311,893 tonnes

+ Frmsgsiong per tonne sales production
decreasg 1.8% to 0.198 tonnes per
1onne against the revised 2017 basehne

+ YOG emissions dropped 14% to
141 tonnes

+ Increase of 33% in reported refnigerant
losses to 2,355 tonnes / equivalent CO.
lusses rose to 7.627 tonnes

The absclule incrgase In emissons was
largely due to higher production and
therefore demand on our larger sites,

but this legher output also meant that
the intensity of our emissions N terms of
releases per tonne were reduced, 15°%¢ of
the absolute ncrease related to emissions
from the plant in the Czech Republc

that uses brown coal and the Graup

15 reviewing options relating to the fuel
balance on this site.

The reduction in reported VOO emissions,
full reahsation of some energy related
projects implemented dunng 2017 and
some smaller prajects caompteted in 2018,
as well as the purchase of "green” grid
electricity for all UK and Dutch sites, also
helped us make progress towards our 2021
target. Whilst year on year we aré currently
shghtly hiehind target, we are corfident we
can achieve the 2021 goals,

Cnanges In the ermissions factors in
different countnes have 2 signficant
impact over which the Company has no
control. For 2018, reporting the emissions
tactars for several countries showed an
mpr overment, tefiecting work done 2
national level to improve the renewables
proportion of the grid supplies.
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Energy and GHG KPis
This table presents environmentai KPIs for 2016- 18, with a coverage and format in ine with DEF BA's 2073 gudance. to comply with the
reporting reguired under the Companies Act 2006 iStrategic Report and Report of the Directars” Report) Regulations 2013,
% change % change 'B_
2018 2017 2016 2016 -2018t 2017 - 2018° é
Energy consumption’”
GJ 5,660,467 5352562 5279491 5.3% 3.9% rma—
Gas 1,561,042 1459411 1,375,411 13.5% 7.0% g
Light oi! 22,625 24,990 24933 9.2% 10.5% 3
Heavy oll 5,533 4.651 4452 24.3%; 18.9% g
Steam (metered) 751,545  756.890 792,785 -5.2% -0.7%
Electricity (primary basis) 2,633,115 2523.861 2551197 3.2% 4.3%
GJ/tonne production 3.524 3.541 3452 2.1% -0.5%
Emissions to air’
Carbon dioxide (CO,) equiv. from energy tonnes®® 302,717 298,163 296.487 21% 1.5%
Tonnes CO, equivalent/tonne production 0.192 0.197 0.194 1.0% 2.7%
Sulphur dioxide (SO,) {onnes) 142.5 158.3 140.6 1.4% -10.0%
Kilos SO./tonne production 0.0903 01047 0.0919 1.7% 13.7%
Nitrogen oxides (NO ) tonnes* 129.97 121.33 112.54 15.5% 71%
Kilog NOx/tonng production 0.0824 0.0803 0.0736 11.9% 2.6%
Volatile organic compounds (VOC) tonnes 141 164 184 -23.6% -14.3%
Kilos VOC/tonne production 0.089 0.109 0.121 -26.0% -17.9%
Refrigerant releases (HCFC and others) kilos 2,355 1773 1.681 10.1% 32.9%
Tonnes CO, equivalent 7,627 4,485 5.930 28.6% 70.1%
Kilos refrigerant/tonne production 0.0015 60012 0.0011 35.8% 27.3%
Total Seope 1 CO, equiv. emissions (tonnes) 147,527 139285 130,505 13.0% 5.9%
Total Scope 2 CO, equiv. emissions (tonnes) 164,365 165170 173,940 -5.5% -0.5%
Total carbon dioxide (CO,) equiv. tonnes® 311,893 304,454 304445 2.4% 2.4%
Tonnes CO, equivalent / tonne praduction 0198 0.201 0.199 -0.7% 1.8%

MNeres
1 Datareates i 5% usage of al 'uels exclad-yg tanssort of goods o and from g te and the moverrent of these vehicles on site e nal transoorl a éte
1= mdnged,
ZCrussIons T i have heen ow’
related 1o cougnt e e
are L RIope e e
40 GO equivalent g
1 NOx g ang are pretdorung
maeladed inthe ©O ronensry, |
5 Tagtolal CG e e et

ated fearr e e all fusls exc e gy ranzsnor fue [agy, theretone, e Loth duec emizsiens and

EN
M, vornpressed o conlmg water e w b the except on ot ansmssion and distibation ksses for eleeaty ithese
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By croer of the Board.

R Atkinson
Company Secretary
4 March 2019
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Introduction to governance

Proactively focusing on corporate

governance agenda

Neil Johnson
Chairman

Dear Shareholders

L am pleased to repert on our corporate
governance compliance for 2018 in
what has been a busy year with much
accomplished by your Board and

its Committees.

Trus will bre owr hnal vear ol reporting
aganst campliance with the 2016 UK
Corporate Governance Gode and we
ware fully comphant throoghoot the year
other than in respect of board balance
wiich was addressed by the appointment
of Holty A. Wan Deursen in September
2018. Details of the work of the Nomination
Committes in carryng out the search
process which led to the nominaton

of Holly are set out in the Nomination
Committee report.

Our 2018 AGM resolutions all recenved
near or above 90% support as did our
June 2018 EGM resolution to increase the
Company's borrowing lirms

Corporate governance developments were
monitored closely dunng the year and a
sule ol puliuies and praclioo s approvsd
during 2018 are now beng implemented.
This will ensure we will be well placed

0 be fully comphant with the 2018 UK
Corporate Governance Code which
becarme etfective for us from 1 January
2018, The Company's culture and values
was a key governance focus for the Board
wath the launch of a new Code of Conduct
and independently hosted whisileblowing
helphine toward the end of the year which
the Board will assess and rmonitor on an
ongong basis

The Board 1s alsa focused on improving
diversity and a review of its succession plan
which s underway will take into account
the need to develop a diverse pipeline as
well as agsessing the skills and experience
required for its future needs,

The nternal performance evaluation of the
Board and its Committees carred aut at
the end of the year bullt on the externally
faciitated evaluation carned out in 2017
and drew out further ways to 1mprove

our boardroom processes which we will
implement in 2018, These improverments
will Increase the effectivenass of the Board
and the way it operates so that the non
executive directors can concentrate on
those areas where they can make the
most impacit.

Looking ahead the governance agenda
remarrs fult and wall include the trignnial
teview of our remungration policy which we
will consult shareholders onin the autumn
ahead of seeking approval at the 2020 AGM.

Further detalls of the work of the Board and
e Comnmittees 10 sipport of e Group
strategy during 2018 ts contained in the
following pages of the governance section

Neil Johnson
Chairman
4 March 2019
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Compliance with the UK

The Board has reserved to iself a schedule

Governance snapshot

uodas 0j6eiens

£5-0d1

Corporate Governance Code  of matters which includes setting long-term  Board diversity - nationality e
The Board considers that it has complied ohjectives for the Group and the strategies E
throug~odat the inzneal year endeg o be employed in achieving them, The E
31 December 2018 with the provisions set Board has delegated to the Chiel Executive 2
outin the 2016 UK Corporate Governance Uthcer responsibility for the dovelopment
Code ihe Coael”. other than in respect and preparation of the business plan and
of Gode Provision B.1.2 {board balance). the annual budget for recornmendation to
Further details on how this non compliance the Board. As the senior executive director.
was remedied during the year 1 contained the Chict Lxeoutive O Cer s 1espunsihile
In the letter from the Charrman and the for all aspects of day to day operational
Nomination Commuttee report on pages 58 control of the Group and execution of the 1 British . «
and 72 respectively. Group strategy. The Ghief Executive Othcen 2 Dutch 1 z
has established and chairs an Lxecutive 3 Malaysian 1 R
Application of the Code Coromittee fwhose other members are 4 A
The main principles of the Code were the Chiel F inancizl Officer the Chief [r—
applied as follows: Counsel and Company Secretary, and the o)
operational and functional presidents for the g
Leadership and effectiveness Group) to assist hirm in the performance of . 2
Operation of the board his duties and which meets once a month, Board diversity - gender 5
The activities of the Company are g
controlled by the Board which, during The Chairman has availlable 1o him the o
2018. comprised twao executive directors minutes of the Executive Comrrittee and all g
and six non-executive directars until the directors receive a monthly management g
appomntment of Holly A. Van Deursen in report GOMprsing ousiness, finanoat ano @
September 2018 when the number of safety, health and environmental reviews
non-executive directors increased o seven. frarm the 3heof Financial Officer. 8
The roles of Chairman and Chief Executive 2
Offic er are clenly divided betwee Neil I'he Board has established Audit, 1 Male ®
Johnson who heads the Board in his Normination, Rer‘numera‘uon and Disclosure 3 Famais S —
capacity as non-executive Chairman and Gomrnittess which are discussed on pr—
Calum Mackean who has responsibility for pEge b, o
the running of the Company’s business as 2
Crief t xeculve Oticern. The non-executive “Cti o ced ot o 2
- . 5 . fui v o of tie Code can be foand Gning P
drectors all have wide busllﬂess and Faansza Reporting Gounel s FRO wetsie Board tenure 2
poardroom experience gained in a broad o T g U B,
range ol business sectors, details of which 3
are given on pages 60 and B1. 5
3
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Board of Directors

DrJdJ C Jansz

Independent non-executive director
Nationality: Dutch

Position and date of appointment: independant
non-executive director since April 2012, imember of
the Audit and Bemuneration Comimittees,

Key appointments: Just 1s founder and managmng
directar of Lxpertise Beyond Bordors BV, an
Incependent busingss and techinalogy
managsnient cansullancy prowding services to the
global charmcal industry. He 1: Charman of Eoonic
lechnelogies Limited and & senior advisor al
Natnum Capsital [nited

Skills and experience: Just has over 30 yaurs
cherrical ndustry expenence @1 Shell, Basall and

| yondaliBasel Uil Juty 2010 Just was prosident,
“echnology Business. and 2 iranber of the
managemeant feair of LyondelBasull, oversceeng

pA Qe es s e hnology b orsim.. oty e atah 2t

and nesy ventures Just has

xtense ERPICTIENCE N

the ol olets sty and relsled vahs thana m
commercialising mnesation and in monetisng 1P
JUsT has previous expenence as anon executive

clirector in he U5 o as an advesor 1IN Sauck Arsbiz,

N A Johnson

Chairman

Nationality: British

Position and date of appointmeant: Chuerean of
the Board and the Norrination and Disclosurs
Committees Neil jomed the Board In 2071 and was
apponted Chairman in May 2012

Key appointments: Ncil is Chairman of Motability
Operations Group ple iretiring Aprit 20189, Centaur
Media plc and Electra Private Fquity ple and the
senior Independant non executie director of the
Busmness Growth tund

Skills and experience: Neil held senior executive
positions at Brtish Asrospace and in the UK motor
manufacturing industry before becorring Chiel
Fxecutive of RAC Holdings from 1895-1939

Neil has considerable experience as an
independent nor - executive director and public
company chairman gained in mulipls sociors

and geograihies

C A Johnstone

Independent non-executive director
Nationality: Bntish

Position and date of appoimtment: Iridepundeet
non execUtive drector since March 2015 Chair of
the Aucht Cammitlec, imember of the Normmnation
and Remunaration Conmillees

Key appointments: Carcling 1= Chair of Huece
Group Limited non exectdive director and Char of
the Audit Committee of Shepherd Building Groug
Liritedd and is & mereber of 1he governng coancil of

the Jniversity of Lecds She was appointed a
nen executive directon of Spirex- Sarco Engneeting
ple withyeffoct from 1 Mareh 2019 She aleo

provides consulting sery

5 10 A range of glubat

chermieal and industanl craansations,

Skills and experience: Curoling 15 a chartered
accountent and member of the nstitule of
Clizntrred Accountants of Seotlannd She wos o
P inen in Pric ewatorhouseCoopers PwC) unnl

2009, raving workod extensnaly vath large glotbxal
orgarisahons on turharound Culture chonge,
defivernig vale fron mergers and acousitons ad
cost optmisation prograrmes. She sat on the

biocrd of the Assurance practioe of PwC in the JK

C G MaclLean

Chief Executive Officer

Nationality: British

Position and date of appointment: Chief Exacutive
Officer since Jariary 2015, meber ottre
Disclosure Comirittee.

Key appointments: Galurr was appointad gy 4
non exccutive dircctar of Saud Basic Industries
(SABIC; headauantered in Riyadh in Octaber 2077
and of Clariant Limited. an assotlated company of
SABIC, in October 20°8,

Skills and experience; Calum was previoushy a
senior board executive of INEOS and was a founder
riemrber of the busmess in 998, At INFOS he was
exaCutee ¢ harman of INE UGS Dlefins and Pulymiers
Europe and charman of Styrolution, INFOS's joint
veni.re wh BASF and Fefromeos Relinng INLOS's
jst venture with PetroChing Calum had been Chief
Exerutive of & number of s princinal business urits
and actively nvolved in micrger and aoouisiions
strategy and implermentation. Prior 1o INEOS, he
spent six years at Inspec (Intermational Speciaity

Chiariicatst, & pubicly hsted compary an the Landorn
Stock Fxchange thal was ongmally fonmned through a
management buyout of BP Chemicals

Dato’ Lee Hau Hian
Non-executive director

Nationality: Malaysizn

Position and date of appaintment:

Non-executt o direcos oo “0N2 st jeined the
board in 19493 and stood down in 2000 1o become
an alternate director

Key appointments: Hau Hictiis
Lumpur Kenong Bhd andd s the president of the
Perak Chinese Maternily Association He also
sarves as o directar of Yayason Ue |/ Salle,
Skills and experience: Hau Hicnis the managing
director of Batu Kawan Bhd. & heled Malaysian
inweshnents holdng cormparty wih nterests o

director of Ko

plantztions and chemicals manufacturnng
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S G Bennett The Hon. A G Catto B W D Connolly 4
Chief Financlal Officer Non-executive director Senior Independent Director —
Nationality: British Nationality: British Nationality: British
Position and date of appointment: Criet Position and date of appointment: Position and date of appointment: Indepenclent o
Firanc ol Officer since Way 2015, memnber of Non-execufive director since 1851, ron exzcutive director since January 20°£; Chair of %

the Dizclosare Gomim tlew. Key appeintments: Alex 15 manzging cirecton o thie Rerruneration Cormmites, member of the E

Key appointments: No exlernzl appamtments CarnSea Investrents Limited, a private msestment Audit, Disclosure and Normination Committees H

Skilts and experience; Siephen was previousky at company. and & non execuln e director of several Senior Independent Director since April 205, e

P4 S whore beohad boen O e Dmane wal Offic o al early stage comrpanies that have beenbacked by Key appoeintments: Brandan is 2 non executive
Fetron eos Helning sioco 2006, oacddition to toe CarnSca, His current other direclorships include directar of Victrax PLC and two privaste equity

tole Stephios had actesd as Croaed baaneaal Ofhe o Neptune Investment Manageryrent Limited. backed companes, one of which he chars,

of INFOS Upstrearr Limited 4 start-up ail and gas Skills and experience: Prior to the estatihshrrent of - Skills and experience: Brendan has over 30years

exploration business a~ud of INECES Olefr s and CarnSea Alex was a drector of Morgan Grenfell & experience inthe o and gas ndustry Until June

Folymers South and INEQS Phenol. He joned Co and then Lazard Brothers & Co | td. #0122 Brendan was A senior executre 2l Intertek
Coopers & [yvbrand in 1986 ard g a uabfied Groups pio and had previously been chisl executive &
chartered accountant He was at Full Circle officer of Moody International twhics was ot gured $
Industnes pic as company secretiry hy Intertek in 2011; Prior to Moody, he was
and gioup controllar before imaving ta mianagng director ot Atos Origin UK, and sperit ——
PricewaterhouseCnopers LL P (PwCy in 1997 more than 75 years of his career with Schlurnberager o
as a director in transaction services. Al PwC, he N senior international roles over three contingnts, 3
specialsed in pubhc and private equity transactions Brendan has previous sxperience as charrean of the 5
=™

across a vanety of sectars including chermicals, rermuneration committes of a UK isted company, F
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H A Van Deursen R Atkinson g

Independent non-executive director Chief Counsel & Company &

Nationality: Armencan Secretary a

Position and date of appointment: Independent Nationality: British g

non executive director since Septernber 2018 Position and date of appointment: Cormpany ]

maintzer of the Audit and Herruneration Sccretary since 19498: Group Chief Counscl v

Commitiees from 1 karct 2074, Key appointments: Nu external appoirtments 3

Key appointments: Helly 12 a non exaculive Skills and experience: Ric biard qualned a- o ‘_:“L

directar of Bemis Corrpany, Capstone Turbine solcitor in 988 practising 45 @ corporate lwyer @

Corporation anc Actuant Corporation, betore rroving into industry., | —

Skills and experisnce; Jutil 2000, Holly was Group e —

Vice President, Pehocherricals, at BRE Sha has o

. ) =

worked In the global chemicat industry tor ower F

ook g i bl senge e Nera e Saonlh g

Arrenca. burope and Asia I addiion. Hally has §
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Corporate governance

Division of Responsibilities

Chairman

+ pnmarily responsible for the working and effectiveness of the Board
+ taciltating an effective contnibution from the non executive dirgctors and a constructive relationship with the

executive directors

+ arisuring the balarica of membership of the Board 15 approprate
+ ensuring that the Board s in full control of the Group's affars and has an effective dialogue with its shareholders
+ leading on all aspects of corporate governance

Chief Executive
Officer

+ seniar executive responsitle for operational management of the Group

+ development. preparation and implernentation of the Group's strategy as approved by the Board
+ communication of the Group's culture and values
+ corrmunicating the Grroup's financial performiance toinvestors in conjunchon with the Chief Freancal Otticer

+ keeping the Board fully informed of all matenal issues

Senior Independent
Director

+ 10 be available to shareholders when concerns have not been resolved through normal channels
+ to lead the annual appraisal of the Chairman
+ to develop a balanced understanding of the issues and concerns of major shareholders
+ 10 provide a sounding board for the Chairman

Non-executive
Directors

+ to bring an independent and objective judgement to bear on issues of strategy. performance and resources of

the Group

+ to chalenge constructively and scrutinise management performance

Board reserved
matters

+ setting of iong term chijectivas and strategies to be employed i actiaving therm including the approval

of annual budgets

+ pohcy setting for satety, health and environmental matters. business conduct, diversity and human nghts,
recrutment and employment, tisk management and treasury

+ matenal deasions on capital raising, financial commitrments, capital expencditure, acgu sitions and dsposals
and the prosecution, defence and setlernent of litiganon

+ approval of information contamed in communications to shareholders

+ the review and monitoning of performance

Board structure

Audit Committee

Disclosure Commitiee

Board

Company Secretary

Rermuneration Committee Nomination Comrmittee

=+ provides advice and services to the Board and its Committees + supports the Chairman in all governance matters

Chuet Financial

Company Secretary
Officer & Chief Counsel

President -
Performance
Elastomers

CEQ
Executive
Committee

President -
Functional Solutions

President -
Qperations

President -
Corporate
Development

President - Industnal
Specialities, M&A
and Global HR
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During 2018 the Board heid nine meetngs with an addimional

In addition. arrangements are made each yvear for the Board to

hatt day dedicated to an arnual strategy deveiopment revigw visit up to two of the Group's operational sites and meet 1ocal 2]
The directors recene n advance full mfarmaticn on all matters management. Ad hac site visits are faciitaied for indiidual non E-;
to be discussed at Boara meetings as well as a detailed review executive directors on recuest Dunng 2018 the Board held one 3
of performance. 1he non executive drectors met once without of its meetngs it Malaysia and in conjunction with that meeting 16;
the Chairman to apprase his performance The Board met onoe attended the opeming ceremony for the latest phase of the Group's g
withcut the executive directors to appraise ther performance. Nitnle latex capacity expansion in Pasir Gudang. Presentations
ware given by lacal senior management on strategic 1ssues relating
to the Group's Asian businesses during the vist
Board activity in 2018 _
2
@
—
Safety,
health and e
environment S
‘ 3
innovation Inve.shng n §
organic growth
Internal gontrol Growth through
and risk acquisition S
management )y
[ ~]
p—
o
2
Governance Financial ;
and stakeholder B
relations performance g_
«
Leadership g
and people ;
=
«
Board activity in 2018 — Framework focused on strategy :
Safety, health and environment {(SHE) Financial performance Governance and stakeholder relations —
SHE performance and inihiatives are Financial. operationat performance Foutine reports on governance and
reviewed at every meeting supported by and strategic miratives are reviewed at investor relations matters were given g
a written report and presentation by the every meeting supported by reports and at each meeting. The grogress and E
President for Operations. presentatans fram the executive directors implementation of UK legislative and Z
ane pres dents. Detaled reviows of socoiie. regulatory corporate governance reforims §
Investing in organic growth business areas were provided by the during the course of the year were a
Matenal captal expenditure projects are responsible president or functional head monitored and the Board's response was %
subject to Board review and approval. N comunction with budget and strategy developed. An internal evaluation of the :'.’,;
During the year investment in a new discussions and capital expenditure project  Board and its Committees was carriad out. 3
nnovation centre for the Asian region revienws Proposdls tor the refinancing of &
located in Johor Bahru. Malaysia. and the Group's main botrowing facilities were Internal control and risk management
capacily expansion projects at stes in the revigwed and approved. As well as receving regular reports from };
UK, France, and the USA were approved. the Audit Commitiee on the Gompany's o
Progress on the major capacity expansion Leadership and people internatl control and nsk management @
nrojects approved in 2016 at sites in Succession planmng processes and processes particular attention was paid {o
Malaysia ard Germany were monitored progress were reviewed with support rom Brexit contingency planmng.
throughout the vear the Glohal HR Director. Regular reports g
were receved from the Chief Lxecutive Innovation £
Growth through acquisition OFfic e onplaring tor the o et or As a core pllar of business growth the ES
The tnab review al the irtegration of the new global business structure global innovation function and s resources é
and synergy achuevernent of the PAC which was implemented waith effect from together with the product development :a':
iDispersions) acguisition which completed 1 January 2019, The recommendation ot the  pipeline was reviewed at the annual
nJune 2018 was carned ot Reports Nomingtion Committee for the appaintment strategy develooment meeting.
weare recelved on the integration of the aof an additonal independent non executive
Specialty Additves and BASE Pischelsdort drector was approved. Site visits
acqguisitions. Several acuuisition The Board visited the Group's Nitrile latex
npportumities were reviewed and the 'deal plant at Pasir Gudang (Malaysia) A vistt wias t}-:
log” was considered at each mesting. also made by some of the non-executve &
directors to the Group's plants in taly, =
—
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Corporate govemance continued

Board membership and balance

Ther Chiatrman, Ghief Excoutree Ofticer Chief binanc sl Ofheer ard
Senior Independent Director together with Chairs and members of
the Audit. Namination, Remuneration and Disclosure Commitiges
ate went! od on payes 60 and 61, The Board considers that Folly A
Van Deursen, Caroline Johnstone. Just Jansz and Brendan Connolly
are ndependent In accordance with the provisions of the Code.

Ihe Board composition remained unchanged untt the appontment
of Holly A, Van Deursen on 21 September 2018 which addressed
the imbalance between the number ot independent and non
ndependeant directors which had pertaned since 1 January 2015,

Non-executive directors are appointed for one-year terms. All
dectors submit themselves for annuat election at each Annual
General Meeting.

I he table beluw sets out the number of meetings of the Board,
Aucht. Rermuneration. Nomination and Disclosure Commitiees
held during the year and the number of meetings attended by
each director. Where a director 1s unabie to attend a Board

ar Committes meeting Nis or her views on agenda tenis are
canvassed in advance of the meeting and incorporated into the
discussions. The non exgcutive directors disclose to the Board
ther other st cant comnatiments

Actuzare oot eetngy

Induction and training

Inducntion arrangements are in place in order to ensure

new directors receive a full formal and talored inauction on
apportment Following the appointment of Holly AL Van Deursen,
induction reguirements were discussed and agreed and
commenced N Novermbior 2G18 vath bnelings rom the Company <
lawyers and auditors on the UK regulatory regime for listed
companies and governance and corporate reporting requirements
respectively. Meetings were also arranged with members of the
Cxecutre Committee and functional leaders to give an overview
ol the Group's operabons matkets and head othee depattrerns
Arrangements will be made with Holly in 2019 for selected

site visits The Charman reviews and agress the traiming and
developiment needs of the drectars and the skills and knowledge
of the Board as a whole arc updatod oy i ofings prowided Ly

the Company's nternal rescurces and matenals, workshops and
sC Inars ofered by exteraal advisers onng 2018 brchings waore
delvered to the Board on developments in corporate governance
repotting and to the Remuneration Committee on governance and
best practice i remuneration, The Audit Committee was provided
with updates on governance and corparate reporting by PwG and
a UK penswons workshop was held by Lare Clark & Peacock LLP.

Board Committess
Called at

Scheduled  shontnotice Audit  Remuneration Normination Disclosure
Number of meetings held 6 3 4 3 1 [
Number of meetings attended
Stephen Bennett B8/6 3G NiA NAA /A 646
Alex Catlo 88 343 N:A N/A, N/A NsA
Brendan Connally 6:6 33 4:4 343 111 6:6
Holly A. Van Deursen 171 A, N/A NAA NA NAA
Just Jansz 66 33 474 33 NA NA
Neil Johnson 6/6 3/3 MNiA NJA 11 B8
Carcline Johnstone j$19) 313 4i4 373 11 NA
Lee Hau Hian [583) 1:3 NA NAA N/A NA
Calurm MaclLean 66 3/3 NAA NAA MNA &6

hal gt swaere cale o <o el LTI IR N | SO T o IR S T R T BRI (L O ST | N |
e n diwas howsevar 17y briefed and oroy o 4 AN 2pGTIng papers and doo. s and ns Ue eatiers sedwere oiva '

Performance evaluation

Following the externally faciitated evaluation of the performance
of the Board, it Committees and drectors carned out in 2017 the
pertormance evaluation carmed out in 2018 involved the foliowing
INernal processes:

+ the performance of the executive directors was reviewed aganst
therr personal obectvas for 2018 by the non-exesutive dirgctors
and the Chairman:

+ a mesting of the non executive directors ¢n the absence of the
Chairman) chaired by the Senior independent Director was held
to evaluate the performance of the Chairman. taking into acceount
the views of the executive directors,

+ the effectiveness of e Board and ts Committess 1Audit,
Nermination, Remuneration) was evaluated by way of animternal
self assessment guestionnare process: and

+ an assegsinent ot the pertormance of indiadual non executive
directore was carried out informally by the Chairman.

64 Synthomer plc Annwal Reprort 2658



Board and Committee evaluation process

The Chich Executive Officer enarts on sha erolder relstions st

The effectiveness of the Board and its Cormmittees was assassedd each Board meeting Communications with shareholders refating w
internally 1n 2018, Questionnaires were developed ang produced to corporate governarce matters are condusted by the Chanman &
v the Campany Secretary in conjuncbon with the Chairman with the assistance of the Charrs of the Audt and Remuneration s
of the Board and the Chair of each of the Audit, Remunaration Committees. Beports on all meetings between non executive g
and Nomination Commuttegs. The questionnaire comprisedd directors and institutional shareholders and ther representative g
open guestions on the workings and eftectiveness of the Board heries dre given tethe Board at the frat opportossty folloveang <ok
and its Committees. Alt directors were requested to complete neetings. as1s all corregpandence with them,
guastionnaires relating to the Board and each of the Committees.
in addition regular attendees from management at the Audit Ihe Senicr ndependent Director 15 avalable to shareholders if they
Committee meetings were also reguested to complete the have concerns and where contact through the norma' channels of
questionnaire relating to that Committee. A report was prepared the Cha teran or the Gh ef Executive Gificer has taleo to recobee o _
. m
by the Company Secretary for the Chairman of the Board and the for wh-ch such contact 1s Inappropriate. Q
o
Commitieg Chairs and the results of the evaluations were reviewead =
and discussed at the Caommittee and Board meetings held in Tre Board seeks 1o encourage participation of all shareholders. e—
February 2018. The outcame of that process is reviewed in the and in particular private mvestors. at the Company 's Annual
Charman’s letter on page 58. Ceneral Meeting and endeavours to ensure all Board members o
are in attendance. in parbcular, the Chairg of the Aucht. Nomination g
Board Committees and Remuneraton Comnmitteas are avalable to answer questions, §
The Board has formally estabhshed Audit, Normnation, 5
Remuneration and Disclosure Committees. each with ther own Ihe Company makes use of its website www.synthomer.com to
terms of reference which set out their respective roles and the communicate with its shareholders and also publishes half and full
authority delegated to them by the Board. Copies ot the terms of year results, Company anncuncements, share pnce and corporate
reference are available upon reguast from the Company Secretary  governance and other investor information there.
and can also be downloaded from the Company’s website,
All non-executive directors have a standing invitation to attend Information on the Company’s majer shareheldings and share
Comim tee mecings unioss they are notified otherwise, capital s mcluded in the Report of the Dirertars on pages 89 to 91,
) o
-]
;
The Audit, Nomimaton and Remuneration Committes reports are Accountability 8
set out at the end of this Corporate Governance report. An explanation of the directors’ respeonsibilities for prepanng the
fnancial staterments, ther report that the business g 4 goinyg puussm—
Relations with shareholders cancern, a viability statement, a responsibibty statement and thei 8
Dialogue with institutional investors 13 conducted on a regular statement as to disclosure of intormation to the auditor are set out g
hasts by the Chiet Lxscut ve Ofhicern. Chief Financial Otficer and on pages 90 to 92. Statements by the auditor about its reporting =
the President - Corporate Davelopment and meetings take place responsibilities are set out on pages 83 to 83 g
following the announcement of half and tull year results and at B
other timas according 1o cireumstances. In addition to half and full - A report on the approach o nternal control is set out on the g
year reporting, the Board has decided to continue with the practice  next page. The dirsctors endeavour to make the Annual Report g
of providing interim management statements notwithstanding that and financl staterments as inforratve and urderstandable g
his nolonger aregulatory reguiremeant to do 5o, as pussitile, “
The Board has adopted a set of shareholder communication ©
principles in order to ensure that Board members develop an Z_":.
understanding of the views of the Group’s major shareholders. =
These principles require the Chairman to be present with the bt
Chief Fxecutive Otficer and the Chiet Fnavcial Officer at sufficient
shareholder presentations and meetings that he fully understancs o
the ssues and concerns of major shareholders. Alternatively, the 2
Chairman is also available for meetinas with major shareholders at 5
thair request. =
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=
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Corporate governance continued

Risk management and internal control

The Board of Directors has ultimate responsibility for the Group's
systemns of risk management and internal control and for reviewing
their effectiveness and sets appropriate policies 1o ensure that

the Code requirements are met. The systems of nsk management
and internal control deployved wathin the Group are designad

to reduce the risks of failure to meet business chjectives, but
these nsks cannot be ehmmated [he nsk management and
internal control systems adopted can therslore only provide
reasounable, not absolute. assurance about mesting such business
objectives or against matenal misstatement or loss. The Graup
nsk management framework 1s set out on pages 32 to 37, Risks
associated with safety, health and the environment are. by the
nature of the Group's business. always of the utmost concern

andd the Sustanability report on pages 44 to 57 reviews the
Group's perlormance in this regard in 2018, The Board confirms
that a robust assessment of the princpal nsks facing the Group
has been camed out and that it has montored and reviewed the
effectiveness of the Group's risk management and internal control
systerms in 2018,

The Croupy's intermal controls over the finandal repoart ng and
consohdation processes are designed under the supervision of the
Chuef Financial Officer to provide reasonalde assusnee regarding
the relialibty of fnancial -coortng and the proparaton ard far
prosentat on of the Croup's publishod tnancial staements for
exfernal reporting purposes in accordance with IFRS.

[he processss which are used by the Board ether directly or,
where appropriate. through the Audit Committee 1o review the
etfectiveness of the internal contral and nsk management systems
inrefation fo e mancial teporting process and the process for
preparing consolidated accounts nclude the following:

+ areview of the external and internal asdit work plans;

+ consideration of reports o management and external partes,
ncluding the internal and external auditors, on the system of
mternal inancial control and any matenal contiol weaknasses,

+ chiscussion with management of the actons taken on any
possible problom areas for the business that are denticd
In addition, the Beard:

+ receives copies of the minutes fram all Audit Committee
meehngs.

+ receves regular written and oral reports from management
avr ol aspects of production operatons, frand sl and sk
management matters,

Safety, health and environmental matters
The maintenance of igh standards of environmental (together with
health and satety) protection s central to the Group's usiness.

A separate staternent on safety, healih and environinental (SHE)
matters has been a feature of the Annual Beport tor a number of
years and s contained n the Sustanabity secton of the Strategic
Report on pages 44 to 57,

Code of Conduct

During 2018 the Group's explanation and communication of is
standards for conducting busingss. people polcies and corporate
citizenshie rasponsipilities were reviewed leading to the launch

of a consolidated and updated Code of Conduct toward the

end of the year. The revised Code of Conduct was published in
thirteen languages in interactive onling and hard copy formats
and delivered to all of the Group's employees by e-mail and/

or hard copy. Code of Conduct "champions” were appointed

in each country In which the Group operates to assist wath the
launch at a local level. In order to support the values contained in
the Code of Conduct and promicte the Group's open culturg, an
externally hosted whistleblowing helpiine. which can be accessed
by telephone and online, was put in place in conjunction wath the
launch of the Code of Conduct. The whistieblowing helpline offers
all Group employees and stakehalders an anonymous plattorm
(where legally able to do sa) avalable at all hmes to report unlawiul
or unethical behaviour, workplace incidents or concerns and ta
raise any guenes regarding the application of the Code of Conduct.
Dunng 2019 workshops wili be held across the Group to reinforce
the importance of applying the highest ethwcal standards et outin
the Code of Condoct.

Ihe Code of Conduct (which also contains details of how

to access the whistleblowing helphne) s avalable at

winw. synthomer .com. In accordance with the 2018 UK
Corporate Governance Code the Board will undertake a regular
review of the operation of the helpline, the reports arising frum
1 and the arrangements n place tor thein nvestigation and any
follow-up actons.

Further detals of the standards, policies, prachces and
responsibitties contaned in the Code and ther apphicaton are
cantained i the Sustainatulty section of the Strategic Repart on
pages 48 and 49.
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Audit Committee report

Caroline Johnstone
Audit Committee Chair

Audit Committee Membership
Since 1 January 2018

Number of
Appointrment  meetings
Position date attendec
Sariew Job nstere Criar Aprlps ad
Justianez Ry 20312 44
Brenoas Corvaely tdaroe 2004 11

bral'y A van Dourscr T Rarcn 2019 na

e

Other attendees — by invitation

npzaty Secrelnry o tary 10 the

Chit boar g om ity NI

Chist Franoal Hoe Caronaps et Beoew Manage:

Dhirector of Group birance External Aud jors

Dear Shareholders
I am pleased to present the Audt Committee report for the year
ended 31 December 2018,

Az part of our core remit, the Committee has continued 10 focus on
our oversight of the Group's internal contral and nisk management
mrocesses and the development of our finance, inte: nal audit

and ather control functons. This 1s particularly important as we
realign our group structure from a regional to a global focus and
as the nsk erraronment continues to evolve, both in the UK and
overseas. In 2018. semor management from the Lurope, Americas
and Asig regions as well as Group pracurement and trading, 1T
and manuiacion:g met wath s e present the nsks dentihed in
ther business ared using the Group’s risk management approach
together vwth miligating controls to manage the risks. We also
asked for reqular updates to the Board on particular aspects from
the developing procurement and tradmg tunction.

Alongside our fonmal meetings, members of the Comnittee visited
our faciity In Pasit Gudang (Malaysia) with the rest of the Board
and had the opportunity to meet both staff and custemers of the
Asia business. Members of the Cominittee also separately visited
our Flago and Sant'&lbano sites 1n ltaly as part of an ongoing
programme of engagement with the business. 1hease visits enabie
us to meet with a wide range of employees to hear dirgctly how the

business 1s developing and any 1ssues faced by cur people. We
are algo pleased to hear how al levels of the business are nvolved
n understanding and managing our business risks. Feedback on
these visits 1s prowided to the Audt Committee and Board and we
ask management fo consider o address matters raised dunng our
vis ta, 10 2019, Gronp roaragerment will reflect on the support grven
by Group procurement to some of odr smaller sites as a resJlt of
feenback recaned.

During the year. the Group introauced a new Code of Canduct
across all geographies and launchea a new external Code of
Conduct and Ethics fwhistleblowing) helpline fwhich 1s outhned in
more detall on page 66) and the Committze bad oversight of this
work. The new arrangements were ralled out in December 2018
and the Board will monitor the implementation and use of the Code
ot Coneluct and helpline dunng 2019,

In 2019, the Commuttee will focus on the Group’s Internal control
and risk management processes as well as rewviewing our recent
acquisttions and capital investments, with a focus on payback
from these investments. We will also have a general raview ot our
key accounting contrels across the business and site reporting.
particularly around costs.

We set out further details of our work in the following pages.

Cn 1 March 2019, we added to the Comnuttee and welcomed our
new independent non executive director, Holly A Van Deursen.
who bt ngs signficant indust y expenence.

I am happy to answer any questions the shareholders may have at
any time and lock forward to meeting those who attend the AGM.

Caroline Johnstone
Audit Committee Chair
4 March 2019
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Audit committee report continued

Committee membership and meetings In order to address our remit effechively, V beleve t s important
The Committee (s made up of myself (Chair), Brendan Connally to hiave those with the technical or husiness knowledge in our
and Just Jansz  our experience 1s set out on pages 60 and imeetings and | am pleased that the Chie’ [ xecutive Officer and
61.In March 2019, Holly A Van Deursen joined the Committee. the Chuef Financial Giticer baotty attend oar Somimiztes mectngs -
hawe recent and relevant Tnanesal expenencs or the prposes wellas othier senior members of the Group fingnce team snd the
of Provision G.3.% of the UK Corporate Governance Code as a Group Operational Heview Manager (who leads the Internal Audit
Chartered Accountant, my roles chainng other Audit Committees function). PwC. led by audit partner Matthew Mulins. alsc attend
and my previous position as a partner at PwC. Together. the our meetings. Other semior managers have regularly attended
Commtice membet s hase a wide 1ange of inancial. oper ational Committee meetings in 2018, at our reguest. Other members of the
and cormimercial experience across the chemicals and engineering Board have: 4 standhing mvitaion to attend meenings anless notfied
sectors and the Board has agreed that the Committee has otherwise and we regularly have the full board in attendance.

expergnce relevant 10 the sectors we ocperate m.

Activities during the year
The Committee met formally four hmes dunng 2018 with the tollowing principal actiities:

Feb Apr Aug Nov
Financial reporting
Ful year results prehminary announcement and Annual Report v
Half year results and interim announcement v
Sttt gaocounting palgements ano estimates v v
Going concern and viability statements 'd v
Far, balanced and understandable statement v
FRC updates and guidance s
Alternative Performance Measures v
Update on new accountng standards '4 v ' I's
Internal controls and risk management
Uipdlate am speafic areas of nsk review” ' v v '
Tormal review nternai controls & risk assessment processes v
External audit
Assessment of extornal auditor's independence, objectivity and effectiveness v
Reappontment of external auditor v
Management representation letter v v
Non-audit fees and services policy v v
External audit plan 4
Internal audit
Reviewing internat audit reports, progress to plan, actions implementation v v P v
Assessment of internal auddit effectivensass 4 s
Imternal annual audit programme discussion and approval 4 '4
Other
Inferest rale nsk rey ovy and et naner ey 4
Update on implagmentation ot GDPR v v v
Review of mandatary traming across the Group ' 's
Hevision of the Code of Conduct and whistletlowing helpline v v
lax strategy review and approval 4
Report on whistleblowing, bribery & fraud prevention v ' 4 '
Review and update on the funding arrangements of the Growp's pensions “teach n’
and update on global pengion arrangements 4 v
Review of hanster prioing arrangements across the Group v
Aucht Committee workplan, report and terms of reference update v v
Audit Committee evaluation and actions ansing v
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The Committes alsc meels on a regular basis with Pw( and

with the Group Opérational Review Manager separately without
management preserit. The Commitiee meets privatery as required
to discuss our views on mafters such as how we see the company
culture developing and forthcoming agendas

In additson, cutside of the formal meetings. | meet regularly on

A onc o one basis with the Chief = xcoutee Citfiorrn the et
[nanal Offieer, ofber senion me ™ hers of the Cronp, financ e toam
and PwC to develop the Committes's proaramimie of work as well
as review progress N addressing actions agreed by

the Committee.

}also focus on ensuning that we have sutficient e to address koy
1ssues in Committee meetings.

sathicd with tre assumptions sed ang wih the veay that the
schemes had been accounted for. The Committee revewed the
assumptions and methodology used by managernent, nctuding
compansons to those used by other companies and concurred
with ther conclusons.

+ Purchase of business:
| he accounting for the acquisiton of the BASF Pischeisdorf S8R
business {Austhia) 1s shown In the note 31 to the accounts For
the acouisition. the assets and latnities have been included at
far vaiue with the balance of consideration shown as goodwill,
KPMG LLP were engaged to aovise an the fair valug of the
property, plant and equipment (PPL). Overall. their conclus:on
was that the total far value of the PPE was marginaly higher than
the carrying value, marly in relation to Land and Buildings.
KPMG LLP alsc performed & vaiuation of the intangibles, of
which thn only one of siger cant alue vias the custome

uode) oibaiens

48-041

As set out in my ntroductory comments, members of the o
- . . . relationships. [he external auditors reviewed the work Q
Comrmittee visited Pasir Gudang (Malaysia) and also the ) i =
. undertaken by KPMG LLP. Yhe Committee reviewed the 2
manufacturing sites in Haly dunng the year as part of an y F]
ongoing programme of engagement with the business methodology used by KPMG LLP alang with therr conclusions %
going prog ° ’ ' ‘ and discussed them with the externat auchitor. The Committes 8
= oa = concurred with management’'s view on the fair value of the
The role and responsibilities o pese, ¢ o ;
of the Audit Committee Gures :
The Committee has a detalled remit focused o 1 fry of
© ) y o _t ocused on the integrity of aur Dunng the year. we had regular updates on the likely umpact of new
financial reporing, nternal controls and nsk management, with ' )
i accounting standards. Severa! new accounting standards were
oversight of both external and internal audit,
adopted n the year.
The full terms of reference, reviewed t he vear, $
are available on the Company's We&):{;dv:ﬁaasegﬁg::s tcwemyedr + IFRS 9 ifinancial instruments) had no matenal IMpact on our results; 'g
51 2r.C . - .
© Y 5y © + IFRS15 (Revenue from Contracts with Customers) -
= = management undertock a complete review of revenue
Addressing our remit ger P ‘ S
recogrition 11 2017, with a detaled guestionnaite sent 10 all sites
Significant areas of judgement and estimate e . 1)
] » and concluded that no material changes were required to how =
As part of our monitoring of the ntegnty of the financizad statements, g
- . ; . ) the Group accounts for revenue; and o
the Committee assesses whether suitable accounting policies have . . =
. + IFRS 16 {Leases) will be adopted by the Group on 1 January E
been adopted and considers particular areas where management - e . 2
) 2019 uging the modified etrospective I plernentaon method a
has had to exercise jJudgement or make estimates, The main areas . &
. . P which was deemed the most appropriate and the required e
which we reviewed duning the year ended 31 December 2018, . - &
disclosure s contained i the notes 1o the inancal statemeants, 3
together with a summary of our work, are set out below: 3
m
. Fair, balanced and understandable 2
+ Taxation: v
: . ) : The work undlertaken by management {and reviewed by the
With operations actoss cighteen countries, sign ficant judgement ‘ .
. . N Committes) to support the Board's statement included.
has to be exercised by management, with advice from approprate ©
tax advisors. 1o anmve at tax movisions. given that the final tax e o o
. ] . } + establishing a working group of key ndividuals. who are =
outcome is uncertain and may not be known for several years. j - . . =
. appropiately qualiied, within the Group to over-ec the diatting
The Group Head of Tax presentad 1o the Committee the basis for of the Annual Report: —
caleulatng the effective tax rate including whether any local tax . ° port: . : r—
ALdits were anaoing. and the relianale and iudaement for each of + the Chiet bxecnut ve Offcer and Coed binancial Ofheer cuntinning
g q nale and Juagement jor sach o that. in ther opinion, the drafting of the Annual Beport was ‘far g
the provisions. The Gomnities refleclen onche provisions in the ) . 3
. ) ) balanced and understandable’ =1
ight of cur Greup tax strategy 2nd also reflecied oo the work done : . £
) +where approprate. requesting that certain key contnbutcors to 2
by the external abditor who also reviewed the Judgements that had =
. sections of the Annual Report (for example, presidents and chiet 5
been made, usng tax specalists as appropriate. and provided the . R o . E]
fnancial ofliers of busmess unitst sign & declaration conthiming a
Committee with therr assessment of the approprateness of ; o
manacerment udaernents. | he Ce it neured with the accuracy of the mformation provided: by
R = SUrre V| . ~ .
g ; ¢ ' Jrmmitiee conel + arranging for Deloitte LLP. the Company’s remuneration 1
management’s view. S ) o . o
consultants, to review the Directors’ Remuneration Report and 3
+ Pensions: having our design agency. Luminous, prootread drafts of the =
The Group operates a number of defined benet schemes whole Annual Beport;
haricularky 71 the U< and Gertnang which e signddeant + an audt trall was completed by the Director of Group nance for b
liabkties as autlined o note 26 to 1he Group inancal stalements rmatedial dala undeipinning nen-finencabinforrmation n the >
Although the UK schemes were Closed to tuture accrual during Annual Beport; @
2008, they are still sengitive to changes in actuarial assumphions. + circulating drafts of the Annual Report to PwC, the Committee
Thg Groap tses appropnately gual ied extormel sotuanal advisers and the Board for review: and
to help estabhsh the actuanal assumptions used in the valuation ot + discussing material disclosure items at a meeting of the g
the Group's pension liabilities. Dunng therr audit. the external Committee held in February 2014 t
aucitor evalvated the assumplions thoe . E)
quanor e o T pLons and meinodologiss used by The Commitiee discussad the “far, balanced and understandable 9
the Group's actuanal advisers and management and assessed ) - B . 2
! ! . . statement at a meeting in | ebruary 201910 the ight of the above [}
whether the assumptions inade were appropriate and not - - =3
. . ] _ . and. having done so. recommended that the Board provide in E
materially different from external benchmarks for similar types of N .
o the form set out on page 92.
schemes. The external auditors reported to us that they were
o
N
o
[=]
| S
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Audit committee report continued

Going concern

The process conducted by management was reviewed by
the Commuttee to support the Board's statement - the
process Includged:

+ Reviewing the Group's avalable sources of unding and, n
parhcular, testing the covenant and assessing the available
neadroom using a range of sensitivities.

+ Rewviewng the short, madiurs and ong-term castt iow forecasts
N various severe but plausible scenarios.

+ Assessing the level ot avaiable facilines, which are considered
necessary te support the Group’s ability to trade and deliver
future growth.

+ Assessing the Group’s current and forecast aghvities. including any
long-term contracts and order books, and those factors considered
likesly 10 affect ds fulure performance and financial posimon.

The Comrmittee discussed the gaing concern statement at a
meeting n February 2019 and. having done so. recommended that
the Board prowde it in the form set out on page 91.

Viability statement

The Board has chosen to consider the prospects of the Group
over a five year ponod ending 31 Decemher 2023, consistent vith
the tee year Stratege Dlac of the Graups, as they consiar o oo
a period over which the Group actively focuses on i1s long term
product development and capital expenditure investments.

The Committeg’s robust agsessment of the prncipal nsks facing
the Group Included a review of the potential impact of severe put
plausible scenanos that could threaten the viability of the Group
and the potantial mitigations that management believes would be
avallable. These scenanos included trading volatity, increased
competition. disruptian as a result of Brexit, delays in capacity
improvement, falure of new products and the temporary 1oss of a
manulacturiog site, 'y also neluded signdicant iorogn canency
exchange rate and interest rate movements, which are deemed to
be outside the controt of the Group. The Committee discussed the
viabiily staternent at a mesting in February 2018 and, having done
0. recommended that the Board provide it in the form set aut on
page 37.

External audit
At its meetings in Novermber 2018 and Nebruary 2019, the
Committes discussed the 2018 aucht process:

Qutcome/action taken

November 2018 ty the Comimittee

g = auedt fln

et g carnnd try
narrntton
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The Char of the Cornmittee was in regular discussion with PwC's
lead audit partner to discuss the progress of the audit. Ahead of
ancdt following the conclusion of the February 2019 meeting. the
Camrmittas met PwC without managemeant being present: no
significant issues were rased.

Systems of risk management and internal
controls effectiveness

FEach year. the Board s reguired to conduct a rewew of the
gftechivenass of the Group's systems of sk management and
internal contrel. The Board's statement about this review 1§ set
out on page 66. At a meeting In February 2019, the Committee
reviewed management’s assessment of the key elements of these
systons and confirmed their overall effoctiveness, Informing s
conclusion, the Gomumittee reflectod on madlers such as

+ The internal audit programme completed dunng 2018 and the
progress in implementing actions ansing therefrom.

+ Our own programme of nsk revews and discussions with senior
managers across the Group throughout the year.

+ Assurance [Committes papers. Board and Gommittee
presentations and discussions) that management continued to
teview e Grovgi's key tnanctal controls ta enswre that they
supponed the Group's continued growth,

+ The key controls guestionnarre, which 1s completed and signed
by each operating unit across the Group on a guarterly basis.

+ Halt yearly representations from fimancial and commeroial
managemen in the business o the Chief Finang sl Of cer,

Whistleblowing

At each Committee meeting dunng the year. the Sommittee was
provided detals of the 1izsues reported dunng the penod and how
management had investigated them. together wath any update
on ongoing mvestigations. No material 1ssues were repotted
duning the year. As discussed above, a new Code of Conduct
and o Hew gaternal whisticblowing) helpline was implemented in
[ecarmber 7078,

Internal audit

The Group Operational Review Manager (who leads the internal
aucht function) was appomted in 2016, We have a dedicated and
tocused - nouse internal audit tunction, which draws on specialist
resources as reqguired. At each meeting, the Committee reviewed
progress aganst the internal audit annual plan and explored arcas
wentdied tor action, The Committen also revieveed completod
audit reports, focusing on recurring themes. which might require
group achons, and aress where there was divergence tfrom self
assessments prepared.

To assess the effectiveness of internal audit, the Committee
1ctlestad o

+ Internal audht reports dunng the year.

+ b opaback rom opersonal and iranee Looctions on the ooshty
ot the inemal audit reports and activities in the form of a
questionnare, which was crculated (o key managers,

+ Complance with appropnate nternal audt professional
standaras.

+ Implementation of internal audit recommendations,
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Responses to the guestionnare nciuded positive feedback around
planning and qualty of internal audt and there was a request

to engage local language resources to make the audits mare
eficient inthe coming year, the funobon vl focus on cuncluding
the audit reporting process and ensurnng implementation of
recommendations on a timely basis. On the basis of cur review. the
Committee concluded that the function was operating effectively
although we continue to review the resources reaurred far the
developng Group.

Effectiveness of the external audit

During the year the Committee evaluated the performance and
etfectiveness of the external auditors, PwC and Matthew Mullns.
our audn partner. Feedback was obtaned from people across
the business who were involved with the external audit and the
Cormen e roflectod on the ettect eness of Matthow Villims sncd
feam members, both in Committee meetings and in discussions
with the Auait Commuttee Chair.

Jodel oibejeng

26-0dl

Ihe Committee assessed the robustness of the audit. the g
The nternal avdt plan for 2018 was reviewed at our meeting In guality of delivery of the audit aganst the agreed plan and the 5
November 2018 and includes auditing areas which account for more competence with which the auditors handled key accounting E
(han 85 of operating profit as well as cerlain key central functions estimates and Judgements. @
such as capital expenditure approval processes and comphiance.
Specialsts will be ncluded in a number of audits as appropriate. We also reviewed the FRC's report highlighting ther conclusions
from a review of a selection of PwC audits.
External audit relationship
Auditor objectivity and independence and Having considered all of these factors the Committee concluded
non-audit services provided by the auditor that the external auditors were effective.
With etfect from 1 January 2018, the Committee adapted a revised 4
policy on the provision of non -audit services by the external Re-appointment of the auditor ;lg
auditor. We ave mare clearly defined the very limited non-audit PwG was re appointed external auditor in 2016, following a
services which can be provided by the external auditors. Services full retender process. having been the Group's auditors since —
can only be provided f approved by the Commitiee and subjgct to 2012, Having assessed the effectiveness of the external audit @
a cap of 70% of the average of audit fees for the preceding three referred to above and the independence of PwC, the Committee g
years - with discretion 1o exceed this until January 2020. The recommends the re-appaintment of PwC at the 2019 Annuat °
policy is in compliance with the FRC Ethical Standard for Auditors General Meeting. g
effective from Apnl 2017 and a full copy of our policy on the g.
provision of non-audit services by the external auditor is available Statement of compliance ry
on the Company website. www.synthomer.corm The: Comrrlee conlias tral, dunng the yvear ended 31 Decenuer &
2018, the Company complied with the applicable provisions g
Detals of audt and non audit fees paid to the auditor in 2018 are of the Competition and Markets Authority’s Statutary Audit @
set out in note 8§ on page 117. Non-audt fees principally relate Services for Large Companies Market Investigation {Mandatory
to reporting accounting work on the aborted bend olfenng and Use of Competitive Tender Processes and Audit Commuttee
to the interim review at the half year. 1he Committee concluded Responsibilities) Order 2014, ,g
that PwC's independence and ubjectivity was not comprormised §
by provicing these services and that. as a result of its knowledge Committee evaluation
of the Group and its financial staterments, ©f was in the Group's In 2018, we undertook a thorough internal gvaluation of the ——
interests to engage PwC to do so. Committeg’s performance using a guesticnnaire process, with o
input from regular attendees as well as the Cormmittee members. S
As part of the 218 audit, PwC contnmed that 4 was independent We covered all aspects of the Committes’s agenda and approach. E
within the meaning of applicable regulatory and professional mneluding composition, remit and culture of the Committes. The =
requirements. Taking this mto account and having considered feedback was positive about our progress In overseeing and §
the steps taken by PwC to preserve its ndependence and the challenging the systems of nsk management and supportive of 2
approach to non audit services set out above. the Committes contnuing to develop this in 2019, Lke mast busmasses. we continue @
concluded that PwC continues to demonstrate appropriate to consiter the appropriate level of internal audit resource and thig will g
mdependence and objectivity. be closely monitared as we continue to grow and develop. g
w
&
¢
2
z
5
)
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Nomination Committee report

Neil Johnson
Nomination Committee
Chair

Nomination Committee
Since 1 January 2018

Number of
Appointment  meetings
Position date attendad
et nbiegor e fuln 2012 11

SO JBeRenoent

Brondar Gonnny nOn CxRee s vk aIrttor Meren 2011 L

MOt
axstve g

Caralng Joknstone

April 7S 3

Role

The Committee's remit iIncludes responsibility for:

+ The regular review of the structure, size and composition
including the skills, knowledge, experience and diversity) of
the Board anu the making of recommmendations with regard 10
any changes:

+ leading the process for Board appontments arid normimatmg
candidates for non executive positions: and

+ considering suceession planning tor directors and senior
executives and reviewing the succession plans put forward for
ansuring the exéacutive leade s needs of the Campary are met

Activities in 2018

the Nomination Committes held one formal meetng during 2018 as
well as meetings in combination with other forrmat meetings of the
Board where it was appropnate to do so. In addition, a nurmber of
mformal meetngs and telephone calls plus several intarviews ook
place n connection with the nommation process referred to below

The Committee reviewed progress against the 2018 management
succession action plan presented to the Board at the start of the
year and initiated a review of the Board succession plan which

will be comiplated during 2016, Follawing Jdinya Cheri's retirermsnt
from the Board at the end of 2017 the Committee commenced a
search for a replacement independent non-executive director The
Committee led the process for nominating Haolly AL van Deursen as
an independant non executive director which mvolved @ thorough
review Of a range of candidates put forward by an independeant
recruitment consultancy, Egon Zehnder (with which the Company
has no other connection), The consultancy conducted an extensive
search exeraise and were briefed on the Board's policy on
dwersity. The Board's approval of the Committee’s nominabon of
Helly A, Van Deursen addressed outcomes from previcus Board
evaluation processes reqarding the Board composition and was
also in accordance with the Board's diversity policy,

Diversity

The Goard adopted its current poficy on diversity in 2014 n
recognition of the importance of diversity in strengthening
decision making and competitvenass. This policy seeks to
ensure that diversity in fts broadest sense 15 taken into account in
the pracess of making appontments on merit against objective
selection criteria. Gender and ethnicity are acknowledyed as
sigrithcant elements of dwersiy and the Gomnattee s oandiul

of the recommendations of the Hampton Alexander, Parker and
McGregor Smith Bewews but has not recommentded to the Board
the setting of quotas for female or other representahon at this tme,

A copy of the diversity policy 1s available at www.synthormer.com.
Further details on the Company’s approach to, and reporting on,
diversity are comtaned within the Strategic report.

Neit Johnson
Chair
4 March 2019

T2
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Dear Shareholders

Iwould ke to thank our shareholders tor therr continued support
In 2618, specihaally for the Bemureration Repoit where 977
approval was given at the 2018 AGM, Our existing pohcy was
onginally approved at the 2017 AGM and s still current. and no
changes have been proposed or Made dunng this reporting
period. We will present a new policy for approval af the 2020 AGM,
which means that we will consult with our sharehclders during
2019 on our proposed polcy.

Remuneration outcomes in 2018

Base salaries: Salary levels for the Ghief Fxec utive Officer

anct Chicf iinanc al Gthcor wore last reviowed with offoct from

1 January 2016, and were frazen at that level for a three year
period From 1 danuary 2HG the Ghief [ xeont ve Offeor's satary
was increased by 3.0%, 10 ine with the average pay increase

for the Group's UK employee population. The Chief Ninancial
Offic ex’s salary was wereasad by 4,85 from 1 uanuary 2019
following careful consideration by the Remuneration Commuittee.
Hus aspusitenl ey Deen made toorelect 2 comibiighat of
petformance in the role since his appointment 11 May 2015

and the ncreasing size and complexity of tha business.

Bonus plan: 76.5% of maxmum cpportunity achieved.

I'he bonus plan conststs of three parts: Financial (80% on
Underlying PBT): SHE {10%): and Strategic Personal Goals (10%.

+ binancial: 61.56% achieved. Underiying PBT of L1135 Smi {FY
£121.1m} was achieved aganst an on target goal of £130m with
adjustments related to currency and ME&A activity, We saw strang
arganic growth frem the Asia and Rest of the World segment
which maore than compensated for headwands in Luiops and
North America.

+ SHE: 5% achieved. 1t goal 1s spit equally between Repaortable

njury Rate (RIFY) and Process Safety Event Rate tPSER). The

journey towards a ‘best in class' culture continues in SHE and
though we understood that the 2017 result was exceptional, we
challenged Management to continue the downward long-term
trend In safety Incidents, which they have dong despite not
hitting the RIS target but achieving the PSER goal.

Personal Strategic goats: 10% achieved. Both the Chief

[ xecunee (e er and Chiet Finarcial Othoer taen del ared

exeelent performance aga nst ther specfic passonal goals i

2018, leading to significant progress in a numiber of key striategic

areas. Ihese nclude:

+

— delvery of strengthenea nsk managemernt processes
and controls

contnued drive in tne M&A area, with sound scrutiny and
discrpling shown i the selection and rejection of apportunities.
as well as the acquisition processes undertaken

the strenuthening of Synthomer’'s people struciure

the design and implementation of a new globa! orgamsatioral
structure focuased on custemers and markets

Synthomer ple Annual feport 2018
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Directors’ Remuneration report continued

LTIP: 86.29, achieved.

[he plan consists of EPS growth (40%), Relative 15R (40%) and
Strateaic goals (20%).

+ -LPS growth: 40% actueved, |he 21.5p EPS base from 2015 has
grown substantially during the Tast three years and the outcome
of 32,81 18 above the maximum target of 28.60.

+ Relative [SR: 32% achueved. The Group performance against
the £ ESE 260 texcluding invesstrient znd finascml seroces)
landed at just below the Upper Quartile.

+ Strategic goals: 14.29 achieved. New Products as g % of Group
sales by volumeg) was 21%, over the 20% maximum. exclucing
turnover attributabie to acguisitions made subsequent to the
setting of the performance condition where there 1 no scope tor
new product development. The cumulative PBT (over 3 years) from
bA& A was £38.2m, and theretore fall short of the maximum

When stepping back and reviewing the bonus ana LTIP cutcomes
versus the overall perfarmance of the Group, the Committee
cansideted whether the ocutcomes were aligned 1o the ‘look and
feel” of what we have observed dunng the year and felt that they
wera an accurate 1eflection of the overall perfonmance,

Chairman’s Fee: The Charman’s fee was raviewsad for the
first men lwo yeare, Based on the continued nocase nthe
compléexity of the busingss and hme commitment in the role,
as well as external market posthomng for equivalent roles. a fee
ncrease from £170,000 poa. to 2180.000 p.a. was agread with
elfect from 1 January 2019.

Activities during the year

The introduction of the 2018 Governance Code and new corporate
governance reporting reguirements has been discussed and
approphate trammg has been grven to the Committee and wider
FBaare witly e Commtiees torms of reference updated o reflect
the changes. Below is a brief st of the discussions held and
tlecisions taken N 2018 during the Cormmittee's three meetings.

Activity of the Committee in 2018

Approval of parhcipants in LTIP

Approval of KPl components of the LTIP

Approval of borus plan outcormes tor 2018

Approval of LTP culcomes for 2018

Appraval of salary ncreases for executive dirgctors
Approval of salary increases for senior managernent
Review of remuneration structure for the wider Group
Review and approval of Gender Pay Gap data

bvaluation of Comeittes performance

Review of EC styrene investigation

Training in corporate governance and reporting developments
Review of market prachces and trends

Review and approval of Chanman's fee

Review and updating of terms of reference

Review and gap analysis on gudanace from Proxy agences
Rewview and gap analysis art new governance regirmne
Uiscussion on 'employee vowe” 1o take to the Board

Discussion ot post  employment sharehclong and pension
paymernts under the new Code

Review of training and development wathun the Group

Interaction with rermuneration consultants un vanous topics

Alignment to Group strategy

In ne with the prior year, the sirong link and alignment between
the remunetation structure and the Group strategy of mnovation,
excellence and growth s a key focws for the Committee

Innovation: using R&D and process engmeerng to deliver

new and improved products in the medium and long term o
suceesstully cumpetn I the specranty cremcal eclor s reflocted
n the LTIR where the managemeant ano all the LTIP participams are
challenged to deliver a percentage of volurne from new products
OVE & e year penod,

Excellence: safety. health and environmental performancs s
critical for nsk management and beng able ta delver a safe and
environmmentally controlled workplace. avoiding potential physical
and reputational damage. Measures for both persanal and process
safety are captured ' the bonus plans of the Chiet Executve: Officer,
the Chra' inanaal Officer and the wider orgarisation. Excellence
abso ncludes operatonal processes, efficiency, cost management,
utilisation. praduct quality and an array of other measures which are
all captured through obiectives for the key operational executives
and those directly involved in managmg the plants.

Growth: organic vear on year growih, M&A and internal capital
investment remiain mportant stralegic mitiatives 10 dive inandal
growth, increase capacity and a wider speciality product base
1o achieve ncreased market share. The bunus plan and the LTIP
through PBT. EPS, TSH and soeohc expansion obieaives are
algned and weighted haavily towards driving a healny growth,
Uiue to the large amocunt of Investment in projects in 2017 and
2018, we have added a ROIC measure ta the L1IP seeking
Qualil g reld s Gl speelio prowed s,

UK Corporate Governance Code

and other regulatory changes

As noled above, the Gomimittes 1s Cinsely montonng
developmerits in the corporate governance and regulatory
enviroriment, including arsas such as post employment
shargholding requirements and executive pension alignment,
We will present a new policy for approval at the 2020 AGM. and
will consult with our shareholders on all aspects of our proposed
remuneration pohicy during 2013,

Followmg the 2018 anncuncement of the reguiations around the
methodology to be used in respect of CEO to employee pay ratio
disclosures, the Group is working on collating the appropriate data
needead ta meet the new requiremernts, and will cormply with the full
regulatons in our 2018 Annual Report,

Remuneration Report

Ihe Oirectors Remuneration report will not reguire a bincding vote
for the policy at the 2019 Anrual General Meghng. however the
Annual Report on Bemuneration. will, as i previous years, be
subject 1o an advisory vole.

Fwould ke to thank the Cornmittes for therr work, debate and
wiaut during the year and look forward 1o interacting with our
stakehalders during the policy renewal process n 2019,

Brendan Connolly
Chair
4 March 2010
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At a glance
2018 outcomes:

+ Base calani- wete inureased o the Chet b xeente COicer aec Chet b nanesal Ofcer by 305 and 4850 sespechively rame 1oy tiary
2019, Salary levels had been frozen from 1 January 2016 tor a three year period.

+ Annual borus plan - 76.5% of maximum opporiunity achieved,

+ 2018 LTIP award vested at 86.2% of maximum opportunity,

yodas afsiens

26-241

Directors’ remuneration - policy principles o
Ihe key principles for executive directars' remuneration at Synthomer are as follows: §
4
+ Suthcien: to atbact and retan exec utive dnectors of the ability ana experise necessary to acrie & the shategio goals of the Cormpany. §
L
+ Incentivise execute directars by rewarding performance and driving the right behaviours.
+ Ahgn executive director reward with the experience of shareholders.
In setting executive directors’ remuneration. the Committee takes account of pay and condtions throughout the Group. The Committee
also considers corporate governance requirements and best practice in terms of remuneration structures and the process of setting
executive remuneration.
2
The Committee reviews performance targets regularly to ensure that they do not encourage or motivate inappropriste risk taking, g
furthermore, the Committee, when necessary. will take into account any environmental. social and governance (ESG) gvents and the
Audit Committee’s reviews of the effectiveness of internal controls and risk management when assessing performance. p—
i Q
The following diagram provides an overview of the key elements of reward tor executive directors and the performance measures used. g
hel
%‘:
]
>
[}
)
]
&
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Key elements of reward 3
@
w
@
Base Pension Annual Performance _é
salary & benefits bonus Share Plan
—
0
Q
3
=
5
At least 70% At least 80% =
Frofit hefore tax Brascd o firanc al measures §
a
Up to 30% Up to 20% 2
Strategic and operational Strateqic measures 55:
measures, ncfuding personal 3
: Db.ecweg P 2019 awards: 2
) 40% Relative TSR 3
2019 awards: 40% EPS growth 2
80% Profit before tax 20% Strategic measures o
10% SHE a
10% Individual strategic
and operaticnal goals p—
c
5
]
=
g
Directors’ remuneration - policy summary 3
Set out in the table below 18 a summary of our Directors” Remuneration Policy {"the Policy™) as 4 applhes 1o exgcutive directors. g
The Polcy was put forward. and recewved shareholder approval, at the Company’s 2017 AGM 11 accordance with section 4394 of the
Companies Act 2006. Tne Palicy has been effectve from 27 April 2017 and s avalable in full at www.synthaomer.com.
"
o
Y
DY
o
E=]
—
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Directors’ Remuneration report continued

Policy table

Element Purpose and hnk to strategy Operaticn Maximum opportunity Performance measures

Base salary Supports the recrutment Salary levels are generally There is no overall maximum MNone, aithough mdiiciual
and retention of reviewsd annually by the for salary opportundy or and Company pertormance
executve directors Comimittee. meoreases. Salary Increases are factors taken into account

will normally be in-line with the  when considering salar
Retlects the ik ncdual s When reviewing salary . ¥ o salary
Ll ncreases awarded to other \ncreases
skills. experence. levels the Committee ) -
) emplayees withirs the Group.

pertormance and role takes Into account:

wathin the Company. Larger increases may
be made under certan
crrcumstances. incluuding. but

not imited to:

+ the indwidual's skills,
expetience and
performance;

+ the size and scape of the

. + anincrease N the scope
individual’s respensibilities: i P

andsar responsibiity of the
+ pay and conditions ndividual’s rote:
elsewhere in the Group:

+

the develupment of the
+ pay at comparues of indrvidual within the role;
similar s1ze; and

+

allgnment 1o market levels;
+ the complexity and and
interriational scope of

+ carporate svents such
the Group. v

s d sIgnifcant acguistion
or Group restructuring
which impacts the scope
af the rale.

For 2019, executve dirgctor
salaries are as follows:

+ C G Mactean: U551 565
tncrease of 3.0% on 2018
salary of £535.500)

+ S G Bennett: 350,600
increase ol 48% un 2018
salary of 1334860},

The executive directars had
previously had therr salaries
frozen at 2016 leve's.
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Element

Purpose and link to strategy

Operation

Maximum opportunity Perfarmance measures

Benefits

Provided to support
the retertion and
recrutmeant of
executre directors.

Benefits to execut o
directors may include
private health nsarance.

Ife insurance and & fully
expensed car or car
altowance, From time to time
the Commuttee may review
the herefits provided, The
Committee may remove
poneins tal excoutive
directors receive of INtroduce
other borehts il conzidors
it is appropnate to do so.
Any other benefits will be
praportionate with the
current benehts provided.

Where executive directors
are refuired to relocate or
complete an international
assignment, the Committee
may stfer addinonal benefls
or vany henefits according to
local practice.

Executive directors may
particypate i any all-
employee share schemes o
other berclit arrangements
on the same basis as other
employees.

There is no gvera maximum  None
tor benelits, as the oost

ol insurance berefis may

vary from year to year

depending on thée indridual
circumstances and the tevel

af any relacation Lonefit-

allowances and expeanses

wili depend on the epecitic
crcumstances.

uodal 9/Bajeng

25-2dI

BIUBULIBADD)

26-8%

Pension

Provicle a competitive
level of retirement
benefits (o support

both retention and
recruitment of executive
directors,

Executive directors are
ehgible to patticipate In the
Group personal pension
plan.

Executve directors may
receive payments as a cash
allowance which they may
use erther in canjunchon
with that plan andor to
enabile them to make

then own arrangements,

Maxamum of 25% of base None

salary.

Alowances for current
execyutive directors are;

G Mack ean, 265 of salary

25 Bennett, 200, of salary

Symthomer plc Annuat Report 2018
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Directors’ Remuneration report continued

Elgment

Purpose and link 10 strategy

QOperation

Maximum opportunity

Performance measures

Annual bonus  Incentivises the delivery
of inancal, strategie and
operational objectves
selected to support
aur busingss strategy

withun the year.

Parformance targets will

he determined by the
Commutiee at the beginning
of the annual performance
parad.

The Committee will assess
performance against thess
targets followang the end of
the performance perod.

The Committee may adjust
awards upward or downward
1o reflect the cuarall
performance of the
Company ot the ndridual.

Ihe Committee may

reduce or defer the levet ot
payment of an award t0 take
inte account exceptional
business circumstances.

A proportion of any bonus
earned s tleferred for two
years. For current executive
directars this s

+ C G MacLean: 20% of
any bonus

+ 3 G Bennetty 13% of
any bonus

i he Committee may claw
back awards up to three
vears after payment if the
Group’s accout 1s have
been matenally rmisstated,
there has heen an error

in the calcutation of any
peartormance condbions
which results in over
payment or if there are
clrcumstances gving nse to
malenal reputational damage
o the Group.,

The maximum opportunity s
up to 125% of salary,

Opportunities for current
execulive arectors are:

+ G G Maclean: 125%
of salary

+ S G Bannett: 115%
of salary

Al least 70% of awards are
subect 10 Underlying profit
bhefore tax (or other relevant
finaricial minasure brgets,

Up to 30% of awards are
sublect to strategue and
operational measures, including
personal obechves,

For 20189 awards, pertormance
measures will be 80%
Undarlying ol betoro

tax, 10% SHE objectives.

10% personal strategic and
operational objectives

ihe award for threshold
performance 1s normally
0% Of maximum

78
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Element Purpose and link to strategy Operation Maximum opportunity Performance measures
2011 Incentivises executive The vesting of awards 15 Under the plan rules + At least 80% based on
Performance drectors to deliver conditional on the Group's approved by shareholders, financial measures, 1S may
Share Plan sustangd performance  pertormance aganst the value of shares awarded inciude TSK, EPS. Return on =
Approved b and sustainable returns  long-term targets over a to an indimvidual in respect Invested Captal (ROIC) or <
s::rehdders; for shareholders aver the performance pernod of at of ary one year may not any octher measure S
at the 2011 longer term, least three years. normally exceed 150% consiered approprate by —
. ot salary. the Committee. Any change
EGM Thne Committee may reduce ot salary e, o . I &
, to the firane al measures [
or defer the level of vesting Annuai awards to current ]
. ) used would be subject to H
of an award where an event  executive directors are: 1
prior sharehoider H
has occurred, such as a - . N -1
. ) + GG Maclean: 150% consultation, hl
material SHL incident, of satar L3
’ y + Up 1o 20% based on
The Commuttee may claw . .
+ 5 G Bennett: 120% performance measures
back awards ug to three i
Gl salary inked to the delivery of the
years after vesting if the BUSNESS Stratedy
Group's accounts have Under the plan rules oy
heen materially misstated. approved by shareholders + No single measure will
there has been an error there is the ability to constitute mare than 507% o
in the calculation of any make addittenal awards in of an annual award. L4
. o
erformance conditicns exceptional crcumstances. L]
P } F For 2019 awards, performance
which results in overpayrment .
or ftor awards from 2017 Additional awards may measures will be 40% Relative
- be made Inthe case of a FSR, 40% EPS and 20%
onwards) if there are o
. - transformative Group event.  strategic measures. moluding 3
circumstances giving rise £
Any such awards would ROIC. T
to matenal reputational ) =
be subject to addhional . e 3
damage to the Group. . A maximum of 25% of g
sharehglding guidelines 8
- each element wili vest for &
Vested awards relating to or holding periods to threshold performance @
grants made from 2017 be determined by the pe CeE B
onwards are subject to a Committee. The Committee may amend the Z
hotding period 3! firial vesting level under the 151 £
ap post vesting Any additional award would ve ) 4 TEN i . . ®
of an additional two years. element if It does not consider it
he sulyect to the overall plan I :
: ) to he reflective of the underlying
limit af 300% of salary. ©
perfarmance @
of the Group. Y
B
Any additional awards made Y
nexceptional circumstances [re—
will be subject to performance o
condibwons and vesting g
schedules as determined ]
-
by the Committee at the tme =
of award, %
Shareholding The Company operates shareholding guidelines for executive directors to strengthen the alignment between the interests %
guidelines of the execulive directors and the shaeholders. The Chicl Lxecutive OF.ce and the Chiet binancial Offices are teguired o A
build Interests in shares of At least 200% and 1507 of salary respectively, %
=l
All vestea awards under the 2011 Performance Share Plan {net of tax d applicable) must be retained by executive &
directors until this reguirement 1s met, If the requiremant 15 not met within three years of appointment. the executive 2
directors would be required to defer 50% of any bonus to buy shares untl the guidelines are met. o
&
Provisions to withhold ar recover sums paid under incentives are as detailed in the table above. No other elements of rermuneration are
subject to recovery provisions. re—
Q
=
B
=
g
3
)
=
3
&
-
2
[=]
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Directors’ Remuneration report continued

Nlustrations of application of remuneration policy

The following charts ustrate the different elements of the executive directors’ remuneration under thiee different performance scenanos:
Minimum, Target’ and 'Maximum’. The assumphons used are provided below the charts. The llustrations are based on annual bonus
awards for 2019 and Performance Share Plan awards 1o be made n 2019,

C Q Maclean S G Bennett
Component Minirum Target Maximum

Fixedt Base salary Base salary for 2019
Pension Value of cash supplement for 2019
Benefits Taxable value of annual benefits provided in 2018

Vanable Annual bonus 3% of maximum B0% of mastimum G G Mactean 125% of salary

S G Bennett 115% of salary

2011 Performance 0% vesting 25% vesting G G Maclean 150% of salary
Share Pian’ S G Bennatt 120% of salary

MNote:

Thie value rr the Pectormance Snare Dlan s pased an ine fane valuz of conaal PSR awartds ondes the Polic g dand base salings o0 2008 The coculat o exclados

sNare pree growtn G deadends doneg te perfcnranse peaod
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Annual Report on Remuneration for the year ended 31 December 2018
Operation of the executive director Remuneration Policy for 2019
The current Policy hus Lot oree smce 20 Apnl 2010 The soeoific iermaneration atangen.ents lor 2019 are descnbeo belovy

Base salary

Followang two years of no increase being given, and accordingly salaries remaming at 2016 levels through to the end
Ol 2018 N rcdsts viee awarded waith efeol o 1 Ja uary 2019 of Su-0 o the 2wl Fxecut ve Dine and 2.6 -
for the Chiel buancal Otficer grang 2079 salaries as ollows

+ C G Maclean: U551,5685
+ 5 G Bennett: £350,600

The Chiet Executive Offiwer's salary was nereased by 3.0 ming vth the average pay norease ‘or the Group's K
aemployec population, The Chief Financial Otficer's salary was moreased by 4.8-<. following carelul consderation

by the Cor mitlee Ths adjustment has been made 1o reflect a combination of po-fonmance in tha role since
appointment in May 2015 and the increasing size and complexity of the business.

uodas nibeiRNS

45-041

Pension and
benefits

No changes. Executives receive a cash allowance in heu of pension camnibutions, a fully expensed car or car
allowance and private health insurance,

2019 cash allowances in leu of pension contnbutions:

+ C G Maclean: 25% of salary
+ 5 G Bennett: 20% of salary

Annual bonus

For 2019. performance under the annual bonus will be measured on the following basis:

+ B suliect to petformance aganst Underlying profit belore tax targets,

+ 10% subject to performance measures against key SHE targets.

+ 10% subject to performance against individual strategic and operational goals.

+ Targets and objec:ives for 2019 aie, by therr financiat and commercial nature. considered by the Board
to be unsuttable for disclosure i advance. However, the Committee will provide mformation on targets
and objectives retrospectively.

2019 maximum award opportunity:

+ C G Maclean: 125% of salary
+ S G Bennett: 115% of salary

BIUBLLIGALY)

26-85

Performance For awards to be made m 2019, performance will be measured on the same basls as for awards made in 2018
share plan as follows:
+ A0 ¢ based on relative TSI potforrmance versas T TSE 200 (excludng mvestrmoent Fasts and finaraal
SErVICes companies)
- 25% of this elament will vest for median performance.
- 100% vesting for upper guartile performance.
Vesting an a straight-fine basis between these points,
+ 40% based on Underlying EPS growth:
- 25% of this element will vest tor EFS growth of 4 5% per annum.
100% vesting fur EPS growth of 10% per annum.
- Vesting on a straight ine basis between these points,
This target range was sat folowing consideration of the long term strategy and the outlook far the markets in
which we onerate.
+ 20% based on performance against three equally weighted measuras directly hinked 1o the delivery of the
business strategy:
Proportion of Group Sales {by valumes) from new products together with products covered by patents and
patent anpheations dewed from new products leanched o fwe years o the ead of the pertormand e pernod
incentivising greater innovation through new product development.
Curratlaiee Unaerlying prolit botore Lax groveth in resuect O acgo sitons e with the stratege plan as
approved by the Boord — neentvising the delioery of peofitable groveth
- ROIG generaled frorm the most sigricant growtt projiels beng commssioned 1o be commissionesed o 2018 w019
rmeas red nihe third year of the performance poood = meeising the aolve s ol proitable arganic grostl
Far each of these measures. 25% will vest for threshaid performance.,
The targets tor these measures, and the level of performance achisvaed. wil be disclosed following the end of the
pettormance penod.
2018 maximum award opportunity:
+ C G Maclean: 150% of salary
+ 5 G Bennett 120% of salary
Shareholding The Chict [ xcettiee Oftcer and the Chic! T nancial Ofhcer arc reqoired to hodo merests sy shares of at least 200
guidelines and 150% of salary respectively, The Committee will keep the fevel under review.

SJUBLWIBIELS (BIOUBLY) dNOI
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Directors’ Remuneration report continued

The following nformation is audted:

Single figure of remuneration for executive directors

Base Annua! Long-term
salary Banefits' bonhus incentives? Pension Total
Year £ £ £ £ £ £
Executive directors
C G MaclLean 2018 535,500 13,200 512,072 728.581 133,875 1,923.228
207 835,500 13,200 662375 1,163,614 133,875 2,515,564
5 G Bennett JaYE 334,560 22730 294,329 364,149 66,912 1.082.680

2017 334.560 22.397 384,744 343,887 66,912 1152.500

Notes
T I ety taxable al e o

tdrre Crived fny ear o oxor e o dpes o o S heyEa Tre tane nelow reae des astals 21 e mar . ~nenent mr e releea:

reref oA G eren thee et
2 For 2018 tMevames relute 1o awards granted under tne 2017 PSR and made n 2010 and which vesi 10 Apid 2018 1 aiiher intorrmaton stou® e ovel of westng e
prcy dad in s renort

Car
expenses/Denefit Qthers Total
£ £ £
C G MacLean 13,200 - 13,200
3 G Bennett 21,549 1,181 22730

Additional information for single figure remuneration

Base salary

Base salanss tor the Chuot Frecutive Otficer and the e Finano) Oficer weare last reviewed wrh effect from 1 January 2016 and were
frozen at that level for a three year penod.

From 1 Januaty 2019 sulanes wore nereased as st out below. The Chiel Lxecutive Gtficer’s salary was incleased Dy 3.07 in ine with
the average pay increase tor the Group's DK employee population. The Urict Ninancial Offcer's salary was increased by 4.8% | iollowing
careful consideiation by the Cormmittee, This adjustimen has been made to reflect 8 con bination of neitorrance in the role simce
appoiniment 1n May 2015 and the increasing size and complexity of the business.

Execuytive directors 2018 base satary 2419 base salary 9% ghange
C G Mactean §2535,600 $661,565 3.0%
S G Bennett 1334560 £.350,600 A.8%

Annual bonus

2018 award

T or 2018 the Company oporated a cash bonus plun for the execcutve diraciors related 16 tho achiesornent of Underying proft Lofore bax
targets, SHE targets and individual strategic and operationat goals.

Fhe actuoveinont of the dnderkying praft bofore i targot ropresonied up to 80° of the maxnser bonas ocpart iy & bnevable of 1057
and 115% of annual basic salary for C G Maclean and S G Bennett, respectively.

The SHL targets were goven a 107 weighiting of the maxmum achisvable with the balance of 107 relating to ndividual strategic and
oparatianal goals.

Overall bonuses for the year ended 31 Docember 2018,

Maximum bonus as a Total bonus as a Total bonus
Exequtive dirgctors % of salary % of maximum
C G Maclean 125 76.5 512072
S G Bennett 115 76.5 294,329
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Further information of the three elements of the bonus are as faliows:
1. Underlying profit before tax (80%)
Trie Lindearlying profit befnre tax targets e and acCiecernent die sed out nelows
;
o]
Threshold Target Maximum Achieved: &
~J
Level of award (% of element; 0% B0% 100% 76.8%
Unde-lying profit belore tax’ £123.5m £130.0m £143.0m £135.5m
0
Q
<
8
Jne Board apprroved miaonal bodget Tor the Groups and Jred on NEEn, SUrrenit y bas s g
CE e T T T Tax AT RS LA MR TE TR [EAETS B B ST A ALY G L oo A f.',
ol T N B L R N OOt BETE tax, °
2. SHE [10%])
Targets wilh an aggregate weighting of 10% related to improvements in recordable njury ancd process safety.,
Recordable injury Process safety
{measured as injury  (measured as process
rate) safety event rate}
)
Target 0.20 or less 0.20 of less @
£
(5]

Level of award 0% for a rate
greater than 0.20
53 for a rale

less than 0.20

0% tor arate
greater than 0.20
H% for a rate
less than 0.20

Rate achieved 0.23

0.14

Award outcome

a-
G

9

=

5

Further details of the detirebion ana measuremaent of the recordable inury rate and the process salety incident rate are gven on page b4,

3. Individual strategic and operational goals {10%)])

Indwidual goals and achievements against them considered by the Remuneration Comimittes with an aggregate weighting

at 10% included:

Chief Executive Officer Chisf Financlal Officer

Target 1. Development and embedding of risk management
processes and controls,

2. 1dentiic etio and where appioprale exeoution of
acqguistion oppartunities.

3. Strengthening of leadershp and organisational

capabilty,

processes and controls,

(BEPS) tax legislation,

3. Management of investor relationships.

1. Development and embedding of nsk management

2.0 nstire compliance wath Baso brosion and Profit Staltong

Level of award Up to 10% Up to 10%

Performance
against targets

1. Strengthened sk management processes
implemented by CEO and CFO with improved and maore
frequent reviews of 1igk topics.

2. Focused and disciphned selecton, review

and as approprate, rejechon or execution of

acquistion apportunities,

revigws of nsk topes.

1. Strengthened risk management processes mplemented
by CCO and CFO with improved and more frequent

2. Sponsor of project to implement transactionally the
existing Luropean operational modet in ine with BEPS,
3. Strengthened investor refatonship programme

2. Implementation of new global structure supported rolled out
by external appointment to leadership team.
Award outcome 10% 1050

The maxmum cpportunity was awarded,
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Directors’ Remuneration report continued

2011 Performance Share Plan

Ihe awards made on & April 2016 for © G Mactean and for S G Bennett under the 2011 PSP were subject to relative shareholder
return performance condition. an absolute sarnings per share performance condition and a strategic measures condion as follows:

Relative total shareholder return condition EPS conditicn

Company relative TSR performance  FPRPS {ar the 2018 financial - Percentage of award that vests
against the F1SE 250 Index (excluding year

muesttnent frusts ana Inancdl serveos

companies) over 3 year penod ended

31 December 2018

Performance achieved

Upper guartile 28.6 pence or more A0%

EFS of 32.8 pence gives full

Betweaen median and upper quartile  Between 245 pence and On a straght-lne basis between

vesting tor that condition.
TSR performance at the 32nd

28.6 pence 10% and 40%
Median 24 .5 pence 10%
Below median Less than 24.5 pence 0%

percentle gives vesting of 32%
for that condition.

Afurther 20% of the award was subject to two equally weighted strategic measures:

+ Parc emtage of Group sales by vol imey o the 2018 fnaccial year denved from new products lauached in the five years ended

371 Decemter 2018,

New product pergentage” Percentage of award that vests Percentage achieved

< 15% 0% 21% gives vesting of 10% of award.
15% - 20%, 2.5% — 10%

> 20% 10%

N

Exaiachng volurme: atnbaiab e S acgu it ons miwde

+ Cumulative Underlying B added through acquisitions for the three years endad 31 December 2018,

St 1 1nE sethineg o e perfornance conddion whicre tiere 8 M soope tar heew roda T develupren

Cumulative PBT added through acquisitions Percentage of award that vests Percentage achieved
< £31.7m Q%
£39 2 millen gives vesting
E31.7m - % — 10% d
n-Le3Am 200 - 10% af 4.2%, of the award.
= B3 4m 10%

I aggregate 868.2% of the 2016 award vested

The 2016 award will vest for C G MacLean and 8 G Bennett in Apnl 2019 as fosows:

No. of shares

inoriginal  No. of shares  No. of shares
award that lapse that vest
C G MactLean 182,416 25173 157,243
S G Bennett 91173 12,582 78.591
2018& award
The: awards made on1 8 March 2018 10 C G Macuean and S G Bennatt were as follows:
Percentage
vestingat  Performance
Number of threshold period
Scheme Basis of award shares Face value periormance end date
G G MacLean 2011 PSP nil cost optiong 150% of salary 164 479 £803.250 25%: 31,12:2020
S G Bennett 2011 PSP - nil cost ophions 120% of salary 2,208 £401,472 25%  31,12,2020

Do tace walue of the asards was Cak ulated i o share prce of 28830 pone © pen shats the gearago share e i the e desleg

days prior 1o the date of grant
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Ihe awards made on 8 March 2018 under the PSP are subject 10 the following perfurmance conditions:

Relative total sharehclder return condition EPS conditicn

Company relative TSR performance aganst the FISE 250 [TPS o the 2020 inancal year Parcentage of award that watl vest
incex excloding neostment teasts and inarcial

seryvices corrpanies) over three year penod erding

31 December 2020

Liodai 9i6erens

28-241

Upper guartile 43.9 pence or morg 40%

Between median and upper quartile Between 350 pence and 40.9 pence  On a straight line tasis
hetween 10% and 40%,

Median 35.0 pence 10%

Below median Less than 35.0 pence 0%

A turther 20% of the award s subject to strategic measures as referred to on page 79. the targets for which will be disclosed folowing the
end of the performance penad.

. -
Pension entitlements

Both exer utive directors receive a cash aliowanice nieu of pensien contnbuhon 5. No adational benefit s cocivable n the event of A
director retinng early.

Cash allowance

ATJUBLIIADD)

Z6-85

{% salary)
C G Maclean 25
S G Bennett 20
Single figure of remuneration for non-executive directors Committas
membership Committee
Non-executive directors Base fee fee char fee Total
N A Johnson 2018 170,000 - - 170,000
207 170,000 - - 170.000
The Hon. A G Catto 2018 40,000 - - 40,000
2017 40,000 - 40.0C0
BwW D Connolly' 2018 45,000 10,000 5,000 60,000
2017 45000 10,000 5,000 60,000
DrJ Jans7 2018 40,000 10,000 - 50,000
2017 40,000 10,000 - 50,000
C A Johnstone 2018 40,000 10,000 5,000 55,000
2017 40.000 10,000 3,000 55,000
Dato” Lee Hau Hian 2018 40,000 - - 49,000
2017 40.000 - - 40,000
H A Van Deursern: 2018 11,000 - - 11,000
207 - B -

Notes

feesz N s
antedd to the B

S

The feas to be paci i 2018 to the Chairman and the non executive directorns were reviewed in Novemner 2018 and January 2013
respeclively and as a result:
+ the Chairman's fee was increased from £170.000 p.a to U180,000 p.o with effect from 1 danuary 2079

+ the commiltee membership fee for the ndependsnt non-executive orectors was increased from £10.000 paa to £35,000 p.a with effect
from 1 Jarvary 2018,

+ the base fee for the non-independent non executve directors was mcraased from CA0.000 to £A1,200 p.a wih effect from 1 danuary 2019,
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Directors’ Remuneration report continued

Directors’ shareholding and share interests (number of shares/options) '

Total
Vested unietiered
unexercised interests in Unvested
Interests in - performance shares and  perfermance Share Interests
Company related vested related options Share in shares at
shares oplions options options exercised ownership 31 December
31 December 371 Decernber 31 December 371 December during  reguirements 2018
Directors 2018 2018 2018 2018 2018 {9% of salary) * (% of salary)
C G MacLean 365.356 - 365,356 508.539 223152 200% 244%
S G Bennett 93.548 - 93.548 254172 165.949 150% 100%
The Hon. A G Catto 1,492,382 '
6,687,500
B W D Connolly 2,200
Dato' Lee Hau Hian 44,763
Dr ¢ J C Jansz 10.000
N A Johnson 100,000

C A Johnstone _
H A Van Deursen

Netag
for Lenmef D nter
Urisagtad performance releted options Somonso iae awands mads andles the 20100 252 00 20°0 2007 and 2008 Detas o7 e pertanmanc e conadlions a™annny o
g G awardy, are get oat o g gt sel oul bie ovwe, dll 2008 awards are set oat on page 85
2 et v rerirement s med 1o sales of shares that v nder long termt s et pane are peratted other than te sanste tax ah [ has ¢
g = suah lane I addinion 1 e eggarament 1S ot e w i n res years o0 the date of appa ntrient ag a director
“hat unfette red anexerciged vested il nnst ¢ y

s unds
rrect n1o shares The Comm ttes ronsider
Sunt on snet Of He bas s) toward compl

et 1 et s share guanecchip o rogquiresen dos

A

st the enare awnership guidelnes Ag o resul o tre 2078 meeaneral ooy aatonr g

ane

The performance conditions attaching to the PSP awards granted in 2017 are as follows:

Relative total shareholder return condition EPS conaition

Company relative TSR perfaormance against the [PS iy the 20018 financial voar Percentage of award that vests
FTSL 250 Index (excluding investment trusts and

financial services cormmanies) over three yvear

period ending 31 December 2019

Upper guartile 37.7 pence or more 40%

Between medan and upper quartile Between 32.3 pence and 377 pence  On a straight-line baslis
Detween 10% and 40%

Methan 32.3 pence 10%

Below median Less than 32.3 pence 0%

A turther 20% of the award 15 subject to strategic measures as referred 1o on page 78, the targets for which will e disclosed following the
end of the performance period.

Payments to past directors
NO payments were made to past directors.

Payments for loss of office

No payments for lo Mee were racie during the yoar,
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I'he following intormation 1s unaudited:

Performance graph and table
The graph a~d e tebie Letow allove companson of e total hareboleer otarn of the Oempan, ang the Chiof Frecotize Officer
remuneration outcomes over the last ten years,

The graph above compares the total shareholder return performance of the Company with that of the FTSE 250 (excluding investrment
and finanaial seryces companies) which 1s consderad to be the most appronnate ndex against which 10 make a cornpansen,

waoda o1bajeng

25-0d1

aoUBUIOAOE)

2009 2010 20M 202 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018
CEO total sngle igure E
of remuneration (£000; 786 1484 3,831 1487 G923 967 1.246 1.218 2516 1,923 B
Bonus (% of maximum awarded) 100 100 100 27 0 57.3 987 100 100 76.5
LTIP (% of maximum vesting) 0 100 100 100 50 0 n/a n/a 96.3 86.2

Tre Chie” Execluve Officer towal single igure of remuncration naludes safary, benefls and pension contubutions paid N the year ogether
with bonuses and long-term incentive awards which vested based on performance in the year.

Percentage ¢change in remuneration of director undertaking the role of chief executive compared with UK
Group employees

“he fable helow sets .t the marcase in lotal remuaneration of tho Chief Fxecutive Officer and tnat of the employees of the Croup's mam
K rading subswliary. Tolal employee pay is based on the total salary. benelits and bonuses lor employees of that company comprising
some 370 employees. The directors consider that this employee population is the most relevant for comparnson purnposes taking inta
account gecgraphical location and remuneration structure.

Salary Taxable benefits Annuyal bonus

% increase % increase/{decrease) % decrease

C G Maclean 0 0 (23.5)
Total cmployce pay, bonelits and bonuses 4.3 (2.3) (11.0)

Relative importance of spend on pay
The table below shows the relative importance of the Group's all ermnployee remuneration expense compared with returns to sharehalders
by way of dvidends.

2018 2017

£m £m % change
Dividends a2.5 361 8.7 %
Total employee remuneration . 123.1 116.5 5.8%

Dividends are the dividends paid in the yvear. Total employment remuneration is the consolidated salary cost for all Group employees.

2018 2017
Emoluments* £000 £000
The total amicuns 1o dirgctors remurcration and olher enefils wore
Emoluments 2,138 2415

Mt

Enaumenits are reroyrleed G prerata bz s o chie penso i, wern [ireetors
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Directors’ Remuneration report continued

External appointments

Executive directors are permitted to accept external appointments with the prior approval of the Board prowided that there s no
adverse impact to ther role and duties to the Company. Any tees ansing from such appomntments may be retained by the executive
directors where the appointment is unrelated to the Group's business. SG Bennett does naot currently hold any external appointmenits.
CG MaclLean was appointed as a non executive director of Saud Basic Industries (SABIC) headqguartered in Riyadh in October 2017
and recelves a board membership fee ot US$157.500 per annum and a committee fee of SAR 259.000 per annum. Mr MacLean

was appointed as a non executive director of Clanant Ltd on 18 October 2018 following his nomination by SABIC under the terms of
the governance agreement between Clariant and SABIC and receves a fee of CHFP 280,000 per annum in aggregate for board and
commuttee rofes. m relation to Clarant Limited.

Remuneration Committee
Remuneration Committee mermberstup since 1 January 2018:

Brendan Cannclly Char

Just Jansz

Caroline Johnstone

Helly &, Van Deursen Appointed 1 March 2015

Attendarnce at Committee mestngs 1s set out on page 64.

Key duties of the Commiliee

During 2018 the Committes was responsible for determining, in agreement with the Board, the Company's policy on executive
remuneration and the spec fic -ersunenation for the Chaiman and each o7 the executive diectars. ncludmg pension rights, within the
terms of the agreed policy. The Committee was also responsible for reviewing the remuneration of senior executives throughout the
Group. Following the coming inte force of the 2018 Governance Code with effect hom 1 January 2018 the Committee has agreed the
expansion of its remit with the Board to include:

+ Formal responsibiity for all senior management remuneration; and
+ The review of remuneration elsewhere in the Group.

Advisers

The Chief Fxecutive Othcer, Gompany Scoretary, President - Global VIR and Groun HIR Director are wivited o attend Committee meetings
to contribute o the Committee in s deliberatons. However, no individual s imvolved in discussions. or1g part of any decisions. relating to
ther own remuneration

Ihe Committee receved mdependent advice from Delotte LLP 1Delotte) who were apponted as the Committee’s independent
remuneration advisers in April 2013,

During the year, Deloitte provided advice on governance and market trends andg other remuneration matters that matenaily assisted the
Committes. The fees paid to Delotte in respect of this work were charged on a time and expenses basis and totalled £8.900 for advice in
F018 Dodomte akbso prowded 1ax sorvices to pacrof 1re Croop i the yoarn The Comeriltee was satehod that this add not corrpronnse the
independence of the advice recewead.

Deloitte 1s a founding member of the Remuneration Consultants Group, and adhberes to its code of conduct. Delottte was apponted
directly by e Gonmities, and the Committed is satshod tha ir e advice receved was oblective and independent,

Statement of voting at general meeting
The table below sets out the results of the votes on the Directors’ remuneration at the 2018 AGM.

Votes for voles agalnst Votes withheld
Member Number % of vote Number % of vota Number
2007 Annual Report an Remuneraton 268.404.498 o7 8,304,576 3 108.580

By order of the Boad

R Atkinson
Cornpany Secretary
4 March 2019
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Report of the Directors
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The Direcsors subrmt sher Aanual eport and the audites consobdates tnancial o atermests for tne year enocd 31 December 2018, e
Report of the Directors comprises pages 89 to 91 and the following sections of the Annual Repert which are incorporated by reference:
Itern Locaton in Annual Report
Statement of Directors’ responsibilities Page 92 a
fnancal inst-uments and financial nsk management Financial Statements - note 23 @
Present membership of the Board Pages 80 to 61 et
Corporate Governance Report Pages £2 to 66
- — - - [~
Strategic Report (including principal activites and principal risks F]
and uncertamties and Viability Statement) Pages 2 12 57 5
=]
Diractors’ Remuneration Report Pages 7310 88 H
@
Share capital Financial Statements - note 28
Sustainability Report Pages 44 to 57
Results and dividends
The profit att butable to sharcholdoers for the yea was $99.8n. The inten~ dwioend of 4 0 pence ner stare was paid on 6 Novermber
2018 ine Lirectors recommend a bnal ardicary divicdend of 9.1 pence per share payable on b July 2019 ta those sharsholders registered
at the close of businegss on 7 June 2018. A dividend reinvestment plan 1s available to shareholders and this alternative will contnue to be g
offered until further notice. S
Acquisitions and Disposals pr—

On 1 January 2018, the Group sold Synthomer Leuna GmbH. and on 28 June 2018 the Group disposed of 519 of its sales entdiss in
Dubal On 31 January 2018 the Group completed the purchase of the BASF Pischelsdorf SBR busingss and assets, turther details of
these tansactions are contained in notes 32 and 31 respectively o the consolidated financial statemets,

Directors
All the Directors will retire and witl be seeking election or re-election at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting.

Nong of the Directors sesking re-election has a service contract other than G G Maclean and 5 G Bennett who gach have a service
cantract which contams a fwelve menth notice penod.

Director indemnity provisions

Under the Company’s Athicles of Associabion the rectors of “he Company have the beneht of a qualityirrg thrd-party indemrity
provision which provides that they sball be indemnificd by the Gompany aganst cettam liabiitios gs psrmitted by Seclions 232 and 234 of
the Companies Acl 2006 and aga pst cosls neurred by them e relation teany abilty for wehueh they ate nideminihcd. The Company hes
purchased and ma ntans mistrance agamst drectors” and othicers” habiities nrelabon to the Compary.

Share capital and control
During 2018 no shares were issued or repurchased. A total of 160,756 shares were purchased on the open market on behalf of the
shareholders who elected to participate n the dividend reinvestment plan.

The nghts and obligatons attaching 1o the Company's ardinary shares, being the only class of issued share capital, as well as the powers
of the Company's directors. are set out n the Company's Articles of Association, copies of which can be obtained from Companies
House or can be downloaded from the Company’s website. There are no restrictions on the voting nghts attaching to the Company's
ordinary shares or on the transfer of secunties in the Company. No petson holds secunties in the Company carrying special nghts with
regard to the control of the Company. The Company is not aware of any agreements between holdars of securitias that may result n

sl chons on the tansfer of securtics or onvoting nghts. Unless expressly speaitied 1o the contrany in the Articles of Assoaation of the
Company. the Caompany’s Articles ot Association may e amended by special resolution of the Company's shareholders,

Othes thonn refation o ts horrowings which unless certain canations are satisiod. econ e repayablo on a takeover the Company s
rd party to any sigooie ant agreamients that ool take offool alter o enmiinate gpon o ¢ hange of controlallovanag o akeover bick T
Crornprany docs net han e ace nemenss vath any dies tor or engprayes hat weald provide con pensaion far nss of offic e or emiploanend
resulting from a takeowver.

All of the Company's share schemes contain provisions relating to a chanae of control. Qutstanding options and awards would normally
vest and become exercisatle an a change of control. subject to the satisfaction of any performance condtions at that time
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Report of the Directors continued

Major shareholdings

Other than the shareholdings disclosed as Directors’ interests in the Drectors’ remuneration report as at 15 February 2019, the Company
Fraed beon ootbed unaer Secaon b of the Wisclosure and hansparency Hales of shie UK Disting Avho ity of the loBowing signilicant
holaings ot voting nghts in its ordinary shares:

Ordinary shares  Percentage of ordinary

(number) shares in 1issue Nature of holding
Kuala Lumpur Kepong Berhad Group 66,873,401 18.68 Direct interest
Menan Global Investors (UK) Limited 25,096,134 7.38 Inclirect interest
Standard Life Aberdeen plc 19,653,714 5.78 Indrect interest
Kames Capital Plc 13,403,772 3.94  Direct and indirect interest

Employment policies and employee involvement

The Group gives every consideration to applications for empioyment from disabled persons Employess who become disabled are
given every opportunity to continue employment under normal terme and conditions with appropnate training, career development and
promation wherever possible. 1he Group seeks to achieve eqgual opportunities in employment through recruitment and traiming policies.

The Group encourages employee nvolvernent in its affairs and makes use of an intranet system to promole such mvolvement and fo aid
communicabon with employess. Regional management corferences are held annually to bring senior management together to share
ideas and develop policy, values and sehaviours, Didlogue takes place iegalarly vath ermployecs to make them aware of the tnancial and
economic factors affectng the pertormance of the Group. Performance related bonus schemes are in operation throughacut the Group.

Authority to purchase own shares

The Company has a general authonty. which expires at the conclusion of the 2018 Annual General Meeting. to make market purchases
of not more than 33,988.076 of the Company's ordinary shares in accordance with the terms of the special resoluhon passed at the 2018
Annual General Meeting. A resclution will be tabled at the 2019 Annual General Mesting ta renew this authordy.

Political donations
No political donations were made in the year

UK pension funds

The Trustees have reviewed the independent investinent management of the assets of the Company pension schemes i the UK and
assured themselves of the securty and controls i place. In particular, it is the Trustees’ pohoy not to nvest in Synthomer ple shares nor
end money 1o the Camyamy.

Subsidiaries
Allthe Group's subsidianes, joint ventures and related undertakings are hsted on page 154 16 156,

Statement as to disclosure of information to auditor

Fach Diector of the Company cenfirns trat, so far as he o she s aware, there s ne relevant audr indanmation of which the Company’s
auditor 1s unaware and that he or she has taken all the steps that he or she ought to have taken as a Director in order to make himself
or herself aware of any relevart audt mformation and to estabhsh that the Company's auditor 1s aware of that information For these
purposes, relevant audit information means information needed by the Company's auditor in cannechon with prepanng then report on
pages 943 1o 99.

I

This confrmation s gieen and should be inte pretec in aceordance with Sect on 412 of the Sompanies Act 2006,
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Going concern

The directors have acknowledged the latest guidance on gaing concern and in reaching ther conclusions have taken into account

tac lors whichnclude he ehngtcing in July 2078 of the Groap's mam ooy facililiss comprimng o corm ied uhser ore 3 o -year
revolving credit facility of €440 million. After making enguinies and taking account of reasonably possinle changes in trading performance.
the diects are sat shed that, al the (e of approving the dnsnc Al staterents, s approprale o dolopt s Gomng Comicer s Oasis i
prepanngg e nnencal statermends of bot o e Groap =t e Company.

Cautionary statement

The purpcse of this report is to provide infurmation to the members ot the Company. It contains certan forward ooking statements

with respect to the operations, pettormance and inancial condition of the Group, By ther natiee these statements insol o wncertzainky
since future events and circumstances can cause results and developments to ditfer matenally from those anticipated. The forward-
looking statements rellect krowledge and mlonmation avalable at the date of preparation of this report ang the Compary undettakes no
obligaton 1o update these Torward loo<ng staterments, Nothing n tas repart should be constried as 1 profit ‘forecast,

Independent auditors
A resalution to appoint PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP as the Company's auditor will be proposed at the Annual General Meeting.

Annual General Meeting
The Annual General Meeting will be held st the offices of Canaccord Genuity irited. 88 Wood Sueet, L ondon EC2Y 7OR
on 25 Apnl 2018 at 10.00am.

By arder of the Board
R Atkinson

Company Secretary
4 fMarch 2018
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Statement of directors’ responsibilities

Statement of directors’ responsibilities in respect of the financial statements
The directors are responsible for presanng the Anmual Repor and the finance al statements in aceordace with applhiezble lavw and regulation,

Cutnparny law tegquires e ditectors [0 prepate rdneal statements for each francal veqr, Under that law he diecions have prepated
the: Group hbancal stalements i accordanee w b international Financial Beportng Standaros (IFRSsy as adupted by the Furopear
Union aned Gomnpaty nancial skements o accordancee v Uniled Kingeom Generslly Accepted Accounting Prachve {Unned Kingdom
Accounting Standards, comprising FRS 101 Reduced Disclosure Framework, and applicable law). Under company law the directors
st not approve the financizl staternants unless they are satshod thal they gree 2 rue and fa 1 view of the state of aftars of the Gioup
arrct Comparty and of the profit or loss of the Group and Compary for trat penod. In prepaneg the financia! statements, the directors are
required to:

+ select suitable accounting policies and then apply therm consistently;

+ state whethor applicanle IFHRSs as adopted by the Luropean Union have beoen followed for the Group fnanoal statements and United
Kingdam Accounting Standards. comprns ng RS 101, have been followed for the Company financial statements. sabject to any
matenal departures d sclosed and explained in the inancial staternents;

+ make judgements ancd accounting estimates that are reasonable and prudent: and

+ prepare the nancizl slaterments an the gomg concern basis unless it is mappronr ate to presurre that the Group and Company will
continue in business.

The directors are also responsible for sateguaraing the assets of the Group and Company and hence for taking reasonable steps for the
prevention and detection of fraud and other irreguiarities,

the drectors are responsible for kaoping adegaate accourming - ccords that are suffioient to show and explain the Group and Gomuosny =
transactions and disclose with -easonatle accuracy at any timoe the tnancial pos tan of the: Group and Company and enabile thent to
cnsute that the inancial stateronts and the Deectors” Remuncration Raport comply with the Cormpanios Act 2000 ana. as 1egands tho
Chroup fna-cial statemonts, Article 1 of the IAS Dogalzhor.

Ihe directors are responsitle for the mmaintenance and integrity of the Company's website. Legislaton w the United Kingdom governing
the preparation and disseminaticn of inancial staterments rmay differ tom legislation wother junsdic tions,

Directors’ confirmations
The directors consuder that the annual report and accounts, taken as a whole, is far. balanced and understandable and provides the
nformation necessary for shareholders to assess the Group and Company's postion and performance. business maodel and strateqgy.

bacn of the direciors, whose names and o bons are Iisted in the Beport of the Directors confiin hat, to the best of the 1 knowledge

+ the Company hinancial staterments, whit h have been prepared in acoordance vt United Kingdom Generally Acceptod Acconnting
Practice {United Kingdom Accounting Standards, comprizing FRS 101 Reduced Disclosure Framework, and applicable law). give a true
and fair view of the assets, abihtios, * nanciat cosition and profit of the Compeany,

+ the Group iinancial statenients, which have beer prepered o accordance with It 258s ns adopted by the b oropean Lmos, give a true
angd fan view of the assets. iabllies, nancil poston and proit of the Group, and

+ tie Hepaort of the Directors includes a tar review of the development and performance of the business and the postion ot the Group
and Company, together with a descnption of the principal nsks and uncertainties that it faces,

By arder ot the Board

C G MaclLean S G Bennett
Chief Executive Officer Chief Financial Officer
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Group financial statements

Independent auditors’ report
to the members of Synthomer plc

Report on the audit of the financial statements
Opinion
In our opirion;

+ S;nthomen ple =~ gronp Lnane al statermernts and cormpan, dnanoad s acmest- ghe  Todecal =tatensienis gue a true and ‘ar cew of
the state of the aroup’s and of the compary s atfars qs &t 31 December 2018 and of the qroups's prott and cash floves for the year
then endedh:

+ 1he grep Tnancial staicmornts bave boon properly preparea naccorsance withe (otoreanioral Forancal Hoporing Srandeards iriSs) as
adopted by the European Unian:

+ the company hirandial statomenss bave een properly prepared m sccordance with Urided Kingaom Geoneally Acceptad Accoontirg
Practice (United Kingdom Accounting Standards. compnsing FRS 101 "Reduced Disclosure Framework”, and applicable lawy and

+ the tnarwal slatements have boen prepared naccordance weh tho requitercies of the Comipanies At 2006 and, as regards the gronp
financia statemenls Article = o the 1AS Regulation,

We have audited the financial statements, included within the Anncal Report. which comprnise: the conscidated and company balance
sheet as at 31 Decamber 2018, the consoldated mcome statement and consoldated statement of comprehensive income. the
consolidated cash flow staternent, and the consolidated and company statements of changes mn equity for the year then ended: and the
notes to the financial staterments. which include a description of the significant accounting policies.

Cur opimien is consistent with our reporting to the Audit Commuittee.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit In accordance wath International Standards on Auditing (UK) ("1SAs (UK])") and applicable law. Our responsibilities
under ISAs (LK) are further described in the Auditars’ responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements section of our report. We
believe that the audit evidence we have obtamned 1z suthcient and appropnate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence

We remainet] independent of the group n accordance with the ethical reguirements that are relevant to our audit of the finanoial staterments
in the UK. which includes the FRC's Ethical Standard, as apphcable to Isted pubhc interest entities, and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsiblities in accordance with these requirements.

lo the biest of our knowledge and belief, we declare that non audit services prohititad by the FRC's Ethical Standard were not provided to
the group or the company.

Other than those disclosad in note 8 to the hnancial statements. we have provided no non-audit services to the group or the company in the
period from 1 January 2018 to 31 December 2018.
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Group financial statements

Independent auditors’ report continued
to the members of Synthomer plc

Our audit approach
Overview

+ Overall group matenalty £6.75 millon (2017 £6.5 millon). based on 5 ¢ of underlyirg profit before taxation.
+ Overall company matenaity: £5.5 million {2017 £5.0 medlion), based on 2% of total assets

+ Auhit procedures provide coverage of 867 of revenue. 87°: of operating prefit and S0% of underly ng
operaing proft,

+ Audit scope covers nine counties, perfarming procedures over 14 entities

+ Finaraially sigriticant components inthe DI Germany and Malaysia

+ Valuation of Definea Benefit Pension Schermies,
+ Accounting tor the acquisition of Pischelsdort,
+ Provisions for Uncertair 1ax Posihons

The scope of our audit

As part of designing our audit, we determined materiality and assessed the nsks of matenal misstatement in the financial statements. In
particular, we locked at where the directors mads subjective judgements, for example in respect of significan accounting estimates that
rwvolved making assumpticns and considerning future events that are inherently uncertan

Capability of the audit in detecting irregulanties, including fraud

Based on our understanding of the groupinaustry, we 1dentified that the principal risks of non compliance with laws and regulations related
o bresches of emaronmertal, health and salety and complance regulations, ard we considered the extent to which non-compharce nig
have & material effect on the financial statements. We atso considered those laws and regulations that have a direct impact on the financial
statements sich as the Comparnies Act 2006, the Listing Boles Pensions legislation, D ax legstiation VK envaronmaental reculations and
the EU registration, evaluation. authonsation and restriction of chemicals regulations and equivalent local laws and regulatans apphcable to
sign heant component leames, We evaluated maragement s neentives and oppottunities for audulent manipuiation of te imancial
staterments ncluding the nsk of ovenide of controlsl, and determined that the principal nsks were related 1o posting napprops ate journal
entres to increase revenue or reduce expenditure. and management bias In accounting estimates. [he group engagement team shared this
risk assessment with the companent auditors referred to in the scoping section of cur report below. so that they could Include appropriate
audit procedures in response to such nsks N ther work. Audit procedures performed by the group engagement team and/or component
auditors included:

+ Discussions with management and internat aucht, ncluding consideration of known or suspected instances of non complance with laws
and regulation and fraud:

+ Dvaluation of managemeant's cantrols designed to prevert and detect regulantes:

+ Challenging assuipticns and judgoen ents made by managesent n ther significant accounting estimates, n pactic ular nrelation to
uncertain tax provisions and accounting for the acauisition of Pischelsdaorf (see related key audit matters below):

+ ldenhiying and teshing journal entnes, in particilar any joumal gntnes posted with unusual gecount combirathons of posted by
senicr management

Ihere are inberent limitatiors in the audit procedures descnbed above and the further removed non compliance with faws and regulations
15 e thes ervestite gocd arisdctions rotected e the fnancal statemonts the less ikely we woulo hecome sware of 1t Also (he sk of not
detecting a material misstatement due to fraud i higher than the nsk of not detecting one resulbng tom error. as fraud may nvolve
delberate concealment by. for example. forgery or intentiotal misrepresentations. or through collusion

We dhd not identify any key audit matters relating to iregulanties, ncludng fraud. As i all of our audits we also addressed the nsk of
management overnde of internal controls, Including testing journate and evaluahing whether tiere was ewdence of Das by the directors that
represented a nsk of wmateral misstatement due o fraud,
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Key audit matters

Kev audit matters are thase matters that. in the audtors’ protessional jJudgement, were of most ssamibcance in the audt of the financial
statements of the current pernod and include the most signiicant assessed nsks of material misstatement fwhether or not due 1o frand)
identified by the auditors, inciuding those which had the greatest effect on: the overal audit strategy: the allocation of resources i the audit
and directing the etforts ot the engagement team. [hese matters. and any comments we make on the results of our procedures thereon.
were addressed In the context of our audit of the tinancial statements as a whote, and in forming our opricn *hereon, and we do not provide
a separate opinion on these matters. Thiss not a complete st of all nsks identfiga by our aucdt,

Key audit matter

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Valuation of Defined Benefit Penslon Schemes

As set out In Note 26 on page 133 the Group has significant
defined benelit pension schemes, These primarly represent the
Yule Catto Group retrement benefits scheme in the UK and an
unfunded scheme in Germany, which account for £52.2 million
and £B69.1 million. respectively, of the net pension deticit of $132.5
million recorded on the Group balance sheet at the year end. We
focused on the pension habilites in particular. as the amounts
reflected in the inancial staterments for defined beneafits schemes
are sensitive o relatively smail changes in a few key assumptions
such as the inflation rate, mortality tables and most notably, the
discount rate applied. The Group uses third party actuares to
calculate the amounts to reflect in the hinancial statements in
respect of these schemes and 1t is accordingty important for us to
2356885 the work they perform and ther competency to undertake
the work in order to conclude on the results of ther work,

We obtained external actuanal reports of the UK and German
schemeas which set out the calculatons and assumptions
uvnderpinning the year end pension scheme valuation. We read these
reparts and were satisfied that the scope of theirr work was such that
we could use this work to provide evidence for the purpose of our
audit. We assessed the competency and objectvty of the external
actuaries commissioned by the Group to perform the year end
calculations by considenng their technical expertise and
ndependence from the Group. We identified no concerns over thesr
competency or objectivity. We used our own specialist actuanal
knowledge o evaluate all the key assumplicns used in each of the two
schemes by comparnng these assumphions to our expectations for
similar schemes as at the year end. We found management's
assumphons to be within an acceptable range.

3JUBUIBAOE) I | 26-041 podes oiBayens
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Accounting for the acquisition of Pischelsdorf

On 31 Janvary 2018 the Group completed the acauisition

ot the BASH Pischelsdort Styrene Butadiene Bubber business
(Pischelsdort) for consideration of £25.8 milicn. as descrbed in
note 31,

I"RS 3 "Business Combinations” "IFRS 37 requires that all assets
and liatiihes acquired in the busingss combxnation are recordedd
at faw values on acguisition. Judgement is reguired in identifying

We evaluated the process used by management to identify and
value the assets and habilities acquited. We assessed the assets
anctligbilities acaured and the fan value adiustments appled,
The farr value adjustments were considered appropnate.

We considered the Directors’ process for identifying the intangible
assels acquired. considering the rationale for the acquisimion and the
nature of the Pischelsdort business. Using our valuation specialists, we
assessed the valughon methodology used by the Directors in valuing

suawRlels [epueuy dnolg

and valuing all the assets and labihes acguired, In particular the identified assets. We evaluated the forecasts and data used and 8
imangible assets which are recognised on acquisition. the key assumplions made. E
Intangitle assets totalling £17.6 milhan were identified relating ta We were satsfied that the fair values of the intangible assets were
customer relationships, a licensing agresment and a benelicial supportable, and that the assumptons uvsed it valuing the assets o
lease. The key Judgements were In deternmining an appropnate were withn an acceptabie range. S
methodology to value these assets and appropriate assumptions, E
incluching foracast revenue and profit, discount rate ard rates of =
obsolescence to determine ther fair values. §
Provisions for Uncertain Tax Positions We used our tax specialists to assess the level of provisions held %
The Group has a wide gecgraphic footprint and 1s subject to a against vanous tax exposures and to conaider the appropnateness of g
range of tax laws in a number of different tax junsdichions. In any provisions. It our assessmant we had regard to the nature of the g
determining the amount to record at the year end for tax babiities  indnadual exposures. including ther ariging and any developments in 3
there 1s an element of judgement as to what amounts will the year to assess the rationale for thew continued vahdity at the @
ultimately be payable for assassed tax exposures. As set out in current year end. As part of this work we inspected correspendence =
Note 10 at 31 December 2018, the Group bas recorded current with tax authorities and the Group’s tax adwvisors. We challenged the b\
tax hatihities totaling £38.3 mullion. A significant elerment of thig judaements made by assessing individual provisions agamst our &
tax lahility relates to uncertain tax posttions. We fecused on this expectations of potential exposures. having regard to the facts of
area due 1o the size of the amourtts involved and level of each case. No significant 1ssues arose from this work 1o suggest that [re—
judgement necded to determing the estimated provisions., the judgernents made and amounts recorded were inapprepriate. Q
H
We deterrmined that there were no key audit matters apphoable to the company to cormmignieate in our report, g:
]
‘:ﬁ
g
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Group financial statements

Independent auditors’ report continued
to the members of Synthomer plc

How we tailored the audit scope

We tailored the scope of our audit to gnsure that we performed enough work to he able fo give an opimon on the tinancial statements as a
whaole, taking into account the structure of the group and the company, the accounting processes and controls, and the industry n which
they cperate.

As set out on the inside front cover the Group reports ts results as two segments: 'Europe and North Amenca' and ‘Asia and the Rest of
the World'. The Group ingncial statements are a consclidation of reparting units. being holding cormpanies. intermediate holding companies
and aperating companies, across 21 countnies, Three countnes, beng the UK, Germany and Malaysia. account for the majonty for the
Group's resuits. We accordingly focused our wark on three of the reporting units in these countries, which were subject to audis of therr
complete inancial infermation. In addihicn, to increase our coverage of the Group's revenues and underlying profit before tax we performed
audit procedures at an additional 11 reporting units located in the UK, Italy. Belgium, Germany. Malaysia, Amenca, Finland. Austiia and the
GCrech Republic. These components accounted for 86% of the Group's revenue, 87% of the Group's operating protit and 90%: of the
Group’s underlying operating profit.

Where work was performed by compeonent additors. we determined the level of involvernent we needed to have 10 the audit work at those
reporting units to be able to conclude whether sufficient appropriate audit evidence had been obtained as a basis for our opinion on the
Group tinancial statements as a whole. 1he key reporting units in the UK, Germany and Malaysia were visited by senior memhers of the
Group team dunng the aucht.

Materiality

The scope of our audt was influenced by cur application of matenality. We set certain guantitative threshalds for materialty. These. together
with qualitative conswierations. helped us to determine the scope of our audr and the nature. tming andg extent of our audit procedures on
the indiwvidual finarcial statement ine items and disclosures and in evaluating the effect of misstatements, both individually and in aggregate
on the financial statements as & whaole,

Based an ouwr protessicnal judgement, we determmed matenalty for the financiat statements as a whole as follows:

Group financial statements Company hnancial statements

Overall materiality £6.75 million (2017: £6.5 million). 5.5 million (2017 £5.0 milhan).

How we determined it 5% of underlying profit before taxation. 20 of total assets.

Raticnale for benchmark applied We believe that underlying profit before tax.  We believe that total assets s the pnmary
hemng profit before tax adjusted for speciat measure used by the sharehoiders in
items. is the principal metric agamst which assessing the performance of the company.,
the Group’s financial perfarmance & anud s g yenerdally autepled Lenchinark, This
measured in the Chairman's and CCO's has been capped at a leve! helow that of the
statements within the Annual Report. groug materialty.

Fur each component in the scope of our group audit. we allocaten a materalty that 1s less than our overali group matenalty. 1he range of
matenahty aliocated across components was between £450.000 and £6.5 milion. Certan components were audited to a locat statutory
audit matenahty that was also less than cur cveral' group matenality.

We agreed with the Audit Committee that we would report to them misstatements identified during our audt above £337.000 (Group audit)
12017 £325,000) and £337.000 (Comparny auditl (2017, £325.000) as well as nussiaternents below those amounts that, in our view.,
warranted reporting for guaktative reasons.
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Going concern

In accordance with ISAs (UK we report as follows:

Reporting obligation Qutcome

We are reqguired to report if we have anything material to add or draw  We have nothing matenal 1o add or to araw attention 1o
attention to In respect of the directors’ statement i the financial

statements about whether the directors considered it apprapriate 1o As not alt future events or condtions can be predicted, this

adopt the going concern basis of accounting in preganng the staternent is not a guarantae as to the Group's and Company’'s akility
financial statements and the directors’ identtication of any material to continue as a gong concern. For example. the terms on which the
uncertainties to the group’s and the company's ability to continue as  United Kingdom may withdraw from the European Unon. whict is

a going concern over a perod of at least twelve months from the currently due to occur on 28 March 2019, are not clear. and 1t 15

date of approval of the financiat statements. difficuit to evatuate ali of the potential implications on the Group's and

Company s trade customers supphers and the widor coonumy.

We are required to report if the drectors’ statement relating to Going  We have nothing to report.
Concern in accordance with Listing Rule 9.8.6R(3) rs materially
nconsistent with our knowledge obtained in the audit.

Reporting on other information

The other infformation comprises all of the infermation N the Annual Report other than the financial statements and our audiors’ report
therecn. The drectors are responsible for the other information. Gur opirmon on the financial statements doeas not cover the other
ntormation and. accordingly, we do not express an audit opinion or, except to the extent otherwise explictly stated in this report,

any form of assurance thereaon.

In connection with cur audit of the financial statements, our responsibility 15 to read the other information and. in doing so. congider whether
the cther information 1s matenally inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge cbtained in the audht, or otherwise appears to
be matenally misstated. If we identify an apparent material nconsistency or material misstatement, we are required to perform procedures
to conclude whether there is a matenal misstatement of the financial statements or a matenal misstatement of the other information. If.
based on the work we have performed. we conclude that there 1s a matenal misstaternent of this other mformation. we are required to report
that fact. We have nothing to report based on these responsibilities.

With respect to the Strategic Pepaort and Directors” Report, we also considered whether the disclosures required by the UK Companes Act
2006 have been includad.

Rased on the responsibilies described above and our work undertaken in the course of the audit, the Companies Act 2006 ({CAQE) 1SAs
UK) and the Listing Rules of the Kinancial Conduct Authority (FCAY reguire Us also 1o report certain opinions and matters as descnbed
below required by 1SAs LK) unless otherwise stated).
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Group financial statements

Independent auditors’ report continued
to the members of Synthomer plc

Strategic Report and Directors’ Report

In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit, the information giver In the Strategic Report and Directors' Report
for the year ended 31 Decembear 2018 15 consistent with the financial staterments and has been prepared in accordance with applicable
legalt requirements, (CAOB)

in Iight of the knowledge and undarstanding of the group and company and ther environment obtained 1 the course of the auddt. we did
not identity any material misstatements in the Strategic Report and Uirectors' Report, {(CAQE)

The directors’ assessment of the prospects of the group and of the principal risks that would threaten the solvency or liquidity of the group
We have nothing material to add or draw attention o regarding:

+ The drectors confinmztion on page G of the Annal Report thiat they have carmed ol & tobust assossiment of the principal nsks tacing
the group, mcluding those that would threaten ts business model, future performance, solvengy or iguidity.

+ 1he disclosures in the Annual Report that descrnbe those risks and explain how they are being managed or mitigated.

+ The directors” explanation on page 37 of the Annual Report as to how they have assessed the prospects of the group. over what penod
they have cdone so and why they consider that penod to be appropriate. and ther statement as to whether they have & reasonabte
expactation that the group will be able 1o continue in operation and meet its labilities as they fall due over the penod of ther assessment.
Inciuchng any related disclosures draving atlentior 1o any necessary gealibcalions o gssurmptions,

We have nothing to repart having pertormed a review of the directors’ statement that they have carried out a robust assessment of the
principal risks facing the group and statement in relation to the longer-term viability of the group. Cur review was substantially less in scope
than an audit and only consisted of making myunes and considering the directars’ process supporting their statements: checking that the
stedements are in alignment with the relevant provsions of the UK Corporate Governance Code (the “Code™); and considernng whether the
statements are consistent with the knowledge and understanding of the group and company and their enviranment obtained s the course
of the audit. {Listing Rules)

Other Code Provisions
We trave nathing to report in respect of our responsibiity to report when:

+ The statement given by the directors. on page 92. that they consider the Annual Report taken as & whole to be fait, balanced and
understandable. and provides the information necessary for the members to assess the group's and company's poshion and
petformance, business modet and strategy s materially mconsistent with our knowledge of the group andt company obtaned m the
course of pertarming our audit,

+ The section of the Annual Report on page 68 descriteng the work of the Audit Committee does not approprately address imatters
communicated by us to the Audt Committee.

+ The dinectors’ statement relating to the company's compliance with the Code does not properly disclose a departure from a relevant
provision of the Code specilicd, under the Listing Rules, fonioview oy the auditors,

Directors' Remuneration

In our opinien, the part of the Lirectors' Remunegration Repaort to be audited has been property prepared in accordance with the Companies

Act 2006, (CADE)

Responsibilities for the financial statements and the audit

Responsibilities of the directors for the financial statements

As explained more fully in the Statement of Directors' Responsibilities. the directors are responaible for the preparation of the financial
statermerts in accordance with the applicable tamework and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view. The directors are also
responsible far such internal control as they determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial staterments that are free from
material misstaternent, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparng the financial statements. the directors are rasponsible for assessing the group's and the company's ability to continue as
a gomng concearn, disclosing as applicable, matters related to gong concern and vsing the gaing concern basis of accounting unless
the directors either intend to guidate the groug or the company or 1o cease operafions. or have no realistic atemnative but 1o 0o 5.
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Auditors' responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Our objectives are to obtan reasonable assurance about whether the tinancial staterments as a whole are free from matenal migstatement.
whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors” report that includes our epinion. Reasonable assurance 1 a high level of assurance.
but s not & guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with 1SAs (UK) wilk always detect a matena! misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arse from fraud or error and are considered matenal f individually or in the aggregate, they could reascnably be
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

A further description of our respansibilities for the audit of the himancial statements 1s ocated on the | RC s website at:
wwivwnirc.org.ukaaditorsrespansibilibes. This descripticn forms part of our auditors” report.

Use of this report

Thus report. including the opimons. has been prepared for and only for the company’s members as a body n accordance with Chapter 3 of
Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006 and for no other purpose. We do not. in giving these opnions. accept or assume responstilty for any
other purpose of 1 any other person to whom this report 15 shown or into whose hands 1t may come save where expressly agreed by our
prigr consent in writing.

Other required reporting
Companies Act 2006 exception reporting
Under the Comparmes Act 2008 we are required to report 1o you if. In our cpinion:

+ we have not received all the mformation and explanations we reqguire for our audrt; or

+ adequate accounting records have not been kept by the company, or returns adequate for our audit have not been recewved from
branches not visited by us: or

+ cortan disclosures of ducctors remuneration specificd by law are nat made: or

+ the company hranaal statemens and the parl of the Directors’ Bemuneration Beport o be aud tod arc nol i agroamest waith the
accounting records and returns.

We have no exceptions to report arising from this responsitility.

Appointment

Following the recommendation of the audit committee, we were appointed by the directors on 12 July 2012 to audit the financial statements
for the year ended 31 December 2012 and subsequent financial periods. |he penod of total uninterrupted engagsment 15 7 years. covering
the years ended 31 December 2012 to 31 December 2018,

Matthew Mullins (Senior Statutory Auditor)

for and on behalf of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditors
Lendon

4 March 2019
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Group financial statements

Consolidated income statement
for the year ended 31 December 2018

2018 2017
Underlying Special Underlying Special
performance Items IFRS performance fterms. IFRS
Note £m £m £m £m m £m
Continuing operations
Revenue 1,618.9 - 1,618.9 1.480.2 1,480.2
Company and subsidiaries belore Special tems 141.7 - 141.7 138.0 - 1380
Restructuring and site closure 3 - [12.2) (12.2) - 116) [11.8)
Sale of business 3 - 3.8 3.8
Sale of land 3 - 16.4 16.4 1.3 1.3
Acouisition costs 3 - {0.5) (0.5) 2.3 12.3)
Amortisation of acquired intangibles 3 - {16.4) {16.4) - 131.0) 131.0)
Aborted bond costs 3 - 1.7} (1.7) -
UK Guaranteed Mimmum Pension equalisation 3 - (2.8} {2.8} -
Company and subsidiaries 141.7 13.4) 128.3 138.0 143.6) 91.4
Share of joint ventures 19 0.4 - 0.4 1.0 1.0
Operating profit/(loss) 7 1421 {13.4) 128.7 139.0 43.6) 95.4
Interest payable 9 (4.9) - {4.9) 5.7} - 15.7)
Interest recevable g 1.1 - 1.1 1.0 1.0
Far value of unhedged interest dernvatives 3 - (1.4) {1.4) - -
{3.8) {1.4) 5.2) 4.7 4.7)
1AS 19 interest charge 9 (3.2) - (3.2) (4.3) 4.3
Finance costs (7.0) (1.4) {8.4) (9.0 - 19.0)
Profit/(loss) before taxation 135.1 {14.8) 120.3 130.0 {(43.5) 26.4
Taxation 10 (23.0) 6.0 {17.0) (24.7) 13.1 111.6)
Profit/(loss) for the year 112.1 {8.8) 103.3 105.3 30.5) 7.8
Profit attributable to non-controlling interests 0.5 3.0 3.5 0.8 0.2
Profitfless) attributable to eguity holders of the parent 111.6 {11.8) 99.8 104.5 {30.5) 74.0
1124 (8.8) 103.3 105.3 {30.5) 74.8
Earnings/(loss) per share
Gasic 13 32.8p (3.4)p 29.4p 30.7p 18 9P 21.8p
- Diluted 13 32.7p {3.5)p 29.2p 30.5p (8.9p 21.6p
Consolidated statement of comprehensive income
for the year ended 31 December 2018
2018 2017
Equity Non- Equity Non-
holders of controlling holders of controtng
the parent interests Total the parent nterests Total
Nole £m £m £m £m £m m
Profit tor the year 99.8 3.5 103.3 74.0 0.8 748
Actuarial gans 26 15.5 - 15.5 236 23.6
Tax relating to components of other comprahensive income 10 (2.3) - {2.3) 2.3 - 23
Total tems that will not be reclassified to profit or loss 13.2 - 13.2 258 259
Exchange differences on translation of foreign onerations 16.9 0.8 17.7 gz Q.2
Lxchange differences recycled on sale of business (0.4) - (0.4} -
Farr value of hedged interest denvatives {3.9) - (3.9)
Losses on a hadge of a net investment taken W equity {3.2) - (3.2) {/.8) 7.8
Total itemns that may be reclassified subsequently
to profit or loss 9.4 0.8 10.2 1.4 1.4
Other comprehensive income for the year 226 0.8 23.4 27.3 27.3
Total comprehensive income for the year 122.4 4.3 126.7 101.3 0.8 102,
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Consolidated statement of changes in equity
for the year ended 31 December 2018

Hedging
Capital and Non-
Share Share demption tr lat Retained controlling Total
capital premium reserve reserve eamings Total interests equity
Note £m £m £m £m fm £m £m £m
At 1 January 2018 34.0 230.5 0.9 (3.0 125.5 387.9 18.3 406.2
Profit for the year - - - - 99.8 99.8 3.5 103.3
Actuanal gams 26 - - - - 15.5 15.5 - 15.5
Exchange ditferences on
translation of foreign operations - - - 16.9 - 16.9 0.8 17.7
Exchange differences recycled an
sale of business - - - {0.4) - (0.4) - {0.4)
I air valug of hedaed interest
derwatives - - - (3.9) - {3.9) - {3.9)
Loss on a hedge of a net
nvestrment taken to eguity - - - (3.2} - {3.2) - (3.2)
Tax relating to components of
ather comprehensive INcome 10 - - - - {2.3) {2.3) - (2.3)
Total comprehensive
income for the year - - - 9.4 113.0 122.4 4.3 126.7
Dividends paid to sharehalders 12 - - - - {42.5) {42.5) - {42.5)
Dividends paid to
nan cantrolling interests - - - - - - (1.5) {1.5)
Share-based payments - - - - {3.9) (3.9) - {3.9)
At 31 December 2018 34.0 230.5 09 6.4 192.1 463.9 211 485.0
Hedging
Capital ang Non-
Share Share redemption translation Retained cortrolling Total
capital prermium reserve reserve earnings Total Iinterests equity
Note £m £m £m m £m £m £m £m
At 1 January 2017 34.0 230.5 0.9 {4.4) 65.2 326.2 18.0 314.2
Profit for the year - - 74.0 1.0 08 74.8
Actuanal gains 26 B - 23.6 23.8 23.6
Exchange differences an
transiabion of foreign operations - 9.2 a.2 9.2
Loss on a hedge of a net
irvestrment taken to eguity 7.8 {7.8) 7.8
Tax relatmg o components of
other comprehensive ingome 10 - - 2.3 2.3 - 2.3
Total comprehensive
ingome for the year - 1.4 94,9 1G1.3 0.8 1021
Divtdends paid to shareholders 12 - 139.1) {39.1) {391}
Dividends paid to
non controlhing interesty - - 0.5} 0.5)
Share-based payments - - 10.5) 10.5) 0.5}
At 31 December 2017 34.0 230.58 0.9 13.0) 125.5 367.9 18.3 406.2
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Group financial statements

Consclidated balance sheet
as at 31 December 2018

2018 2017
Note £m £m

Non-current assets
Gaochll 15 336.5 3260
Acguired intangible aszets 18 69.1 66.2
Othgr intangible assets 17 51 19
Property. plant and eguipment 18 370.0 3221
Deferred tax agsets T 23.4 23.3
Investment in joint ventures 19 8.6 7.5
Total non-current assets 812.7 7501
Current assets
Inventones 20 141.9 1261
Trade and other receivables 21 232.9 2281
Cash and cash eguivalents 22 86.9 896
Total current assets 471.7 443.8
Assets classified as held for sale 24 - 6.8
Total assets 1,284.4 1,200.7
Current liabilities
Borrowings 22 {70.1) {73.1)
Trade and other payables 25 {263.2) (279.3;
Current tax lability 10 {38.3) 140.2)
Prowisions for other labintes and charges 27 {9.4) 12.4)
Dervatives at fair vafueg 23 (5.3) -
Total current liabilities {386.3) 1395.00
Non-current liabilities
Borrowings 7 (240.8) 1e7.0)
Trade and other payables 25 0.7 2.3)
Defarred tax hatulity " {34.3) 135.4)
Post retirermeant benetit obhgations 26 {132.5) [167.2)
Pravisions for other habilities and charges 27 {4.8) 7.6
Total non-current liabilities {413.1) 1399.5)
Net assets 485.0 406.2
Equity
Called up share capital 28 34.0 34.0
Share premeum 230.5 230.5
Capttal redemption reserve 0.9 09
Hedging and ranstalion reserve 6.4 13.00
Retaned earrngs 192.1 1255
Equity attributable to equity holders of the parent 463.9 387 9
Non-controlling interests 21.1 18.3
Total equity 485.0 406.2

Ihe financial staterments on pages 100 1o 144 were approved by the Board of Directors and authorsed tor Issue on 4 March 2019, They are
signed on its behall by:

C G MacLean S G Bennett
Director Director
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Consolidated cash flow statement 5
for the year ended 31 December 2018 §
2018 2017
Note £m £m £m £m
Operating
Cash generated from operations 29 1249 162.6 g
Interest raceved i1 1.0 &
Interest pad (5.6) 15.8 I
Net interest paid (4.5) 14 8y [rs—
UK corporation tax paid - B o
Oversaas corporate tax paid {23.0) 26.1) §
Total tax paid (23.0) 126.1) g
Net cash inflow from operating activities 97.4 131.7
Investing
Dividends received from joint ventures 19 11 2.0
Purchase of property. plant and equipment (75.7) 160.3)
Sale of property. plant and equipment 17.5 2.2
Net capital expanditure (58.2) 158.1) ‘f
Purchase of business 3 (25.8) 64.1) o
Proceeds trom sale of business 32 3.7 7.6 —
Net cash outflow from investing activities (79.2) (112.6) o
Q
Financing i
Ordinary dividends paid 12 {42.5) 39.1) §
Dividends paid to non controling interests (1.5) 10.5) ﬂﬂI
Settlerment of eguity settled share-based payments (5.4) 3.1 ;":
Repayment of borrowings 30 (63.5) 102.0) %
Proceeds of borrowings 30 103.9 138.3 -
Net cash outflow from financing activities 9.0) 18.4)
0
(=]
Increase in cash, cash equivalents and bank overdrafts during the year 92 30.7 §
Cash, cash equivalents and bank overdrafts at 1 January 30 65.4 52.0
O
Cash {outflows)/inflows g
Cash and cash eguivalents 30 5.6 28 5} g
Bank overdrafts 30 3.6 38.2 é”
9.2 10.7 3
Foreign exchange and other movernents 3Q 16 2.7 §
Cash, cash equivalents and bank overdrafts at 31 December 30 76.2 65.4 ?a"
g
&
Reconciliation of net cash flow from operating activities to movement in net borrowings g
2018 2017 ——
Note £m tm p—
Met cash inflow from operating activities 97.4 131.7 g
Add back: dividends recened from soint ventures 19 11 2.0 2
Less: net capital expendituie (58.2) 58 1) %
Less: net purchase of business (22.1) i56.5) 3,
18.2 191 3
Ordinary dividends paic 12 (42.5) 39.1)
Dividends paid to non contralling interasts (1.5) 10.5)
Settlement of eguity-settied share based payments (5.4) 3.1
I ereign exchange and other maoverments 30 (2.3) 6.6) &
Increase in net borrowings 30 (33.5) 130.2) g
o
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Group financial statements

Notes to the consolidated financial statements
31 December 2018

1 General information
Synthomer plc 15 a publc Imited company incorporated and domscded in the United Kingdom under the Companies Act. 1he address of the
registered othice is given an page 160, The Company s listed on the London Stock Exchange

The consohdated financial statements are prepared In pounds sterling tunctional currency of the parent companyt, Foreign operationg are
included i accorgance with the policies set out i note 2.

New and amended standards adopted by the Group
The Group has applied the following standards and amendrments for the first tirne for the annual reparting pened commenaing 1 January 2018,

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments

IFRS 9 replaced 1AS 39 Financial Instruments: Becognibion and Measurement. It adaresses the classification, measurement and
de-recognition of financial assets and fmancial habilities, introduces new rules for hedge accounting and a new impairment model for
hinancial assets. This standard is mandatory for financial years commencing on or after 1 January 2018,

The adoption ot RS 2 did not have a matenal impact on the armounts recagmsed 0 the current penod or the pnor perod and it 16 not
expected to signiicantty Impact future periods. The Group has chosen to continue to apply the hedge accounting reguirements of 1IAS 39
as permitted by the standard.

IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers

The IA5EB issued a new standard for the recognition of revenue which 1 mandatory for financial years commencing on or after 1 January
2018, This replaced JAS 18 which covered contracts for goods and services and JAS 11 which covered construction contracts. The new
standard 15 based on the principle that revenue 1s recognised when performance obligations are met and control of goods or services
transters to a customer, The standard apples a five step approach to the timing of revenue recognition.

The adoption of IFRS 15 did not have a material impact on the amounts recognsed in the current penod or the prior pencd and 1t 1s not
expected to significantly impact future perods.

New standards and interpretations not yet adopted

Certain new accounting standards and iMerpretations have been published that are not mandatory for the 31 December 2018 reporting
penod and have not been eatly adopted by the Group, The Group's assessment of the impact of these new standards and interpretations
set out below:

IFR3 16 Leases

IFRS 16 was isauechin January 2018, [or lassees, it will result in almost al leases beng recognised an the balance sheet. as the distinction
between operating and finance leases 15 removed. Under the new standard, an asset (the nght to use the leased iterm) and a financial
liability to pay rentals are recagrised. The only exceptions are short term and low valug leases. This standard s mandatary for financial
years commencing on or after 1 January 2018,

Ihe standard will prumanly affect the accounting for the Group's operating leases. and the Group has undertaken a review to identify all
leases 0 each enbty. As at the reporting date. the Group has non- cancellable operating lease commitrnents of £30.4m (see note 348

Work has now been carried out to determine the financial impact on adoption of this accounting standard as at 1 January 2019, Using the
rmdified retrospective method of adoption the Group expects to recognize nght-of Jse assets and corresponding lease habilities of
approximately £43m. The approximate impact will e anncrease 1o EBITDA of £7m. anincrease to depreciation of £68m and an increase to
interest payable to gve a nil impact on profit betore taxation in the year ending 31 December 2019,

There are no other standards that are not yet effective and that would be expected 10 have a matenal impact on the entity i the curnrent or
future reporting perods and on foreseesable future transactions

2 Significant accounting policies

Basis of accounting

Ihese financial statements have been prepared Ir accordance with International Bnancial Beporting Standards |IF R3] as adopted by the
European Umon (Il R3s as adopted by the LU IFRS Interpretations Committee and the Companies Act 2006 applicable to companies
reporting under 1 RS, The financia! statements have been prepared on the histonical cost basis, éxcept for the revaluaton of inancial
mstruments at far value through the Income Statement. As discussed 0 the Report of the Directors an page 91, the financial statements
have been prepared on a going concern basis. 1he pnncipal accounting bolcies adopted are set aut below and have Been cansistently
appled o all the vears preseated, unless otherwise stated

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated inancial statements mcorporate e fimancial statements of the Company and entities contrulled by the Company

pts subsidhares; made e to 37 December gach yesr, Contren s achieved whare the Company © exposed. or has nghts, to variable returns
from s imvolvement wih the investee and has the atility to affect those returns through ts power over the nvastee
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The results of subsidianies acguired or disposed of duning the year are :ncluded 1N the consolidated income staterment from the effective
date of acquisition cr up to the effectve date of disposal, as appropriate. Where necessary, adiustnrents are made 10 the financial
staternents of subsidiares o bring the accounting pelcies used Nto ine wih those used by the Groun.

The results of joint ventures are accounted for using equity accourting.

Non-controling interests in the net assets of consokcated subsidiaries are identifiea separately from the Group's eauity theren.
Nen contioling interests consist of the amount of those interests at the date of the oniginal business combination see below) and the
non controling interest's share of changes in eqguity since the date of combination,

All ntra-group transactions, balances, ncome and expenses are eliminated on consehdation,

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on consolidation represents the excess of the cost of acquisition over the Group's interest N the fair value of the identifiable
assetls and labilities of a subsidiary. asgociate or joint venture at the date of acquisition. Goodwill is recognised as an asset and reviewed for
impairment at least annually. Any impairment is recognised immediately in the consolidated income statement and s not subsequently reversed.

Should the fair value of the identifiable assets exceed the cost of acquisition. a "Bargain purchase’, the excess 1s crechited to the income
staterment immediately on acqursition.

For the purpose of impairment testing goodwill s allocated to each of the Groun's cash generating units expected to beneft from the
synergies of the combination. Cash generating unis to which goodwill has been allocated are tested for imparment annually. or more
frequently when there 1s an indication that the umit may be impaired. If the recoverable amount of the cash generating unit 1s less than the
carrying amount of the unit, the imparment logs is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwali allocated to the unit and
then to the other assels of the unit pro-rata on the basis of the carrying amount of each asset in the unit,

Should the fair vaiue of tha identfiable assets exceed the cost of acquisition. the excess s credited to the income statement immediately
on acgustion

Cn disposal of & subsichary, associate or joint venture, the attnbutable amount of goodwill 1s mcluded in the determination of the profit or
Ioss on digposal,

Goodwill arising on acquisitions before the date of transition to IFRS has been retained at the previous UK GAAP amounts subject to being
tested for impairment at that date. Goodwil written off to reserves under UK GAAP prior 1o 1838 has not been renstated and is not included
in deterrmining any subsequent probt or loss on disposal.

Business combinations

Acguisitions of subsidianes and businesses are accounted for using the acguistion method. The consideration for each acyuisiion s
measured at the aggregate of the far values (at the date of completion) of assets given, labitties incurred or assumed, and equity instruments
issued by the Group n exchange tor control of the acquired entity. Acqguisition-related costs are recognised in the profit or loss as incurred

The identfiabile assets, labiites and contingent kabilities of the acguired entity that meet the conditions for recogniticn under IFRS 3 (2008)
are recognised at then fair value at the acquisition date. except that:

+ deferred tax assets or liabilities are recognised and measured in accardance with 1AS 12 Income Taxes;

+ habilties or assels relaed to employee beneht arangements werecognized g o meastred i aceodance with 1AS 19 Bmployes Fenedi-
and

+ assets or disposal groups) thal 2re clas=imed as hald for =ate 1 accordance with [ RS 5 Non-Copent Assets Haold tor Sale and
Discontmued Operatons are measured in accordance with that standard.

It the mwhial accounting for a businese combination is incomplete by the end of the reporting penod in which the combination ccours, the
Group reports provisional amaunts for the items for which the accounting s incomplete. These provisional amaunts are adjusted dunng
the measurement period (see below). or additonal assets or labilties are recognised. to reflect new informahion obiamed about facts anc
circumstances that existed as of the acquisihon date that, it known, would have affected the amounts as of that date.

The measurement penod s the penad from the date of acquisitton to the date the Group olstains complete information about facts and
circumstances that existed as of the acquistion date. and is subject to a maximum of ang year.

T the business combmation s achisved in stages, the acquishion date carryimg valug of the acauwrer’s previously held investment s
1e measured to tar value at the acouishion date; any gans or losses frum such re-measurement are recogn sed in the mcome staterment.
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Group financial statements

Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued
31 December 2018

2 Significant accounting policies continued

Acquired intangible assets

Intangible assets acquired through acquisition are measured at their faur valire ana are amortised on a straight Iine basis over ther estimated
useful lives. on the following bases:

Customer relatonships between 5 and 15 years
Other intangibles - upto 10 years

Assets with an indetinite lite are not sebject to amortisation.
Where necessary the far value at acquisition and estimated useful lives for these intangible assets are based on independent valuation reports.

Other intangible assets
Other intangible assets that are not acguired through a business combynation are nitally measured at cost and amortised on a straight-line
pasis over then estimated useful lives of between 3 and 5 years,

Annternally generated intangible asset ansing from the Group's product development 1s recognised only if all of the following conditions in
IAS 38 are met:

+ an assel s created thal can be separately ientiied (such as software and new processes)

+ It 1s technically feasible to complete the asset;

+ management intends to complete the development;

+ there is an ability to use or sell the asset once development has been completed:

+ 1115 probable that the asset crcated will generaia future economic henefits

+ adecuate lechmeal, inancial acd other resotrces to complete the development are ava lable; and
+ the development cost of the asset can be measured reliably.

Where no internally generated ntangible asset can be recognised. development expenditure 1s recogrised as an expense in the period in
which itis incurred.

Property, plant and equipment

Property. plant and equipment 1s stated at cost. net of accumulated depreciation and any provision for imparment. Cost comprnses onginal
purchase price and the costs attributable to bringing the asset to its working condition for its ntended use. including. where appropriate,
capitalised finance costs. [ xcept for freshold land. which 1s not depreciated. the cost of property, plant and equipment is depreciated on &

straght line basis aver ts eapected useful Iife as follows.

Freshold buildings S0 years

Leasehold land and culdings the lesser of 50 years and the period of the lease
Plant and equipment - between 3 and 10 yems

Asszets In the course of construction are not depreciated untl the assets are ready for ther intendedt use,

Impairment of property, ptant and equipment and intangible assets excluding goodwill

At each balance sheet date. the Group reviews the carrying amounts of ts plant, property and eguipment and intangible assets to determne
whether there 15 any mdication that those assets have subered an mpairment loss. If any such indication exists, the recoveratile amount of the
asset 1s estimated in order to determine the extent of the imparrment loss (f any) Where the asset does not generate cash flows that are
ndependent trom other assets, the Group estimates the recoverabite amount of the cash generating unit to which the asset belongs,

The tecoverable amount 1 the igher of fair value less costs to sell and valug i1 use. In assesaing value In use, the estimated future cash
flaws are chscounted 1o therr present value using a pre tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time valug of
money and the rsks specific to the asset for which the estimates of future cash fluws have not been adpusted.

If the recoverable amount of ar asset [or cash gererating unity s estubnted o be less than its carying amount. the carrying amount of
the asset (or cash generating unity 15 reduced 10 g recoverable amaount. Animpairment loss 1 recogrised in the income statement.

When animparment loss subsequently reverses, the cartying amount of the asset jor cash generating unit) 1s Ncreased to the revised
estimate of its recoverable amount to the extent that the increased canying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that woulo have
been determined had no impanrment lass beenrecognised in pnon years A reversal of an impairment luss s recognised immmediately 1n the
meoie staterment,
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Joint ventures

Jomnt ventures are accounted for using the equity method. Under the equity methiod of account ng. interests in ot veatures are nially
recoanised at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group's share of the post-acguisiion profits or losses and movemnents in other
comprehensive Income.

Leases

Leases In which a significant portion of the risks and rewards of ownership are not transterred to the Group as the lessee are classified as
operating leases. Payments made under operating leases inet of any Incentives rgceived fram tha lessor are charged to profit or loss on &
straght-line bas:s over the penod of the lsage.

Inventories

Inveniones are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cast comprses direct materials and. where applicable. direct labour
costs and those overheads that have been incurred In bringing the inventories to their present location and condition, Cost 1s calculated
using the weighted average methaed. Net realisable value represents the estimated selling price less alt estimated costs of completion and
costs to be incurred in marketing. selling and distribution. Provision 1s made tor obsclete. slow moving or defective items where appropriate.

Financial instruments
Financial assets and financial habilities are recogrised on the Group’s balance sheet when the Group becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the instrument.

Loans and receivables

Trade recelvables

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for goods sold in the ordinary course of business. They are generally short term in
nature and are therefore classified as current assets and therr fair value recognised at the consideration due. The carrying value of trade
1ecenables are considered to be the same as ther far values, due to ther short-term nature. Appropriate allowances for estimated
Irrecoverable amounts are recognised in the income statement based on expected losses

All trade receivables that are factored by third parties are done s0 on a non recourse basis. At the point ot factoring, the Group forteits the
right to future cash flows from these receivables and those amounts are derecognised. The cost of factoring receivables 1s recognised as a
finance cost in the pericd in which the recerable is factored.

Amortised bank borrowings

Interest bearing bank foans and overdrafts are recorded at the proceeds received net of direct issue costs. Fnance charges. including
premiums payable on settlement or redernption and direct 1ssue costs, ate accounted for on an acoruals basis to the income statement
using the effective interest method and are added to the carrying amount of the instrument to the extent that they are not settted in the
period In which they anse.

Trade payables

Irade payables are generally short-term in nature and are theretore classified as curtent labilities. [ney are recognised inmially at thenr fair
value and subsequently measured at amornsed cost using the effective nterest rate method. The carrying value of trade payables are
constdered to be the same as ther far values. due to their short-term nature.

Impairment of financial assets

At each balance sheet date. the Group revigws the carrying amounts of its financial assets to determing whether there is any indication that
those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists. the recoverabile amount of the asset 1s estimated in order to
determime the extent of the impairment loss 6f any)

Finance costs

Fnance costs of debt are recognised in the iIncome statement over the term of such nstruments at an effective interest rate on the carrying
amount. Mnance costs that are directly attinbutable to the construction of property. plant and equipmert are capitalised as pait of the cost
of those assets in accordance with 1A5 23,
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Group financial statements

Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued
31 December 2018

2 Significant accounting policies continued

Foreign currencies

In preparng the financial statements ot the ndmdual companies. transachons in currencies other than the entity's tunctional currency are
recorded at the rates of exchange prevailing on the dates ot the transachons. At each balance shieet date. monetary assets and habilities
that are denominated n foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing on the balance sheet date. Non monetary assats and
habhties carned at fan value that are denuminated in foreign currenclas are translated at the rates prevailing at the date when the fan value
was determined. Non moenetary items that are measured in terms of histoncal costin a foreign currency are not retranslated.

In order to hedge its exposure to certain foreign exchange risks. the Group enters mto forward contracts (see below for details of the
Group’s accounting policies in respect of such dervative financial instrurments).

On consolidabon, the assets and Labdmes of the Group's overseas operations are tranglated at exchange rates prevailing on the balance
sheet date. Income and expense items are transiated at the relevant average exchange rates for the penod. Exchange ditferences ansing.
it any, are classified as equity and transferred to the Group's translation reserve Such fransiation differences are recognised in the incorme
statement in the penod in which the operation s disposed of,

Goodwill ahd far value adjustments ansing on the acquistion of a forelgn entity are treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign entity and
translated at the closing rate. The Group elected to treat goodwilt and far value adjustrments ansing on acquisitions before the date of
transition tg IFRS as sterlng-denominated assets and liablities.

Derivative financial instruments
Ihe use of financial denvatives is governed by the Group's policies approved by the Board of Directors. which provide written principles on
the use of financial derivatives, as set out in note 23.

The Group enters into a vanety of denvative financial nstruments to manage its exposure ta mterest rate and foreign eéxchange rate rsk.
including foreign exchange forward contracts, interest rate swaps and foreign currency options.

Derivatives are inihially recognised at far valus at the date a derivative contract 1s entered mto and are subsequently remeasured to their
fair vatue at each balance sheet date. A dervative with a positive tar valug 1s 1ecognised as a finanocial asset whereas a denvative with o
negative tair value 1s recognised as a iinancial labilty. 1he resulting gain or lass is recognised in thée ncome staternent immediately unless
the derivative 1s designated and etfective as a hedging instrument, 1N which event the timing of the recognition in e income statement
depends on the nature of the hedge relationship. The Group designates certain dervalives as either hedges of highly probable forecast
transactions or hedges of foreign currency risk of irm commitments (cash tiow hedges), or hadges of net investments in foreign operalions

Hedge accounting
The Grouw designates certain hedging instrurments, which include dernvatives. embedded derivatives and non derivatives in respect of
foreign currency risk as far value hedges, cash flow hedges or hedges of net investments i foreign operations

Fair value hedges

Changes in the fair value of dervatwes that are designated and qually as fair value hedges are recorded N the Income statement, together
with any changes n the tar value of the hedged assats or abilmes that are attnbutable to the hedged sk, The Group only applies far value
hadge accounting tor foreign currency exposure associated with the underiying hedged itemn. [he gain or loss relating 1o the inetfective
portion s also recognised in the ncome statement.

Cash flow hedges

At the inception of the hedge relatonstip the entity documents the relatonship between the hedging nstrument and the hedged iterm, aiong
with its risk management objoctives and its strategy for undertaking various hedge transactions, Furthermore, at the nception of the hedge
and on an ongoing basis. the Group documents whether the hedging instrumert that s used in a hedging relationshi s aghly effectve i
otfsetting changes in cash flows of the hedged item

1he effective portion of changes in the far value of dervatives that are designated and gualify as cash flow hedges are deferigd in equity.
The gain or lnss retating to the nettective portion @ recognised immediately in the income statement.

Amounts deferred in squity are recycled in the ncome statemient in the periods when the hedged item s recogrised « protit or lass. i the
sane Ine of the Income statement as the recagnised hedgead item. However, when the forecast transaction that 18 hedged results in the
recognition of a non financial asset or a non finarcial bability, the gang and losses previously deferred in equity are transferred from equity
and ncluded in the nmal measurement of the cost of the non tinancial asset or nos tinancial liability.

Heoge accountng is discontinued when the Grogp revekes the hedging relationship. the hedging Instrument expres or 1s sold. terminated.
or exercised, o no longer gqualifies for hedge accounting. Any cumulative gan o loss deferred in equity at that trme remans in equity ancl i
recognised when the tarecast transaction s ultimately recogrised i profit or loss When a forecast transaction s no longer expected to
actur, the cumulative gain or [0ss that was defened in equity 15 recognised immediately in profil or oss.
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Hedges of net investments in foreign operations

Hedges of net investments 10 fore.gn operations are accounted for similarly to cash flow hedges. Any gain or 1oss on the hedging instrument
relating to the effective portion of the hedge 1s recognised Ip equity in the foreign currency translation reserve. The gan or loss relating to the
neftective portion s recognised immediately in the income statement.

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents includes cashin hana. deposits held at cal. with banks which become fully iguid wathin three months or less and
other short-term hughly bguid investments wvath ongmal maturties of three months or less.

Taxation
The tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and delerred tax.

The tax currently payable 1s hased on taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from net profit as reported in the income statement
because it excludes items of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and it further excludes items that are never
taxable or deductible. The Croup's habity for current tax s calculated using tax rates that have been snacted or substantively enacted by
the balance sheet date.

Deferred tax s the tax expected to be payable or recoverable on differences between the carrying amaounts of assets and labilties in the
financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit and 1s accoeunted for using the balance sheet
liability method. Deferred tax labilities are generally recagnised far all taxable temporary differences and defercea tax assets are recognised to
the extent that it 1s probable that taxable profits will be available aganst which deductible temporary differences can be utiised.

Deferred tax habilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences arnising on investments in subsidianes and associates. and nterests
in joint ventures. except where the Group s able to control the reversal of the temporary difference and s prabable that the termporary
difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each balance sheet date and reduced to the extent that it 1s no longer probable
that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax 13 caloulated at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period when the lability i3 settled ar the asset s reahsed.
Deferred tax 1s charged or credited in the income statement, except whan it relates to items charged or credited directly Lo equity, in which
case the deferred tax is also dealt with in equity.
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Deferred income tax assets and habiities are offset when there 1s a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets aganst current tax b
habilties and when the deferred income tax assets and liabilties relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on erther the -E
taxable entity or different taxabie entities where there 15 an intention to settle the balances on a net basis.

. . e
Retirement benefit costs o
Current and past service costs In respect of the Group's defined benefit pension schemes are charged to the consolidated income g
statement. Payments to detined contribution retirement benetit schemes are charged 1o the income statement as they fall due. Actuanal ]
gains on the defined benefit schemes are recognised in full In each period in which they occur. They are recognised outside of the 2
consolidated income statement and are presented in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income H

2
The liability recognised in the balance sheet m respect of defined benefit pension plans s the present value of the defined banetit obligation %
at the end of the reporting period less the farr value of plan assets. The defined benefit abligation 15 calculated annually using the projected )
unit credit method. The present value of the defined benehit obligation 1s determined by discounting the estmated future cash outflows 3
using interest rates of high-quality corporate bonds that are dencminated in the currency in which the benetits will be paid, and that have Z
terms to matunty approximating to the terms of the related pension obligation. N
5
The UK defined benefit scheme is funded. with the assets ot the scheme held separately fram those of the Group, in separate trustee- g’n‘
admiristered funds. For the German schemes. the assets are included within the assets of the respective companies. as permitted under
local laws. The assets of the other overseas schemes are held separately from those of the Group. ——
e
o
[
5
g
3
2
=
a
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o
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Group financial statements

Notes to the censolidated financial statements continued
31 December 2018

2 Significant accounting policies continued

Provisions

Prowvisions for restructunng costs are recognised when the Group has a detalled formal plan for the restructucng that has been
communicated to alfected parties

Revenue recognition
Revenue is measured at the far value of the consideration recenved or recevable and represents amounts recevatle for goods provided in
the normal course of busingss net of discounts, VAL and other sales related taxes

Revenue is recognised wrder the provisions of [FRS 15 when performance obligations are met and control of the goods passes to
the customer,

Share-based payments
The Group has applied the reguiremients of IF RS 2 Share based Payments.

The Group ssues equity settled share based payments to certain emploveas. Equity settled share-based payments are measured at
fair value at the date of grant. The fair value determined at the grant date of the equity settied share based payments 1s expensed on a
straight ine basis over the vesting penod. The Group will on ogcasion, at its own discretion, settle the share based payments in cash
rather than eguity

Definitions
Operating profit
Operating profit represents profit from continuing activities before financing costs and taxation.

EBITDA
LBITDA 15 calculated as operating profit betore depreciation, amortisation and Special Items fas defined below),

Special tems
The follewing are disclosed separatély 85 Special tems in arder to pravide a clearer indication of the Gropp's underlying perfarmance:

+ Re structuning and site closure costs:

+ Sale at a husiness or significant asseh

+ Acguistion costs;

+ Amartisation of acquired ntangible assets:

+ Impairment of non current assets;

+ Fair value adustment  mark to market adjustiments in respect of cross currency and interest rate dernvatives used for hedging puiposes
wherg |AS 39 hedge accounting 1s not applhed:

+ ltems of ncome and expense that are considered maternal, either by their size and/or nature;

+ Tax impact of above tems: and

+ Settlement of prior panod tax issues.

These Special tems are etther inregular and thersfore mcluding them in the assessmernt of a segment’s performance would lead to a
distortion of trends or are technical adjustments which ensure the Group's financial statements are in compliance with IFRS but do not
refiect the operating performance of the segment in the yvear,

Underlying performance
Underlying performance represents the statutory performance of the Group under iF RS, excluding Special ltems,

Net cash/{borrowings)

Net cash-borrowings) reptesents cash and cash egquivalents less shost and long term bonowings, as adusted for the effect of related
dernvative iInstruments. imespective of whether they guabfy for hedge accounting. non recourse tactornng arrangements and the inclus:on of
financial assets.

Critical accounting judgements and estimates

Ihe following provides infermation on thoae polices that management considers critical because of the level of judgement and estimation
reguined which often involves assumptions regarding future events which can vary rom what s antioipated  The directors believe that the
financia! statements reflect appropniate jludgements and estimates and provide a frue and fair view of Synthomer's performance and
financia’ position

Valuation of gocdwill and intangibles On acauisition

Acquired mtangiles It RS 3 revised) "Busmess Conbinations” reguires that goodwall ansing on the acausihon of subsidaves s capitalsen
and included in intangible assets, I BS 3 revised; also requites the identification of other ntangible assets at acguisiton | he assumptions
mvolved N valuing these intangible assets require the use of estimates and juddements, that may difter from the actual outcome  These
estmates and judgements cover future growth rates. expected flation 1ates and the discount rate used. Changing the assurmptions
selected by management could aigrificantly aftect the allocation of the purchase price paid betweer goodwall and other acouired ntangibies|
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Post retirement benefit obligations
Included n the actuaries’ calculation of the post retirement benefit obligations are a number of assumptions. Any charges in these
assumptions will Impact the carrying value of the obhigations. These ate shown n detal 0 note 26,
Current tax liability and geferred tax 8
The Group annually incurs significant amounts of ncome taxes pavable to various junsdictions arcund the worldd and it also recoanises E4
signficant changes in deferred tax assets and deferred tax labiities. all of which are based on rmmanagement’s interpretations of applcable R
laws. regulations and relevant court decisions. The gualty of these estimates 1s highly dependent upon management’s ability 1o proper'y p—
apply what can be very complex sets of rules and to recogrise changes in applicable rules. o
Q
<
H 2
3 Special ltems 3
i foll . 3
The Special lems are made up as follows: 2018 2017 a
Note £m £m
Continuing operations
Restructuring and site closure {12.2) {11.6)
Sale of business 3.8
Sale of land 24 16.4 1.3
Acguistion costs 31 (0.5) 12.3) @
o
Amartisation of acqgurred intangibles 16 {16.4) {31.04 'g
Aborted bond costs {1.7) - e
UK Guaranteed Minimum Pension equalisation {2.8)
Operating loss (13.4) (13.6) 5‘-'.’
Finance costs S
Fair value of unhedged interest dervatives g {1.4) - ]
Loss before taxation from continuing operations (14.8) 143.8) .
Taxation 10 6.0 13.1 E*
Loss for the year from continuing operations {8.8) {30.5) g
2
]
Restructunng and site closure relates to the natural rubber and polyester resins producton lines. in Kluang (Malaysia), which closed in
Q4 2018, and anincrease i the onerous lease and related provisions for the Ossett site due to a change in crcumstance relating 1o the <
subletting of the site. In 2017, it primarily related to the rationalisabon of the Ribécourt (France) site and the nital onerous lease provision ‘_f,"
for the Ossett site. 3
Sale of business relates to the disposal of the Leuna {Germany) site and the disposat of 512 of our sales entitigs in Duba [r—
©
o
Sale of land n 2018 relates to the disposal of the final tranche of Malaysian land at Kluang. The profit on sale of land in 2017 related to a 3
disposal of land in Hapton {UK). §
é’:
Acquisiion costs were ncurred in relation to BASF Pischefsdorf 12017: BASH Pischelsdorf and Specialty Additives) and for other potential 2
acquisitions which will not occur ar had not occurred betore the balance sheet date, %
54
@
Amortisation of acquired intangibles decreased signficantly dunng 2018 due to the full amortisation during the year of the Polymerlatex 3
customer relahonships acguied dunng 2011, The amortisation includes ©1.4m in respect of ntangibles relating to the acguisition of BASE g.
Pischelsdorf in 2018.
=
o
Anhead of the Group refinancing during the vear, a process was undertaken to issue fixed rate unsecured serior notes. Despite a strong Q
response from investors, the Group decided not to complete the transaction due to untavouranle market conditions. The costs of this
process are not reflective of Underlying performance,
: - . o}
Following a UK High Caourt ruling during the year in relation to the equalisation of maie and female Guarantecd Minimum Pensions IGMP} §
a pensiop plan amendment is deemed to have occurred. The actuanal estimate of this iregular cost was £2.8m. =
)
As part of the Group refinancing in July 2018 we entered into swap arrangements to tix intergst rates on the full value of the €440m g
committed, unsecured revolving credi facility. The fair value ot the unhedged denvatives relates to the mark to mearket of the swap at g
31 Decerna PR exoccss of the cnnent borrowregs of the Cronn and B beee deken thirouah Special fens asat s not reflecteee
of the Underlying performance,
@
3
@
=}
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Group financial statements

Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued
31 December 2018

4 Segmental analysis
The Group's Executive Comimittee, chared by the Chiel Lxecutive Officer. exarmines the Group's performance and has identfied two
reportable segments of its business:

Europe and North America (ENA)
These markets are well developed and are typically grovang in ine with GOP.

Asia and Rest of the World (ARW}

These markets are characterised by growing at rates gengrally above GUP coupled with an increased penetration of mare sophisticated
products into wider uses.

The Executive Comnuttee primarly uses a measure of earnings before mterest. tax, depreciation and amaortisation {(EBITDA) to assess the
performance of the operating segments. No information 1z provided to the Committee at the segment leved concerning interest incoms.
interest expenses, income taxes ar other matenal non-cash tems,

No single customer accounts for more than 109 of the Group s revenues.

Analysis by activity — Revenue

2018 2017

£m £m

turope & North America 1,228.4 1,134.9
Asia & Rest of the World 390.5 3456.3

1,618.9 1.480.2

Analysis by activity - Operating Profit 2018 2017
Share of Share of
joint joint
Subsidiaries ventures Total Subsidiaries ventures Torat
£m fm £m £m £m £rm
Curope & North America 91.8 - 91.8 775 - 77.5
Asla & Rest of the World 54.5 0.4 54.9 30.2 1.0 312
Reported segment operating profit 146.3 0.4 146.7 107.7 10 108.7
Unallocated cuiporate expenses {18.0) - {(18.0} 113.3) - 113.3)
Uperating prohit 128.3 0.4 128.7 94.4 1.0 95.4
Analysis by activity 2018
Depreciation Amortisation
Total Total Capital and acquired
assets liabilities expenditure amortisation intangibles
MNote £m £m £m om £m
Subsidiaries
turops & North America 516.6 {189.6) 61.0 24.6 12,6
Asta & Rest of the World 226.2 {78.4) 16.3 14.0 38
742.8 {268.0) 77.3 38.6 16.4
Unallocated assets and labilities 71 {15.4) - 0.3 -
749.9 (283.4) 77.3 38.9 16.4
Share of jont veriues 19 14.0 {5.4)
Goodwill 15 336.5 -
Acquired intangibles and related deferred tax 16 69.1 (13.4)
Curtent and deferted taxation 23.4 {59.2)
Post retirement trenefit obligations 26 - (132.5)
Net borrowings 22 - (214.0)
1,192.9 {707.9}
Net assets 485.0
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2017
Depreciation  Amortisation
Total Total Gaprtal and acquired
assets liabilihes. expenditure amortisation intangibles
Note £m £m £m £m £m
Subsidraries
Europe & North America 453.9 1205.2) 6.3 23.8 27.3
Asia & Rest of the World 224.6 171.8] 243 13.1 3.7
678.5 1277.0) 60.6 36.9 31.0
Unallocated assets and habilities 6.5 114.6} - 0.3 -
585.0 (291.5) 60.6 37.2 31.0
Share of joint ventures 19 10.8 3.4
Goodwill 15 3291
Acgured intangibles and related deferred tax 16 06.2 6.3
Current and deferred taxation 23.3 159.3)
Post retirement benefit obligations 25 (157.2)
Net borrowings 22 (180.5)
1.114.5 (708.3)
Net assets 406.2
Analysis of total revenue by destination 2018 2017
£m £m
UK B7.0 69.4
Germany 234.5 2251
Other Westarn Europe 556.3 483.8
Western Europe 877.8 778.3
Fastern Curope 118.0 102.8
North America 92.4 4.9
Malaysia 260.1 1953
Uther Az 195.2 228.8
Atfrica and Middle East 45.7 h8.2
Rest of the World 29.7 21.9
1,618.9 1.480.2

Inter-segmental revenue

In addition to the amoonts Includes above e -segrrental revenus wias camed as sot out bolowe This tevenue was elivinated on consotdation.

2018 2017

Europe & Asia & Europe & Asia &

North Restof North Rest of
America World Tatal America World Total
£m £m £m £m £m £m
Europe & North America - 18.7 18.7 16.2 16.2
Asia & Rest of the World 1.1 - 11 0.8 0.8
lotal 11 18.7 19.8 0.8 16.2 17.0
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Group financial statements

Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued
31 December 2018

5 Underlying segmental performance

The IFRS profit measures show the performance of the Group as a whole and as such includes all sourees of ncome and expenses. Ncluding
both onie off items and those that do not relate o the Group's ongoing busingsses. 1o prowvide mncreased Clanty on the angoing trading
performance of the Group's businesses, Management uses "underlying performance”’ as an alternative performance imeasure 1o plan for,
control angt assess the performance of the segments. Underlying performance differs from the IFRS measures as it excludes Special ltems.,

{he defirhon of Spacial items g shown In note 2 and has been consstently applied. Specal items are eittier rreguiar, and theretorg
including them in the assessmant of a segment's performance would lead to a distortion of trends, ar are technical adjustments which
ensure the Group's financial statements are in compliance with It RS but do not reflect the operating performance of the segment In
the year, or both. An example of the latter 15 the amortisation of acgured intangibles. which principally relates to acquired customer
refationships. The Group incurs costs. which are recognised as an expense in the ncome staterment. in mamtaning these custormer
relationships. The Group considars that the exclusion of the amertisation charge on acquired intangibles from Underlying performance
avelds the potential double counting of such costs and therefore excludes it as a Special ltemn from Underlying performance.

Reconciliation of Underlying performance to IFRS

2018 2017
Europe Asia & Unallocated Europe Asia & Unallocated
& North Rest of corporate & North Rest of corporate
America World exponses Total America World axpenses Total
Note £m Em Em Em £Em £m Em £m
Revenue
Underlying performance and
IFRS 1,228.4 390.5 1,618.9 1,134.9 3463 1,180.2
Operating profit/loss) — including
share of joint ventures
Underlying performance 111.2 45.7 {14.8) 142.1 1171 351 113.2) 139.0
Special ‘teims
Restructuring & sie
closure costs {6.0) {6.2) - {12.2) {11.3} 0.2 101 111.6)
Sale of business 10 2.8 - 3.8
Sale of land - 16.4 - 16.4 13 - 1.3
AcOuisition Costs {0.5) - - {0.5) 2.3 2 3
Amortisation of
acquned intangibles (12.6) (3.8) - {16.4) [2r.3) 371 1310
Abarted bond costs - - 1.7) (1.7)
LK Guaranteed
Minimum Pension
eyualisation {1.3) - {1.5) (2.8) — - -
(19.4) 9.2 3.2) (13.4) (39.6) (3.9 0.1 143.6)
IFRS 91.8 54.9 {18.0] 128.7 775 31.2 (13.3) 5.4
Finance costs
Underlying performance @ (7.0} 9.0}
Fair value of unhedged
interest derivatives 9 {1.4) -
IFRS 9 (8.4) 19.0¢
Profit before taxation
Underlying performance 135.1 130.0
IFRS 120.3 86.4
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2018 2017
Europe Asiad& Unallocated Asia & Unallocated
& North Rest of corparates Rest of corporate
America World expenses Total World expenses Total
Note £m £m £m £m £m £m £m
Taxation
Underlying performance {23.0) 124.7)
Special ftems
Historical 1Issues 10 2.5 -
Furchase and sale
ot bsress 10 01 0.4
Restructuring and
site clontire Losts 10 0.2 1.3
Amcriisation of
acguned intangibles 10 3.2 114
IFRS 10 (17.0) {11.6)
Profit for the year
Underlying performance 1121 105.3
IFRS 103.3 74.8
Profit attributable to
non-controlling interests 0.5 0.8
Underlying performance
Special lems
Sale of land 4.8 _
Restructunng and site
closure costs {1.8) -
IFRS 3.5 0.8
Profit attributable to equity
holders of the parent
Underlying performance 111.6 104.5
IFRS 99.8 74.0
Earnings per share {pence)
Underlying performance 32.8p 30.7p
Special termns {3.4p) 18.9p)
IFRS 13 29.4p 21.8p
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Group financial statements

Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued

31 December 2018

6 EBITDA

Tne Group uses EBITDA as an alternative performance measure as it provides an indication of the level of cash being generated by the
business from s trading actvities in the period by excluding the depreciation and amortisation charges and Special ltems. This is also the
principal profit measure used for the fmancial covenants 10 the Group's debt facilities.

The definton of EBITDA 15 shown in ncte 2

Reconciliation of EBITDA to IFRS

2018 2017
Europs Asia & Unallocated Europe Asia & Unallocated
& North Rest of corporate & Nerth Rest of corporate
America World expenses Total America World expenses Totat
Note £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m
EBITDA 135.8 59.7 {14.5) 181.0 140.9 48,2 12.9 176.2
Depreciaton and amortisahon 4 (24.6) (14.0) (0.3) (38.9) {23.8) 113.1) 0.3} 137.2)
Operating profit/{loss) —
Underlying performance 5 111.2 45.7 {14.8) 142.1 1174 351 3.2 139.0
Special tems 5 {19.4) 9.2 {3.2) (13.4) (39.6) 13.9; 0.1) 143.6)
Operating profit/{loss) —
IFRS 5 91.8 54.9 (18.0} 128.7 775 31.2 (13.3) 954
7 Operating profit 2018 o1
Note £m £m
Revenue 1,618.9 1 AB0.2
Cost of sales (1,325.1) (1.1856.4)
Gross profit 293.8 284.8
Sales and marketing costs {42.9) (39.1
Admrnstrative expenses {70.3) 705
Share of joint ventures 19 0.4 1.0
EBITDA 181.0 176.2
Deprecation and amartisaton - Undertying performance {38.9) 137.2)
Operatng profit — Underlying pertormance 1429 139.0
Special ltems (13.4) {43.6)
Operating proft  IFRS 128.7 895.4
2018 2017
Note £m £m
Operating profit is stated after charqing the fallowing:
Amortisation: acquired intangibies 16 16.4 310
Amartisation: nthar Intangibles 17 1.1 0.8
Depraciation 18 37.8 36.4
Hue of plant and equipment 6.8 4.2
Other lease rentals 3.6 31
Research and developimient expenditure 171 18.3
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8 Auditors’ remuneration

2018 2017
£'000 £'000
Fees payable to the Campany's auditor ton
audit of the Company’s arnual financial staternents and the consoidated annual firancial statements 142 139
Fees payabile to the Compary's auditor and therr associates for other services to the Group:
audit of the Company’s subsidiaries’ annual financial statements 150 661
Total audit fees 892 800
Audit related assurance services 22 33
Other assurance services 95
Other taxation advisory services 3 24
Total nen-audit fees 120 a7

Details of the Company’s policy on the use of auditor for non-audht services, the reasons why the auditors were usad rather than another
suppher and how the auditors’ independence and objectivity was safeguarded are set out in the Audit Commitiee section of the Corporate

Governance Report on page 71 No services were provided pursuant to contingent fee arrangements.

9 Finance costs

2018 2017

£m £m

Interest payable on bank loans and overdrafts 4.9 5.7
Less: interest receivable {1.1} {1.0)
3.8 4.7

Pensions — 1AS 19 interest charge 3.2 4.3
Net interest payable 7.0 9.0
Fair value of unhedged interest derivatives 1.4 -
Total finance costs 8.4 8.0

The far value of the unhedged derivatives relates to the mark to market of the swap arrangements at 31 December 2018 in excess of the

current borrowings of the Group. This has been taken through Special ltems as it is not reflective of the Underlying performance.

10 Taxation

2018 2017
£m £m
Current tax
UK corporation tax 0.1
Overseas tax 23.8 27.1
23.9 271
Deferred tax
Orngination and reversal of temporary diferences (0.9) 12.4)
23.0 24.7
Special Items
Current tax:
Historical 1ssues (2.5)
Purchase and sale of business {0.1) 10.4)
Restructunng and site closure costs - (0.3
Deferred tax:
Restructunng and site closure costs (0.2) 1.0
Amortisation ot acguired ntangibles (3.2) 11.4)
6.0) 3.1
Total tax on profit before taxation 17.0 1.6

UK corporation tax s calculated at 19.0% (2017 19.25%) of the estimated assessable profit for the yvear laxaton for other junsdictions s

calculated at the rates prevaiing in the respective junsdictons.
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Group financial statements

Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued
31 December 2018

10 Taxation continued

Reconciliation of tax expense to profit before taxation

The differences between the total tax expense shown above and the amount calculated by applying the standard rate of UK corporation
lax to the proht bedore: 14 as [olloves,

2018 2017
£m £m
Profit before taxation 120.3 86.4
Yax on profn betore taxahon &t standard UK corporation tax rate of 19.0% (2017 19.25%) 22.9 156
Eftects of:
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes 4.8 4.3
tax oncentives and ems not subject fo tax {11.8) 8.7
Higher tax rates on overseas earnings 6.8 5.3
(Other deferred tax asset not recognised less amaounts now recognised (3.2} {15
Adwstrnents 1o tax charge in respect of priot petiods {2.4) AT
Effect ot change of rate on deferred tax 0.1) {4.3)
Tax charge for year 17.0 11.6
Tax relating to components of other comprehensive income 2018 017
£m £m
Deterred tax (charge)/credit in respect of actuarial gans (2.3} 2.3
Current tax liabilities 2018 017
£m £m
Current tax habilities (38.3) 140.2)

lax incentives and items not subject to tax manly comprise profits from the Nitrile .atex business in Malaysia, which benehits from moneer
status untit 28 [ ebruary 2020, iIncome in relation to the sale of land which 15 not subject to corporate tax in Malaysia and exemptions from
capital gams tax avalable on profits on sale of businesses in Duta and Germary.

In October 2017 the European Commission opened a state aid mvestigation mnto the Group Fmancing exemptron in the UK controlled
foreign company legislation. In comman with other UK based international comparies. the Group may be affected by the outcome of this
investigation and 13 theretore manitorng developments. I the preliminary findings of the European Cammission's nvestigations into the LK
legislation are upneld. we have estimated the Group's potential hability to be £5.8m. Based on the currant status of the investigation. we
have concluded that ne provision s regured 0 relation to this amaount,

11 Deferred taxation
Deferred tax assets have been recogrised i respect of all tax losses and other temporary differences giving rise to deferred tax assets to
the extent that it is probable that these assets will be recovered.

1te mavements in deterred tax assets and labilities are shown below.

Deferred tax liabilities

2018 Accelerated

tax Acquired

depreciation  intangibles Other Total

m Em Em Em
AT January (17.7) (16.3) (1.4) (35.4)
iChargedycredited to ncome statement (0.4) 3.2 {0.7) 2.1
Cxehange adusiment {0.8) {0.3) {0.1) 1.9)
At 31 December (18.7) (13.4) 2.2) {34.3)
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Deferred tax assets
2018 Pension Other Total
£€m £m £m
At 1 January 18.9 4.4 233 5
el
Credited fo income statement 1.0 1.2 2.2 &
Charged to staternent of cther comprehensive income (2.3) - (2.3}
Exchange adjustment 041 0.1 0.2 p—
At 31 December 17.7 5.7 23.4 e
&
2
Deferred tax assets not recognised 3
The amounts of deferred tax not recognised at the balance sheet dates are as follows; 2018 2017 ®
&m £m
UK pension habilty 5.2 7.0
Tax losses 13.8 14.6
Accelerated capital allowances 1.8 2.9
Other tming differences 0.2
21.1 24.5 8
i3
Of the unrecogrised tax losses set out above, C0.6m expre at the end of 2018, L0.6m expire at the end of 2020, £0.5m exprre at the end ot —
2022 and £0.4m expire at the end of 2023,
o
g
12 Ordinary dividends ao17 s
2018 Pence 2017 3
£m per share £m
Interim divdend 13.6 37 12.6 E
Proposed final dvidend 30.9 85 28.9 g
44,5 12,2 415 3
=2
@
The proposed final diidend is subject to approval by sharenolders at the Annual General Meeting and has not been included as a hability
in these hinancisl statements, ‘53
ry
P - -
Dividends paid 2018 017
£m m
interim dividend 13.6 12.6 o
Priar yvear final dividend 289 26.5 13
42.5 291 2
%’:
13 Earnings per share o
1]
Number of shares 2018 2017 =
Number Number 3
000s 000s B
Weighted average number of ordinary shares tor the purposes of basic earnings pet share 339,766  332.881 ¢
Etfect of dilutive potential ordinary shares: 5
Share optrons 1,808 2258 @
Weighted average number of aordinary shares for the purposes of diluted earnings per share 341,574 342.139
Earnings per share Q
as p 2018 2017 z
From Continuing operations g.
Earnings (Profit attributable to equity holders of the parent) £m 99.8 74.0 ‘%
Basic earnings per share o) 29.4 21.8 g
Dilutea earnings per share 8] 29.2 21.6
2
3
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Group financial statements

Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued

31 December 2018

14 Employees

2018 2017
Numbar Number
The average monthly number of employees dunng the vear by segment was.
Europe & North America 2,089 1,084
Asia & Rest of the World 799 776
Corporate 30 28
2,918 2,789
2018 2017
fm £m
The aggregate remuneration of all Group ermployess comprsed:
Wages and salaries 1231 116.3
Social securty costs 21.5 18.0
Pension costs including £2.8m GMP equalisation 11.3 2.0
Share-based payments 1.5 2.8
157.4 1451
Directors’ emaoluments are disclosed in the Remuineration Report on pages 73 ta B8
15 Goodwill 2018 017
Note £m £rn
Cost
AY Y danuary 439.0 4113
Exchange adjustments 6.2 2.8
Purchase of business 31 1.2 249
At 31 Deceinber 446.4 438.0
Accurnulated impairment losses
At 1 January and at 31 December 109.9 109.9
Net book value
Al 31 Decemnber 336.5 329.1

The Group tests goodwill annually for imparment at the balance sheet date, or more frequently if there are indications that goodwell might

be mpared.

Goodwill acgured in a business combinatian s allocated, at acquisition, to the cash generating urnts ("CGUs™ that are expected to benefit

from that business combination.

Ihe allocation ot the carrying value of goodwill is represented below.

Net book Net bock Net book

value at value at value at

1 January Exchange  Puichaseof 21 December Exchange Purchase of 31 December

2017 adjustments business 2017 adjustments husiness 2018

£m j\ul £m £m £m £m £m

Curope & North Amernica 268.3 2.5 249 2057 4.6 1.2 301.5
Agia & Rest of the Wortd 331 0.3 33.4 1.6 35.0
Total 301.4 2.8 24.9 3291 6.2 1.2 336.5

The recoverable amounts for

SGUs are determined from value in use caleulations. based upon discounted cash flows  1he key assumptons

for those discounted cash flow calculations are the discount rate, profitability and growth rate. The discount rate rs bassd on the Gioup's
wenghted average cost of capital adjusted, where appropriate. for the risk premium attnbutable to the particular CGU's activities and geography
of opetation. Proftability and growth rates are based on past expenence combined with management s expeciations far fufure husiness
performance. which s informedt by a number of factors including economic groveth, nternal plans and compentor and custoner activity.

120  Synthomer pic Annual Beoort P08



Pretax discount rates of 1% (2017 119 ang 12% (2017: 12%) have been Lsed 1n the above calculations for burope & North America and

Asia & Rest of World respectvety.

The profit used in the cash flows for the first five years 1s denved from management forecasts: for years six to ten a growth rate 15 apnled.
Growth rates of 2¥¢ (2017 220} and 5% 12017, 57%) have been used for Curope &8 North America and Asta & Rest of World respectively.
representing management’s best estimate of each CGU's crroumstances, and these do not exceed the long term growth rates for the
markets concerned. The profit for year ten i then assumed 10 apply without further growth into perpeatuity.

The airectors consider that there 1 no reasonably possble change in key assumpticns that would lead to an mpan ment.

Cf the net book value of goodwill at 31 Decembier 2018, £70.5 milhion {2017 £70.5 milion) is located In the UK.

16 Acquired intangible assets
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Other
Customer acquirad
relationships  intangibles Total
Note £m £m £m
Cost
At 1 January 2018 250.2 5.7 255.9
Exchange adjustments 5.0 0.2 5.2
Purchase of business 31 10.7 6.9 17.6
At 31 December 2018 265.9 12.8 278.7
Accumulated amortisation and impairment
At 1 January 2018 187.2 25 189.7
Exchange adjustments 35 - 3.5
Amortisation charge tor the year 14.2 22 16.4
At 31 December 2018 204.9 4.7 209.6
Net book value
At 31 December 2018 61.0 8.1 691
Other
Custorner acquired
relationships intangibles Total
Note £m £m £m
Cost
At 1 January 2017 2041 3.0 207 1
Exchange adjustments 7.2 0.2 7
Purchase of business 38.49 2.5 414
At 31 December 2017 250.2 5.7 255.9
Accumulated amortisation and imparmernt
At 1 January 2017 161.2 1.7 152.9
Exchange adustments 57 0.1 5.8
Amortusation charge for the year 30.3 0.7 31.0
At 31 December 2017 187.2 2.5 189.7
Net book value
At 31 Decembier 2017 63.0 3.2 66.2
Analyss of net boox value by saegment: 2018 .
£m £m
Europe & North America 68.7 B2.2
Asla & Best ot the Worid 0.4 4.0
69.1 £56.2
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Group financial statements

Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued
31 December 2018

17 Other intangible assets

m
Cost
At 1 January 2018 3.6
Lxchange adjustiments -
Additions 4.3
Dhsposals (0.1)
At 31 December 2018 7.8
Accumulated amortisation and impairment
At 1 January 2018 1.7
Exchange adjustments -
Amortisation charge for the year 1.1
Disposals {0.1}
At 31 December 2018 2.7
Net book value
At 31 December 2018 5.1
m
Cost
At 1 danuary 2017 [+
Exchange adjustments 0.2}
Additions 2.5
Transter o assets held for sale 0.3
Disposals 0.1}
At 31 December 2017 3.6
Accumulated amaortisaton and imparment
Al 1 January 2017 1.3
Fxchange adjustments 0.2;
Amaortisation charge tor the year 08
Transfer to assets neld tor sate 0.1
Disposals .1y
At 31 December 2017 1.7
Net book value
At 31 December 2017 1.4

Cxpenditure onresearch activities s recognised as an expense i the pernoad in which itis incurred,

Ag digclosed in note 2. there drg vanous condtions required by 1tAS 38 far an mtarnatly gerierated intangibia asseat to Le recogrisead.
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18 Property, plant and equipment

Land and buildings
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Leasoholds Plantand Assets under
Frecholds Lang Short  equipmenmt construction Total
£m £m £m £m £m £m
Cost
At 1 January 2018 104.9 6.9 1.2 499.3 33.8 646.1
Exchange agustiments 28 - - 11.3 0.9 15.0
Adchitions 1.0 - - 34.8 37.2 73.0
Purchase of business 1.2 - - 4.2 - 5.4
Sale ot husiness - - - {0.1) - (0.1)
Disposals {0.9) - - {1.5) - (2.4)
Iransfer from assets under congtruction - - - 42.6 {42.6) -
Reclassification {0.1) - 0.5 {0.4) - -
At 31 December 2018 108.9 6.9 1.7 590.2 293 737.0
Accumulated depreciation and impairment
At 1 January 2018 31.3 3.4 0.3 289.0 - 324.0
Exchange adjustments 0.6 - - 5.7 - 6.3
Depreciation charge for the year 5.3 0.2 0.3 32.0 - 37.8
Sale of business - - - {0.1) - (0.1)
Agaets written down - - - {0.2) - (0.2)
Disposals {0.2) - - {0.6) - (0.8)
Reclassication - - 0.4 {0.4} - -
At 31 December 2018 37.0 3.6 1.0 325.4 - 367.0
Net book value
At 31 December 2018 71.9 3.3 0.7 264.8 29.3 370.0
Land and buildings
Leasehaids Plant and  Assets under
Freeholds Long Short equipment  construction Total
£m £m £m £m £m £m
Cast
At 1 January 2017 80.2 6.9 20.4 4569.7 5.2 582.4
Cxchange adjustments 2.2 AN 9.5 0.4 12.0
Additions 2.2 0.2 - 370 182 5814
Purchase of business 5.1 3.8 89
Transfer to assets held for sale 14.31 - - 15.4) - 19.7}
Disposals 0.7 10.2) 4.7} 15.6)
Reclassification 20.2 (a1 (1.1} -
At 31 December 2017 104.9 6.9 1.2 499.3 33.8 B846.1
Accumulated depreciation and impairment
At 1 January 2017 24.3 3.3 2.6 258.9 - 28941
Cxchange adustiments - 4.7 4.7
Dapreciation charge for the year 5.3 0.2 0.3 30.6 36.4
Transter to assets held for sale 1.0 2.0} - 3.0
Assets wntten down 0.4 - 1.0} 11.4}
Disuosals 0.4 0.1 A0 1.8
Reclassification 3.8 - 12.6) 11.24
At 31 December 2017 31.3 34 0.3 288.0 - 324.0
MNet book value
At 31 December 2017 73.6 3.5 0.9 210.3 33.8 322.1
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Group financial statements

31 December 2018

18 Property, plant and equipment continued

Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued

Super Sky Lt United Kingdom 0% SIS

Non frading

Unallocated

2018 2017
£m £m
Freehold land which has not been depreciated 17.6 17.4
Analysis of net book value by location: 2018 2017
£m £m
UK 43.7 39.3
Germany 83.0 67.5
Malaysia 130.6 123.5
Other 12.7 818
370.0 3221
Analysis of net book value Oy segment;
2018 2017
£m £rm
Europe & North Amernica 233.3 192.3
Asia & Rest of the World 136.7 129.8
370.0 3221
19 Investment in joint ventures
Details of the Group's joint ventures are as follows: '
% of ownership
Name of entity Place of incorporation 2018 2017 Principal Activity Segment
Synthomer Middie Saudi Aratna 499 4925 Manufactuer and sale of acrylic and Asit s Rest of the World
Last vinyl resin emulsions
Synthomer Functional VAL 497 Tradmig 1 adhesives and olfigld chemicals Asia & Hest of the VWorld
Satutions FZC0
Synthomer F/& LJAE 489% 1007 Sales and marketing support tor Asiig & Rest of the World
Limited Synthomer Group companies

COTPOULate expense

Saile of business note 32,

those amounts),

'hese jant ventures are accounted for uging the equity method 1 these financral staternents.

The Group r1educed its holding inits UAL assets to 43%e to align with other arrangemeants with joint ventute partners in the regron,

Dunng the year. the Group transterred certan assets and liabiites to Synthamer | unctional Sclutions FZCO Limited. On 28 June 2018,
Group disposed of 51% of its shargholding in Synthemer Functional Solutions FZCO Limited for £1.4m. generating a profit on disposal of
£0.5m and the Group disposed of 512 of its shareholding in Synthomer FZE Limited for £2 9m. generating a profit on disposal of £2.4m. See

Sumimarnsed financial Intormation in respect of the omnt ventures 1s set out below  This information represents amaunts in the joint ventures'
financial statemen:s adjusted for differences In accounting policies between the Group and the jont venture (and not the Group's share of
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Summarised balance sheet (100%)

2018 2017
£m £m
Nan current assets 52 46
Cash and cash egquivalents 4.7 2.3
Other current assets 18.6 15.3
Total current assets 23.3 17.6
Other current habilities (10.9) (7.0
Total current kabilities {10.9) 17.04
Met assets 17.6 15.2
2018 2017
Group share: £m £m
Total assets 14.0 10.9
Total liabuiities (5.4) 13.4)
Met assets (Group share) 8.6 7.5
Summarised statement of comprehensive income (100%)
2018 2017
£m £m
Revenus 42.3 39.6
Operating profit from continuing operationsg 0.9 21
Interest -
Taxation -
Amortisation of ntangibles - -
Profit from continuing operations 0.9 2.1
Exchange ditferences on translation 1.1 11
Total comprehensive income 2.0 1.0
Dividends paid {2.3) 4.1
Maovement In retained earnings (0.3) 3.1
Profit for the yvear (Group share) 0.4 1.0
Exchange differences on translation (Group share) 0.5 11.5)
Dividends pard {(Groupr share) {1.1) 2.0
The following table 1econciles the summary information above te the canyimg amaount of the Group's interest in the joint ventures:
Investment in joint venture
2018 2017
£m £m
At 1 January 7.5 9.0
Profit from continuing operations 0.4 1.0
Exchange differences on translation 0.4 1051
Partial disposal UAL business 1.4
Dividend paid {1.1) (2.0
At 31 December 8.6 7.5
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Group financial statements

Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued
31 December 2018

20 Inventories

2018 2017

£m £m

Raw materials and consumables 68.1 54.6
Finished goods 73.8 705
141.9 1251

Stock written oft durng the year 0.7 09
Cost of inventory recognised as an expense and included in cost of sales 1,126.6 1.031.9

There 13 na matenal difference between the consolidated balance sheet value of inventornies and ther net realisable value,

The nature of the chemical reaction necessary to produce finished goods from raw materials s such that work in progress’ is not a materal
part of the Group's inventory at any given point of tme.

21 Trade and other receivables

2018 2017

£m £m

Trade receivables 196.2 196.8
Cther recawvatiles 30.6 28.8
Receivables excluding prepayments 226.8 225.8
Prepayments 6.1 3.5
232.9 229.7

The directors consider that the carrying amount of trade and other receivables approximates to their far value.
Credit risk
Amounts presemted in the Dalance sheet are net of allowances far doubttul recevables, estimated by the Group's managernent pbased

on expected Iosses. [he Group has no sigmticant concentration ot credit risk. with exposure spread aver a large number of customers.

Before accepting a new cuslomer, the Groun uses appropriate procedures to assess the potential customer's credit gualty m ovdes to set a

credit imit,
2018 2017
Ageing of trade receivables £m £m
Not yet due 171.8 167 2
0 60 days overdue 23.8 286
61 120 days overdue 0.3 0.4
Over 120 days overdue 1.1 2.2
197.0 198.4
Less: lss allowance (0.8) {1.6)
196.2 196.8
2018 2017
Provision far impairment of recevables £m £m
Af T January 1.6 4.1
Exchange adjustments - o8]
Sale of business {0.1)
(Crediti'uharge fir the year {0.1) 0.1
Amaunts written back/oft as uncoliectable {0.6) (2.7}
At 31 December 0.8 1.6
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22 Cash and bhorrowings

2018 2017
£m £m
Current borrowings
Bank overdrafts 20.7 242
Bank loans
Jnsecured €55m loan expiring 21 November 2018 - 48.9
Unsecured €55m loan expinng 2€ July 2019 49.4
70.1 731
Non-current borrowings
Bank loans
Unsecured £370m mutti currency Revoluing Credit Facility expinng 30 July 2019 - 197.8
Unsecured €440m mulli currency Revolving Credit Facility expinng 23 July 2022 242.6
2426 197.8
Less: capiialised costs {1.8) 0.8)
240.8 197.0
Bank ioans and overdrafts are denominated m a number of currencies and bear interest based on LIBOR or foreign eguivatents ar
government bond rates appropriate to the coeuntry n which tne borrowing 1s incurred.
The directors calculate the carrying value of the Group's borrowings as follows:
Sterling US dollar Euro Other Total
Analysis of borrowings at carrying value by currency £m £m £m £fm £m
31 December 2013
Bank overdrafts 2.1 1.2 17.4 - 20.7
Bank loans - - 292.0 - 202.0
Captalised costs (1.8) - - - (1.8)
0.3 1.2 309.4 - 310.9
Cash and cash eguivalents {96.9)
Net borrowings 214.0
31 December 2017
Bank gverdrafts 13.2 5.7 43 1.0 242
Bank loans - 2163 31.4 246.7
Capitalised costs 10.8) - - (0.8
12.4 5.7 2198 32.4 2701
Cash and cash squivalents 189.6)
MNet borrowings 180.5

Gash and cash equivalents are deposted with hnancial mstitutions rated as nvestment grade.

Capital structure

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group will be able to cortinue as guing concerns while maxnirising the return to
stakeholders through the optimisation of the debt and equity balance. The capital structure of the Group consists of debt. which incwdes
the cash and borrowings. and eguity attirbutable to eguity holders ot the parent. compnsing issusd capital. reserves and retaned earnings.
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Group financial statements

Notes to the consclidated financial statements continued
31 December 2018

23 Financial instruments
The Group operates procedures designed to reduce or ehminate financal nisk and ensure that funds are available for current and future
needs. The policies are approved by the Board and the use of financial mstruments '3 sinctly controlled.

2018 2017

Fair value Fair vaiue

through through

Loans and profit or Loans and profit or

receivables loss receivables lcss

Financial assets Note £m £m £m £m
Trade and other recevables excluding prepayments 21 226.8 - 2256
Cash and cash syuvaents 22 96.9 - 88.6

323.7 - 3152 -

2018 2017

Derivative Derivative

instruments instruments

n designated in designated

Amortised hedge Amortised hecge

cost  accounting cost accounting

Financial liabilities Note £m £m £m £m
Bank overdrafts 22 20.7 - 24.2
Bank loans [less captalsed costy) 22 290.2 - 2459
Trade and other payables 25 2639 - 2816

Derivatives at fair value - 5.3 -
574.8 5.3 5517

Set oul below s & companson Dy category of book values and far values of the Group's financial assets and habiitigs,

Carrying values at Fair values at
31 December 31 December
2018 2017 2018 2017
Note £m £m £m Cm
Fair value of financial assets
Trade and other receivables excluding prepayments 21 226.8 2256 226.8 225.6
Casgh and cash equivalents 22 096.9 89.6 96.9 89.6
323.7 315.2 323.7 315.2
Fair value of financial liabilities
Bank overdrafts 22 20.7 24.2 20.7 24.2
Bank loans 22 290.2 2459 290.2 2458
Tracle and other payables 25 2639 28168 263.9 281.6
Derivatives at far value 5.3 53
580.1 551.7 580.1 5517

Far values have bean obitained trom the relevant instlutions where appropnate. Where market values are nol avaiable. far values of
financial assets and financiatlabites have been calculated by discounting expected futurg cash flow at prevanng interest rates and by
acpiyng year end exchange rates. The carfyng amount of short term borrovangs approximates 10 bonk value.

The fair values ot the Group's financEl mstiuments are medsured using mputs attrer thar gquated prces that dre directly or ndirectly
observable {Level 2 as defined Ly 1ITRS 13).

The: mam nisks ansmg from the Group's financial instruments are market risk and guidity risk, The Board reviews and agrees policies for
managing each of these nsks and they are summansed below. together wnth the 1eliated disclosureedured by TRS.
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Market risk
The Group's main exposure to market risk s n tne form of inferest rate nsk and foresgn cureency risk. The policies adopted to address these
risks are as follows:

Interest rate risk
The Group fimances its operations through a mexture of retained profits. lean notes and bank bonowings. The Group monitars interest rate
trends regularly, through discussion with its banks, and fixes interest rates when it 1s prudert to do so.

Foreign currency risk
When it 1s effective to do so the Group uses currency borrowings. forward contracts and currency swaps to heags overseas net assets,
which are predominantly denonunated in Euro. US doilar and Malaysian Ringait. Frofit trarslation exposutes are not hedged.

I he Group hedges currency transaction exposures at the point of confirmed order, using forward foreign exchange contracts. The Group's
policy is, where practicable. to hedge all exposures on monetary assets and labilbes. Conseguenlly, there are no matenal currency
exposures to disclose (2017: none).

Hedge accounting
The Group has interest rate swaps that are used to reduce the sxposure to interest rate nskan relation to the ineftective portron of interest
rate hedges.

These swaps are fully effective at eliminating the rsks they address. [he Group has reviewed the requiremerts necessary to permit the
application of hedge accounting under 1AS 39.

Changes i the tarr value of derivative financial nstruments to which hedge accounting 1s not applied or 1 nat effective are recognised in the
ncome statemen: as they anse. £84.4 millon has been cebited (o the income statemeant n the yea {2017 Tnill. These changes are shown
separately as a Special term in the consolidated income staterment.

interest rate risk profile
Financial latylities

After taking into account the vanous interest rate and currency swaps entered into by the Group, the currency and interest rate exposure of
the Group as at 31 Dacember 2018 was:
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2018 2017 2
Fioating rate Fixed rate Total Floating rate Fixed rate Total .§
bortowings borrowings borrowings borrowings borrowings borrowings
£m £m £€m £m £m tm
Sterling 0.3 - 0.3 12.4 124 [r—
Curo 17.4 292.0 309.4 219.6 2196 g
- 3
US aollar 1.2 - 1.2 57 - 57 °
3
Other - - - 32.4 - 32.4 =
3
18.9 292.0 3109 2701 2701 %
Cash and cash eguivalents {06.9) 89.8) 2
Net borrowings 214.0 180.5 2;
3
EY
A1 31 December 2018 the Group had in place swap arrangements to ix nterest rates on the full vazue of the €240m comrmitted. unsecured a
revalving credit facity. =
o
o
The effectve mterest rate for the year was 1.5% (2017 1.7%) o
Q
=
2
=
5]
3
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4
=
&
o
=
E=1
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Group financial statements

Notes to the consoclidated financial statements continued
31 December 2018

23 Financial instruments continued

Sengitivity analysis

The following table llustrates the etfect on the Incormes statement and 1tems that are recogrmsed directly in eguity that would result from
reasonabiy possible movernents N UK and US interest rates and in Eure, US doflar and Malaysian Hingoit to stering exchange rates,
betore the effect of tax,

2018 2017
Income statement Equity Income staternent Equity
Undertying IFRS _rI_FF Underlying IFRS IFAS

-/+ £m -/+€m ~f+ €m -f+ £m -+ £m /4 €m
Interest rate sensitivity analysis
UK interest rate +/ 1.0% - - - - -
Curo interest rate +/- 1.0% - 1.0 29 7.9 1.9
LS mterest rate +/ 1.0% 0.1 0.1 - 0.1 0.1
Foreign currency sensitivity analysis
Malaysian Ringgit exchange rate -/+ 10% - - - - -
Euro exchange rate /+ 107% 0.6 0.6 1.5 0.3 0.3 15.7
US doliar exchange rate -/+ 10% 0.2 0.2 - 0.2 0.2 4.0

Ihe interest rate sensitivity analyws has been determingd based on the exposuie to nterest rates for botn derivative and non-dervative
nstruments a1 the balance sheel date, I or floating rate llabites. the analysis 1s prepared assuming the amount of liabilty outstanding
at the halance sheet date was cutstanding for the whole year.

For interest rate dervatives the mark to market adjustment. and amount recognised in eguity as part ot a hedging arrangement 15 estimated
using the interest rate sensitivity aganst the nominal amount.

The toreign currency sensitivity analysis includes only outstanding foreign currency denominated maonetary items and adjests ther translation at
the pericd end tor a 10% change in foreign currency rates. The sensitivity analysis includes external 10ans as well as loans to fareign operations
waithun the Group where the denomination of the loan 15 n a currency other than the functional currency of the lenter or borrower,

Liquidity risk
The objective of the Group s to meet financal comimitmeants as and when they tall due. The Board closely monitors iguidty tnrougn

monthly management accounts,

At the year end, Synthomer ple had the tollowing principal comnitted facitities:

08 2017
Drawn at Drawn st
Facility 31 December Headroom Faciity 31 December Headroom
£m £m m £m £m £m
Unsecured £370m muit: cunrency
Revolving Credn Facility expiring 30 July 2018 - - ~ 3700 197.8 172.2
Unsecured €440 multi currency
Revaolhvng Crecht Facility expiring 23 July 2022 395.4 242.6 152.8
Unseacurerd €55m loan expinng 21 November 2018 - - - 8.9 18.9 -
Unsecured £€55m loan expring 26 July 2018 49.4 49.4 -
444.8 292.0 152.8 118.9 2467 172.2
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The fallowiny table detalls the remamning contracteal matunty tor non dervative tinancial assets:

2018 2017
Amount due Total Amount due Total
between between between  between
within 1 and 2and after within 1 and 2and after
oneyear 2years Syears Syears ©one year 2 years Syears Syears
£m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m
Non-interest bearing
Trade and Gther recenatles excluding
prepayments 226.8 - - - 226.8 286 - - 2256
Variable intergst rate mstruments
Cash and ¢ash equivalents 96.9 - - - 96.9 89.6 - - 89.6
323.7 - - - 323.7 315.2 - - 315.2
The following table detalls the rernaining contractual maturity for non-derivative tinancial hatilites:
2018 2017
Amount due Total Amount due Total
between between between  between
within 1 and 2and after within 1 and 2 and after
oneyear 2years Gyears Syears one year 2 years D years Syears
£m £m m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m
Non-interest bearing
Trade and other payables 263.2 0.7 - - 2639 279.3 2.3 - 281.6
Variable interest rate instruments
Bank loans and overdrafts 70.1 - 2408 - 3109 73.1 197.0 - - 270.1
3333 0.7 240.8 - 574.8 3524 14883 - - 551.7
24 Assets classified as held for sale 2018 2017
£m £m
Disposa! of Synthamer Leuna - 5.5
Freehold land tocated in Malaysia - 0.3
Assets classitied as held for sale - 6.8

The assets heid for sale in relation to the disposal of Synthomer Leuna comprise the fixed assets. current assets and current labtities
ot Synthomer Leuna as at 31 December 2017, As disclosed in note 32, Synthomer Leuna was disposed on 1 January 2018,
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Group financial statements

Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued
31 December 2018

24 Assets classified as held for sale continued

Malaysia

The Group ownhs agriculural land in Malaysia. which 1s aperated as a paim oil ana natural rubber plantation. The land was owned by Kind
Action Sdn Bha, which 1z a wholly owned subisidiary of Bevertex Malaysia San Bhd that has a 30% non controlling interest. The directors
decided in 2013 1o dispose of thig land on the open market excluding the 300 acres immediately surrounding the manufacturing facities,

The status of the disposal programme was as follows:

2018 2017
Censideration Consideration
Acres £m Agres £m
Sale completad 400 171
Contracts exchanged - - 400 17.1
To be sold - - -
400 171 400 171

the consideration is shown before deduction of disposai costs. taxation and the non-controlling interest share.

For the sales completed in the year the profit on sule was derived as follows:

2018 2017
Number ot agres sald 400
£m £m
Gross consideration 174
Less dispousal costs {0.4)
16.7 -
Laess cost of jand {0.3)
Protit on disposal 16.4 -

As at 31 December 2018 there are no more acres of land to be sold and the value of assets held tor sale as at 31 December 201815 Cnil,

25 Trade and other payables

2018 2017
m tm

Amount due within one year
Trade payables 2049 202.6
Other payables 27.7 39.7
Accruals 30.6 37.0
263.2 279.3

Amount due after one year

Other payables 0.7 2.3
0.7 2.3

Average trade payable days n 2018 was 6112017 60). This figure represents trade payable days for all rading aperations within the Group,
calcnlated as a weighted average based an cost of sales,

Yhe dhrectors consider that the canying amourt o iraoe payatles, oiher payaties and actiuss approxnnates o her far vaiue,
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26 Post retirement benefit obligations

Charge{credt) to moone statement In respect of the Group's pension schemres:

2018 2017
UK QOverseas Total UK Crerseas Total
£m £m £m £m £m £m
Defined benetit 5.4 2.3 7.7 34 2.5 5.9
Defined contrnibution 2.0 4.8 6.8 1.7 6.4
7.4 71 14.5 541 7.2 12.3
Amounts recognised in the statement of comprehensive income
2018 2017
UK Ovorseas Total UK Overseas Total
£m £m £m £m £m £m
Actuarial gains 14.2 1.3 15.5 22.4 1.2 236
Amcunt included in the balance sheet arising from the Group's defined benefit scheme obligations
2018 2m7
UK Overseas Total UK Cverseas Total
£m £m £m £m £m £m
Present value of defined benetit obligations (372.3) {90.8) {463.1) 110.8) {89.7) 1500.5)
Far value of scheme assets 319.1 11.5 330.6 3325 10.8 343.3
Net lability arising from defined benefit obligations {63.2) {79.3) {132.5) 178.3) {78.9) (157.2)

UK pension schemes
The Group's UK defined bensiit scheme was closed to future accrual n 2008, All pengsion benetits since that time are provided by way
of a detined contribution scheme. The assets of the schemes are held separately from those of the compamnes concerned.

The tnenmal valuation of the scheme was performed dunng 2018 and 1s i the process of being tmalised with the trustees of the scheme,

Defined benefit scheme
The defined benefit scheme 1s administered by a separate fund that s legally separated from the Company.

Ihe trustees of the pensicon fund are required by law to act in the interest of the fund and of all relevant stakeholders in the scheme.
The trustees of the pension are responsible for the investment policy with regard to the assets of the fund.

Afull actuanal valuation was carried out as at B Apnl 2015 and updated to 31 Decemier 2018 by a gualfied actuary,

Ihe Group 1s committed to a funding deficit recovery plan entered into following the 2015 valuation  This valustion indicated a shaortfall,
when measured agamst the Scheme's technical provisions of £118.7m. This shertfall is expected to be elimirated in eight years following
the valuation date. As a result the Group 15 committed to paying contributions for the penod 8 Aprl 2015 to 5 Apnl 2023, increasing from
£14.0m for the year commencing & Apnl 2015 to £18.2m for the year commencing 6 Apnil 2022.
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Group financial statements

Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued
31 December 2018

26 Post retirement benefit obligations continued
The scheme 1s exposed to a number of nsks. the most signihcant of which are detaled below:

Asset return risk The pian habilities are calculated using a discount rate set with reference to corporate bend yields, if plan assets
undlarpertorm thig yield. this will increase the deficit. The scherme holds a significant proportion of eguties which
are expected to outperform corporate bonds in the long term while providing volatity and nsk in the short term,

Inferest rate risk A decrease in corporate bond yields will increase plan liabilities. although this will be partially offset by an increase
i1 the value of the plans' bond heldings,

Longevity nsk The majority of the plans' chligations are to provide benefits for the life of the member, so ncreases n ife
expactancy will result inan increase In the plans' latbiities,

Ihe nisk relating to benefits to be pand to the dependants of scheme members (widow and orphan benefits) s re-insured by an external
iNgurance company.

The major assumptions used for the purposes of the actuanal vatluations were as follows:

2018 2017
Rate of increase n pensions in payment 2.00% 2.00%
Rate of ncrease in pensions in deferment 2.20% 2.00%
Discournt rate 2.80% 2.50%
Inflation assumption 3.20% 3.10%

Assuinptions regarding future mortanty are based on actuarial advice n accordance with published statistics. These assumptions translate
it an average hfe expectancy in years for a pensoner retirmg at 65 as follows:

2018 2017
yoars years
Hetiring today:
Males 871 8r.2
Females 89.4 891
Retiring in 20 years:
Males 88.7 88.7
I ermales 91.2 90.6

Signiticant actuarnal assumptions for the determmation of the detined benefit obligaton are discaunt rate and mortalty. The sensitivity
analysis below has been determined based on reasunably possible changes of the assumptions occurnng at the end of the reporting
perod asseming that alt oleer assumptions we held constant

Assumption Change in assumption Impact on scheme liabilities
Discount rate Increase/decraase by 1% Decrease/increase by £48m
Rate of mortality increase by 1 year Increase by £14m

ihe above senstivities are based on a change of assumption whie holding all other assumpticns constant. In practice this 15 unlikely 1o ooour
and changes in some of the assurnptions may have some correlanon, When calculating the sensitivity of the detined benetfit abigation to
sigrithcant actuarial sssumptions, the samie metnod (Dresent value of the delined benefit obhgation calculated with the projected vt Credit
method at the end of the reporting penod) has been apphed as when caiculating the penson haliity recodgnised within the balance sheet
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The movements in the ret labitty ansing from defned benefit obligation over the year is as toliows:
2018 2017
Present Present
value of Net liability value of Net liabilty 5
funded arising from funded arising from Q
defined Fair value defined defined Farr value defined i
benefit  of scheme benefit beneft of scheme benefit ~
abligation assets obligation obhgation assets obligation e —
£m £m £fm L £m £m
At 1 January (410.8) 3325 (78.3) 1428.4y 315.9 1112.5) o
Current service cost (0.8) - {0.8) 10.9) {0.5) §
Past service cost (2.8) - {2.8) 3
Interest [expense)l/ncome {10.0) 8.2 {1.8) {11.3) 8.4 (2.9
Amounts recognised in income in respect
of defined benefit schemes {13.6) B.2 {5.4) 111.8) 8.4 {3.4)
Remeasurement:
Return on plan assets excluding amounts
included in interest iIncome - {13.5) {13.5) - 15.3 15.3 o
Gains from changes in financial assumptions 217 - 27.7 T 7.1 g
Amounts recognised in the statement of e—
comprehensive income 27.7 {13.5) 14,2 7.1 15.3 22.4
Contributions: 124
[~]
Employers 0.8 156.5 16.3 0.5 14.7 156.2 5
Fayiments from plans 5
Beneht payments 23.6 (23.6) - 21.8 121.8) ,
At 31 December {372.3) 319.1 {63.2) 110.8) 332.5 (78.3) E’
3
3
Pian assets are comprised as follows: E
[
2018 2017
£m £m 3
Hedge funds 36.2 396 2
Eguity instruments 64.9 6596 &
Cebt instruments 192.2 2088
Property 82 0.0
Cash 17.6 1.5
Total tair value of assels 3191 332.5

All investments in Equities, Bonds and Property are gquoted.

The weighted average duration of the benefit obligation at the end of the reporting period 1s 14 years (2017 16 years).

Contrbutions from the sponsonng companies are expected to be £16.2 million in 2019,

Overseas pension schemes

The Group operates a number of smaller overseas pension and post retirement schemes, The assets of these schemes are held separately
from those of the Group, with the exception of the untundsd German schemes et hahility ©71 & milion, 2017 £72.1 nulion where in ine
with common practice. the assets are neld within the respective companies,
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Group financial statements

Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued
31 December 2018

26 Post retirement benefit obligations continued

Defined benefit schemes

The aggregated pension disclosure below for the overseas defined benefit schemes has been compiled from a number of actuarial
valuations at 31 December 2018,

The largest of these schemes gecounts tor £69.1 million 217, £68.5 million) of the deficit at 31 December 2018, The major assumption
used in the actuanal valuation of this scheme are:

2018 2017
Rate of increase in salanes 3.00% 3.00%
Rate of merease in pensions 1.75% 1.75%
Discount rate 2.00% 1.90%
Mortality assumptions
The assumead life expectations on retirement at age 65 are: 2018 2017
years years
Retiring today:
Males 85.0 54.3
Females 88.6 853
Retiring in 20 years:
Males 87.8 86.9
It emales 90.8 90.8
The major assumptions used in the valuation of the other overseas schemes do not differ significantly from the above.
The movement i the net lability ansing from detined benefit obligation over the year 1s as follows:
2018 2017
Present Present
velue of Net liability value of Net hability
funded arising from funded arising from
defined Fair value defined defined Fair value defined
b fit of sch ¥ benefit of schemne benefit
obligation assets gbligation obhgation assets obligation
fm fm fm f'm m m
At 1 January {89.7) 10.8 {78.9) 83 72) g0 {71.2]
Current service cost (1.0) - (1.0) {1.1) - {1.%)
FPast service credit 0.1 - 0.1
Interest (expense)/income (1.6) 0.2 (1.4} {1.8) 3.2 11.4)
Amounts recognised in the income statement
in respect of defined benefit schemes {2.5) 0.2 (2.3} 12.7) 0.2 2.5
Remeasturement:
Gansslosses) from changes n fimancial assumptions 1.4 .1 1.3 1.3 0.1y 1.2
Amounts recognised in the statement
of comprehensive income 1.4 (0.1} 1.3 1.3 0.1 1.2
Conlributions tess payments from plans 24 (C.1} 23 2.3 0.2 2.1
Oblgations of acguired entities {1.2) 0.6 (0.6) 1.2 1.5 12.7)
Exchange adustments (1.2) 0.1 (1.1) 13.2) 0.4 2.8
At 31 December {90.8) 11.5 {79.3) 189.7) 10.8 176.9)
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Multi-ermployer schemes
In addinon to the overseas defined benefit schemes included in tre above. the Group partcipates n the Degussa Pensicnskasse in Germary,
which 15 a multi-employer defined beneft pension scheme. Regular contributions are payable to the scheme by each participating empzoyer
for new terchls accruing e assets of all partOpating crnplwyers are pooled, and contnbutions are calculated based on aggreated _
demographic expenence. herefore sufticient information 1s not avadable to identity the Group’s share of the assets on a consistent and reliabie 3
basis ano the Group accounts 1or the scheme on a defineo contibuticon basis The Group expects to make reguiar contributions of £2.2m to &
the schemein 2039,
To the extent that triere 1s underfunding m the scheme defict contributions are payable. Based on the latest actuanal assessment each o
participating employer's share has been determmned accordng to the value of its future benefit accrual and it has been deterrmined that the g
Group s hable for total deficit cantributions of €4.61m 1 three instalments payable n January 2017, 2018 and 2019, As a result an accrual of 3
£1.3m {2017 £2.7m) has been ncluded at 21 December 2018, H
1]
27 Provisions for other liabilities and charges Linbikity
Lagal and arising on
Envirgpnmental customer abusiness
restoration claims Restructuring combination Total
£m £m m £m £m
At 1 January 2018 0.6 2.5 6.7 0.2 10.0
[Creditedi'charged to the ncome statemeant - {2.5) 9.3 - 6.8 o
Utihised dunng the year (0.6) - {2.0) - (2.6) 'S
At 31 December 2018 - - 14.0 0.2 14,2 —
Analysis of provisions e
31 December 31 December g
2018 2017 ©
£m £m s
Non-current 4.8 7.6
Current 9.4 2.4 by
14,2 10.0 H
3
g
. . . 74
Analysis of (credit)/charge to the income statement 2018 2017
£m £m
w
Underlying performance 2.5) o
oo
Special ltems 9.3 4.0 -
6.8 4.0
g
Environmental restoration 3
The provision for the restoration of land which 1s no longer being used as a manutacturing site was fully utibsed n the year and no further ]
obligation remains. =
8
a
Legal and customer claims 2
This amount represented a provision for certam legal and custamer claims brought aganst the Group. Duning the year the time passed for &
which these claims could be settled and the amounts were credred to the income statement. E]
2
Restructuring “
The Group has additionaly provided for an onerous lease and related costs on the closed site 1in Ossett, and as part of the post PAC 5
acquisition restructuring programme. the Group has planned the demolition of buiidings at the site in Ribécourt, France. The Group also &
closed s natural rubber and polyester resing production ines in ¥euang in 2018, The cost of all these restructunng pragrammes s charged >
to the income statement when permitted by the Group's accounting policy within Special tems. The provision reflects the amount that has it
teen charged but not yet spent, [
g
. ey Py = - . =
Liability arising on a business combination g
As part of the acquisition of PolymerLatex in 2011, the Group acquired a leasehold interest in an empty property  1he provision reflects this 2
onerous contract, 3
8
5
The provisions are expected 10 be fully utilisea cver the next five venars with the exception of the Ossett overseas lease provision which is
expectad to e ulilsed ower 50 years,
@
o
=
=
b
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28 Called up share capital

2018 2017
£m £m

Issued and fully paid
339,880,769 (2017: 339.880.769) ordinary shares of 10 pence each 34.0 34.0

Ordinary shares carry no nght to fixed incarme.

Share options (see note 36)
I he outstanding share ophions were all issued under the Executive share option scheme. Thase are discussed turther in note 36
Share based payments.

As at 31 December 2018 the following options were outstanding:

Number
Executive share options
Exercisable between 2016 2023 11,879
Exercisable betwegen 2017-2024 20,009
Exercisable betwesn 2018 2025 138,734
Exercisable between 2019 2026 634,219
Exercisable between 2020-2027 497,405
Exercisable between 2021-2028 505,717
1,807,963
I he total exercise price for all the above grants s £nil.
29 Reconciliation of operating profit to cash generated from operations 2018 017
£m tm
Operating profit — continuing operations 128.7 95.4
Less: share of protits of jaint ventures (0.4) 1.0
128.3 94 4
Adjustments for:
Depreciation 37.8 364
Amartisation 1.1 [BX=1
Share based payments 1.5 28
Restructuring and site closure - Special lterns 12.2 1.6
Sale of business - Special ltems {3.8) -
Sale of land - Special ltems {16.4) {1.3]
Acquisition costs  Special ltemns 0.5 23
Amortisation of acquired intangibles  Special ltems 16.4 31.0
Aborted bond costs — Special Hems 1.7 -
GMP equalisation - Special Hems 28 -
Cash anpact of restructuring and site closure {3.3) 5.0
Cash impact of acquisition costs (0.5) 2.1}
Cashiimpact of aborted bond ¢osts {1.2)
IAS 19 interest charge (3.2) 14 3
Pension funding in excess of IAS 12 interest charge (13.8) 112.5)
Maverment In working capital {35.2) 45
Cash generated from operations 124.9 162.6
Reconciliation of movement in working capital
Increase in inventories {13.5) 11203
increase In trade and other recevables {5.6) 24.0
{Decrease) ncrease in trade and eiher payables (16.1} 6.8
Movement In working capital (35.2) 4.5
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30 Analysis of changes in net borrowings Cash  Exchange

1 January inflows/ and other 31 December

2018 {outflows) movements 2018

£m £m £m £m

Current borrowing - Bank averdratty {24.2) 3.6 {0.1) (20.7)
Current bank borrowings - Other {48.9) - {0.5) (49.4)
Non cutrent barrowings (197.0) (40.4) {34) (240.8)
Total borrowings {270.1) (36.8) {4.0) {310.9)
Cash and cash eguivalents 89.6 5.6 1.7 96.9
Net borrowings {180.5) (31.2) {2.3) {214.0)
2018 2017

£m £m

Repayment of borrowings (63.5) 102.0)
Proceeds of borrowings 103.9 136.3
40.4 34.3

31 Purchase of business
On 31 January 2018 the Group acguired the BASE Pischelsdart Styrene Butadiene Rubber (SBR} business for 4 total consideration of
£25.8m. to complement the Group's existing SBR markets and customers

The considetation pawd inrespect of this acguisition and the farr value of net assets acyuired 1s summarnsed as follows:

wodas nifeleng
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Fair value 5
£Em -
=3
Net assets acquired g
a
Intangible assets 17.6 &
]
Property, plant and equipment 5.4 B
k]
Invartones 22 .-5;
Post retirement benehit obligations {0.6} %
Fair value of net assets acquired 24.6
Goodwill arising on acquisition 1,2 .3
Total consideration 25.8 2
Satisfied by
Cash consideration 25.8
g
3
The goochwll ansing on the acquizition of the Lusmess reprasents the premium the Group paid 1o acguire compranies which complemeant 2
the existing business and creaté s«grihcant oppartumties for cross sellng and other synargies, 5
Acguisition costs expensed: &
£m %
In 12 manths to 31 December 2017 0.9 3
In 12 months to 31 December 2018 0.1 E
1.0 =
s
o
In the pernod tfrom acquisition to 31 December 2018 the business contrbuted the following to the Group's results: N
£m
Ravenue of: 42,7 [r—
Operating profit of: 2.6 95
&
I the acgustion had been completed an the first aay of the tinancial yvear, the fallowing would have been included m the Group's rasult g.'
£m 2
Revenue of: 46.3 §‘
COperating profit of: 2.8
@
o
o
o
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Group financial statements

Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued
31 December 2018

32 Sale of business
Sale of Synthomer Leuna
On 1 January 2018, the Group disposed of 100% ot the share capinal of Synthomer Leuna GrmbH for £7.1m.

The congolidated net assets of the comparuas at the date of disposal were as follows:

£m
Property, plant and eguipment 6.4
friventones 0.3
Trade recevables 0.1
Post retremeant barielit obligations {0.3)
Net assets disposed of 6.5
Tota! consideration {net of disposal Gosts) 7.1
Less net assets disposed oft {6.5)
Profit on sale of business befors recycling of foreign exchange 0.8
Recycling of foreign exchange 0.4
Profit on disposat 1.0
Total consideration satisfied by:
Cash {net of disposal costs) 74
Cash flow:
Cash net of disposal costs) 74
Cash cansideration recerved in 2017 {7.6)
2018 net cash inflow arising on disposal (0.5}
In the penod from 1 January 2018 1o the dafe of disposal. Synthomer Leuna contnbuted the following to the Group's results:

£m

Revenues of: -
Operating profit of: -

Partial sale ot UAE business

The Group reduced its halding in s LLALL assets to 43% 1o align with other arrangements with joint venture partners in the reguan. During
the year, the Group transteired certan assets and habilities to Synthomer Funchona! Solutions F7G0 Limited. On 28 June 2018, the Group
dsposed of 51% af its sharehioidiag n Synthomer Functional Salutions FTZCO Lirnited far £1.4m. generating & profit on disposal of £0.514
and the Group disposed of 51% of its shareholding wm Synthomer F2E Limited for £2.8n, génerating 4 profit on disposal of £2.4m

The subsequerntly created 1oint ventures are accounted for under the equity method of consoldation.

Company name Date of sale Burchager Division Sale type
Synthomer FZE Limited 28 June 2018 Thirdd party frade Asia and Rest of the World Share
Synthomer Functional

Solutions FZCO Limited 28 June 2018 Third party trade Asla and Rest of the World Share
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The share of net assets of the comparnies at the date of digposal were as follows”

£m
Inventories 0.5
Irade recevables 2.4
Tradie payables (1.5)
Net assets disposed of 14
Total consideration (net of disposal costs) 4.2
Less net assets disposed of (1.4)
Profit on disposal 2.8
Total consideration satisfied by:
Cash {net of disposal costs) 4.2
Cash flow:
Cash consideration 4.2
2018 nat cash inflow ansing on disposal 4.2

In the perod from 1 January 2018 to the date of disposal, the disposed businesses (100%) contributed the following o the Group's results:

£m
Revenues of: 8.2
Operating profit of: 0.5

BIUBLIBACL) | | 218-04) uodas 016a1RNS
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33 Related party transactions

Transactions between the Company and s subsidianes. which are related parties, have been eliminated on consoldation and are not mcluded

In this note. Transactions between the Company and its subsidhanes are disclosed in the Company's financial staternents where appropniate.

The UK defined benefit scheme is a related party. see note 26.

2018 2017
Key management compensation £m £m
Short term employee benefits 5.2 53
Past retirement benetit obligations 0.4 0.4
Share-based payments 1.5 20
71 7.7
The key management figures given above include the directors and members of the Executive Committee.
34 Commitments 2018 017
£m £m
Capital expenditure authorised but not provided for in the financial statements
PPE Contracted 21.2 237
2018 2017
£m £m
Commitments under operating leases are as follows
Payments under operating leases which fall due:
Within 1 year 3.3 51
Between 2 and & years 12.0 107
Alter 5 years 151 189
304 347

Cperating leases 1elate largely to property leases,

S]USWIBLELE (BIOUBUY ANOJDY
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Group financial statements

Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued
31 December 2018

35 Contingent assets, contingent liabilities and guarantees

Cther guarantess and contingent habilities of the Group amaount to £8.4 million (2017: Cril) and relates 1o an Furopean Gommission state aid
case n relation 1o the Group Financing Lxemphons i the LIK controlled toregn company legisiation {see Note 10y and environmental lablity
N france.

The Company and s subsicharies have, n the aonmal course of business, entered inte guarantees and counter-ndemnities in respsct of
performance bonds, relating to the Group's own contracts,

Dunng the year, the European Commission (the Commission) intiated an nvestigation into practices relating 1o the purchase of Styrene
monomer by companies. mcluding Synthomer, aperating in the European Ceonomic Area. The Company has and will continue to fully
cooperate with the Commission dunng it nvestigaton. As the inveshigation 1s ongoing and the Commission dogs rat provide feedback
on ity work until the investigation is camplete, it 15 not possible to determine whether or not & tiatiity exists in relatiot to this matter.

36 Share-based payments

Executive share option schemes

The Group's share option scheme is described in the Drectors' Bemuneration Report on pages 73 10 88, In addition to the two

executive directors it 1s available 1o other seruor management. The movemernt in the cptions held under the scheme are defined as follows:

Weighted Weighted

av. exercise av. exercise

Options price [€) Options price (D)

2018 2018 2017 2017

number number rumber number
Gutstanding at 1 January 2,257,771 - 2,334.898
Granted during the year 547,752 -~ 520.858
Exercised durng the year (883,923} - 568,032
Lapsed during the year (113,637} - {30,054)

Cutstanding at 31 December 1,807,963 ~ 2257771 B

Exarcisable at 31 December 170,622 ~ 50,166 -

For options autstanding as at 31 December 2018, the exercise price was Cnil and the weighted average rermaining contractual ife was 4.75
years (2017 4.73 years),

The Group also aperates a cash settled share based payment schema for which thiere was an expense in the year of £0.5m (2017 £0.8m)
and for which there was a habllity o) lhe year end of £1.5m (2017 €71 0m),

The Synthomer Employee Benefit Trust

Ihe Company established a trust, formerly the Yule Catto Lmployee Beneht Trust, on 17 July 1996 to distribute shares to employees
enabiing the obligations under the Yule Catto Longer-Term Performance Share Plan and the Yule Catto Longer-Term Oeferred Banus Flan
to be met. [he Trust s managed by the RBC Trustees (Guermsey) Limited, an independent company located in Guernsey.

At 31 Decernber 2018, the Jrust beld 110,969 2017: 249) ardinary shares m the Company with a market value of £0.4m (2017 £l

1he diviclends on these shargs have been waived. Al of the shares are under option. Costs are amaortised aver the life of the plans

The weighted average share price at the date of exercise was £4.9112017: 04 70).

I'the weighted average tair value of the optiuns ar the measuremernt date granted durnyg the year was £2.68 (2017 £2.97) The valuation was
based on the folowing inputs and assumptions. using a Monte Carlo simulation model:

2018 2017
Weighted average share price 10} 4.88 5.03
Option price (£) -

Value of optionaity nii Al
Vesting assumption 55% 59%

Given the option price 1s il the only crcurnstance nwhich a vested option will not be exercised 1s if the current share prnce s Coil There s
s50me valug assocated with the timing of when the exercise would be made but this s considered 1o be minmnat and therefore 1his has not
been modellad,

I he vesting assumphorn 15 she eshmate at the measwiement date of the percentage of the opbons that vl Whimately vest and s based on
market conditions and management's assessment of e ikelihood of achievement of the pettormance critena.
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37 Share price information
The middle market value of the listed ordinary shares at 31 Decerber 2018 was 3574 pence. 131 December 2017 491.4 pencen. Durnu the
year, the market price ranged between 3474 pence and 575.5 pence. The latest ordinary share price 18 avallatle on the Group's websie.
WWW.Syntnomer.com, _
o
&
4
38 Additional segmental analysis S
With effect from 1 January 2019, the Group bas implementad a new organisation structure. compnsing three operating segiments. pr—
&
Going forward. the following global operating segments vl replace the previous reqional cperating segments. H
+ Perfarmance Elastomers 2
+ Functional Solutions
+ tnoustnal Specralities
2018 results under the new divisional structure are shown below:
2018
Analysis by actwity — Revenug £m
Performance Elastomers 704.5 o
Functional Salutions 680.1 'g
Industral Specialities 2343 heve—
1,618.9
2
g
Share of joint k-
Subsidiaries ventures Totat E
Analysis by activity — Underlying operating profit £m £m £rm g
Pertormance Elastomers g7.2 - ar.2 %
Functional Selutions 52.6 0.4 53.0 g
]
Industrial Speciahties 16.7 - 16.7 ‘Bn
Reported segment operating profit 156.5 0.4 156.9 E’
Unallocated corporate expenses {14.8) 114.8)
o
Operating profit 141.7 04 1421 g
b
—
v}
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Group financial statements

Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued
31 December 2018

39 Audit exemptions

as ar 31 Decemer 2018.

The tollowing subsidianegs have taken advantage of the exemplion from an auait for the year ended 31 December 2018 avalable under
s473a of the Companies Act 2008 as the Company has given a statutory guarantee of all ot the ocutstanding habilities of these subsidianes

Company Company Registration
Dirmex Limited 01763129
t.catto Lirrnted 00978441
Harlow Chemical Company Limited 00778831
PolymerLatex Limited 03438041
5.A4300) Limited Q0236227
Super Sky Lirmited 02021871
Synthomer Overseas Limited 06349474
Temple Fields 514 Limited 04541637
Temple Melds 815 Limuted 00892510
Temple Fields 522 Limuted 05516912
.’*T'emp\e Fields 523 Limited 05516913
Termple Figias 930 Limned 0DAIN3
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Company financial statements

Company balance sheet
31 December 2018

wodeu oibejens I

2018 2017
Note £m £m
Fixed assets
Property. plart and eguipment 3 2.3 2.1 _
MYestments n subsihanes and jont veniures 3] 208.9 3375 E.n"’
o
210.4 339.6 ™
Current assets
p—
Trade and other recenvables 7 963.6 7082 o
Cash and cash equivalents 53.3 353 :
1,016.9 744.5 g
Creditors — amounts falling due within one year g
Borrowings & {74.3) 163.7)
Other creditors 10 (262.9) 215.2)
Dervatives at fair value 9 (5.3) -
{342.5) (278.9
Net current assets 674.4 465.6
Total assets less current liabilities 884.8 805.2 %
w0
Creditors — amounts falling due after more than one year ~
Borrowings 3 {240.8) {157.8)
Net agsets 644.0 647 .4 @
Equity g
Ordinary shares 34.0 340 3
m
Share premium 2305 230.58 a
o
Revaluation reserve 0.8 0.8 I
o
Capital redemption 1eserve 0.9 0.9 g
Retaned gamings 377.8 381.2 %.
Total shareholders' funds 644.0 647 .4
. ie]
Analysis of net borrowings @
B
Cash and cash eguivalents 53.3 353 s
Borrowings due in less than one year {74.3) 163.7) E—
Borrowings due after mare than one year (240.8) {157.8) o
Net borrowings 8 (261.8) (1882 E
As disclosed in note 3, the Company's profit for the year was £46.8in(2017: £22 7m) Ed
D
=
0
The netes on pages 147 1o 156 are an integral part of these financial statements. v
L]
-]
The financial statements of Synthomer plc lregistered number 98387 on pages 115 10 156 weare authansed tor 1ssue by the Board of g
Directars on A harch 2019, 3
&
C G MacLean S G Bennett ‘E
Director Director o
e
3
5
]
3
[}
&
o
3
&
(=]
—
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Company financial statements

Company statement of changes in equity
for the year ended 31December 2018

Called up Share Capital
share premium Revaluation redemption  Profit and loss Total
capital account reserve resene account equity
£ Tm &m £m £ £m
At 1 January 2018 34.0 230.5 0.8 0.9 381.2 647.4
Profit for the year ~ - - - 46.9 46.9
Total comprehensive income for the year - - - - 46.9 46.9
Ohvidends - - - - {42.5) {42.5)
Share based payments - ~ - - {3.9) (3.9
Fair value of hedged interest derivatives - - - - (3.9) (3.9)
Total transactions with owners,
recognised directly in equity - - - - {50.3} (50.3)
Balance as at 31 December 2018 34.0 230.5 0.8 0.9 3778 644.0
Balance as at 1 January 2017 340 2305 0.8 0.9 30814 6843
Profit for the year - 227 22.7
Totat comprehensive Income for the year - - - 227 287
Dividends - - - 39.1) [39.1
Share based payments - - ~ - 3.5] 0.5}
Total transactions with owners,
recognised directly in equity - - - - 139.6) (39.6)
Balance as at 31 December 2017 34.0 230.5 £.8 0.9 351.2 6547.4
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Notes to the Company financial statements
31 December 2018

1 Accounting policies
The prinuipal accounting palicies apphed in the preparation of these financial statements are et out below. These policies have been
consistently applied to ail the years presented, unless otherwise stated.

Basis of accounting

The finanoit statements of Synthomer ple have been prepared in accordance with [inancial Reporting Standard 101, 'Reduced Discloswre
Framework’ (FRS 1011 The finanaial statements have been prepared under the histoncal cost convention. as modified by the revaluation of
land and bulldngs and dervative financial assets and financizl habilities measured at farr value through the mcome statement. and in
accordance with the Comparies Act 2008

The preparaton of financial statements In conformity with FRS 107 requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. It a'so reqyuires
management to exercise its judgement in the process of applying the Company’s accounting policies. The estimates and associated
assumptions are bhased onandustry expenence and vanous other factors that are helieved to be reasonable under the crcumstances.

The directors have reviewed the estimates and assumptions used in the preparation of the inancial statements. The directors do not believe
that there 1s a significant risk which would lead to material adjustments to the carrying value of any assets and labllities in the next tinancial
year due to changes ot estimates or assumphtions.

The fallowing exermptions from the regqurements of IFRS have been applied in the preparation of these financial statements, m accordance
with MRS 101

+1AS 7 'Statement of cashflows’

+ The requirements in 1AS24, ‘Related party disclosures’ to disclose related party transactions entered into between two or more members
of a group:

+ IFRS 7, 'Financial ingtruments: Disclosures

+ Paragraphs 91 to 98 of IFRS 13. 'Tair valug measurement’ {disciosure of valuation techrigues and inputs Lsed for {air value measurament
of assets and liabilities: and

+ Paragraphs 45(b) and 46 to 52 of IFRS 2, 'Share-based payment' (detalls of the number and weighted-average exercise pnces of share
options, and how the fair value of gocds or services receved was determined).

Going concern

The Company meets its day-to-day workmg capital requirements through s cash reserves and borrowings. After inaking enduines and
taking account of reascnably possible changes n trading petformance the Directors have concluded that the Company should e able to
operate within the level of its current cash reserves and borrowings and contmue in operational existence for the foreseeahle future. The
Company therefore canhnues to adopt the going concern basis n prepanng s financial statements,

Foreign currencies

lterns included in the iinancial statements of the Company are measured using the currency of the primary economic envirenment 0
which the Company operates ['the functional currency'’). The financial statements are presented in "Pounds Sterling’ (£}, which is also the
Company's functional currency.

Foreign currency ransachons are transiated imao the funchonat currency using tne exchange rates prevanling at the daies of the transachons
or valuation where items are re-measured, Foreign exchange gains and losses resuiting from the settlernent of such transactions and from
the translation at yvear-end exchange rates of monetary assets and habilbes denominated in foreign currencies are recogmsed in the income
statement. except when deferred in other comprehensive income as qualfying cash flow hedges. Ali other foreign exchange gains and
logses are presented in the income statement within other operating Income.

Property, plant and equipment

Properbies ate shown at professional valuaton from 1985, All other plant and equipiment are stated at cost. Cost neludes the anginal
purchase price of the asset plus the costs atthbutable 10 bringing the asset to its working condrtion for its intended use. Increases in the
carrying amaount arising on revaluation of land and buildings are credited 1o other comprehensive income and shown as Revaluation reserve
in shareholders’ funds Decreases that offset previous increases of the same asset are charged in other comprehensive income and debited
against Revaluation reserve: alt other decreases are charged to the ncome staterment. tach year the difference between deprecialion
oased on the revalued carrying amount of the asset charged to the «ncome staternent. and depreciation based on the asseot's original cost 18
transferred from 'Revaluation reserve’ to "Retained earnings’.

Except for freehold land, which 15 not depreciated. the cost or wa'uaton of property, plant and euuipment 15 depreciated on a straght ne
pasis over their expected useful ives as follows:

Freehold buldings - 50 years
Rlant and Foguipment - 3 years

The assets’ residuze values and useful lves are teviewed, and adjusted it appropnate. at the end of gach reparting penod.
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Company financial statements

Notes to the Company financial statements continued
31 December 2018

1 Accounting policies continued
Investments
Investments n subsidiaries and jont ventures arg shown at Cost less provison for rnparment,

Intercompany
Intercompany balances are shown grass unless a nght of set off exists. Balances are valued at far value at inception and are repavatle
on demand

Taxatian
The tax expense represents the sum ot the tax currently payable and deterred tax.

The tax currently payable 15 based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit differs fram net profit as reported i the Income statement
because it excludes tems of income or expense that are taxable or deduchble in other years and it further excludes tems that are never
taxable or deductible. The Company’s habnhity tor current tax i caloulated using tax rates that have beesn enacted or substantively enacted
by the balance sheet date.

Deferred taxation

Deferred tax is the tax expected to be payable or recoverable on differences between the carrying amounts of assets and labilties in the
financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit, and s accounted for using the balance
sheet labifity method. Deferred tax labilities are generally recognised for ail taxable temporary differences and deferred tax assets are
recognised 1o the extent that it 1s probable that taxable profits will be avalable aganst which deductible temparary differences can

be Llilsed.

Financial instruments

All tinancial assets and liabilittes are intially maasured at transaction price naluding transaction costs). except for those tinancial assets
classitied as at far vatue through the Income statement, which are initally measwred at far value. Financial assets and financial habibties
hncluding denvative instruments) are recognised on the Company statement of financial position when the Company becormes a party to
the contractual provisons ot the instrument.

Pnancal assets and habilties are only offset i the balance sheet when, and only when. there exists a legally enfarcealile right tu set off the
recognised amounts and the Company intends either to settle on a net basis, ar to realise the assel and settie the liabiity simultaneausly

Fmancial assets are derecagnised, whan and only when. a) the contractual nghts to the cash flows frarm the inancial asset expire or are
sethied, bl the Company transters W ancthor party suhstantialy all of the nsks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset, or ¢ the
Company, desoite having tetained some sigrificant nsks and revwards of cwnership, hag transleved control of the asset 1o another party
arid the other party tas the practical abifity to sell the agset in s entirety ta am unrelated third party and s able to exercise that abity
unulaterally and without needing to mpose additional restnctions on the fransier,

Financial llabifies are derecagnised only when the obligation specified in the contract is discharged. canceled of expires.

Trade and other receivables

Irade receivatiles are generally short term in nature and ave theretore are ail ¢lassified as current assets and thei far value recogmsed
at cansideration due. The carrving value of trade recevatiles are considerad o bie the same as thair far values, dus to ther short term
nature. Appronniate alowances for eshmated imecoverable amounts are recognised n ihe iIncome statement based on expecied losses.

Bank Horrowings

Interest bearng bank \eans and overdrafts are recorded at the proceeds recewved net of direct 1Issue costs. Finance charges, including
premmums payalile on setiement o redemoton &g direct issue costs, are ancounted for on an Accruals DEss to the incame statement
using the eftectve INterast method and are adoed 1o e corrying amoont of the nstrument 1o the extent that they are not setfled in the
period n which they anse.

Trade and other payables
Tradle payables are generally shott tetn n nature and are tharefore are all classitied as current assets and thew fair valug recogmsed at
amounte payable The carrving value of tiade payables are considered to be the same as ther far values, due 1o ther short term nature
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Derivative financial instruments
The use of financial derivatives s governed by the company’s polisies approved by the Boaro of Directors, which provide whtten principles
an the use of financial derivatives,

The Company enters Into denvative inancial mstrurments to manage its exposure 1o Interest rate and foreign exchange rate nsk. ncluding
cross currency mterest rate swaps and forward foraign exchange contracts, The Company does net hold or 1ssue dervatve financial
mstruments for speculatve purposes.

Derwatives are intially recogrised at falr value at the date & denvative contract 1s entered Into and are subsequently remeasured to their far
valug at each balance sheet date. A dervative with a positive fair value 15 recognised as a hinancial asset wricreas a denvative with g
negative fair vaiue 1@ recognised as a hinancial liability. The resulting gain or 1oss 1s recognised in the income statement mmediatey unless
the dervative 1s designated and effective as a hedging instrument, in which event the timing of the recognition in the income statement
depends on the nature of the hedge refatonship.

Fair value hedge accounting

The Company designates certan dervatives as fair value hedges. Changes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated and qualify as
fair valug hedges are recorded in the Income statement, together with any changes in the fair value of the hedged assets or habilites that are
attributable to the hadged nsk. The Company only applies fan value hedge accounting for foredn currency exposure associated with the
uncterlying hedged item. The gan or loss relating to the ineffective portion 1s also recognised in the income statement.

Cash flow hedges

At the inception of the hedge relationship the entity documents the refationship betwaen the hedging nstrument and the hedged tem. along
with its risk management obyjectves and s strategy for undet taking vanaus hedge transactions. Furthermore, at the inception of the hedge
and on an ongoing basis. the Company documents whether the hedging nstrumeant that is used in a hedging relationship is highly effective
N oftsetting changes 10 cash flows of the hedged item.

I'he effective portion of changes i the fair value of denvatives that are designated and gualfy as cash flow nedges are deferred in ecputy.
The gain or oss releiing 10 the inetiective portion is recogrised immediately m the ncome statemant.

Amounts deferred in equity are recycled in the income staternent i the penods when the hedged item is recognised n proht or loss, in the
same ng of the income statement as the recognised hedged tem. However, when the forecast transachon that is hedged results in the
recogrition of a non financial asset or a non-financial iability, the gans and losses previously dseferred in equity are transferred trom eguity
and ncluded in the intial measurement of the cost of the non tinancial asset or non financial habiity.

Hedge accounting is discontinued when the Company revokes the hedging relationship, the hedging instrument expires or 12 sold,
terminated. or exercised, or no longer qualfies for hedge accounting. Any cumulative gain or loss deferrad in equity at that tirme remams 1n
equity and 1s recognised when the forecast transaction is utimately recognised in prott or loss. When a torecast transaction 1s no longer
expected to occur, the cumulative gain or loss that was deterred in equity 1s recognised immecdhiately in profit or loss.

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash eguvalents comprise cash at banks and other short term fughly lguid investments with & matunty of three months or less,

Borrowings
Borrowings representt short-and long term borrowings as adjusted for the eftect of refated dervatve instruments rrespective of whether
they qualdy for hedge accounting.

Fees paid on the establishment of loan faciiies are capitalised as prepayrment for iquidity service and amortised over the term of the facility.

Share capital
Ordinary shares are classffied as equity,

Dividend distribution
Dvidend distributions to the Company’s shareholders are recognised as a hanlity in the Company's Iinancial statements i1 the penod 1IN
which the dividends are approved by the Company’s shareholoers,

Financial guarantees
The Company 1ssues guarantees inrespect of bank and other favilities of subsiaianies and joint ventures,

2 Auditors’ remuneration
The audit fee of Synthomer plc amounted to ©11.00012017: $16.000%
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Company financial statements

Notes to the Company financial statements continued
31 December 2018

3 Profit attributable to equity shareholders

2018 2017

£m £m

Attributable to Synthomer plc 48,9 22.7
As permitiad by Section 408 of the Companies Act 2006 no profit and loss account s presented tor Synthamer plg,

4 Ordinary dividends 2018 o1

Pence per Pefice per 2018 2017

share share Em £m

Interim dividend 4.0 3.7 13.6 12.6

Proposed final dwidend 9.1 8.5 30.9 28.9

in these financial statements.

5 Property, plant and equipment

Ihe proposed final dividend 15 subject 1o approval by shareholders at the Annual General Meeting and has not been included as a lability

Land and
buildings
Freeholds
£m
Cost or valustien
AL T Janoary 2018 28
Additions 0.2
At 31 December 2018 3.0
At oost -
At professional valuation in 1985 28
3.0
Accumulated depreciation
At 1 January 2018 0.7
Charge for the year
At 31 December 2018 0.7
Net hoak wvalue
At 31 December 2018 2.3
Cost or valuation
At 1 January 2017 2.8
Disposalsg
At 31 December 2017 2.8
At cost
At professional valuation in 1985 28
28
Accumulated depreciation
At Y January 2017 n.G
Charge tor the year 0.1
At 31 December 2017 0.7
Net book value
At 31 Decernber 2017 2.1

207 Yoam)

restiold and amounting to 1.8 (2017 £1.8m1) has not been uepreciatad.

Properties mcluded at valuntion would have peen stated on a nistoncal cost basis at cost of £1.9m (2017 £1.9m) and depreciation of £0.6m
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6 Investments

Joint
Subsidiaries ventures Total
£m £m £m

Cost
At 1 January 2018 337.2 0s 337.7
Additions 160.0 - 160.0
Return of captal {292.6) - {292.6)
Hedge adjustment (see below) 3.2 - T 32
At 31 December 2018 2078 0.5 208.3
Provisions
At 1 January 2018 - 0.2 0.2
At 31 December 2018 - 0.2 0.2
Net book value
At 31 December 2018 207.8 0.3 208.1
Net book value
At 31 December 2017 337.2 0.3 337.5

Details of the Group's subsidiarnies and joint ventures are given on pages 154 to 156,

During the year the Company desgnated up to €264.1m (2017: €232.5) of ts borrowings as a FRS 101 far value hedge aganst the
designated Euro porhion of its investment in Synthamer Jersey Limited of up to €264.1m (2017: €232.5my). The movement in the Euro

borrowings 18 recorded m the prefit and loss account along with the movernent of the hedged mvestment.
Directars consider the value of investments to be supported by underlying assets,

7 Trade and other receivables

2018 2017

£m £m

Amounts owed by Group undertakings 962.9 70B.6
Other recevables a.7 0.6
963.6 7032

Amounts owed by Group undertakirgs are valued at fairr value at inception and are repayable on demand.

Hodau ojBeeag
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Company financial statements

Notes to the Company financial statements continued
31 December 2018

8 Borrowings

2018 2017
£fm £m
Current borrowings
Bank loans
Cverdrafts 24.9 4.8
Commitied unsecured €55m loan expinng 21 November 2018 - 489
Committed unsecured €55m loan expining 26 July 2019 49.4
74.3 837
Non-current borrowings
Barik loans
Committed unsecured T370.0m mult currency Revolving Credit Faciity expinng 30 duly 2019 - 1588
Committed unsecured £440m mult currency Revolving Credit Faciiy expinng 23 July 2022 2426
242.6 1586
Less: capitalised costs {1.8) 0.8)
240.8 157.8

all conchtions precedent had been met,

Analysis of borrowings at carrying value by currency
The dvectors calculate the canying value of the Company's borrowngs as tollows:

Bank loans are denominated in Suro (2017: buro and Crech Korunay and bear interest based on EURIBOR (2017 LIBOR and EURIBOR).

Al 31 December 2018, the Company had availabie P152.4m 2017: ©172.2m) of undrawn committed borrowing faciities in respect of which

Sterling US doltar Eura Total
£m £m £m £m
31 December 2018
Bank loans and cverdratts 5.2 3.2 308.5 316.9
Cajtahsed costs {1.8) - - (1.8)
3.4 3.2 308.5 3151
Cash and cash equivalents (53.3}
Net borrowings 261.8
31 December 2017
Bank loans and overdratts 9.5 5.3 2075 2223
Capitalised costs 0.8} 10.8)
ar 5.3 7.5 221.58
Cash and cash equivalents 135.3)
Neat borrowings 186.2

Cash and cash eguwalents comprise cash at bank and ather short term hghly laud investments with a matunty of thiee months or less,
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Amaounts owed to Groun undertakings are valued at far value at inception and are repayable on demand,

@
8
&
2
g
G
=4
9 Financial instruments
The farr value of financial instruments has been disclused in the Compary's statement of finarcial position as:
2018 2017
Fair value Fair vaiue g
through Total through Total on
Loans and Income carrying Loans and Income carrying ~
receivables statement value recenvables statement value
Fair value of financial assets £m £m £m £m tm £m _——
Trade and other recenvables excluding prepayments 963.2 - 963.2 708.6 - 708.6
[n]
%Sh and cash eqguivalents 53.3 - 53.3 353 353 %
1,016.5 - 1,016.5 743.9 - 743.9 3
3
Loans and Fair vaive Loans and Fair value
payables at through Total payables at through Total
amortised Income carrying amortised Income: carrying
cost statement value cost statement value
Fair value of financial liabilitias Em &m £m £m £m £m
Bank lcans and overdrafts 3151 - 315.1 2215 - 2215
Trade and other payables 262.9 - 262.9 2152 - 2167
Derwvatives at fair value - 5.3 5.3 - - w
i &
578.0 5.3 583.3 436.7 - 436.7 %
A fuller description of financial instruments 1 ncluded in note 23 of the consolidated financial statements on page 128, e
@
10 Other creditors g
2018 2017 =)
£m £m E'
Amount due within one year é
Amounts owed to Group Undertakings 254.1 213.0 g_.
Other creditors 2.3 0.8 g
Accruals and deferred income 6.5 1.4 §
262.9 215.2
@
N
=
E-.
h———

11 Called up share capital

Detalls of the Company's share capital and outstanding share options are shown i note 28 of the consolidated financial statements on

page 138.

12 Related party transactions

Ihe Company has electaed to take the allowable exemption n terms of FRS 101 to not disclose transactons with wholly owned subsidianes.

13 Guarantees and other financial commitments
The Company has given guarantees amounting to £37.2m (2017: £55.7m} in respect of bank and other faciities of subsidranes
and foint ventures.

14 Share-based payments

For details of shave based payments please reter to note 36 to the consclidated financia! statements on page 142,

15 Employees

The Company had no employszes dunng the year (2017: il
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Company financial statements

Notes to the Company financial statements continued

31 December 2018

16 Subsidiaries and joint ventures

Efiecive

Group

nterest in

Trading/ Place of equity

Company Mon-Trading Registered address incorporation %

Desa Baidurt Son Bhd Nor Trading Bangunan Bevertex. 1 1/2 Miles, Malaysia 0
[Letting of Jalan Batu Pahat, 88000 Kluang.
Properties) Johor Darul Takzim

Oimex Limited Non-Trading Yule Catte Building. Temple fietds,  United Kingdom 100
Harlow, Essex, CM20 2BH

f-cafto Limited MNon-Trading yide Catto Building, Terple Fields.  tUnited Kingdom 100"
Harlow. Essex, CM20 2BH

Fine Chemicals Sdn Bhat WNon-Trading Bangunan Revertex, 1 1/2 Miles. Malaysia 70
Jalan Batu Pahat, 86000 Kluang,
Johor Darul Takzim

Harlow Chemical Company Limited Non Trading Temple Fields, Harlow, Essex, CMZ0 2BH  United Kingdom 100

Holday Pigments Limited Non-lrading Yule Catte Building. Temple Figlds,  Umted Kingdom 100°
Hartowy, Esgex, CMZ0 26H

Kind Action M} Sdn Bhd Trading Bangunan Revertex. } 172 Miles, Malaysiza 70
Jatan Batu Pahat. 86600 Kiluang,
Johor Darut Takzim

FAC Chemical (Shanghar) Co Limitad Trading Raorm 326, 3rd Toor. Bullchng Mo, 3, China 100
un the process of de registration) No. 500 Bingke Road,
Shanghal Free Trade Zone

Pofymerlatex Lid Non Trading Central Hoad. Temple fiekis,  United Kingdom 100
Harlow, Essex, CM20 2BH

Potymeriatex Sdn B8ha Trachng 112 Miles. Jalan Batu Pahat, 86000 Malaysia 100
Kiuang. Johor Darul Takzim

Quahty Polymear Sdn Bha Trading Bangunan Hevertex, 1 172 Mias. Malaysia 70
Jalan Batu Pahat, 88000 Kluang.
Johor Darul Takzim

Heverlex (Malayma) Sdn Bho Trading Bangunan Revertex, 1 172 Milas, Malaysia fe
Jalan Bate Pahat, 86000 Kluang,
Jonet Darl fakzim

Revertex Limited Non-Trading Yula Catio Building, Temple Relds.  United Kingdorm 100
Harlow, Essex. CM20 2BH

Rexplas Sdn Bhd Mo Trading Bangunan Revertex, 1 1/2 Mies, Malaysia 70
{Dormant) Jalan Batu Pahat. 86000 Kluang,
Johor Darul Takzim

S.A 300 Limited Non-Trading Yule Catto Bullding. Temple Nelds,  United Kingdom 1007
Harlow. Essex, CM20 2BH

Shanghal Synthomer Charicals Trading China Techmical CGentre, Buildhng 53 55, China 104
Co Limited (FICEY Larne 1000 Zhanpheng Road.
hangpang High tach Park. Pudong,
Shangha 201203

Star Prharma Limited Non Tradnig Yule Catto Bulding. Tempile Fields,  Urited Hingdom 160
Harlow, Lsgex, CM20 28H

Super Sky Limited Non Tracing Synthomer Bulding, Temple Fields,  Unitad Kingdom 50!
Harlow, Essex, CM20 Z6H

Svnthomer {Thaland) Limited Trachng 3195/8 Vibulthani Tower 1 Thailand 100
tat NMoor, Rama 1V Raad,
Klonglen Subs-Distrct, Klongtoey Distnct
Bangkok 10110

Synthomer (UK) Limted Tradhng Temple Fields, Central Boad,  United Kingdom 100
Harlow. Lssex, CM20 2BH

Synthamer 2016 Lirmitec] Non frading Synthomer Buiding. Temple Melds,  United Kingdom i0ad
Central Road. Harlow, Essex, CM20 28H

Synthorner AS Traciing Sokolow. Tovarni 2093, Crech Republic 100
Pastal Code 256 01

Synthomer Asua SL Tracding Cammo Sanaroriiz. No 8 Sandika Spain 100

48150 Vircaya
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Effectve

Group

interestin

Trading/ Place of equry

GCompany Non-Trading Registered address Incorperaticn %

Synthoemer Austraba Pty Limited Trading G0 Cosec Consulting Pty Ltd Australia 100
58 Gipps Street. Colkngwaod, VIC 3066

Synthomer Austria GmiH Trading Industriepark Pischelsoorf Austra 100
3435 Zwentendorf an der Donau

STm;mmer Bangkok Limited Trading 31958 Vibulthan Tower 1 Thaland 100
15t Floor, Rama IV Boad, Klongton Sub-Destrict.
Klengtoey Distnct, Bangkok 10110

Synthomer BY Trading lsselstraat 41, 5347 KG Oss The Netharlands 100

Synthomer Deutschland GmbH Trading Werrastragse 10, D 45768 Marl Germany 100

Synthomer Finland Oy Trading P.O.B 175 FI-90101 Oulu Finland 100

Synthomer France SAS Trading 704 rue Pierre et Marie Curie 60170 France 100
Ripecourt-Oreshincourt

Synthomer Functional Solutions FZCO Trading Bulding Cast, Wing 2-office, No.201, Dubal UAE 4G

Synthomer FZE Trading Dubai Airport Free Zone Authority, Dubal U.AE 49"

Synthomer Holdings ICZEY sy MNon-Trading Y Ceime 103144, Nove Mestio, Czeoh Republic 100
11000, Prague 1

Syntnomer Holdings (Thailand) Limited Non- Trading Ne. 99/329 Soi Suanluang. Thatand 100
Bangkho Sub District,
Jomthong Chstrict, Bangkok

Synthomer Holdings Limited Non-Trading Yule Catto Building. Temple Fields,  United Kingdom 100
Harlow, Essex. CM20 2BH

Synthomer Jersey Lid Non-Tracing 414 Esplanade, St Helier. JE4 2WG Jersey 1007

Synthomer LLC Irachng 1201 Peachtree Street NE, Atlanta, LSA 100
Fulton, GA 30361
{C1 Cerparation)

Synthomer Middle East Company Limited Trading PO Box 7544, Dammam 31472 Saudi Arabia 49’

Synthomer Overseas Limited Non-Trading Yule Catto Building. Temple Fields.  United Kingdom 100
Harlow, Essex, CM20 2BH

Synthomer Participacoes Ltda Tradng Av. Casa Verde, 3100, sala 01, Brazil 100
barrre Casa Verde, CEP-02520 300.
Sao Paulu-SP

Synthomer S.r.l Trading Via delle Industrie 9, - 24040 tilago (BG) Itealy 100

Synthomer SAE Trading Industriel Zone 1 3. 10th of Fgypt 28
Ramadam City. Sharkiya

Syntnomer Sdn Bhd Tradmng Bangunan Revertex, 1 1.2 Miles. Malayam 100
Jalan Batu Pabat, 86000 Kluang,
Johor Darul Takzim

Synthomer Speciality Additives AB Trading Durmakker 33, 9940 Evergem Sweden 100

Synthomer Specialty Resins S.ril frading Via Morozzo 27, 12040 Sant'Albano ftaly 100
Stura, CN

Synthomer Trading Limited Trading A5 Pafl Mafl, London. SW1Y 5JG  United Kingdom 100

Synthomer USA LLC Trading 160 Greentree Dr. Suite 101 LISA 100
Dover, Delaware. 19904
(Registered agent dddress)

Synthomer Vietnam Co Ltd Trading MNo. 8§ Road 6 (Lots Mo 101, 108 Vigtnam 60
Sang Than ndustrial Park,
D1 An District, Binh Duang Province

Temple Fields 510 Nor-Trading Yule Catto Bulding. Temple Fields.  United Kingdom 00
Harlow, Bssex, CM20 2Br1

lempie Fields 512 Limted Nor-Trading Yule Catto Building, Temple Prelds, Urited Kingdom 00
Harlow. Essex. CM20 2BH

Termple bields 514 Limited Non Trading Yule Catio Buldng. Temple Figlds,  Unted Kingdom 100"
Harlow. Essex, CM20 2BH

Temple fields 515 Limited Nan-Trading Yule Catto Bulding. Temple Fields,  United Kingdom 100

Harlow, Essex. CM20 2834
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Company financial statements

Notes to the Company financial statements continued

31 December 2018
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Ceantral Road Harow, Essex. CM20 2BH

Etfectve
Group
nterest in
Trading/ Place of equity
Company Non-Trading Registered address incorporation %
Temple Fields 522 Limited Non Trading Yule Catto Budding. Temiple Fields,  United Kingdom 1007
Harlow, Essex, CM20 2BH
- . Temple fields 623 Limited Non Tracding Yule Catto Buiding. Temple Fields,  United Kingdom 100
o Hatlow, Essex. CM20 28H
Ternple felds 530 Uimited Non [rading Yule Catto Bulding, Temple frelds,  United Kingdom 100
Harlow. Essex. CM20 2BH
Temple [elds 534 Limited Non lrading Yuie Caito Building, Temple Fields,  United Kingdom 100
Harlow, BEssex, CM20 2BH
Temple Fields GrnbH Nan [fading Innerstetal 2, 38685 Langelsheim Germany 100
Temple Frelds GnbH & Co Nan- Trading Innerstetal 2, 38685 Langelsheum Germatry 100
Chemie oHG {formerly James
Bobinson GmbH & Co Chemie oHG)
Temple Figlds Verwaltungs GmbH (formerly  Nan-Trading innerstetal 2. 38685 Langelsheim Germany 100
James Robinson Verwaltungs GmbhH)
Terra Simfon Sdn Bhd Non-Trading Bangunan Revertex. 1 1/2 Miles. Malaysia 100
tInvestment Jalan Batu Pahat. 36000 Kluang.
Holding) Johar Darut Takzimi
LOUIFA ltala Sl Nen lrading Piazza Cavour 3. Milano Waly 100
Willam Blythe Limited Trading Synthomer Building. Temple Fields.  United Kingdom 100
Harlow, Essex, CM20 2BH
Yule Catto BY Nor Trading lisselstraat 41, 5247 KG Oss  The Netherlands 100
Yule Catto France SA Non-Trading € Place de la Madebne, 75008 Paris {rance 100
Yule Catto Holdings GmibH Mo Trading Werrastrazse 10. A57G8 Marl Germany 100
Yule Catio inc Nop Trading 1201 Peachtree Street NE. Aflanta, Folton, LBA 100
GA 50361
Yule Catto International SA Non-Tradling B Place de la Madehne, 75008 Pans France 100
Yule Catto Nederland BV Mon-Trariing lisselstraat 41, 5347 KG Gss The Netherlands 100
Yule Catto Overseas Non Trading fempie treids, Central Rued,  Unitad Kmgriarm 100
Harlow. Essex. CM20 28H
Yule Catto Spain 3L Non Trading CA0 Rambla de Catalunya na, 53, Atico. Spamn 160
Q8007 Barcelona
Yile Catto Western Europe Limited MNon-Tradding Yule Catte Building, Temple Mields,  Urited Kingdom 100°

sestent e Nethie sl
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Other information

Five vear financial summary

2018 2017 2018 2015 (resti?;;;‘

Underlying performance® £m £m £m £m £m
Revenue 1,618.9 1.180.2 1.045.7 8701 936.4
EBITDA 181.0 176.2 1801 125.0 118.0
Operatng proft’ 1421 130.0 130.2 102.9 96 &
Finance costs (7.0} 19.0) 18.0p 7B 110.5)
Piofit pefore taxation 135.1 130.0 122.2 95.3 86.0
Basic earnings per share 32.8p 30.7p 28.3p 21.5p 16.5p
Dwidends per share 13.1p 12.2p 11.53p 8.8p 7.8
Diwviciend cover 25 2.5 2.5 2.5 25
Net borrowings {214.0) 1180.5) {150.3; 177.4) 121
Captal expenditure’ 5.7 B50.3 45.6 22.8 22.0
2014

2018 2017 2016 2015 {restatedy

IFRS - continuing oparations £m m Cm £m £m
Revenue 1,618.9 1.480.2 1.045.7 8701 936.4
CBITDA! 181.0 176.2 160.1 125.0 118.0
Operating profit’ 128.7 95.4 1447 80.3 65.1
Finance costs {8.4) {S.0) 18.0) {7.8) {11.3)
Protit before taxation 120.3 86.4 136.7 72.5 53.8
Basic earnings per share 29.4p 21.8p 32.5p 17.8p 13.3p
Dividends per share 13.1p 12.2p 11.3p BBp 7.8p
Diwvidend cover 22 1.8 28 2.1 t.7
Net borrowings {214.0) 1180.5) {150.3) 180.1) {114.1)
Capttal expenditure’ 75.7 60.3 45.6 22.8 22.0

N2teas
A Az prosentzd r e consolidated NCOME Sialemen” on page (00
= As defimed i the accountng pol stacte 2 and recone led i e 6

ole 2

¢ Asdetmed nhe acoount ng po
d  Asdetnedinncte 2 o the consoldated ing
tect casn fica statement
ey sed

Wl sldbeents gnd recoas ed iy nole @2
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Other information

Glossary of terms

AGM Annual Gensral Merting

AIMS Accdent and Incident Management System

APMs Alternative Performance Measures

ARW Asiz and Rest of the World

C&C Construchon and Coatings

G&Y Carpet and Foam

cGu Cash Generating Units

CH: Methane

CiA Chermical Industigs Assocahon

CO Carlion Dioxice

CO e Carbon Droxide eguivalerit

Capttal ermnployed Net assets exciuding thurd party net debt

Congtant currancy Reflects current year results for existing business franslated at the prior year's average exchange rates.
and includes the impact of acguisitions,

CRM Customer Belationship Management system

CSR Corporate Sooial Responsibility

DEFRA Department of Envircnment. Food and Rural Atfars

EBINOA ERITDA s calculated as operating profit betare deprecation. amartisation and Speciai terns

EGM Extraordinary General Meshng

ENA Europe and North America

EPS Earmings Per Shars

ERP Enterprise Resource Planning

ESG brvironmental, Social and Governance

P Functional Polymers

FRC Financat Reportng Counci

Free cash flow Net cash fiow from operating activities. atter net interest paid and purchases and proceeds from sale
of non-cunent assets ard nvestrnonts

RS Einancial Reporting Staridard

8 functional Solutions

GHGs Greenhiouse Gases

Gd Gigajoule

GWP Global Warming Potential

H&P Health and Protection

HR Human Resources

HSERRE Hgh Sohds Styrene Butadiene Rubber

1AS fnternational Accounting Standard

IFRS International Fnancial Beporing Standards

S Industrnal Specialities

1S54 International Standards of Auditing

KPls Key Performance Indicatorg

ktes Kilotonne or 1,000 tonnes tmetrncl

LiA Lost Time Acoident

LTiR Long Terr mcantive Plan

MEA Mergers and Acquistions

MGC Managerent uof Change

MY Malaysian Ringaits

N O Nitrous Gxide

NER Nitrile Butadiene Rubber
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Net barrowings

hNet debt
N
Operating profit
PBT

FE

PRE
pEp
FTW
PVG
R&0
ROIC

5BH

SEC

SHE
SHEMS
The Code
TSR

UK GAAP

Underlying performance

VOCs

Net borrowings represent cash and cash equivalents together with short and long-term borrowings.
s o ustos ton e eflect of telared etivali e st oine ds nrespe e ol whedher they quality tor
bretiger at Counting nunereeotr s facloenrgy atra genents o 10G e lusion ol ieancal gasots

Gorrowings and other financ.al liabilites less cash and casn equivalents

Nitrogen Oxide

Operating proft represents profit from continuing activities betore finance costs and taxation
Proft Before Tax

Performance klastomers

Property, Plant and Equipment

Peripimance Share Plan

Permit o Work

Polywvinyl Chloride

Research and Development

Return on Invested Capital 1s calcutated as Group Underlying operating profit as a percentage of Group
capital employed

Styrene Butadiene Rubber

Specific Energy Consumption

Safety. Health and Environment

Safety. Health and Environment Management System
I he UK Corporate Governance Code

lotal Sharehotder Return

UK Generally Accepted Accounting Prachce

Undertyng performance represents the statutory periorrnance of the Group under 1+ RS, excluding
special temns

Volatife Grganic Compounds

jiodel olﬁam.r;s“
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